ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING INC Form 424B3 September 10, 2003

Filed Pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) Registration Statement No. 333-103954

September 8, 2003

Dear Fellow Stockholder:

I am pleased to ask you to vote at a special meeting of our stockholders to consider the merger agreement we signed with Electronics For Imaging, Inc., or EFI. Upon completion of the merger, Printcafe will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of EFI.

In the proposed merger, each share of our common stock will be converted into \$2.60 of consideration. The consideration will be paid, at your election, in shares of EFI s common stock or cash. If you do not make a valid election, you will receive cash consideration in connection with the merger. EFI registered 2,392,695 shares of its common stock in connection with the merger. EFI s common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol EFII and its closing price on the Nasdaq National Market was \$23.41 on September 5, 2003.

A special committee of our board of directors negotiated the terms and conditions of the proposed merger, has carefully considered the proposed merger and unanimously recommended the approval of the merger agreement to our board of directors. A majority of the members of our board of directors recommends that you vote to adopt the merger agreement.

We have scheduled a special meeting of our stockholders to be held on October 21, 2003 to consider and vote upon a proposal to adopt the merger agreement. Your vote is very important regardless of the number of shares you own. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting, please vote as soon as possible to ensure that your shares will be represented at the special meeting. You may vote by telephone, Internet (see the instructions on the proxy card) or completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed prepaid envelope. If you do not vote, it will have the same effect as voting against the merger.

We look forward to the successful combination of Printcafe and EFI.

Very truly yours,

Marc D. Olin

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President

You should carefully read the Risk Factors section that begins at page 12.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved of the securities to be issued in connection with the merger or determined if this proxy statement-prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This proxy statement-prospectus is dated September 8, 2003 and is first being mailed, together with forms of proxy cards, to our stockholders on or about September 11, 2003.

## PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

Forty 24th Street Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222

## NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON OCTOBER 21, 2003

On October 21, 2003, Printcafe Software, Inc., a Delaware corporation, will hold a special meeting of stockholders at its principal executive offices located at Forty 24th Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222. The meeting will begin at 9:00 a.m., local time.

Only stockholders who owned stock at the close of business on September 5, 2003 are entitled to notice of and to vote at this meeting, including at any adjournments or postponements of the meeting. At the meeting, stockholders will consider and vote upon the following matter that is more fully described in this document:

Adoption of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 26, 2003, by and among Electronics For Imaging, Inc., Strategic Value Engineering, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of EFI, and Printcafe Software, Inc.

All stockholders are cordially invited to attend the meeting in person. Regardless of whether you plan to attend the meeting, you are urged to vote by telephone, Internet or by signing and dating the enclosed proxy, which is solicited by our board of directors, and returning it promptly in the accompanying envelope, postage for which has been provided if mailed in the United States.

The prompt return of proxies will ensure a quorum and save the expense of further solicitation. Any stockholder voting by telephone, Internet or returning the enclosed proxy may revoke it prior to its exercise by voting in person at the meeting or by filing with our corporate secretary at our corporate offices in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, a written revocation or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date.

By order of the Board of Directors,

J. Devitt Kramer Secretary

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania September 8, 2003

#### YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

In order to ensure your representation at the meeting, you are requested to vote by telephone, Internet or by signing and dating the enclosed proxy and returning it as promptly as possible in the enclosed envelope. No postage is required if mailed in the United States.

This document incorporates important business and financial information that is not included in or delivered with this document. This information is available without charge upon oral or written request. To be sure that the documents arrive on time, you should make all requests for documents no later than October 7, 2003. To request information, you should contact either:

Printcafe Software, Inc. Forty 24th Street Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222 Attention: Investor Relations (412) 456-3340 Electronics For Imaging, Inc. 303 Velocity Way Foster City, California 94404 Attention: Investor Relations (650) 357-3828

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER SUMMARY	ii
	1
RISK FACTORS	12
BACKGROUND OF THE MERGER AND RELATED MATTERS	27
Background and Reasons for the Merger	27
Recommendation of Our Board of Directors	32
Opinion of UBS Warburg LLC	32
THE MERGER	39
United States Federal Income Tax Consequences	39
Anticipated Accounting Treatment	40
Dissenters Appraisal Rights	40
Resale of EFI Common Stock Issued in the Merger	41
Related Agreements	42
Stock Purchase Program	44
Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger	44
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	45
General	45
Effect on Capital Stock, Options, Warrants and Purchase Rights	45
Exchange of Certificates in the Merger	46
Representations and Warranties	47
Restrictions on Our Solicitation of Takeover Proposals	48
Covenants	49
Conditions to Completion of the Merger	50
Termination	51
THE SPECIAL MEETING	52
General Information; Purpose of the Special Meeting	52
Record Date; Shares Entitled to Vote	52
Vote Required	52
Voting and Revocation of Proxies	52
Other Matters to be Considered	53
Solicitation of Proxies	53
INFORMATION ABOUT PRINTCAFE	54
Business	54
Selected Consolidated Financial Data	62
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	
Operations	63
Principal Stockholders	77
Price Range of Our Common Stock	79
COMPARATIVE RIGHTS OF EFI STOCKHOLDERS AND OUR	
STOCKHOLDERS	79
EXPERTS	80
LEGAL MATTERS	80
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	80
SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	81
WHERE TO FIND MORE INFORMATION	81
SOME DOCUMENTS ARE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	82
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1
ANNEX A AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER DATED AS OF	
FEBRUARY 26, 2003	A-1
ANNEX B OPINION OF UBS WARBURG LLC	B-1
ANNEX C SECTION 262 OF THE DELAWARE GENERAL	
CORPORATION LAW	C-1

#### QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER

#### Q: What will I receive in the merger?

A: Each share of our common stock you hold will be converted, at your election, into shares of EFI common stock or cash. If you elect to receive stock, the number of shares of EFI common stock to be issued for each share of our common stock is calculated by dividing \$2.60 by the average of the closing sales prices of EFI common stock over 10 trading days ending on and including the fifth trading day before the special meeting. If you do not make a valid election, you will receive cash consideration in connection with the merger.

EFI will not issue fractional shares. Rather, you will receive cash payments, without interest, in place of any fractional EFI shares you would have otherwise received.

#### Q: What steps do I take to cast my vote?

A: You may vote by telephone or Internet (by following the instructions on the proxy card) or by mailing a signed proxy card in the enclosed return envelope as soon as possible so that your shares may be represented at the special meeting. You may also attend the special meeting and vote in person.

#### Q: Can I change my vote?

A: Yes. You may change your vote by (1) delivering a written notice of revocation to our corporate secretary before the beginning of the special meeting, (2) delivering a later-dated, signed proxy card to our corporate secretary before the special meeting or (3) by attending the special meeting and voting in person.

#### Q: If my broker holds my shares in street name, will my broker vote my shares for me?

A: Your broker will vote your shares only if you provide instructions to your broker on how to vote. You should follow the directions provided by your broker regarding how to instruct your broker to vote your shares. Without instructions to your broker, your shares will not be voted, which will have the same effect as if you voted against the adoption of the merger agreement.

### Q: What happens if I do not vote?

A: If you do not submit your proxy or instruct your broker to vote your shares and you do not vote in person at our special meeting of stockholders, the effect will be the same as if you voted against the adoption of the merger agreement.

#### Q: Is the merger taxable to me?

A: You will generally recognize gain or loss for United States income tax purposes to the extent the amounts you receive differ from your tax basis in your shares of our common stock.

The material United States federal income tax consequences of the transaction are described in more detail beginning on page 39.

The tax consequences to you will depend on the facts of your situation. Please consult your tax advisor for a full understanding of the tax consequences to you of the merger.

#### Q: How do I elect to receive cash or shares of EFI common stock as merger consideration?

A: An election form is being mailed to you separately. You may elect to receive cash or stock with respect to some or all of your shares of our common stock. You must complete the election form and return it to American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, EFI s exchange agent, before 5:00 p.m. Eastern time on October 20, 2003. Your election will be valid only if your election form is accompanied by the certificates representing the shares of our common stock that you own. DO NOT SEND YOUR ELECTION FORM OR STOCK CERTIFICATE WITH YOUR PROXY.

If your shares are held in street name then you must instruct your broker to make an election on your behalf. If you do not make an election or your broker does not make an election on your behalf, then you will receive cash consideration.

## Q: How should I send in my stock certificates?

A: If your shares are held in registered form and you want to elect the form of consideration you receive in the merger, you must (1) return a completed election form, and (2) send in your certificates representing your shares of Printcafe common stock with your completed election form and letter of transmittal to the exchange agent. If you do not make an election, then you must keep your certificates until after the closing, when you will receive a letter of transmittal describing how you may exchange your certificates for cash consideration. If your Printcafe common stock is held in a brokerage or other custodial account, you will receive instructions from the entity where your shares are held, advising you of the procedures for making your election and delivering your shares.

### Q: Am I entitled to dissenters appraisal rights?

A: You will be entitled to dissenters appraisal rights in connection with the merger so long as you comply with Delaware law, including, among other things, not voting in favor of the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and not surrendering your certificates representing shares of our common stock. The availability of dissenters appraisal rights is discussed in more detail on page 40.

#### Q: When do you expect to complete the merger?

A: We expect to complete the merger on or about October 21, 2003. Because the merger is subject to factors beyond the parties control, however, we cannot predict whether or when the merger will be completed.

#### Q: Whom can I call with questions?

A: If you have any questions about the merger, or if you would like copies of any of the documents referred to in this document, you should call MacKenzie Partners, our proxy solicitor, at (800) 322-2885 or call collect (212) 929-5500 or email proxy@mackenziepartners.com.

iii

#### **SUMMARY**

The following is a brief summary of selected information from this document and may not include all of the information that is important to you. To better understand the merger, and for a more complete description of the legal terms of the transaction, you should read this entire document carefully, as well as those additional documents to which you are referred. See Where to Find More Information on page 81.

#### The Companies

Printcafe Software, Inc.

Forty 24th Street Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222 Telephone number: (412) 456-1141 Website: www.printcafe.com

We provide software solutions designed specifically for the printing industry supply chain. Our enterprise resource planning and collaborative supply chain software solutions enable printers and print buyers to improve productivity and lower costs. Our procurement applications for print buyers integrate with our software solutions designed for printers to facilitate Web-based collaboration across the print supply chain. Our software solutions for the printing industry supply chain have been installed by more than 4,000 customers in over 8,000 facilities worldwide, including 24 of the 25 largest printing companies in North America and over 50 businesses in the Fortune 1000. For additional information about us, see page 54. We are a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. Our shares are currently listed for quotation on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol PCAF. Please note that information found on our website is not part of this document.

Electronics For Imaging, Inc.

303 Velocity Way Foster City, California 94404 Telephone number: (650) 357-3500

Website: www.efi.com

EFI is the world leader in imaging solutions for network printing. EFI s industry-leading core technology offers powerful document management tools, seamless networking, high fidelity color and black-and-white output, and greater productivity and cost efficiency. EFI products support a broad range of printers, copiers, multifunction devices and mobile communications devices and printer speeds of up to 2000 pages per minute in color. EFI has pioneered many innovative imaging solutions, including the Fiery®, EDOX®, Splash<sup>TM</sup> and DocStream<sup>TM</sup> brands of print controllers, Velocity<sup>TM</sup> workflow software, eBeam® Web-enabled whiteboards and PrintMe<sup>TM</sup> which enables anytime, anywhere printing. Best, headquartered in Germany, is a division of EFI offering an array of inkjet proofing solutions for the Graphic Arts market. Unimobile<sup>TM</sup> is EFI s mobile messaging solution for interactive data delivery. EFI maintains 20 offices worldwide. For additional information about EFI, see Where to Find More Information on page 81. EFI is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. EFI s shares are currently listed on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol EFII. Please note that information found on EFI s website is not part of this document.

#### **Special Meeting of Our Stockholders (see page 52)**

*Time, Date, Place and Purpose.* The special meeting will be held at our principal executive offices, Forty 24th Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222, on October 21, 2003, beginning at 9:00 a.m., local time, to consider and to vote upon a proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Record Date and Votes Required. You can vote at the special meeting if you owned our common stock at the close of business on September 5, 2003. On that date, there were 12,873,708 shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote, held by approximately 111 stockholders of record. You can cast one vote for each share of our common stock you owned on that date. The presence, in person or by proxy, of one-third of the outstanding shares of our common stock is required in order for us to meet the quorum requirement under our bylaws in order to transact business at the special meeting. Adoption of the

1

merger agreement requires the vote of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

Please be aware that stockholders beneficially owning approximately 15.0% of our total outstanding voting shares, as of the record date, including Marc Olin, the chairman of our board of directors, entered into agreements with EFI in which they agree to vote all of their shares in favor of adoption of the merger agreement. Additionally, on February 13, 2003, we granted EFI an option to acquire 2,126,574 shares of our common stock. On June 11, 2003, EFI exercised this option in full. As of the record date EFI owned 2,226,574 shares, which represents 17.3%, of our outstanding common stock. Our stockholders that signed the stockholders agreements are required to vote in favor of the adoption of the merger agreement, against approval of any takeover proposal made in opposition or in competition with the merger and against other matters that are intended to or could reasonably be expected to impede, delay, postpone, discourage or adversely affect any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The stockholders agreements also restrict the ability of the stockholders that signed the stockholders agreements to transfer the shares. Each stockholder that signed a stockholders agreement also granted EFI an irrevocable proxy limited to voting on the matters covered by the stockholders agreements.

Our directors, executive officers and their affiliates beneficially own approximately 15.0% of the outstanding shares of our common stock as of September 3, 2003. EFI s directors, executive officers and their affiliates beneficially own less than 1% of the outstanding shares of EFI common stock as of September 3, 2003.

*Proxies*. If you vote your shares of our common stock by signing a proxy, your shares will be voted at the special meeting as you indicate on your proxy card. If no instructions are indicated on your signed proxy card, your shares will be voted for adoption of the merger agreement. If your shares are held in street name, you should follow the directions provided by your broker regarding how to instruct your broker to vote your shares.

If you abstain from voting, do not return a proxy card or do not give your broker authority to vote your shares, your inaction will have the same effect as a vote against adoption of the merger agreement.

#### Our Reasons for the Merger (see page 31)

In reaching its decision, our board of directors consulted with our senior management, legal counsel and financial advisor, reviewed a significant amount of information and received the recommendation of our special committee that the board approve the merger, discussed the recommended action with the special committee and considered a number of factors, including, among others:

the possible alternatives to the merger, including the possibility of continuing to operate Printcafe as a stand-alone business and the risks associated with that alternative, in light of the fact that \$14.2 million of our debt is due in January 2004 and we do not have sufficient cash to repay that amount and do not expect debt or equity financing to be available;

the \$2.60 per share to be paid as consideration in the merger represents a premium of 122.2% over the trailing average closing sales prices for our common stock as reported on Nasdaq for the three months ended February 25, 2003;

the financial presentations made by UBS Warburg and the written opinion of UBS Warburg, dated February 25, 2003;

the ability of our stockholders to elect to receive shares of EFI common stock in the merger, thereby giving them the opportunity to continue as equity owners of the combined company after the merger;

the results of UBS Warburg s market check and the letter received from Creo on February 24, 2003 indicating that it was no longer interested in the bidding process and was terminating its prior offers;

our then current and historical financial condition, including the amount of our outstanding debt, and results of operations, our prospects and strategic objectives, the risks associated with achieving

those prospects and objectives, conditions in our industry and the current economic and financial market environment; and

the terms of the merger agreement, including the likelihood that the merger would be completed and our ability to accept a superior proposal upon payment of a fee of \$828,000 to EFI.

#### **EFI** s Reasons for the Merger

The merger is part of EFI s strategy of expanding its software offerings for the professional printing market. With the convergence of traditional and digital printing, the combination of EFI s imaging and workflow solutions with Printcafe s enterprise management software is intended to accelerate the adoption of digital printing management throughout the process from procurement through production.

#### Recommendation of Our Board of Directors (see page 32)

On January 22, 2003, our board of directors formed a special committee consisting entirely of non-management directors who had no financial or employment interest in our largest stockholder, Creo Inc., which owns 36.6% of our outstanding shares. The special committee engaged its own counsel and financial advisor. The special committee negotiated the terms and conditions of the proposed merger and recommended the approval of the merger agreement to our board of directors. Our board of directors (with the two members who are employees of Creo abstaining) approved the merger agreement, declared the merger agreement advisable, fair to our stockholders and in their best interests and recommends that you vote for the adoption of the merger agreement.

Creo offered, on January 22, 2003, to acquire all outstanding shares of our common stock for \$1.30 per share, to be paid in shares of Creo common stock. Creo s offer limited the number of shares of its common stock based on the trading price of Creo common stock. After we had adopted a stockholders—rights plan and entered into agreements with EFI, Creo filed an action against us in the Delaware Chancery Court seeking to enjoin the operation of our stockholders—rights plan and the agreements we entered into with EFI on February 13, 2003. The court denied Creo—s motion for a temporary restraining order in that litigation. Creo subsequently increased its offer to \$3.00 and then to \$4.00 per share before withdrawing its offer and issuing a press release indicating, among other things, that it had received information in its review of our business that no longer warranted its continued participation in the bidding process.

#### Opinion of UBS Warburg LLC (see page 32)

UBS Warburg LLC, which served as financial advisor to the special committee, has delivered a written opinion, dated February 25, 2003, to the special committee and the board of directors that, as of the date of the opinion and subject to the matters set forth in the opinion, the consideration to be received by holders of our common stock, other than EFI and its affiliates, in the merger is fair from a financial point of view to those holders. A copy of UBS Warburg s opinion, which includes a description of the procedures followed, assumptions made, matters considered and limitations on the review undertaken, by UBS Warburg, is attached to this document as Annex B. You are encouraged to read UBS Warburg LLC s opinion carefully and in its entirety. UBS Warburg LLC has been paid a fee of \$500,000 and, if the merger is completed, will be entitled to receive an additional fee of \$500,000 for acting as financial advisor to the special committee.

### The Merger Agreement (see page 45)

*Terms of the Merger*. If the merger is completed, a wholly-owned subsidiary of EFI will merge with and into Printcafe. As a result, we will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of EFI, and you will be able to elect to have your shares of our common stock exchanged for either (a) shares of EFI common stock or (b) cash. A copy of the merger agreement, which is the legal document governing the merger, is attached to this document as Annex A. You are encouraged to read the merger agreement carefully and in its entirety.

Conditions (see page 50). The merger will be completed only if the conditions set forth in the merger agreement are satisfied or waived at or before the closing. These conditions include the following:

The approval of the merger agreement by our stockholders;

no legal restraint will be in effect which prevents the completion of the merger, prohibits or limits our or EFI s ability to conduct our respective businesses, requires us or EFI to divest any of our respective assets or which otherwise would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on us or EFI;

the registration statement to which this document relates must have been declared effective by the SEC;

the shares of EFI common stock to be issued in connection with the merger must be approved for listing on the Nasdaq National Market;

the accuracy of EFI s and our representations and warranties, and compliance with EFI s and our agreements in the merger agreement;

no occurrence of events or conditions that have, or could reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on us or EFI; and

EFI must have received comfort letters from our independent auditors.

Covenants (see page 49). The merger agreement also contains a number of agreements by Printcafe and EFI, including the following:

We agreed to conduct our business in the ordinary course until the merger is completed;

except for sales under our employee stock purchase program or issuances of shares of our common stock upon exercise of options or warrants, we agreed that we will not pay dividends, engage in a stock split or a similar transaction, or buy or sell any of our securities, until the merger is completed;

we agreed that we will not, and we will not permit our subsidiaries, officers, directors or representatives to, initiate, solicit, encourage, negotiate or take other actions which would lead to any proposal or offer from a third party to acquire our capital stock or a substantial part of our business or assets, subject only to an exception which allows our board of directors to discharge its fiduciary duties; and

EFI agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the shares of EFI common stock to be issued to our stockholders in connection with the merger to be listed on the Nasdaq National Market.

Termination (see page 51). The parties can terminate the merger agreement under the following circumstances:

We and EFI can mutually agree to terminate the merger agreement;

either party can terminate the merger agreement if the closing has not occurred by October 31, 2003;

EFI can terminate the merger agreement if we breach any of our representations, warranties or agreements in the merger agreement and the breach would permit EFI not to complete the merger;

we can terminate the merger agreement if EFI breaches any of its representations, warranties or agreements in the merger agreement and the breach would permit us not to complete the merger;

EFI can terminate the merger agreement if our board of directors fails to recommend approval of the merger agreement to our stockholders or withdraws or changes its recommendation; and

we may terminate the merger agreement in order to enter into an agreement to complete a business combination or sell our stock or assets on terms which our board of directors determines are superior to the terms of the merger.

If the merger agreement is terminated because our board of directors changes its recommendation to you or elects to accept a superior proposal, we will generally be required to pay \$828,000 to EFI upon termination of the merger agreement.

#### Accounting Treatment (see page 40)

As required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, *Business Combinations*, EFI will use the purchase method of accounting to account for the merger.

Under this method of accounting, our assets and liabilities, including all intangible assets, will be recorded by EFI at their respective fair market values. All intangible assets will be amortized over their estimated useful lives with the exception of goodwill and any other intangibles with indefinite lives. Goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite lives are not amortized; rather, they will be assessed for impairment on a periodic basis in the future. Our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will be included in EFI s financial statements prospectively as of the completion of the merger.

The pro forma condensed combined financial statements included in this document include a preliminary allocation of EFI s costs of the acquisition. You should note that the final allocation may be materially different from that preliminary allocation.

#### **Regulatory and Lender Requirements**

Other than effectiveness of the registration statement to which this document relates, there are no material federal or state regulatory requirements which must be complied with or approvals which must be obtained in connection with the merger.

No consent is required from the holders of our notes with National City Bank; Iris Graphics, an affiliate of Creo; the sellers to us of our Hagen business; and the sellers to us of our PrintSmith business. These notes will become due when the merger is completed. EFI intends to repay this indebtedness with funds from its working capital.

#### **Nasdaq Listing**

EFI will file an application for listing of additional shares with Nasdaq after completion of the merger and the listing of those shares is a condition to our obligation to complete the merger.

#### Effects of the Merger on the Rights of Our Stockholders (see page 79)

If you elect to receive shares of EFI common stock, your rights as stockholders will be governed by Delaware law and by EFI s certificate of incorporation and bylaws. Currently, your rights as our stockholder are governed by Delaware law and by our certificate of incorporation and bylaws. If you elect to receive shares of EFI common stock, then following the merger your rights as a stockholder of EFI will differ in some respects from the rights you currently have.

### Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger (see page 44)

Our directors and executive officers have interests in the merger that may be different from, or in addition to, the interests of our other stockholders. These interests include the right to retention bonuses, the right to acceleration of vesting of stock options and the right to indemnification and insurance coverage for acts or omissions occurring before the merger is completed. These arrangements are detailed beginning on page 44. The special committee and our board of directors were aware of these arrangements when they considered the merger.

#### **Selected EFI Consolidated Financial Data**

The following tables contain EFI s consolidated financial data for the periods presented. The consolidated financial statement data as of, and for each of the years ended December 31, 1998 through 2002 have been derived from EFI s audited consolidated financial statements. The financial data as of June 30, 2003 and for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 have been derived from EFI s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of EFI s management, all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included in its unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. The six month results are not necessarily indicative of the full fiscal year results. This information is only a summary. You should read it along with EFI s historical consolidated financial statements and related notes and the section titled Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in EFI s annual and interim reports and other information on file with the SEC and incorporated by reference in this document. See Some Documents are Incorporated by Reference on page 82.

As of and for the Six Months Ended June 30,

#### As of and for the Year Ended December 31,

	2003	2002	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998
	(una	nudited)	(in thous	ands, except per s	charo data)		
Results of Operations			(III tilousa	ands, except per s	siiai e uata)		
Revenue	\$174,404	\$166,824	\$350,185	\$517,608	\$588,449	\$570,752	\$446,999
Cost of revenue	71,487	83,427	167.685	282,113	311,152	290.636	249,179
Gross profit	102,917	83,397	182,500	235,495	277,297	280,116	197,820
Operating expenses	102,517	00,007	102,000	200,150	277,227	200,110	197,020
Research and development	46,082	45,424	89,973	98,116	94.097	74,971	60,150
Sales and marketing	29,913	24,750	50,624	56,767	64,526	59,373	60,615
General and administrative	9,992	10,934	21,778	25,456	24,784	18,403	16,637
Amortization of goodwill	,,,,, <u>_</u>	10,50	21,770	20,.00	2.,,	10,.00	10,007
and other intangibles(1)	3,878	2,102	4,391	12,255	23,621		
Merger-related expense	2,070	2,102	1,001	12,200	20,021	1,422	
Total operating expenses	89,865	83,210	166,766	192,594	207,028	154,169	137,402
Income from operations	13,052	187	15,734	42,901	70,269	125,947	60,418
Other income, net	5,240	6,224	7,077	17,471	21,550	16,250	9,859
Income before income taxes	18,292	6,411	22,811	60,372	91,819	142,197	70,277
Provision for income taxes	(4,939)	(1,923)	(6,843)	(21,432)	(37,461)	(46,914)	(22,456)
Net income	\$ 13,353	\$ 4,488	\$ 15,968	\$ 38,940	\$ 54,358	\$ 95,283	\$ 47,821
Net income per basic common	. ,			. ,	. ,	,	. ,
share	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.29	\$ 0.73	\$ 0.99	\$ 1.74	\$ 0.89
Net income per diluted common							
share	\$ 0.24	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.29	\$ 0.71	\$ 0.97	\$ 1.67	\$ 0.87
Shares used in computing net							
income per basic common share	54,367	54,105	54,256	53,468	54,649	54,853	53,507
Shares used in computing net							
income per diluted common							
share	55,054	54,878	54,852	54,605	55,983	56,963	54,972
Cash and short-term							
investments	\$619,166		\$498,370	\$451,207	\$353,603	\$470,328	\$328,732
Working capital	593,589		470,054	438,020	389,917	487,591	355,361
Long-term liabilities, less							
current portion	240,249		278	331	3,140	3,467	4,142
Total assets	932,374		727,106	702,987	654,390	656,075	484,191

<sup>(1)</sup> For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998, goodwill amortization was \$8,161, \$2,040, \$57, and \$57, respectively, or \$0.15, \$0.04, \$0.00, and \$0.00 per diluted common share, respectively. Effective January 1, 2002, EFI adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS 142 requires, among other things, the discontinuance of

goodwill amortization and establishes provisions for the reclassification of certain existing recognized intangibles to goodwill. Upon the adoption of SFAS 142, EFI ceased amortizing goodwill and reclassified net intangibles and deferred tax liabilities relating to acquired workforce totaling \$0.9 million to goodwill.

#### **Selected Printcafe Consolidated Financial Data**

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, the related notes to those statements and our Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this document. The selected balance sheet data as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the selected statement of operations data for the three years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements that are included elsewhere in this document. The selected balance sheet data as of December 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998 and the selected statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 1999, and 1998 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this document. The financial data as of June 30, 2003 and for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 are derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this document. In the opinion of our management, all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation have been included in our unaudited consolidated financial statements. The six month results are not necessarily indicative of our full year results.

For the Six Months Ended June 30,

#### For the Year Ended December 31,

2003	2002	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998
(unau	ıdited)					
		(in thousa	nds, except per sha	re data)		
¢ 10.460	¢ 22.021	¢ 46.501	¢ 41.000	¢ 25.224	¢ 4.411	Φ.F. Q.40
						\$5,242
,			,	,	,	1,102
14,060	18,517	36,144	30,272	14,676	2,996	4,140
6.003	6 126	12 003	12 180	11 307	1 000	1,601
,		,			,	397
0,030	0,321	10,969	19,114	20,342	040	391
5 630	3 234	6 103	7.645	24 525	2.704	1,651
		-,				1,031
0/9	1,470	2,922	3,021	2,000	232	195
5 122	14.780	20.511	40.052	30.481	774	
3,133	14,700	29,311	49,032	39,401	//4	
192	537	1 396	1 103	5 144	7 274	254
403	331	,	,	- ,	1,214	234
		323	2,090	1,105		
26.758	34 668	60 520	05.013	104 244	13 732	4,102
20,738	34,000	09,329	93,013	104,244	13,732	4,102
(12 698)	(16.151)	(33 385)	(64.741)	(89.568)	(10.736)	38
						(22
(2,211)	(4,002)	(7,412)	(3,202)	(0,130)	(103)	(22
(14 900)	(21.013)	(40.707)	(70.003)	(05.718)	(10.010)	16
(14,909)	(21,013)	(40,797)	(70,003)	(95,710)	(10,919)	10
	(6.200)	(6.201)	(5.635)	(4.858)		
\$ (14,900)					\$(10,010)	\$ 16
Φ(14,909)	$\Phi(27,213)$	\$(40,220)	\$(75,050)	Φ(100,570)	\$(10,919)	ΨΩ
\$ (1.37)	(31.68)	\$ (8.11)	\$ (468 67)	\$ (687.66)	\$ (96.36)	\$
ψ (1.57)	(31.00)	ψ (0.11)	Ψ(+00.07)	Ψ (007.00)	Ψ (20.20)	Ψ
\$ (1.37)	(31.68)	\$ (8.11)	\$ (468-67)	\$ (687.66)	\$ (96.36)	\$
$\Psi$ (1.57)	(31.00)	ψ (0.11)	Ψ(+00.07)	φ (007.00)	Ψ (90.90)	ψ
10.896	850	5 797	161	146	113	
10,090	0.39	3,171	101	140	113	
		(unaudited)  \$ 18,468	(unaudited) (in thousa)  \$ 18,468  \$ 23,921  \$ 46,521   4,408   5,404   10,377   14,060  18,517  36,144    6,003  6,126  12,003   8,630  8,521  16,989    5,630  3,234  6,193   879  1,470  2,922    5,133  14,780  29,511    483  537  1,386   525    26,758  34,668  69,529    (12,698)  (16,151)  (33,385)   (2,211)  (4,862)  (7,412)    (14,909)  (21,013)  (40,797)    (6,200)  (6,201)   \$ (14,909)  \$ (27,213)  \$ (46,998)    \$ (1.37)  (31.68)  \$ (8.11)    10,896  859  5,797	(unaudited)           (in thousands, except per share)           \$ 18,468         \$ 23,921         \$ 46,521         \$ 41,868           4,408         5,404         10,377         11,596           14,060         18,517         36,144         30,272           6,003         6,126         12,003         12,180           8,630         8,521         16,989         19,114           5,630         3,234         6,193         7,645           879         1,470         2,922         3,821           5,133         14,780         29,511         49,052           483         537         1,386         1,103           525         2,098           26,758         34,668         69,529         95,013           (12,698)         (16,151)         (33,385)         (64,741)           (2,211)         (4,862)         (7,412)         (5,262)           (14,909)         (21,013)         (40,797)         (70,003)           \$ (1,37)         (31,68)         \$ (8,11)         \$ (468,67)           \$ (1,37)         (31,68)         \$ (8,11)         \$ (468,67)           \$ (1,396)         859         5,797         16	(unaudited)           (in thousands, except per share data)           \$ 18,468         \$ 23,921         \$ 46,521         \$ 41,868         \$ 25,334           4,408         5,404         10,377         11,596         10,658           14,060         18,517         36,144         30,272         14,676           6,003         6,126         12,003         12,180         11,307           8,630         8,521         16,989         19,114         20,542           5,630         3,234         6,193         7,645         24,525           879         1,470         2,922         3,821         2,060           5,133         14,780         29,511         49,052         39,481           483         537         1,386         1,103         5,144           525         2,098         1,185           26,758         34,668         69,529         95,013         104,244           (12,698)         (16,151)         (33,385)         (64,741)         (89,568)           (2,211)         (4,862)         (7,412)         (5,262)         (6,150)           (14,909)         (21,013)         (40,797)         (70,003)         (95,718) </td <td>(in thousands, except per share data)  \$ 18,468  \$ 23,921  \$ 46,521  \$ 41,868  \$ 25,334  \$ 4,411  4,408  5,404  10,377  11,596  10,658  1,415  14,060  18,517  36,144  30,272  14,676  2,996    6,003  6,126  12,003  12,180  11,307  1,900  8,630  8,521  16,989  19,114  20,542  848    5,630  3,234  6,193  7,645  24,525  2,704  879  1,470  2,922  3,821  2,060  232    5,133  14,780  29,511  49,052  39,481  774    483  537  1,386  1,103  5,144  7,274  525  2,098  1,185    26,758  34,668  69,529  95,013  104,244  13,732    (12,698)  (16,151)  (33,385)  (64,741)  (89,568)  (10,736)  (2,211)  (4,862)  (7,412)  (5,262)  (6,150)  (183)    (14,909)  (21,013)  (40,797)  (70,003)  (95,718)  (10,919)    \$ (1,37)  (31,68)  \$ (8,11)  \$ (468,67)  \$ (687,66)  \$ (96,36)     \$ (1,37)  (31,68)  \$ (8,11)  \$ (468,67)  \$ (687,66)  \$ (96,36)     10,896  859  5,797  161  146  113</td>	(in thousands, except per share data)  \$ 18,468  \$ 23,921  \$ 46,521  \$ 41,868  \$ 25,334  \$ 4,411  4,408  5,404  10,377  11,596  10,658  1,415  14,060  18,517  36,144  30,272  14,676  2,996    6,003  6,126  12,003  12,180  11,307  1,900  8,630  8,521  16,989  19,114  20,542  848    5,630  3,234  6,193  7,645  24,525  2,704  879  1,470  2,922  3,821  2,060  232    5,133  14,780  29,511  49,052  39,481  774    483  537  1,386  1,103  5,144  7,274  525  2,098  1,185    26,758  34,668  69,529  95,013  104,244  13,732    (12,698)  (16,151)  (33,385)  (64,741)  (89,568)  (10,736)  (2,211)  (4,862)  (7,412)  (5,262)  (6,150)  (183)    (14,909)  (21,013)  (40,797)  (70,003)  (95,718)  (10,919)    \$ (1,37)  (31,68)  \$ (8,11)  \$ (468,67)  \$ (687,66)  \$ (96,36)     \$ (1,37)  (31,68)  \$ (8,11)  \$ (468,67)  \$ (687,66)  \$ (96,36)     10,896  859  5,797  161  146  113

c]	h	0	_	

	As of	As of December 31,					
	June 30, 2003	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998	
	(unaudited)			in thousands)			
Financial Position							
Cash and short-term investments	\$ 6,982	\$ 8,775	\$ 8,648	\$ 15,206	\$	\$ 56	
Working capital	(10,640)	4,063	(985)	(4,209)	(4,109)	(566)	
Long-term obligations, less current							
portion	1,050	12,743	33,365	36,114	953	68	
Total assets	43,506	53,673	79,503	135,958	11,840	2,025	
Redeemable preferred stock			132,676	104,230			
Stockholders equity (deficit)(2)	13,143	21,959	(105,373)	(32,792)	4,858	(661)	

<sup>(1)</sup> For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998, goodwill amortization was \$19,576, \$16,653, \$774, and \$0, respectively, or \$121.30, \$113.86, \$6.83, and \$0.00 per diluted common share, respectively. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS 142 requires among other things, the discontinuance of goodwill amortization and establishes provisions for the reclassification of certain existing recognized intangibles to goodwill. Upon the adoption of SFAS 142, we ceased amortizing goodwill.

<sup>(2)</sup> In June 2002, we completed our initial public offering and issued 3,750,000 shares of common stock at a price of \$10.00 per share. We received approximately \$32,950 in net proceeds and repaid approximately \$17,800 of related party debt.

#### **Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information**

The following information has been derived from the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements set forth elsewhere in this document and should be read in connection with that information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information illustrates the estimated effects of the merger as if the merger had occurred at January 1, 2002 for the statement of operations information and at June 30, 2003 for the balance sheet information. The unaudited pro forma financial information has been prepared based on the purchase method of accounting and does not include the impact of non-recurring charges directly attributable to the merger. The basic unaudited pro forma per share information for EFI is based on the weighted average number of outstanding shares of EFI common stock adjusted to include the estimated number of shares of EFI common stock that would be issued in the merger, assuming 50% of our stockholders (excluding EFI) elect to receive shares of EFI common stock. The diluted unaudited pro forma per share information for EFI is based on the weighted average number of outstanding shares of EFI common stock adjusted to include (1) the dilutive effect of EFI employee stock options and (2) the estimated number of shares of EFI common stock that would be issued in the merger assuming 50% of our stockholders (excluding EFI) elect to receive shares of EFI common stock.

The actual exchange ratio will be the average closing price of EFI s common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on and including the fifth trading day before the special meeting of our stockholders to vote on a proposal to adopt the merger agreement. The actual percentage of our stockholders receiving shares of EFI common stock in connection with the merger will be determined based on the number of valid elections received by EFI before the election deadline, which is the business day immediately before the date of the special meeting of our stockholders.

The following information is not indicative of future results or of the results that would have been achieved had the merger been completed on January 1, 2002 or June 30, 2003.

	For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2003	For the Year Ended December 31, 2002
	(in thousands, e	except per share data)
Results of Operations		
Revenue	\$192,872	\$396,706
Cost of revenue	76,123	178,811
Gross profit	116,749	217,895
Research and development	52,376	102,952
Sales and marketing	38,789	68,427
General and administrative	15,736	28,354
Amortization of identified intangibles	6,425	9,485
Stock-based compensation and warrants	483	1,386
Restructuring charge		525
Total operating expenses	113,809	211,129
Income from operations	2,940	6,766
Other income, net	4,864	5,576
Income before income taxes	7,804	12,342
Provision for income taxes	(1,647)	(3,345)
Net income	6,157	8,997
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock		(6,201)
Net income attributable to common stock	\$ 6,157	\$ 2,796
Net income per basic EFI common share	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.05
Net income per diluted EFI common share	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.05
EFI shares used in computing net income per basic common share	55,030	54,919
EFI shares used in computing net income per diluted common share	55,717	55,515

As of June 30, 2003 (in thousands)

Financial Position	
Cash and short-term investments	\$591,315
Working capital	559,527
Long-term debt, less current portion	240,249
Total assets	964,121
Stockholders equity	609,285

If the percentage of Printcafe common stock (excluding shares owned by EFI) exchanged for either cash or shares of EFI common stock differs materially from our assumptions used in the preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, the pro forma results could be impacted as follows:

% of Electing Cash/ % of Electing Stock	Operating	Other	Net	EPS per	EPS per	Basic	Diluted
	Income	Income	Income	Basic Share	Diluted Share	Shares	Shares
For the six months ended June 30, 2003							
0% Cash/100% Stock	\$2,940	\$5,036	\$6,293	\$0.11	\$0.11	55,692	56,379
50% Cash/50% Stock*	\$2,940	\$4,864	\$6,157	\$0.11	\$0.11	55,030	55,717
100% Cash/0% Stock	\$2,940	\$4,691	\$6,021	\$0.11	\$0.11	54,367	55,054
For the year ended December 31, 2002 0% Cash/100% Stock	\$6,766	\$5,921	\$3,048	\$0.05	\$0.05	55,581	56,177
50% Cash/50% Stock*	\$6,766	\$5,576	\$2,796	\$0.05	\$ 0.05	54,919	55,515
100% Cash/0% Stock	\$6,766	\$5,232	\$2,546	\$0.05	\$ 0.05	54,256	54,852

<sup>\*</sup> This is the ratio used for the preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

### **Comparative Per Share Information**

The following table summarizes on a per share basis (1) historical financial information and (2) unaudited pro forma and equivalent pro forma financial information.

The unaudited pro forma per share information for Printcafe is based on the unaudited pro forma amounts per share for EFI multiplied by an exchange ratio of 0.1250, representing \$2.6000 divided by an assumed market value of EFI s common stock of \$20.8000. For purposes of the pro forma information we have used the average closing price of EFI common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on and including September 3, 2003, which is the actual exchange ratio based upon the most recent information practicable at the time of the printing of this document. The information set forth below is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, EFI s and our historical consolidated financial information included or incorporated by reference in this document and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements included elsewhere in this document.

	Six Months Ended June 30, 2003	Year Ended December 31, 2002
Historical EFI		
Net income per basic common share	\$ 0.25	\$ 0.29
Net income per diluted common share	\$ 0.24	\$ 0.29
Book value per share(1)	\$11.51	\$11.62
Historical Printcafe		
Net loss per basic and diluted common share	\$ (1.37)	\$ (8.11)
Book value per share(1)	\$ 1.02	\$ 2.07
Pro forma combined net income per share		
Pro forma combined net income per EFI share	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.05
Equivalent pro forma net income per Printcafe share(3)	\$ 0.01	\$ 0.01
Pro forma combined book value per share:		
Pro forma book value per EFI share(2)	\$11.54	
Equivalent pro forma book value per Printcafe share(3)	\$ 1.44	

The historical book value per share is computed by dividing total stockholders equity by the number of shares of common stock outstanding at the end of the period.

The pro forma combined book value per EFI share is computed by dividing total pro forma stockholders equity by the pro forma number of shares of common stock outstanding at the end of the period.

(3) Equivalent pro forma share amounts are calculated by multiplying the pro forma net income per share and the pro forma book value per share of EFI by the exchange ratio of 0.1250.

Neither EFI nor Printcafe has declared or paid any cash dividends. This table does not give effect to EFI s planned stock repurchase program. See The Merger Stock Purchase Program on page 44.

10

## **Exchange Ratio in the Merger**

The exact number of shares of EFI common stock to be issued in connection with the merger with respect to shares of our common stock for which a valid election has been made will be \$2.60 divided by the average closing price of EFI s common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on and including the fifth trading day before the date of the special meeting. The following table illustrates hypothetical exchange ratios using the closing price of EFI s common stock over the 90 days before the printing of this document. You may call MacKenzie Partners at (800) 322-2885 to obtain the most recent calculation of the fraction of a share of EFI common stock issuable for each share of our common stock for which a valid election has been made.

	Trading Day Period	Average EFI Closing Price	EFI Shares Issued Per Printcafe Share
Highest ten-day average	August 22 to September 5	\$21.5320	0.1207
Mean ten-day average	July 23 to August 5	\$20.4899	0.1269
Low ten-day average	August 1 to August 14	\$19.9790	0.1301

#### Market Price of EFI s and Printcafe s Common Stock

The following table shows the closing price per share of EFI s common stock and our common stock reported on the Nasdaq National Market on (a) February 25, 2003, which was the last trading day before the merger was publicly announced on February 26, 2003 and (b) September 5, 2003, the most recent practicable date before the printing of this document. The Printcafe Equivalent Per Share Price set forth below equals the closing price of EFI s common stock on the applicable date multiplied by the exchange ratio of \$2.6000 divided by the average closing price of EFI s common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on and including the fifth trading day before the applicable date. For a complete description of the consideration payable in connection with the merger, see The Merger, on page 39.

As of	February 25, 2003	
(A)	Market price per common share of EFI stock as of the market close on	
	February 25, 2003	\$16.2495
(B)	Consideration per share of Printcafe common stock	\$ 2.6000
(C)	Average closing price per common share of EFI stock for the ten	
	consecutive trading days ending on and including February 18, 2003	\$17.0018
(D)	Printcafe equivalent per share price (A×B÷C)	\$ 2.4850
(E)	Market price per common share of Printcafe stock as of the market close on	
	February 25, 2003	\$ 2.6000
As of	September 5, 2003	
(A)	Market price per common share of EFI stock as of the market close on	
	September 5, 2003	\$23.4100
(B)	Consideration per share of Printcafe common stock	\$ 2.6000
(C)	Average closing price per common share of EFI stock for the ten	
	consecutive trading days ending on and including September 5, 2003	\$21.5320
(D)	Printcafe equivalent per share price (A×B÷C)	\$ 2.8268
(E)	Market price per common share of Printcafe stock as of the market close	
	on September 5, 2003	\$ 2.550
	11	

#### RISK FACTORS

By electing to receive EFI s common stock you will be subject to the risks of ownership of that security. You are urged to consider carefully the following important risk factors, as well as those other risk factors that are discussed in various documents EFI has filed with the SEC and that are incorporated by reference into this document.

#### **Risk Factors Relating to the Merger**

We do not have sufficient cash to repay \$14.2 million of our outstanding debt which becomes due in January 2004 and may need additional debt or equity financing which we do not expect to be available. If we are unable to pay these amounts when due, the lenders could proceed against the collateral for their loans.

If we do not complete the merger with EFI or complete a similar transaction with a third party, we do not expect to have sufficient cash to repay \$14.2 million of our outstanding debt which becomes due and payable in January 2004 without securing additional debt or equity financing; we do not expect that debt or equity financing would be available. In addition, we will incur significant costs associated with the merger, including legal, accounting, financial printing and financial advisory fees, which must be paid whether or not the merger is completed.

#### The pendency of the merger could affect our relationships with employees and customers.

If the merger is not completed, we could be harmed in the following ways:

EFI does not have a substantial base of customers in the commercial printing industry; the announcement of the merger may result in our customers delaying their decision to license our enterprise resource planning software, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our relationships with employees, including our ability to attract and retain key employees, could be harmed as a result of uncertainty regarding our future operations.

Our relationships with customers may be disrupted because of the diversion of management attention while negotiating the merger and as a result of the uncertainty regarding our prospects, which could result in the loss of market position or opportunities to our competitors. If the merger is not completed, we may not have adequate financial resources to regain lost market position or opportunities.

If we lose key employees or customers our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we do not complete the merger with EFI and were to pursue a similar transaction with another party, the value of the consideration received in the alternative transaction may be more or less than \$2.60 per share.

Creo offered, before it withdrew from the bidding process, to acquire the 55.6% of our common stock that it did not own for prices ranging from \$1.30 per share to \$4.00 per share. If we do not complete the merger with EFI, we would likely seek to complete a similar transaction with a third party. We cannot assure you that any third party would be willing to complete a transaction with us or, if a third party were willing to complete a transaction, that the consideration would be more or less than \$2.60 per share.

Our stock price would decline to the extent that the price of our stock before an announcement that the merger with EFI is terminated reflects an assumption that the merger will, in fact, be completed.

The number of shares of EFI common stock issued to you in connection with the merger, if you elect to receive stock consideration, will fluctuate based upon the value of EFI s common stock before the completion of the merger.

If you elect to receive shares of EFI common stock in connection with the merger, the exact number of shares of EFI common stock into which your shares of our common stock will be converted is

determined by the average value of EFI s common stock over a 10-day trading period ending on the fifth trading day before our special meeting. The average value of EFI s common stock over the 10-day trading period may be higher or lower than the price as of today s date or as of the date of the special meeting. The price of EFI s common stock could change for a variety of reasons, including changes in the business, operations or prospects of EFI and its subsidiaries; the assessment of, and reaction to, the merger by the market; general economic conditions; and other factors. There is no guarantee that the EFI common stock that will be issued to you in exchange for your shares of our common stock will equal or exceed the market value of your shares of our common stock on the date on which the merger was announced, the date of the special meeting, the date of the closing of the merger or at any other particular time. You are urged to obtain current stock price quotations for both the EFI common stock and our common stock.

Each of our executive officers and directors have interests in the merger that may differ from your interests in the merger. These different interests could influence our officers and directors to support the merger even though the merger may not be in your best interests.

When you consider the recommendation of our board of directors to adopt the merger agreement, you should remember that each of our executive officers and directors participate in arrangements that provide them with interests in the merger that are different from, or are in addition to, your interests in the merger. These interests include the right of Marc Olin, our chairman and chief executive officer, and Joseph Whang, our chief financial officer and chief operating officer, to receive retention bonuses upon completion of the merger. In addition, each of our executive officers has the right to accelerated vesting of stock options. None of our executive officers is a member of the special committee that recommended the merger to our board of directors or acted to influence the outcome of that decision to proceed with the transaction, other than actions they have taken in fulfilling their duties as executive officers. Additionally, under the merger agreement our directors and officers are entitled to indemnification and insurance coverage for acts or omissions occurring before the merger is completed. All of the members of our board of directors who are not employees of Creo, including Marc Olin, our chairman and chief executive officer, recommend that you vote to adopt the merger agreement. You should consider carefully whether these interests might have influenced our directors and executive officers to support and recommend the merger and decide for yourself whether the merger is in your best interests.

#### The merger will not qualify as a tax-free reorganization, and the merger consideration will be taxable to you.

The merger will not qualify as a tax-free reorganization under the Internal Revenue Code, and the cash or the shares of EFI common stock you receive would result in gain or loss to you to the extent amounts you receive differ from your tax basis in your shares of our common stock. Any gain or loss will be income reportable for United States federal income tax purposes. If the fair market value of the shares of EFI common stock you receive in connection with the merger exceeds your tax basis in your shares of our common stock, you would have to report a gain for federal income tax purposes. In connection with the merger, unless you elect to receive cash for some of your shares of our common stock, you would not receive cash to satisfy any tax obligation you incur with respect to that gain.

#### EFI could experience difficulty integrating our business and achieving the benefits anticipated in the merger.

There are a number of risks and challenges involved with integrating our business and operations with EFI s businesses, each of which could be difficult to overcome. These risks and challenges include:

Retaining key employees;

retaining our customer base; and

integrating EFI s and our respective products, operations, procedures and systems.

Current and potential employees of ours and of the surviving corporation in the merger may be unsure about their role following the merger. Other current or potential employees could decide that they do not wish to work for a subsidiary of EFI following completion of the merger. The combination of these two

factors could impair EFI s and our ability to attract and retain key employees. EFI has limited experience selling products into the commercial printing market. Our products are currently interfaced with Creo s products for commercial printers. It is possible that Creo will compete with our enterprise resource planning solutions or change its product interfaces so that our solutions are not as valuable to a number of customers in target commercial printing markets. Because of these and other challenges, it is possible that the merger may not achieve the desired benefits and synergies anticipated by the parties and the market price of EFI s common stock could decline.

#### We may become obligated to pay a fee to EFI.

In the merger agreement, subject to several exceptions, we agreed that we will not pursue transactions similar to the merger, including other mergers, sales of assets, sales of capital stock or other business combinations, with any third party. If we rely upon one of the exceptions to this obligation and pursue a superior proposal, we must pay EFI a termination fee of \$828,000, whether or not the alternative transaction is ultimately completed. If our stockholders do not approve the merger and within 12 months we enter into an agreement for or complete a similar transaction for consideration equal to or greater than that offered by EFI, we must pay EFI a termination fee of \$828,000. If the merger is terminated, and if our board of directors seeks to engage in a similar transaction with a different party, that party may not complete the alternative transaction. In addition, if we enter into an agreement with another party for a transaction similar to the merger, EFI can require us to repurchase the shares of common stock purchased by EFI upon exercise of the option that we granted to EFI.

#### The price of EFI s common stock is affected by factors different from the factors that affect the price of our common stock.

If you elect to receive shares of EFI common stock you will become subject to the risks of being an EFI stockholder. EFI s business is much broader than our business. As a result, EFI s results of operations and the price of its common stock may be affected by factors that did not affect our operations and the trading price of our common stock. You should carefully read the documents incorporated by reference by EFI to understand EFI s business and many of the risks it faces. See Some Documents Are Incorporated By Reference on page 82.

## Risks Related to Printcafe s Business

#### Our limited operating history as a combined entity makes it difficult to evaluate our business and our prospects.

We completed six acquisitions between October 1999 and April 2000. Our limited operating history as a combined entity makes an evaluation of our current business and prospects difficult. Due to our limited operating history as a combined entity, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our revenue and results of operations are not meaningful. As a result, you should not rely on results of operations for any prior period as an indication of future performance.

The slowdown in the economy has affected the market for information technology solutions, including demand for our software products, and our future financial results may depend, in part, upon whether this slowdown continues.

A downturn in the demand for information technology products among our current and potential customers may result in decreased revenues or a lower growth rate for us. Potential customers may delay or forego the purchase of our products or may demand lower prices in order to purchase our products. A reduction in the demand for our software products or in the average selling price of our products would reduce our operating margins and adversely affect our operating results.

#### If our software products do not achieve broad market acceptance, we may not become profitable and our stock price could decline.

Most print buyers, printers, and print industry raw material suppliers currently coordinate the design, specification, purchasing, and manufacture of print orders either through a combination of telephone,

facsimile, e-mail, and paperwork or through proprietary software solutions. Web-based products are relatively new and rapidly evolving, and these products change the way in which print buyers, printers, and print industry raw material suppliers interact with one another. Widespread commercial acceptance of our Web-based products is important to our future success. If the market for Web-based print management products fails to grow or grows more slowly than we anticipate, then our operating results could be adversely affected. To date, most of our sales have been to printers, and our future growth is dependent upon our ability to increase sales to print buyers. The growth of our business also depends on our ability to enhance and develop our software products and to identify and develop new products that serve the needs of our customers. If our existing and potential customers do not adopt our software products, we may be unable to continue to grow our business and increase our revenues. As a result, we may not become profitable, or maintain profitability, and our stock price could decline.

The sales cycle for many of our products is long, which could cause our revenue and operating results to vary significantly and increase the risk of an operating loss for any given fiscal quarter.

A customer s decision to purchase and implement many of our products often involves a significant commitment of its resources and a lengthy product evaluation and qualification process. Approval at a number of management levels within a customer s organization is typical for many of our products. Companies often consider a wide range of issues before committing to purchase our software, including anticipated benefits and cost savings, ease of installation, ability to work with existing computer systems, functionality, and reliability. Many of our potential customers may be addressing these issues for the first time, and the use of our products may represent a significant change in their current print management practices. As a result, we often devote significant time and resources to educate potential customers about the use and benefits of our products. The sales process for most of our products frequently takes several months to complete, which may have an adverse impact on the timing of our revenue, and our operating results could be adversely affected.

#### Competition in the printing industry supply chain for software products is intense, and we may not be able to compete successfully.

Our current and potential competitors include companies that offer software products and services to the printing industry supply chain, and companies that offer software products for enterprise resource planning, supply chain management, and procurement that are not customized for the printing industry. We expect competition to increase in the future. Some of our current or potential competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition, and significantly greater financial, marketing, and other resources. As a result, these competitors may be able to devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale, and support of their products. In addition, these companies may adopt aggressive pricing policies and leverage their customer bases to gain market share. Moreover, our current and potential competitors may develop software products that are superior to or achieve greater market acceptance than ours. If we are unable to offer competitive software products and services, then our revenues will decline.

## Unplanned system interruptions, capacity constraints, or security breaches could disrupt our business and damage our reputation.

We must offer customers of our Web-based products reliable, secure, and continuous service to attract and retain customers and persuade them to increase their reliance on our software products. As the volume of data traffic on our hosted Web sites increases, we must continually upgrade and enhance our technical infrastructure to accommodate the increased demands placed on our systems. Our operations also depend in part on our ability to protect our systems against physical damage from fire, earthquakes, power loss, telecommunications failures, computer viruses, unauthorized user access, physical break-ins, and similar events. Any interruption or increase in response time of our software products could damage our reputation, reduce customer satisfaction, and decrease usage of our services and the purchase of our products. The secure transmission of confidential information over public networks is a fundamental requirement for online communications and transactions. Third parties may attempt to breach our security or that of our customers. Any breach in our online security could make us liable to our customers, damage

our reputation, and cause a decline in our revenues. We may need to spend significant resources to license technologies to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by a security breach.

# If our technologies contain undetected errors or defects, which interrupt our operations or those of our customers, our business could be harmed.

Our technologies are highly technical and may contain undetected software code or other errors or suffer unexpected failures. Because of their nature, our client/ server-based enterprise resource planning and other products can only be fully tested when deployed in our customers networks. These errors or failures may disrupt our operations or those of our customers, damage our reputation, and result in loss of, or delay in, market acceptance of our software products. We may discover software errors in new releases of our software products after their introduction. We may experience delays in release, legal action by our customers, lost revenues, and customer frustration during the period required to correct these errors. Any of these problems could adversely affect our operating results.

#### If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be harmed.

We regard our patents, copyrights, service marks, trademarks, trade secrets, and similar intellectual property as critical to our success. We rely on patent, trademark, and copyright law, trade secret protection, and confidentiality and/or license agreements with our employees, customers, and strategic partners to protect our proprietary rights. These precautions may not prevent misappropriation or infringement of our intellectual property. In addition, the status of United States patent protection in the software and Web industries is not well defined and will evolve as the United States Patent and Trademark Office grants additional patents. We do not know if any of our future patent applications will result in a patent being issued within the scope of the claims we seek, if at all, or whether any patents we may receive will be challenged or invalidated. In addition, the laws in foreign countries may not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as laws in the United States.

#### We may face intellectual property claims that could be costly to defend and could prevent us from selling our software products

Third parties may infringe or misappropriate our intellectual property or assert infringement claims against us. In addition, because the contents of patent applications in the United States are not publicly disclosed until the patent is issued, applications may have been filed by others that relate to our software products. From time to time we receive communications from third parties asserting that our products infringe, or may infringe, the intellectual property rights of third parties. Intellectual property litigation is expensive and time consuming and could divert management s attention from our business operations. This litigation could also require us to develop non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or license agreements with third parties. These royalty or license agreements, if required, may not then be available on acceptable terms, if at all. If we cannot develop or license non-infringing technology, then our operating results could be adversely affected.

# Creo could substantially influence corporate actions that conflict with the interests of our public stockholders. We also have commercial agreements with Creo that are important to our business.

Creo Inc. is our largest stockholder, has two representatives on our board of directors, and is a party to several commercial agreements with us. Creo beneficially owns 4,717,547 shares of our common stock which represents 36.6% of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. In addition, two members of our board of directors, Amos Michelson and Judi Hess, are executive officers of Creo. Creo could use its stock ownership or representation on our board of directors to substantially influence corporate actions that conflict with the interests of our public stockholders.

In addition to the loan agreement we have with Iris Graphics, an affiliate of Creo, we have a strategic alliance agreement and a software license agreement with Creo. Under the strategic alliance agreement, we agreed with Creo to undertake joint sales and marketing efforts, not to compete with each other s business, and not to solicit the employment of each other s employees. In addition, we granted Creo an exclusive and perpetual right to provide, and a right of first refusal to develop, any content management and

workflow products for us. Because we have granted these rights to Creo, we may not be able to obtain terms as favorable as those that might otherwise be available if we were able to negotiate freely with third parties. Under the software license agreement, Creo licenses us software which is used in our printChannel Classic product and which will be used in our printChannel I/O product. Creo may terminate the software license agreement in certain circumstances, including the termination of the strategic alliance agreement and the acquisition by a third party of more than fifty percent of our outstanding common stock. The strategic alliance agreement does not specify a termination date. Creo may also terminate the strategic alliance agreement or the software license agreement if we breach any provision of the agreements and do not remedy that breach within a specified period of time. If the agreements were to terminate, we could lose access to Creo sales force and the other benefits derived from our joint marketing efforts, and Creo would be permitted to compete with us. Additionally, we would be required to develop software to replace the functionality licensed to us by Creo in our printChannel Classic product. The termination of the strategic alliance agreement and software license agreements and the resulting loss of these benefits could, among other things, reduce our revenues and significantly harm our business.

If our software products do not integrate with our customers existing systems, orders for our software products will be delayed or canceled, which would harm our business.

Many of our customers require that our software products be designed to integrate with their existing systems. We may be required to modify our software product designs to achieve a sale, which may result in a longer sales cycle, reduced operating margins, and increased research and development expense. In some cases, we may be unable to adapt or enhance our software products to meet these challenges in a timely and cost-effective manner, or at all. If our software products do not integrate with our customers existing systems, implementations could be delayed or orders for our software products could be canceled, which would harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

If we fail to develop and sell new products that meet the evolving needs of our customers, or if our new products fail to achieve market acceptance, our business and results of operations would be harmed.

Our success depends on our ability to anticipate our customers evolving needs and to develop and market products that address those needs. The timely development of these products, as well as any additional new or enhanced products, is a complex and uncertain process. We may experience design, marketing, and other difficulties that could delay or prevent our development, introduction, or marketing of these and other new products and enhancements. We may not have sufficient resources to anticipate technological and market trends, or to manage long development cycles. The introduction of new or enhanced products also requires that we manage the transition from existing products to these new or enhanced products in order to minimize disruption in customer ordering patterns. We are currently in the process of developing software for print industry raw material suppliers. If we are unable to attract raw material suppliers as customers, then our Web-based products may not be as attractive to printers and print buyers and our business may be harmed. If we are not able to develop new products or enhancements to existing products on a timely and cost-effective basis, or if our new products or enhancements fail to achieve market acceptance, our ability to continue to sell our products and grow our business would be harmed.

#### Risks Related to EFI

#### Risks Related to EFI s Business

EFI relies on sales to a relatively small number of OEM partners, and the loss of any of these partners could substantially decrease EFI s revenues.

Because EFI sells its products primarily to OEM partners, EFI relies on high sales volumes to a relatively small number of customers. Sales to Canon, Xerox and Minolta accounted for approximately 29%, 28% and 10%, respectively, of EFI s 2002 revenue. EFI expects that it will continue to depend on these OEM partners for a significant portion of its revenues. If EFI loses an important OEM or is unable to recruit additional OEMs, EFI s revenues may be materially and adversely affected. EFI typically does not have long-term volume contracts with its customers, including Canon, Xerox and Minolta. Accordingly, EFI cannot assure you that its major customers will continue to purchase its products at current levels or that they will continue to purchase EFI s products at all. EFI s OEM partners may elect and have elected in some cases to develop products on their own, rather than purchase EFI s products. In addition, EFI s results of operations could be adversely affected by a decline in demand for copiers or laser printers, other factors affecting its major customers, in particular, or the computer industry in general. Minolta was recently acquired by Konica, and EFI cannot predict if that acquisition will adversely affect Minolta s future purchases from EFI. Several of EFI s customers have in the past experienced serious financial difficulties in their business. If any significant customers should face such difficulties in the future, EFI s profitability could be materially and adversely affected through, among other things, decreased sales volumes and write-offs of accounts receivables and inventory related to that customer s products.

EFI relies upon its OEM partners to develop new products, applications and product enhancements in a timely and cost-effective manner. EFI s continued success depends upon the ability of these OEMs to meet changing customer needs and respond to emerging industry standards and other technological changes. However, EFI cannot assure you that its OEMs will effectively meet these technological changes. These OEMs, who are not within EFI s control, have incorporated into their products the technologies of other companies in addition to, or instead of EFI s products and may continue to do so in the future. These OEMs may introduce and support products that are not compatible with EFI s products. EFI relies on these OEMs to market its products with their products, and if these OEMs do not effectively market EFI s products, EFI s sales revenue may be materially and adversely affected. With the exception of a small number of minimum purchase obligations, these OEMs are not obligated to purchase products from EFI. EFI cannot assure you that its OEMs will continue to carry its products.

EFI s OEMs work closely with EFI to develop products that are specific to each OEM s copiers and printers. Many of the products that EFI is developing require that EFI coordinate development, quality testing, marketing and other tasks with its OEMs. EFI cannot control its OEMs development efforts and coordinating with OEMs may cause delays that EFI cannot manage by itself. In addition, EFI s sales revenue and results of operations may be adversely affected if it cannot meet its OEMs product needs for their specific copiers and printers, as well as successfully manage the additional engineering and support effort and other risks associated with such a wide range of products.

EFI is pursuing, and will continue to pursue, the business of additional copier and printer OEMs. However, because there are a limited number of OEMs producing copiers and printers in sufficient volume to be attractive customers for EFI, EFI expects that customer concentration will continue to be a risk.

EFI establishes expenditure levels for operating expenses based on projected sales levels and margins, and expenses are relatively fixed in the short term. Accordingly, if sales to EFI s OEM customers are below expectations in any given quarter, the adverse impact of the shortfall in revenues on operating results may be increased by EFI s inability to adjust spending in the short term to compensate for this shortfall.

EFI s three largest customers are not obligated to purchase products from EFI, and the loss of products sales to these customers would substantially harm our business and operating results.

Neither Cannon, Xerox nor Minolta, who accounted for 29%, 28% and 10%, respectively, of EFI s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002, is contractually obligated to purchase products from EFI. EFI s continued sales of product to these customers in future periods are solely dependent upon each customer s decision to make purchases from EFI. Such purchases are typically made on a purchase order basis. Generally, the customers are not obligated to make any such purchases, and EFI has no legal recourse if any of these customers choose not to place orders for future products. EFI s business, financial position and results of operations would be substantially harmed if these customers decided not to order EFI s products in future periods. EFI has master agreements with each of Canon, Xerox and Minolta, but those master agreements do not assure EFI any future business from those OEM partners. If any of those OEM partners do not place orders with EFI, EFI would have no legal recourse against its OEM partners. EFI s business, financial position and results of operations would be substantially harmed if these customers decided not to order EFI s products in future periods.

#### EFI faces the risk of decreased revenue as a result of ongoing economic uncertainty.

The revenue growth and profitability of EFI s business depends significantly on the overall demand for information technology products such as EFI s that enable printing of digital data. Softening demand for these products caused by ongoing economic uncertainty and reduced spending in the United States and other regions where EFI conducts business has resulted, and may further result, in decreased revenues, earnings levels or growth rates or inventory write downs. The United States and global economy, and particularly the markets for EFI s products have weakened substantially over the past two years and market conditions continue to be challenging. This has resulted in individuals and companies delaying or reducing expenditures, including information technology expenditures. Further delays or reductions in information technology spending may have a material adverse effect on demand for EFI s products and services, and consequently on its business, operating results, financial condition, prospects and stock price.

#### EFI s operating results may fluctuate based upon many factors, which could adversely affect its stock price.

EFI expects its stock price to vary with its operating results and, consequently, fluctuations in its results could adversely affect its stock price. Operating results may fluctuate due to:

Varying demand for EFI s products;
success and timing of new product introductions;
changes in interest rates and availability of bank or financing credit to consumers of digital copiers and printers;
price reductions by EFI and its competitors;
delay, cancellation or rescheduling of orders or projects;
product performance;
availability of key components, including possible delays in deliveries from suppliers;
the status of EFI s relationships with its OEM partners;
the performance of third-party manufacturers;
the status of EFI relationships with its key suppliers;
the financial and operational condition of OEM partners and key suppliers;
potential excess or shortage of employees:

competition	from	OEMs:
-------------	------	-------

changes in product mix;

costs associated with complying with any applicable governmental regulations;

volatility in foreign exchange rates;

acquisitions and integration of new businesses; and

general economic conditions.

Many of EFI s products, and the related copiers and printers, are purchased utilizing lease contracts or bank financing. If prospective purchasers of digital copiers and printers are unable to obtain credit, or interest rate changes make credit terms undesirable, then demand for digital copiers and printers may be significantly reduced, which may adversely impact EFI s revenues and operating results.

Typically EFI does not have long-term volume purchase contracts with its customers, and a substantial portion of its backlog is scheduled for delivery within 90 days or less. EFI s customers may cancel orders and change volume levels or delivery times for product they have ordered from EFI without penalty. However, a significant portion of EFI s operating expenses are fixed in advance, and EFI plans these expenditures based on the sales forecasts from OEM customers and product development programs. If EFI was unable to adjust its operating expenses in response to a shortfall in sales, EFI s quarterly financial results could be harmed.

EFI attempts to hire additional employees to match growth in projected demand for its products. If actual demand is lower than EFI s projections, as has occurred in the recent past, EFI likely will have hired too many employees and will therefore incur expenses that need not have been incurred and EFI s financial results may be harmed. If demand exceeds EFI s projections, EFI likely will have hired too few employees and may not be able to meet demand for its products and EFI s sales revenue may be adversely impacted and relationships with customers may be harmed. Projecting demand is difficult in EFI s business and no assurances can be provided that EFI will accurately project demand. If EFI cannot successfully manage its growth, its results of operations may be harmed.

# EFI faces competition from other suppliers as well as its own OEM customers, and if it is not able to compete successfully its business may be harmed.

EFI s industry is highly competitive and is characterized by rapid technological changes. EFI competes against a number of other suppliers of imaging products. EFI cannot assure you that products or technologies developed by competing suppliers will not render EFI s products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive.

While many of EFI s OEMs sell EFI s products on an exclusive basis, EFI does not have any formal agreements that prevent the OEMs from offering alternative products. If an OEM offers products from alternative suppliers, EFI s market share could decrease, which could reduce its revenue and adversely affect its financial results.

Many of EFI s OEM partners themselves internally develop and sell products that compete directly with EFI s current products. These OEMs may be able to develop more quickly than EFI can products that are compatible with the OEM s own products. These OEMs have chosen and may continue to chose to market their own products in addition to EFI s products, even when their products are technologically inferior, have lower performance or cost more than EFI s products. EFI cannot assure you that it will be able to successfully compete against similar products developed internally by the OEMs or against their financial and other resources, particularly in the black and white and embedded color product markets. If EFI cannot compete successfully against the OEMs internally developed products, its business may be harmed.

#### If the demand for products that enable color printing of digital data continues to decrease, EFI s sales revenue will likely decrease.

EFI s products are primarily targeted at enabling the printing of digital data. Demand for networked printers and copiers containing EFI s technology decreased in both 2001 and 2002 due to the global economic downturn. EFI cannot assure you that demand will level off or increase in the future, nor can EFI assure you that the demand will level off or increase for the specific OEM printers and copiers that utilize its products. If demand for digital printing products and services containing EFI s technology continues to decline, or if the demand for EFI s OEMs specific printers or copiers for which its products are designed should continue to decline, EFI s sales revenue will be adversely affected. EFI sells products that are large capital expenditures as well as discretionary purchase items for its customers. In difficult economic times, such as EFI is now experiencing, spending on information technology typically decreases. As EFI products are of a more discretionary nature than many other technology products, EFI may be more adversely impacted by deteriorating general economic conditions than other technology firms. EFI is subject to economic sensitivity that has harmed and could, in the future, harm its results of operations. EFI believes that demand for its products may also be affected by a variety of economic conditions and considerations, and EFI cannot assure you that demand for its products or its customers products will continue or improve from current levels.

# If EFI is not able to hire and retain skilled employees, EFI may not be able to develop products or meet demand for its products in a timely fashion.

EFI depends upon skilled employees, such as software and hardware engineers, quality assurance engineers and other technical professionals with specialized skills. EFI is headquartered in the Silicon Valley where competition has historically been intense among companies to hire engineering and technical professionals. In times of professional labor imbalances, it may be difficult for EFI to locate and hire qualified engineers and technical professionals and for EFI to retain these people. There are many technology companies located near EFI s corporate offices in the Silicon Valley that may try to hire EFI s employees. The movement of EFI s stock price may also impact its ability to hire and retain employees. If EFI does not offer competitive compensation, EFI may not be able to recruit or retain employees. EFI offers a broad-based equity compensation plan based on granting options from stockholder-approved plans in order to be competitive in the labor market. If stockholders do not approve additional shares for these plans for future grants, it may be difficult for EFI to hire and retain skilled employees. If EFI cannot successfully hire and retain employees, EFI may not be able to develop products or to meet demand for its products in a timely fashion and its results of operations may be adversely impacted.

# If EFI is unable to develop new products, or execute product introductions on a timely basis, its future revenue and operating results may be harmed.

EFI s operating results depend to a significant extent on its continual improvement of existing technologies and its rapid innovation of new products and technologies. EFI s success depends not only on its ability to predict future requirements, but also to develop and introduce new products that successfully address customer needs. Any delays in the launch or availability of new products that EFI is planning could harm its financial results. During transitions from existing products to new products, customers may delay or cancel orders for existing products. EFI s results of operations may be adversely affected if it cannot successfully manage product transitions or provide adequate availability of products after they have been introduced.

EFI must continue to make significant investments in research and development in order to enhance performance and functionality of its products, including product lines different than its Fiery, Splash and EDOX servers and embedded controllers. EFI cannot assure you that it will successfully identify new product opportunities, develop and introduce new products to market in a timely manner, or achieve market acceptance of its products. Also, when EFI decides to develop new products, its research and development expenses generally increase in the short term without a corresponding increase in revenue. Finally, EFI cannot assure you that products and technologies developed by its customers and others will not render EFI s products or technologies obsolete or noncompetitive.

# If EFI enters new markets or distribution channels this could result in higher operating expenses that may not be offset by increased revenue.

EFI continues to explore opportunities to develop product lines different from its current servers and embedded controllers, such as EFI s Graphics Arts software package, Velocity software products, PrintMe Networks and Unimobile, among others. EFI expects to continue to invest funds to develop new distribution and marketing channels for these and additional new products and services, which will increase its operating expenses. EFI does do not know if it will be successful in developing these channels or whether the market will accept any of EFI s new products or services or if EFI will generate sufficient revenues from these activities to offset the additional operating expenses it incurs. In addition, even if EFI is able to introduce new products or services, the lack of marketplace acceptability of these new products or services may adversely impact EFI s operating results.

# EFI licenses software used in most of its products from Adobe Systems Incorporated, and the loss of this license would prevent EFI from shipping these products.

Under EFI s license agreements with Adobe, EFI is required to obtain a separate license for each type of copier or printer used with a Fiery Server or Controller from Adobe for the right to use Adobe PostScript<sup>TM</sup> software in its products. EFI has successfully obtained licenses to use Adobe s PostScript<sup>TM</sup> software for its products, where required. EFI cannot assure you that Adobe will continue to grant future licenses to Adobe PostScript<sup>TM</sup> software on reasonable terms, in a timely manner, or at all. In addition, EFI cannot assure you that Adobe will continue to give us the quality assurance approvals that EFI is required to obtain from Adobe for the Adobe licenses. If Adobe does not grant EFI those licenses or approvals, if the Adobe license agreements are terminated, or if EFI s relationship with Adobe is otherwise materially impaired, EFI would be unable to sell products that incorporate Adobe PostScript<sup>TM</sup> software, and EFI s financial condition and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected. In some products EFI has introduced substitute software developed internally that does not require any license from Adobe. The costs to continue to develop software internally could increase EFI s research and development expenditures and EFI may not be able to recapture those costs in increased sales. While EFI plans on expanding the number of products using internally developed software, there can be no assurance that these products will be accepted in the market.

#### EFI depends on a limited group of suppliers for key components in its products.

Components necessary for the manufacture of EFI products are obtained from a sole supplier or a limited group of suppliers. These include processors from Intel and other related semiconductor components. EFI does not maintain long-term agreements with any of its suppliers of components. Because the purchase of key components involves long lead times, in the event of unanticipated volatility in demand for EFI s products, EFI could be unable to manufacture certain products in a quantity sufficient to meet end user demand, or it may hold excess quantities of inventory. EFI maintains an inventory of components for which it is dependent upon sole or limited source suppliers and components with prices that fluctuate significantly. As a result, EFI is subject to a risk of inventory obsolescence, which could adversely affect its operating results and financial condition. Additionally, the market prices and availability of components, particularly memory, and Intel designed components, which collectively represent a substantial portion of the total manufactured cost of EFI s products, have fluctuated significantly in the past. Fluctuations in the future could have a material adverse effect on EFI s operating results and financial condition including a reduction in gross margins.

## EFI is dependent on subcontractors to manufacture and deliver products to its customers.

EFI subcontracts with other companies to manufacture its products. EFI relies on the ability of its subcontractors to produce products to be sold to customers, and while EFI closely monitors its subcontractors performance, EFI cannot assure you that its subcontractors will continue to manufacture EFI s products in a timely and effective manner. The weakened economy has led to the dissolution, bankruptcies and consolidations of some of the subcontractors who are able to manufacture EFI s products, decreasing the available number of subcontractors. If the available number of subcontractors

continues to decrease, it is possible that EFI will not be able to secure appropriate subcontractors to fulfill its demand in a timely manner or at all, particularly if demand for EFI s products increases, or if EFI loses one or more of its current subcontractors. Fewer subcontractors may reduce EFI s negotiating leverage regarding product costs. Difficulties experienced by EFI s subcontractors, including financial problems, and the inability to make or ship products or fix quality assurance problems, could harm EFI s business, operating results and financial condition. If EFI decides to change subcontractors, EFI could experience delays in setting up new subcontractors which would result in delay in delivery of products. EFI has a high concentration of its products manufactured at a single subcontractor location, Sanmina-SCI in Colorado. Should Sanmina-SCI experience any inability to manufacture or deliver product from this location EFI s business, financial condition and operations could be harmed.

Seasonal purchasing patterns of EFI s OEM customers have historically caused lower fourth quarter revenue, which may negatively impact EFI s results of operations.

EFI s results of operations have typically followed a seasonal pattern reflecting the buying patterns of its large OEM customers. In the past, EFI s fiscal fourth quarter (the quarter ending December 31) results have been adversely affected because some or all of its OEM customers wanted to decrease, or otherwise delay, fourth quarter orders. This impact has been increasingly mitigated, as EFI s OEM customers have lowered channel inventories throughout the year pushing this effect into the first quarter when its OEM partners typically have lower sales. In addition, the first fiscal quarter traditionally has been a weaker quarter because EFI s OEM partners focus on training their sales forces and have reduced sales to their customers. The primary reasons for this seasonal pattern are:

EFI s OEM partners have historically sought to minimize year-end inventory investment (including the reduction in demand following introductory channel fill purchases);

the timing of new product releases and training by EFI s OEM partners; and

a number of EFI s OEM partners typically achieve their yearly sales targets before year end and consequently delay further purchases into the next fiscal year (EFI does not know when its partners reach these sales targets as they generally do not disclose them to EFI).

As a result of these factors, EFI believes that period to period comparisons of its operating results are not meaningful, and you should not rely on such comparisons to predict EFI s future performance. EFI anticipates that future operating results may fluctuate significantly due to the continuation or changes in this seasonal demand pattern.

### Acquisitions EFI may make involve numerous risks.

EFI seeks to develop new technologies and products from both internal and external sources. As part of this effort, EFI has in the past made, and will likely continue to make, acquisitions of other companies or other companies assets. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, such as:

difficulties in integration of operations, technologies, or products;

risks of entering markets in which EFI has little or no prior experience, or entering markets where competitors have stronger market positions;

possible write-downs of impaired assets;

potential loss of key employees of the acquired company;

possible expense overruns;

adverse reaction by customers, suppliers or partners of the acquired company or EFI;

risk of changes in ratings by stock analysts;

potential litigation surrounding transactions;

inability to protect or secure technology rights; and

increase in operating costs.

Mergers and acquisitions of companies are inherently risky, and EFI cannot assure you that its previous or future acquisitions will be successful and will not harm its business, operating results, financial condition, or stock price.

There can be no assurance that the merger will be consummated, or if consummated, will prove to be successful.

#### EFI faces risks from its international operations and from currency fluctuations.

Approximately 50% and 48% of EFI s revenue from the sale of products for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, came from sales outside North America, primarily to Europe and Japan. EFI expects that sales to international destinations will continue to be a significant portion of its total revenue. EFI is subject to risks because of its international operations. These risks include the regulatory requirements of foreign governments which may apply to EFI s products, as well as requirements for export licenses which may be required for the export of technologies. The necessary export licenses may be delayed or difficult to obtain, which could cause a delay in EFI s international sales and hurt its product revenue. Other risks include trade protection measures, natural disasters, and political or economic conditions in a specific country or region.

Given the significance of EFI s non-U.S. sales to its total product revenue, EFI faces a continuing risk from the fluctuation of the U.S. dollar versus the Japanese yen, the Euro and other major European currencies, and numerous Southeast Asian currencies. EFI typically invoices its customers in U.S. dollars and this may result in its products becoming more expensive in the local currency of customers, thereby reducing EFI s ability to sell its products. When EFI invoices its customers in local currencies, EFI s cash flows and earnings are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates between the currency of the invoice and the U.S. dollar. In January 2003, EFI acquired Best GmbH, whose sales are principally denominated in the Euro. Sales from this subsidiary increase EFI s exposure to currency fluctuations. In the past, EFI has attempted to limit or hedge these exposures through operational strategies and financial market instruments. EFI generally used forward contracts to reduce its risk from interest rate and currency fluctuations. EFI currently does not have a hedging program in place. EFI s efforts to reduce the risk from its international operations and from fluctuations in foreign currencies or interest rates may not be successful, which could harm its financial condition and operating results.

#### EFI may be unable to adequately protect its proprietary information and may incur expenses to defend its proprietary information.

EFI relies on a combination of copyright, patent, trademark and trade secret protection, nondisclosure agreements, and licensing and cross-licensing arrangements to establish, maintain and protect its intellectual property rights, all of which afford only limited protection. EFI has patent applications pending in the United States and in various foreign countries. There can be no assurance that patents will issue from these pending applications or from any future applications, or that, if issued, any claims allowed will be sufficiently broad to protect EFI s technology. Any failure to adequately protect its proprietary information could harm EFI s financial condition and operating results. EFI cannot be certain that any patents that may issue to EFI, or which EFI licenses from third parties, or any other of its proprietary rights will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. In addition, EFI cannot be certain that any rights granted to it under any patents, licenses or other proprietary rights will provide adequate protection of its proprietary information.

From time to time, litigation may be necessary to defend and enforce EFI s proprietary rights. Litigation, whether or not concluded successfully for EFI, could involve significant expense and the diversion of its management s attention and other resources, which could harm its financial condition and operating results.

### EFI faces risks from third party claims of infringement and potential litigation.

Third parties have claimed in the past and may claim in the future that EFI s products infringe, or may infringe, their proprietary rights. Such claims could result in lengthy and expensive litigation. Such claims and any related litigation, whether or not EFI is successful in the litigation, could result in substantial costs and diversion of EFI s resources, which could harm its financial condition and operating results. Although EFI may seek licenses from third parties covering intellectual property that it is allegedly infringing, EFI cannot assure you that any such licenses could be obtained on acceptable terms, if at all.

### EFI s products may contain defects which are not discovered until after shipping.

EFI s products consist of hardware and software developed by EFI and others. EFI s products may contain undetected errors and EFI has, in the past, discovered software and hardware errors in its products after their introduction. There can be no assurance that errors would not be found in new versions of EFI s products after commencement of commercial shipments, or that any such errors would not result in a loss or delay in market acceptance and thus harm EFI s reputation and revenues. In addition, errors in EFI s products (including errors in licensed third party software) detected prior to new product releases could result in delays in the introduction of new products and in EFI s incurring additional expense, which could harm its operating results.

#### The location and concentration of EFI s facilities subjects it to the risk of earthquakes, floods or other natural disasters.

EFI s corporate headquarters, including most of its research and development facilities and manufacturing operations, are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, an area known for seismic activity. This area has also experienced flooding in the past. In addition, many of the components necessary to supply EFI s products are purchased from suppliers subject to risk from natural disasters, based in areas including the San Francisco Bay Area, Taiwan, and Japan. A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake or a flood, could harm EFI s business, financial condition, and operating results.

There is a risk that EFI s employees, suppliers, or customers, either through travel or contact with other individuals, could become exposed to contagious diseases such as severe acute respiratory syndrome. If a significant number of employees, suppliers, or customers were unable to fulfill their obligations, EFI s business, financial condition, and operating results could be harmed.

#### The value of EFI s investment portfolio will decrease if interest rates increase.

EFI has an investment portfolio of mainly fixed income securities classified as available-for-sale securities. As a result, EFI s investment portfolio is subject to interest rate risk and will fall in value if market interest rates increase. EFI attempts to limit this exposure to interest rate risk by investing in securities with maturities of less than three years; however, EFI may be unable to successfully limit its risk to interest rate fluctuations and this may cause its investment portfolio to decrease in value.

#### EFI s stock price has been volatile historically and may continue to be volatile.

The market price for EFI s common stock has been and may continue to be volatile. For example, during the 52-week period ended June 30, 2003, the closing prices of EFI s common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market ranged from a high of \$21.41 to a low of \$13.50. EFI expects its stock price to be subject to fluctuations as a result of a variety of factors, including factors beyond EFI s control. These factors include:

actual or anticipated variations in its quarterly operating results;

announcements of technological innovations or new products or services by EFI or its competitors;

announcements relating to strategic relationships, acquisitions or investments;

changes in financial estimates or other statements by securities analysts;

changes in general economic conditions;

terrorist attacks, and the effects of war;

changes in the rating of EFI s debentures or other securities; and

changes in the economic performance and/or market valuations of other software and high-technology companies.

Because of this volatility, EFI may fail to meet the expectations of its stockholders or of securities analysts at some time in the future, and the trading prices of its securities could decline as a result. In addition, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the trading prices of equity securities of many high-technology companies. These fluctuations have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. Any negative change in the public s perception of software or Internet software companies could depress EFI s stock price regardless of its operating results.

### EFI s debt service obligations may adversely affect its cash flow.

While EFI s convertible debentures are outstanding, EFI will have debt service obligations of approximately \$3.6 million per year in interest payments. If EFI issues other debt securities in the future, its debt service obligations will increase. If EFI is unable to generate sufficient cash to meet these obligations and must instead use its existing cash or investments, EFI may have to reduce, curtail or terminate other activities of its business.

EFI intends to fulfill its debt service obligations from cash generated by its operations, if any, and from its existing cash and investments. If necessary, among other alternatives, EFI may add lease lines of credit to finance capital expenditures and obtain other long-term debt, lines of credit and mortgage financing.

EFI s indebtedness could have significant negative consequences to you. For example, it could:

increase EFI s vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

limit EFI s ability to obtain additional financing;

require the dedication of a substantial portion of any cash flow from operations to the payment of principal of, and interest on, its indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of such cash flow to fund its growth strategy, working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes;

limit EFI s flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in its business and its industry; and

place EFI at a competitive disadvantage relative to its competitors with less debt.

26

#### BACKGROUND OF THE MERGER AND RELATED MATTERS

#### **Background and Reasons for the Merger**

Background of the Merger.

In November 2001, we and EFI had discussions with respect to a potential business combination. No agreement with respect to a transaction arose out of those discussions. From time to time thereafter, members of EFI s management team and members of our management team had discussions. In December 2002, EFI engaged counsel in anticipation of resuming efforts to effect a transaction with Printcafe.

On November 22, 2002, our board of directors met to discuss, among other things, our outstanding indebtedness, including balloon payments which were due in January 2004, and our available financing alternatives. Our management recommended that we attempt to refinance or restructure our debt before it matured, and if were unable to do so by the next board meeting, which was scheduled for February 2003, the board of directors should consider the strategic alternatives available to us, including a sale of the company. Because Creo is a holder of a significant amount of our debt, we pursued discussions with Creo to determine whether Creo would be willing to refinance or restructure the debt we owe to its subsidiary. In addition, our management team engaged in discussions with a number of lenders and sources of equity financing. The discussions with Creo and other potential lenders and sources of equity financing did not result in any proposals for debt or equity financing.

On January 22, 2003, Creo, the holder at that time of 30% of the outstanding shares of our common stock, announced that it had entered into definitive agreements on January 21, 2003 to acquire, for \$1.30 in cash or shares of Creo s common stock at the election of each stockholder, shares of our common stock from two of our stockholders. If those transactions were consummated, Creo s ownership interest in Printcafe would increase from 30% to approximately 55%. At the same time, Creo delivered a proposal to our board of directors to acquire all the remaining shares of our common stock for consideration of \$1.30 per share in shares of Creo s common stock, but subject to both a minimum and maximum number of shares that would be issued regardless of the trading price of Creo s common stock. On that day, during a conference call with Creo, its legal counsel and our legal counsel, Creo indicated that it viewed its proposed acquisition of us to be strategic and informed us that it would not sell its shares to a third party, even if the third party offered a higher price. Prior to Creo s public announcement, our board of directors was unaware that Creo had been attempting to gain control of Printcafe because Creo did not disclose this fact to us, even though two of Creo s executive officers are members of our board of directors.

Shortly after announcement of the offer from Creo on January 22, 2003, we received a proposal from EFI on January 22, 2003 to acquire all of the outstanding shares of our common stock for \$2.60 per share for either cash or shares of EFI common stock, without a collar. A collar is a minimum and maximum limit on the number of shares of stock that would be issued and is determined based on the then trading value of the shares.

Our board of directors met on the evening of January 22, 2003. At that meeting, a majority of the members of our board of directors requested that Amos Michelson, the chairman of our board of directors who is also the chief executive officer of Creo, resign from his position as chairman of our board of directors. Our board of directors appointed Marc Olin, our president and chief executive officer, as the new chairman of our board of directors. In addition, our board of directors appointed a committee of directors who were unaffiliated with Creo or EFI to consider the offers received from Creo and EFI, as well as any other strategic alternatives available to us. The special committee consisted of Charles Billerbeck, Victor Cohn and Thomas Gill. Mr. Billerbeck was appointed chairman of the special committee. Management reported to the special committee that management had been pursuing potential sources of debt or equity financing since the last board meeting due to our financial condition and other factors, including our January 2004 debt repayment obligation. Management advised the special committee that management had not been able to obtain offers of new debt or equity financing.

From January 23 through January 30, 2003, the special committee met on several occasions to consider, among other things, retaining its own financial and legal advisors. The special committee retained Thelen Reid & Priest LLP and Potter Anderson & Corroon LLP as legal counsel. On January 31, 2003, the special committee retained UBS Warburg as its financial advisor.

From February 2 through February 12, 2003, at the direction of the special committee, UBS Warburg conducted a market test by contacting other potential bidders for Printcafe. To that end, UBS contacted approximately 30 potential strategic and financial buyers for Printcafe; however, no additional offers emerged as a result of that process.

On January 30, 2003, Creo consummated the purchase of 1,532,052 shares of our common stock pursuant to its agreement with one of our stockholders, thereby increasing its ownership to 44.4% of our outstanding common stock. The second agreement was scheduled to close on February 24, 2003 and the special committee became increasingly concerned that Creo would assume control of Printcafe by consummating that agreement. The special committee feared that if Creo assumed voting control of Printcafe, Creo would prevent the independent directors from pursuing the EFI proposal or any offer for Printcafe other than Creo s offer at \$1.30 per share in Creo stock. The special committee determined that EFI s offer at \$2.60 per share was superior to Creo s offer at \$1.30 per share, due to the amount of consideration in EFI s proposal and the ability of our stockholders to elect cash or shares of EFI common stock. EFI expressed concerns with respect to potential actions that Creo might take and advised the special committee, by letter dated January 28, 2003, that its offer at \$2.60 per share in cash was conditioned upon (a) adoption of a customary stockholder rights agreement by the special committee, (b) execution of an agreement granting EFI the option to purchase 19.9% of our then outstanding common stock and (c) execution of a definitive merger agreement. The adoption of the stockholders rights agreement would prevent Creo from purchasing any additional shares of our common stock pursuant to the second stock purchase agreement or otherwise. Therefore, to protect our stockholders against being coerced into accepting Creo s \$1.30 offer, and to avoid losing control of the sale process, at a meeting on January 29, 2003, the special committee considered the adoption of a stockholders rights plan as well as EFI s other conditions to its proposal.

In assessing whether to adopt the stockholders rights plan, which would require the distribution of rights to our stockholders in the form of a dividend, the special committee directed its advisors to determine if there were any restrictions on our ability to make dividends and distributions under our existing credit facility. On February 2, 2003, the special committee was advised that the issuance of the rights under the rights plan could be viewed as a technical default under our existing loan agreement with an affiliate of Creo. Unwilling to put Printcafe at risk for a claim of default but still believing that adoption of a stockholders rights plan was essential to protect our stockholders from Creo s advances, the special committee determined on February 3, 2003, to seek an alternative source of credit should Creo, through its affiliate, claim a default as a result of the adoption of the stockholders rights plan.

On February 3, 2003, the special committee approached EFI and inquired as to whether EFI would be willing to provide us with standby credit in the event of a claim of default. EFI agreed to provide us with the necessary credit, in exchange for our agreement to (a) enter into exclusive negotiations for a period of time with EFI based on its \$2.60 proposal; and (b) grant EFI an option to acquire 2,126,574 shares of our common stock in return. Given that Creo already held 44.4% of our outstanding common stock, consummation of EFI s offer would be unlikely or impossible without the issuance of shares of our common stock pursuant to the option.

After almost two weeks of negotiations regarding the terms of the proposed agreements, since no additional competing proposal had emerged as a result of the UBS Warburg market test, on February 13, 2003, we announced our adoption of a stockholders rights plan. In addition, on the same day, we and EFI executed and delivered:

A stock option agreement providing EFI with the right to acquire 2,126,574 shares of our common stock at a price per share of \$2.60 per share. EFI exercised this option in full on June 11, 2003.

a letter agreement providing for the extension of credit by EFI to us; and

a letter agreement setting forth the terms upon which we could pursue alternate proposals to EFI s proposed business combination.

On February 14, 2003, counsel to EFI delivered a first draft of a merger agreement and ancillary documents to counsel for the special committee. From February 14, 2003 through February 26, 2003, we, EFI and the special committee, together with each party s respective representatives, negotiated the terms of the merger.

On February 19, 2003, Creo commenced an action in The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County captioned *Creo, Inc. v. Printcafe Software, Inc., Electronics For Imaging, Inc., Marc D. Olin, Charles J. Billerbeck, Victor A. Cohn and Thomas J. Gill.* Creo requested a temporary restraining order that would preclude us from (a) triggering, exercising or otherwise giving effect to the stockholders rights plan we adopted, (b) taking any action with the intent or effect of impeding the operation of market forces in an open bidding contest for Printcafe, (c) taking any steps or actions to enforce the fee provided for in the letter agreement we entered into with EFI, (d) taking any steps or any actions to enforce the option we granted to EFI, (e) taking any steps or actions to enforce the no solicitation provisions of the standby credit letter that we entered into with EFI, (f) engaging in any conduct intended to cause or having the effect of causing Printcafe to forgo the opportunity to explore and enter into economically more favorable transactions and (g) entering into, or purporting to enter into, a merger agreement between EFI and us before the court finally rules on the action. On February 21, 2003 the court denied Creo s request for a temporary restraining order.

On February 21, 2003, the special committee received an offer from Creo to acquire Printcafe in a transaction in which the consideration per share of our common stock would be \$3.00 in shares of Creo common stock—subject to an appropriate collar. The offer from Creo, which was subject to due diligence and approval by Creo—s board of directors, did not specify the nature of the collar. Creo issued a press release announcing its offer. The special committee and its advisors met on the evening of February 21, 2003 to discuss this offer. At that meeting, the special committee reviewed our rights and obligations under the exclusivity agreement with EFI and determined, based on the advice of Potter Anderson & Corroon LLP, its legal advisor, and its financial advisor, that the \$3.00 offer from Creo was reasonably likely to lead to a superior proposal and to engage in further discussions with Creo. In evaluating the Creo offer, the special committee considered the fact that the offer was solely for shares of Creo common stock and would be subject to a collar. The special committee notified EFI of the Creo offer on February 22, 2003. EFI did not change the consideration payable in connection with the merger as a result of Creo—s proposal.

On February 21 and 22, 2003, UBS Warburg contacted representatives of Creo to discuss the terms and conditions of Creo s offer, including the parameters of the collar referred to in its offer letter, whether Creo was willing to make a cash offer, the scope of due diligence that would be required and the timing of Creo obtaining approval of the offer by its board of directors, and to clarify the timing and procedures for continued negotiations with the special committee. The special committee met twice telephonically on February 22, 2003 to remain apprised of the discussions with Creo and to consider the status of its negotiations with EFI.

On February 23, 2003, the special committee received a revised offer from Creo to acquire Printcafe in a transaction in which the offered consideration for each share of our common stock was \$4.00 in shares of Creo common stock, subject to a 20% collar. Creo did not issue a press release announcing this offer. On that same day, the special committee and its advisors met several times telephonically to discuss the revised offer from Creo and directed its advisors to continue negotiations with Creo under the revised terms of its offer. Potter Anderson, counsel for the special committee, and Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP, our counsel, engaged in discussions with counsel for Creo regarding the terms of a proposed merger agreement and Creo s request for due diligence materials. We informed EFI of Creo s offer on February 23, 2003. EFI did not change the consideration payable in connection with the merger as a result of Creo s offer.

On February 24, 2003, EFI sent us a letter modifying the condition to EFI s obligation to lend us funds for working capital purposes. That letter agreement modified a condition to EFI s obligations in the original standby credit letter agreement by extending the date by which we and EFI must have executed and delivered a merger agreement from February 24, 2003 to March 1, 2003.

On the morning of February 24, 2003, Creo sent a draft merger agreement to us and our counsel. That morning and afternoon we sent due diligence materials to Creo. During several brief telephone calls on that day, we responded to questions from Creo regarding the materials, including financial information, that we provided to Creo. On the evening of February 24, 2003, Creo informed the special committee that it was withdrawing from the bidding process and terminating its offers, and Creo issued a press release that described reasons for its withdrawal. We do not have any additional information about why Creo withdrew its offers. The special committee met telephonically on the evening of February 24, 2003 to discuss the withdrawal of Creo s offers and to consider the terms of EFI s proposed transaction at \$2.60 per share.

On February 25, 2003, the special committee met to discuss the terms of the proposed merger with EFI. Counsel reviewed the principal terms of the merger agreement and UBS Warburg explained the methodologies it used to arrive at its opinion as to the fairness of the transaction from a financial point of view. After its presentation, UBS Warburg delivered its oral opinion, subsequently confirmed in writing and based on and subject to the matters described in its opinion, that the merger consideration was fair, from a financial point of view, to our stockholders, other than EFI and its affiliates. Both counsel and UBS Warburg answered questions from the special committee. After further deliberations, the special committee then recommended that our board of directors accept EFI s proposed transaction as set forth in the proposed merger agreement. In addition, subject to approval of the merger agreement by our board, the special committee recommended amendments to our stockholders rights plan which would prevent the distribution of the rights as a result of the execution of the merger agreement with EFI.

Immediately following the meeting of the special committee, our board of directors met. All of the directors, including those directors who are employees of Creo, participated in the meeting. Counsel for Printcafe and counsel for the special committee reviewed the terms of the proposed merger agreement and UBS Warburg reiterated its earlier presentation given to the special committee. Both counsel and UBS Warburg answered questions from members of our board of directors. After discussion, our board of directors adopted and approved the proposed merger with EFI, whereby each of our stockholders would receive \$2.60 in cash or, at their election, in EFI stock for each share of our stock that they own, declared the merger agreement advisable and determined that the merger agreement and the merger were fair to and in the best interest of Printcafe and our stockholders. The two members of our board of directors employed by Creo, Amos Michelson and Judi Hess, each abstained from the vote on the merger agreement.

Early in the morning of February 26, 2003, we, EFI and a subsidiary of EFI executed and delivered the merger agreement. Before the Nasdaq National Market opened on February 26, 2003, we and EFI issued a press release announcing the proposed merger.

On March 29, 2003, we received a non-binding indication of interest from a private equity firm with respect to a potential business combination in which the consideration would be at least 10% higher than the \$2.60 per share consideration offered in the merger. The indication of interest was (a) subject to due diligence, (b) not binding and (c) conditioned on Creo retaining its equity investment in the surviving entity. The special committee met to review this indication of interest and instructed UBS Warburg to enter into discussions with the private equity firm in pursuit of the potential transaction. On April 4, 2003, Creo requested the right to participate in discussions and enter into agreements with the private equity firm in connection with that proposed transaction. Counsel to the special committee informed Creo in writing that no action would be taken under our stockholders rights plan solely as a result of Creo and the private equity firm discussing the terms of Creo s participation in the transaction proposed by the private equity firm. On April 16, 2003, the private equity firm advised our representatives that it was no longer interested in pursuing a business combination with us based, in part, on the results of its discussions with Creo.

Our Reasons for the Merger. In reaching its decision, our board of directors consulted with our senior management, legal counsel and financial advisor, reviewed a significant amount of information, received the recommendation of the special committee that the board approve the merger, discussed the recommended action with the special committee and considered a number of factors, including, among others, the following factors:

The possible alternatives to the merger, including the possibility of continuing to operate Printcafe as a stand-alone entity and the risks associated with that alternative, particularly in light of the fact that \$14.2 million of our debt is due in January 2004 and we do not expect debt or equity financing to be available and do not have sufficient cash to repay that amount, as well as Creo s prior attempt to purchase, in private transactions, a controlling interest in Printcafe at \$1.30 per share in cash and its offer to exchange all remaining outstanding shares of our common stock for shares of Creo common stock valued at \$1.30 per share, subject to a collar;

the \$2.60 per share to be paid as the consideration in the merger represents a premium of 122.2% over the trailing average closing sales prices for our common stock as reported on Nasdaq for the three months ended February 25, 2003, a premium of 28.7% over the trailing average closing sales prices for our common stock as reported on Nasdaq for the one month ended February 25, 2003, a premium of 14% over the trailing average closing sales prices for our common stock as reported on Nasdaq for the one week ended February 25, 2003, and a premium of 8.3% over the closing sale price for our common stock as reported on Nasdaq on February 25, 2003, the trading day before the board s approval of the merger agreement;

the financial presentations made by UBS Warburg and the written opinion of UBS Warburg to the special committee and our board of directors to the effect that, as of February 25, 2003, and based on and subject to the factors and assumptions set forth in the written opinion, the consideration to be received by holders of our common stock, other than EFI and its affiliates, pursuant to the merger agreement is fair from a financial point of view to those holders;

the ability of our stockholders to elect to receive shares of EFI common stock in the merger, thereby giving them the opportunity to continue as equity owners of the combined company after the merger;

the results of UBS Warburg s market check and the letter received from Creo on February 24, 2003 indicating that it was no longer interested in the bidding process and was terminating its prior offers and UBS Warburg s advice, based on those factors, as to the relatively low likelihood of completing an alternative transaction;

our then current and historical financial condition, including the amount of our outstanding debt, the value of our assets, the timing of the repayment obligations on our existing indebtedness and the prospects for refinancing that indebtedness, our results of operations as a stand-alone company, our prospects and strategic objectives, the risks involved in achieving those prospects and objectives, conditions in our industry as a whole, and the current economic environment;

then current financial market conditions, and historical market prices, volatility and trading information with respect to our common stock;

other historical information concerning our business, prospects, financial performance and condition, operations, technology, management and competitive position;

the fact that pursuant to the merger agreement, we are not prohibited from responding (at any time prior to our stockholders adoption of the merger agreement) in the manner provided in the merger agreement to takeover proposals that our board of directors determine in good faith constitute a superior offer, and, upon payment of a termination fee of \$828,000 and compliance

with the terms of the merger agreement, we may terminate the merger agreement to enter into an agreement for a superior transaction;

the terms of the merger agreement and related documents, including the parties representations, warranties and covenants, and the conditions to their respective obligations;

the risks and contingencies related to the announcement and pendency of the merger, the possibility that the merger will not be consummated and the potential negative effect of public announcement of the merger in that event on our sales, operating results and stock price and our ability to retain key management and personnel; and

the conditions to EFI s obligation to complete the merger and the limited right of EFI to terminate the merger agreement.

This list is not exhaustive but includes the material factors considered by the special committee or our board of directors. In view of the variety of factors considered in connection with its evaluation of the merger, neither the special committee nor our board of directors quantified or assigned relative weights to the specific factors considered in reaching their recommendations. Instead, the special committee and our board of directors made their recommendations based on the totality of the information presented to and considered by them.

The special committee and our board of directors also took into consideration potential risks associated with the merger and an investment in shares of EFI s common stock, and concluded that the potential benefits of the merger outweighed these factors. These factors include the risk that circumstances may arise that provide EFI the right not to consummate the merger and that an investment in EFI stock is likely to be affected by the markets in which it competes. There can be no assurance that the shares of EFI stock you receive in the merger, should you elect to receive stock, will not decline in value. See Risk Factors, beginning on page 12.

#### **Recommendation of Our Board of Directors**

After careful consideration, the special committee and our board of directors, on February 26, 2003 (with Mr. Michelson and Ms. Hess, who are employees of Creo, abstaining) determined that the terms of the merger agreement and the merger were fair to, and in the best interest of, Printcafe and our stockholders and approved the merger agreement and the merger. In reaching their decisions, the special committee and our board of directors consulted with our management team and advisors and independently considered the proposed merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The committee unanimously recommended to our board of directors that it approve the merger agreement and our board of directors (with Mr. Michelson and Ms. Hess abstaining) has declared the merger agreement advisable and fair to Printcafe and our stockholders and recommends that you vote to adopt the merger agreement.

In considering the recommendation of the committee and our board of directors with respect to the merger agreement, you should be aware that our directors and executive officers may have interests in the merger that are different from, or are in addition to, the interests of our other stockholders. Please see Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger, on page 44.

### **Opinion of UBS Warburg LLC**

Under the terms of an engagement letter, dated January 31, 2003, the special committee retained UBS Warburg LLC to provide financial advisory services and a financial fairness opinion to the special committee and to our board of directors in connection with a possible business combination transaction involving Printcafe. At the meeting of the special committee and the subsequent meeting of our board of directors, in each case held on February 25, 2003, UBS Warburg delivered its oral opinion to the effect that, as of the date of the opinion and based on and subject to the matters described in the opinion, the consideration to be received by holders of our common stock, other than EFI and its affiliates, in the

merger is fair from a financial point of view to such holders. The opinion was confirmed by delivery of a written opinion dated February 25, 2003.

The following summary of the UBS Warburg opinion is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion. The full text of the opinion sets forth the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the scope of the review undertaken, by UBS Warburg and is attached as Annex B to this document and incorporated in this document by reference. You are encouraged to read carefully the UBS Warburg opinion in its entirety.

UBS Warburg s opinion:

Is directed solely to the special committee and the board of directors;

relates only to the fairness from a financial point of view of the consideration to be received by holders of our common stock, other than EFI and its affiliates, in the merger;

addresses the aggregate value to be received by holders of our common stock as a whole, without regard to the individual s size of holdings, and does not in any respect constitute an opinion on the particular situations of specific stockholders, including Creo and its affiliates and those stockholders distinguished by size of position or other factors;

does not address our underlying business decision to effect the merger;

does not constitute a recommendation to you about how to vote with respect to the merger agreement or any other matter; and

is necessarily based upon economic, monetary, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the information made available to UBS Warburg as of, the date of the opinion.

In arriving at its opinion, UBS Warburg, among other things:

Reviewed selected publicly available business and historical financial information relating to Printcafe and EFI;

reviewed the reported prices and trading activity for our common stock and EFI s common stock;

reviewed selected internal financial information and other data relating to our business and financial prospects, including estimates and financial forecasts for fiscal 2003 prepared by our management, which were provided to UBS Warburg and not publicly available;

reviewed selected publicly available research analysts estimates of EFI s future financial performance;

conducted discussions with members of our senior management;

reviewed publicly available financial and stock market data with respect to selected other companies in lines of business UBS Warburg believed to be generally comparable to those of Printcafe and EFI;

reviewed publicly available financial data with respect to selected other transactions involving companies in lines of business UBS Warburg believed to be generally comparable to those of Printcafe;

reviewed drafts of the merger agreement; and

conducted other financial studies, analyses and investigations and considered other information as UBS Warburg deemed necessary or appropriate.

In connection with its review, with the consent of the special committee and the board of directors or at the direction of the special committee and the board of directors, as applicable, UBS Warburg:

Assumed that the final executed form of the merger agreement did not differ in any material respect from the draft that UBS Warburg examined, and that we, EFI and its subsidiary will comply with all material terms of the merger agreement;

assumed that the financial forecasts and estimates for fiscal 2003 referred to above had been reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of our management as to our future performance;

did not assume any responsibility for independent verification of any of the information referred to above and relied on it as being complete and accurate in all material respects; and

did not make any independent evaluation or appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of Printcafe or EFI, nor was UBS Warburg furnished with an evaluation or appraisal.

UBS Warburg was not asked to, and did not, recommend the specific consideration payable in the merger, which was determined through negotiations between EFI and the special committee. In addition, UBS Warburg was not asked to, and did, not offer any opinion as to the material terms of the merger agreement or the form of the transactions contemplated thereby, and expressed no opinion as to what the actual value of EFI common stock will be when issued pursuant to the merger or the prices at which EFI common stock will trade in the future. UBS Warburg also did not express any opinion as to whether holders of significant numbers of shares of our common stock could sell such shares for more consideration per share than the consideration being paid in the merger in privately negotiated transactions.

At the request of the special committee, UBS Warburg contacted third parties to solicit indications of interest with respect to a possible business combination with Printcafe and held discussions with a number of these parties before the date of UBS Warburg s written opinion.

The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex analytical process involving various determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of those methods to the particular circumstances and, therefore, is not susceptible to partial analysis or summary descriptions. In arriving at its opinion, UBS Warburg made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor considered by it, and based on the results of all the analyses undertaken by it and assessed as a whole. UBS Warburg did not draw conclusions, in isolation, from or with regard to any one factor or method of analysis. Accordingly, UBS Warburg believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses and the factors considered by it, without considering all analyses and factors, could create an incomplete view of the processes underlying the analyses set forth in its opinion.

In performing its analyses, UBS Warburg made many assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, financial, market and economic conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond our or EFI s control. No company, transaction or business used in those analyses as a comparison is identical to Printcafe or EFI or their respective businesses or the merger, nor is an evaluation of the results entirely mathematical. Rather, the analyses involve complex considerations and judgments concerning financial and operating characteristics and other factors that could affect the operating results, public trading or other values of the companies or transactions being analyzed.

The estimates contained in the analyses performed by UBS Warburg and the ranges of valuations resulting from any particular analysis are not necessarily indicative of actual values or predictive of future results or values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by these analyses. In addition, analyses relating to the value of securities do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which a business might actually be sold or the prices at which any securities may trade at the present time or at any time in the future.

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses used by UBS Warburg in connection with the rendering of its opinion. The financial analyses summarized below include information presented

in tabular format. In order to understand the financial analyses fully, the tables must be read together with the text of each summary. Considering the data set forth below without considering the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the financial analyses.

#### Printcafe Analyses

Historical Stock Performance. UBS Warburg reviewed historical trading prices for our common stock. This stock price performance review indicated that, for the period beginning June 19, 2002, the first trading day following our initial public offering, through and including February 24, 2003, the low and high closing prices for our common stock were \$0.92 and \$8.00, respectively. This review further indicated that the closing price for our common stock was \$1.10 on January 20, 2003, which was prior to Creo s \$1.30 per share offer being made public. UBS Warburg referred to the \$1.10 closing stock price on January 20, 2003 as the Unaffected Price. UBS Warburg also reviewed the average closing prices over periods prior to February 24, 2003 as set forth in the following table:

Selected Statistics(1)	Closing Price
February 24, 2003	\$3.24
5 Day Average	\$2.56
10 Day Average	\$2.39
20 Day Average	\$2.29
60 Day Average	\$1.56
90 Day Average	\$1.47
180 Day Average	\$2.34

#### (1) All periods based on trading days.

Selected Comparable Public Company Analysis. UBS Warburg compared selected financial information, ratios and public market multiples for Printcafe to the corresponding data for the following six publicly-traded companies:

i2 Technologies, Inc.

Retek Inc.

Manugistics Group, Inc.

Descartes Systems Group, Inc.

Aspen Technology, Inc.

#### **QRS** Corporation

UBS Warburg chose the selected companies because they were publicly-traded companies that, for purposes of the analysis, UBS Warburg considered reasonably similar to Printcafe in that these companies are relatively smaller, independent companies that operate in the computer software industry selling supply chain management products. The selected public companies may significantly differ from Printcafe based on, among other things, the size of the companies, the geographic coverage of the companies operations and the particular business segments in which the companies focus.

UBS Warburg reviewed, among other information, the comparable companies multiples of enterprise value, which consists of the market value of the particular company s common equity plus the market value (when available) of the company s total debt, preferred stock and minority interests, minus cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities to:

Estimated calendar 2002 revenue, referred to as CY 2002E revenue, and

estimated calendar 2003 revenue, referred to as CY 2003E revenue.

The Printcafe comparable companies analysis resulted in the following ranges of implied multiples as of February 21, 2003:

	Multiple Range	Mean	Median	Printcafe Implied Multiple @ Unaffected Price	Printcafe Implied Multiple @ \$2.40/share (1)	Printcafe Implied Multiple @ \$2.60/share
Enterprise Value/ CY 2002E Revenue	0.4x to 1.0x	0.7x	0.6x	0.5x	0.8x	0.9x
Enterprise Value/ CY 2003E Revenue	0.6x to 1.1x	0.8x	0.7x	0.5x	0.8x	0.8x

#### (1) Printcafe s closing stock price on February 21, 2003.

Estimated revenue data for Printcafe and the selected companies were based on the respective companies relevant SEC filings as well as publicly available research analysts estimates.

Selected Comparable Transaction Analysis. UBS Warburg reviewed publicly available financial information relating to the following selected transactions in the software industry since January 2002:

Acquiror	Target
SunGard Data Systems, Inc.	Caminus Corporation
SSA Global Technologies, Inc.	Infinium Software Inc.
Novell, Inc.	SilverStream Software, Inc.
MSC Software Corp.	Mechanical Dynamics, Inc.
TIBCO Software Inc.	Talarian Corporation

UBS Warburg chose the selected transactions because they were business combinations that, for the purposes of the analysis, UBS Warburg considered to be reasonably similar to the merger in that these transactions involved companies in the computer software industry. The selected transactions may differ significantly from the merger based on, among other things, the size of the transactions, the structure of the transactions and the dates that the transactions were announced and consummated.

UBS Warburg reviewed, among other things, the enterprise values, which consist of the market value of the particular company s common equity plus the market value (when available) of the company s total debt, preferred stock and minority interests, minus cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, implied in the relevant transactions as a multiple of the company s last twelve months revenue, and the company s estimated next twelve months revenue.

The analysis indicated the following implied multiples for the selected transactions and for the merger:

	At Announcement of the Transaction			At Closing of the Transaction			Printcafe Implied
	Multiple Range	Mean	Median	Multiple Range	Mean	Median	Multiple @ \$2.60/share
Enterprise Value/ Last Twelve Months Revenue Enterprise Value/ Next Twelve	1.2x-3.7x	2.0x	1.7x	1.0x-2.1x	1.5x	1.4x	0.9x
Months Revenue	1.4x-3.5x	2.1x	1.8x	0.9x-2.0x	1.5x	1.6x	0.8x

All multiples for Printcafe and the selected transactions were based on relevant SEC filings, press releases and publicly available research analysts estimates.

Premiums Paid Analysis. UBS Warburg reviewed selected purchase price per share premiums paid or to be paid in acquisitions of publicly-traded, domestic software companies, excluding merger of equals transactions, announced from January 1, 2002 through the end of January 2003, with deal sizes in excess of \$25 million. This analysis indicated mean and median and high and low premiums to the targets closing stock prices on dates, and the targets average closing stock prices for periods, prior to the announcement of the applicable transaction as set forth in the following table. The premiums for Printcafe were calculated based on our closing stock prices on dates, and our average closing stock prices for

36

periods, prior to January 21, 2003, the day before Creo s \$1.30 per share offer was made public, and February 24, 2003.

	Premium (%) to Stock Price				Premium (%) to Average Stock Price for Period		
	One Day Prior to Announcement	One Week Prior to Announcement	One Month Prior to Announcement	Three Months Prior to Announcement	One Week Prior to Announcement	One Month Prior to Announcement	
Mean	64.7	63.1	67.3	100.8	65.2	65.2	
Median	48.7	45.6	51.2	70.2	42.5	51.0	
High	260.0	261.4	267.5	560.0	259.6	272.6	
Low	5.2	2.5	(12.4)	(32.9)	3.7	(6.3)	
Implied Premium of the merger							
@ \$2.60 per share(1)	136.4	120.3	145.3	126.1	132.6	124.0	
Implied Premium of the merger @ \$2.60 per share(2)	8.3	14.0	28.7	122.2	4.6	3.6	

<sup>(1)</sup> Based on our closing stock prices and averages prior to January 21, 2003.

Selected Comparable Public Company Analysis. UBS Warburg compared selected financial information, ratios and public market multiples for EFI to the corresponding data for the following eight publicly-traded companies:

Eastman Kodak Company

Lexmark International, Inc.

Pitney Bowes Inc.

Adobe Systems Incorporated

Xerox Corporation

IKON Office Solutions, Inc.

Creo Inc.

Oak Technology, Inc.

UBS Warburg chose the selected companies because they were publicly-traded companies that, for purposes of the analysis, UBS Warburg considered reasonably similar to EFI in that these companies operate in the document management industry. The selected public companies may differ significantly from EFI based on, among other things, the size of the companies, the geographic coverage of the companies operations and the particular business segments in which the companies focus.

UBS Warburg reviewed, among other information, the comparable companies multiples of enterprise value, which consists of the market value of the particular company s common equity plus the market value (when available) of the company s total debt, preferred stock and minority interest, minus cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, to:

CY 2002E revenue;

CY 2003E revenue;

Based on our closing stock prices and averages prior to February 24, 2003.
 EFI Analysis

estimated calendar year 2002 earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, referred to as CY 2002E EBITDA; and

estimated calendar year 2003 earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, referred to as CY 2003E EBITDA.

UBS Warburg also reviewed, among other information, the comparable companies projected price/earnings multiples, based on SEC filings and publicly available research analysts estimates, for calendar year 2002 and 2003.

37

The EFI comparable companies analysis resulted in the following ranges of implied multiples as of February 24, 2003:

	Multiple Range	Mean	Median	EFI(1)
Enterprise Value/ CY 2002E Revenue	0.3x to 5.4x	1.7x	1.0x	1.1x
Enterprise Value/ CY 2003E Revenue	0.3x to 5.1x	1.7x	1.1x	1.1x
Enterprise Value/ CY 2002E EBITDA	4.8x to 15.8x	10.1x	10.3x	10.6x
Enterprise Value/ CY 2003E EBITDA	4.9x to 15.4x	9.9x	9.9x	6.7x
CY 2002E Price/Earnings Ratio	7.6x to 29.9x	16.1x	13.3x	40.3x
CY 2003E Price/Earnings Ratio	7.1x to 26.8x	16.1x	13.6x	23.0x

### (1) Based on EFI s closing stock price on February 24, 2003.

Estimated data for EFI and the selected companies were based on the respective companies relevant SEC filings as well as publicly available research analysts estimates.

Other Factors. In rendering its opinion, UBS Warburg considered other factors, for informational purposes, including:

Selected published analysts reports on Printcafe and EFI;

recent stock price/volume performance for Printcafe and EFI; and

potential pro forma financial effects of the merger on EFI s estimated 2003 earning per share, based on publicly available research analysts estimates for EFI and internal estimates of our management for Printcafe.

Fee Arrangement. Pursuant to the engagement letter, dated January 31, 2003, among UBS Warburg, Printcafe and the special committee, UBS Warburg earned a fee of \$500,000 by Printcafe for rendering its financial fairness opinion, which was independent of the result of the opinion, and will receive a fee equal to an additional \$500,000 upon the consummation of the merger. We also agreed to reimburse UBS Warburg for its expenses incurred in performing its services. UBS Warburg will not be entitled to any additional fees or compensation with respect to the merger. In addition, we agreed to indemnify UBS Warburg and its affiliates, their respective directors, officers, agents and employees and each person, if any, controlling UBS Warburg or any of its affiliates against liabilities and expenses related to or arising out of UBS Warburg s engagement and any related transactions.

The special committee selected UBS Warburg based on its experience, expertise and reputation. UBS Warburg is an internationally recognized investment banking firm that regularly engages in the valuation of securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, competitive bids, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements and valuations for estate, corporate and other purposes. Prior to this engagement, UBS Warburg and its predecessors have provided us with investment banking and other financial services, including acting as lead manager for our initial public offering in June 2002, and received customary compensation for rendering those services. In the ordinary course of business, UBS Warburg, its successors and affiliates may trade or have traded securities of Printcafe, EFI and/or Creo for their own accounts and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in those securities.

#### THE MERGER

#### **United States Federal Income Tax Consequences**

This discussion is based on currently existing provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, existing and proposed United States Treasury Regulations thereunder and current administrative rulings and court decisions, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Any change could alter the tax consequences to you as described in this document.

You should be aware that this discussion does not deal with all federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to particular stockholders in light of their particular circumstances, like stockholders who:

Are financial institutions, dealers in securities, tax-exempt organizations or insurance companies;

are foreign persons;

do not hold their shares of our common stock as a capital asset;

acquired their shares in connection with stock option or stock purchase plans or in other compensatory transactions; or

acquired their shares as part of an integrated investment, such as a hedge, straddle or other risk-reduction transaction.

In addition, the following discussion does not address the tax consequences of the merger under foreign, state or local tax laws, the tax consequences of transactions effectuated prior or subsequent to, or concurrently with, the merger, whether or not the referenced transactions are undertaken in connection with the merger, including any transaction in which shares of our common stock are acquired or shares of EFI common stock are disposed of, or the tax consequences of the exercise, cancellation or termination of our stock options. Accordingly, you are urged to consult your own tax advisors as to the specific tax consequences to you of the merger, including the applicable federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences.

The merger will be a fully taxable transaction to our stockholders and will not constitute a reorganization for tax purposes. There is a possibility that if every Printcafe stockholder validly elected to receive stock consideration, the merger might qualify as tax free reorganization for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If every Printcafe stockholder validly elected to receive stock consideration, EFI would, before the merger was completed, contribute the stock of Strategic Value Engineering, Inc. to another one of its wholly owned subsidiaries. The tax free reorganization provisions of the Internal Revenue Code do not contain a provision that characterizes the merger of an indirect wholly owned subsidiary into the target company as a tax free reorganization. Therefore, the transaction will be taxable to you as described above.

You will recognize taxable gain or loss upon the merger equal to the difference, if any, between (a) the cash or the fair market value of the shares of EFI common stock received as merger consideration and (b) your adjusted tax basis in our common stock.

This taxable gain or loss should be capital gain or loss if you hold your shares of our common stock as a capital asset at the effective time of the merger and will be classified as long term capital gain or loss to the extent you have held those shares for more than one year.

In general, information reporting requirements will apply to payments made in connection with the merger. Backup withholding at a rate of 30% will apply to payments you receive in respect of our common stock if you fail to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number or you are notified by the IRS that you have failed to report all interest and dividends required to be shown on your United States federal income tax returns. You should consult your tax advisor concerning the application of information reporting and backup withholding requirements to your particular circumstances.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a refund or a credit against your United States federal income tax liability if the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

### **Anticipated Accounting Treatment**

As required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, *Business Combinations*, EFI will use the purchase method of accounting for a business combination to account for the merger, as well as the accounting and reporting regulations for goodwill and other intangibles. Under this method of accounting:

Our assets and liabilities, including all intangible assets, will be recorded at their respective fair market values;

all intangible assets will be amortized over their estimated useful lives with the exception of goodwill and any other intangibles with indefinite lives;

goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite lives are not amortized; rather, they will be assessed for impairment on a periodic basis in the future; and

our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will be included in EFI s financial statements prospectively as of the completion of the merger.

### Dissenters Appraisal Rights

Under Delaware law, you are entitled to dissenters appraisal rights in connection with the merger. Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporation Law will govern the exercise of those appraisal rights. The full text of Section 262 is attached as Annex C to this document for your review. The following summary of the provisions of Section 262 is not intended to be a complete statement of its provisions and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of Annex C, which is incorporated by reference.

If you:

File written notice with our corporate secretary of an intention to exercise rights to appraisal of shares prior to the special meeting;

do not make an election or surrender your certificates;

do not vote in favor of the merger; and

follow the procedures set forth in Section 262

you will be entitled to be paid the fair value of the shares of our common stock as to which appraisal rights have been perfected. The fair value of shares of our common stock will be determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery, exclusive of any element of value arising from the merger. The shares of our common stock with respect to which holders have perfected their appraisal rights in accordance with Section 262 and have not effectively withdrawn or lost their appraisal rights are referred to in this document as the dissenting shares.

Appraisal rights are available only to the record holder of shares. If you wish to exercise appraisal rights but have a beneficial interest in shares which are held of record by or in the name of another person, such as a broker or nominee, you should act promptly to cause the record holder to follow the procedures set forth in Section 262 to perfect your appraisal rights.

A demand for appraisal should be signed by or on behalf of the stockholder exactly as the stockholder s name appears on the stockholder s stock certificates. If the shares are owned of record in a fiduciary capacity such as by a trustee, guardian or custodian, the demand should be executed in that capacity, and if the shares are owned of record by more than one person, as in a joint tenancy or tenancy in common, the demand should be executed by or on behalf of all joint owners. An authorized agent, including one or more joint owners, may execute a demand for appraisal on behalf of a record holder;

however, in the demand the agent must identify the record owner or owners and expressly disclose that the agent is executing the demand as an agent or the record owner or owners. A record holder such as a broker who holds shares as nominee for several beneficial owners may exercise appraisal rights with respect to the shares held for one or more beneficial owners and not exercise rights with respect to the shares held for other beneficial owners. In that case, the written demand should state the number of shares for which appraisal rights are being demanded. When no number of shares is stated, the demand will be presumed to cover all shares held of record by the broker or nominee.

If you demand appraisal of your shares under Section 262 and you fail to perfect, or effectively withdraw or lose, your right to appraisal, your shares will be converted into a right to receive the merger consideration in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement if the merger is completed. Dissenting shares lose their status as dissenting shares if:

The merger is abandoned;

the dissenting stockholder fails to make a timely written demand for appraisal;

the dissenting shares are voted in favor of adoption of the merger agreement;

neither we nor the dissenting stockholder files a complaint or intervenes in a pending action within 120 days after the effective date of the merger; or

the dissenting stockholder delivers to us within 60 days of the effective date of the merger, or thereafter with our approval, a written withdrawal of the stockholder s demand for appraisal of the dissenting shares, although no appraisal proceeding in the Delaware Court of Chancery may be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the court.

Within 10 days after the effective date of the merger, we must mail a notice to all stockholders who have complied with the procedures described above, notifying stockholders of the effective date of the merger, but that notice will not set forth the deadline for taking action to perfect your right to appraisal. Within 120 days after the effective date, holders of our common stock may file a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery for the appraisal of their shares, although they may, within 60 days of the effective date, withdraw their demand for appraisal. Within 120 days of the effective date, the holders of dissenting shares may also, upon written request, receive from us a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares with respect to which demands for appraisals have been received.

Failure to follow the steps required by Section 262 for perfecting appraisal rights may result in the loss of your appraisal rights, in which event you will be entitled to receive the cash merger consideration with respect to the dissenting shares in accordance with the merger agreement. In view of the complexity of the provisions of Section 262, you should consult your own legal advisor.

### Resale of EFI Common Stock Issued in the Merger

Shares of EFI common stock issued to our stockholders in connection with the merger are freely transferable, except for shares issued to any person who, at the time of the special meeting, is one of our affiliates, as that term is defined under the Securities Act. In general, our affiliates include:

Our executive officers;

our board of directors; and

other persons or entities that control, are controlled by or are under common control with Printcafe.

The rules adopted under the Securities Act impose restrictions upon the resale of securities received by affiliates in connection with reclassifications, mergers, consolidations or asset transfers. EFI common stock received by our affiliates in the merger will be subject to these resale limitations, and we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to EFI agreements signed by all of our affiliates regarding those resale limitations.

#### **Related Agreements**

The Stockholders Agreements. EFI entered into stockholders agreements with Marc Olin, the chairman of our board of directors and chief executive officer, Joseph Whang, our chief financial officer and chief operating officer, Ronald Hyland, our senior vice president and chief technical officer, and Mellon Ventures II, L.P. These four stockholders beneficially owned 1,957,406 shares of our common stock on the record date, or approximately 15.0% of our then outstanding shares. Mr. Olin was our chairman at the time he entered into the stockholder agreement.

Each stockholder that signed a stockholder agreement is obligated to vote the shares of our common stock that he or it beneficially owns:

In favor of (1) the adoption of the merger agreement, (2) the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and (3) approval of the merger;

in favor of waiving any notice that may be required in connection with any reorganization of Printcafe, any reclassification or recapitalization of our capital stock, any sale of assets, change of control or acquisition of Printcafe by person, or any merger, consolidation or business combination of Printcafe with or into any person to the extent the transaction is undertaken in connection with the merger;

in favor of any matter that could reasonably be expected to facilitate the merger;

against approval of any takeover proposal made in opposition to, or in competition with the merger;

against any of the following actions: (1) any merger, consolidation, business combination, sale of assets, reorganization or recapitalization of Printcafe with any person or entity other than EFI, (2) any sale, lease or transfer of any material part of our assets, (3) any reorganization, recapitalization, dissolution, liquidation or winding up of Printcafe, (4) any change in our capitalization or its corporate structure or (5) any other action that is intended, or could reasonably be expected, to impede, interfere with, delay, postpone, discourage or adversely affect the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

The stockholders that signed stockholders agreements each granted EFI an irrevocable proxy limited to voting on the foregoing matters.

The stockholders agreements also apply to shares of our common stock acquired by each stockholder that is a party to those agreements between February 26, 2003 and the termination of that stockholder agreement. Each stockholder agreement will terminate on the first to occur of (a) the completion of the merger, (b) the termination of the merger agreement in accordance with its terms, (c) a date that the stockholder and EFI mutually agree in writing to terminate the stockholder agreement or (d) October 31, 2003.

The stockholders agreements restrict the disposition of the shares of our common stock beneficially owned by the stockholders that signed stockholders agreements. The stockholders agreements do not restrict the fulfillment by our directors and officers of their duties in those capacities.

The Stock Option. On February 13, 2003, we entered into a stock option agreement with EFI. The stock option agreement granted EFI the right, but EFI was not obligated, to purchase up to 2,126,574 shares of our common stock at a purchase price equal to \$2.60 per share. EFI exercised the option in full on June 11, 2003.

We must purchase any option shares, at the request of EFI, at a price equal to the aggregate purchase price paid for the shares by EFI, if:

There is an event of a default under the standby credit agreement;

any person (other than EFI, any subsidiary of EFI or Creo) acquires beneficial ownership of, or the right to acquire beneficial ownership of, or any group shall have been formed that beneficially owns or has the right to acquire beneficial ownership of, 50% or more of the then outstanding shares of our common stock; or

we enter into an agreement to: (1) consolidate with or merge into any person, other than EFI or one of its subsidiaries, where we are not the continuing or surviving corporation of the consolidation or merger, (2) consolidate or merge with any person, other than EFI or one of its subsidiaries, where the other person is merged into Printcafe and Printcafe is the continuing or surviving corporation, but, in connection with the merger, the then outstanding shares of our common stock are changed into or exchanged for stock or other securities of Printcafe or any other person or cash or any other property or (3) sell or otherwise transfer all or substantially all of our assets to any person, other than EFI or one of its subsidiaries.

All of the foregoing events are collectively referred to as repurchase events. Additionally, we have the right to purchase the option shares and terminate the option following a repurchase event.

In the option agreement, we granted EFI registration rights, which are subordinate to existing registration rights that we have granted.

The Standby Credit. On February 13, 2003, we and EFI entered into a letter agreement which would allow us to borrow money from EFI. EFI is obligated under the standby credit agreement to disburse to us up to \$11.0 million within three business days after receiving notice from us that Iris Graphics, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Creo, declared any amounts owed under our existing credit facility with Iris due and payable as a result of any action we took in furtherance of the proposed business combination with EFI.

We are obligated to pay EFI interest at the simple rate of 8% per annum on any loans made by EFI to us in connection with Iris accelerating the maturity of our loan because of action we took in furtherance of the business combination with EFI. All loans made under the standby credit agreement mature on January 2, 2004.

EFI also provided us with a working capital facility in an aggregate amount of \$3.0 million. Funds will be disbursed to us if the merger agreement has not been terminated in accordance with its terms, and our cash balance as of the close of business on the date we give EFI notice of our proposed borrowing is less than \$1.0 million. Within three business days of receiving our notice of a valid request for a working capital disbursement, EFI must disburse \$1.0 million to us. Before our special meeting, any working capital disbursement will be subject to our obligation to have managed our cash position in accordance with its past practices. Any loans made under the working capital facility bear interest at an annual rate equal to the prime rate of interest as published, from time to time, by Citibank, plus two percent. Principal and interest are payable on January 2, 2004 or sooner upon the termination of the standby credit agreement in accordance with its terms.

An event of default under the standby credit agreement will occur if a business combination with EFI is not consummated on or before October 31, 2003 unless the failure to consummate a business combination with EFI resulted from EFI s material breach of its obligations under the merger agreement. The occurrence of an event of default under the standby letter agreement would accelerate the maturity of all amounts due and if those amounts were unpaid, would give EFI the right to exercise its remedies at law, including foreclosing on any collateral that may secure its loans.

The standby credit agreement also provides that we must use any proceeds we receive from the exercise of the stock option we granted to EFI to pay down outstanding amounts under the standby facility and the working capital facility.

On March 13, 2003, EFI amended the credit agreement to also give us the right to borrow funds under the standby credit agreement if Creo s subsidiary declares a technical default under its credit facility.

There are no amounts outstanding under the credit facility as of the date of this document.

#### **Stock Purchase Program**

Following completion of the merger, EFI intends to purchase approximately the same number of shares of its common stock as are issued in connection with the merger. These purchases may be effected through open market purchases, negotiated transactions, block trades or otherwise. EFI currently has no arrangements or understandings with any person with respect to those transactions. EFI may decide not to pursue or delay the stock purchase program, in whole or in part, without notice.

#### Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger

In considering the recommendation of our board of directors that you vote for the adoption of the merger agreement, you should be aware that members of our board of directors and our executive officers have agreements or arrangements that provide them with interests in the merger that may differ from, or be in addition to, the interests of our other stockholders. Our board of directors was aware of these agreements and arrangements during its deliberations of the merger and in determining to recommend that you vote to adopt the merger agreement.

Retention Bonus Agreements. On February 20, 2003, the compensation committee of our board of directors, which is composed of Charles Billerbeck, Victor Cohn and Thomas Gill approved retention bonus agreements with some of our officers and executive officers. These agreements provide for the payment of a retention bonus upon the completion of a transaction that results in a change of control. The compensation committee believed that it was important for management to remain at Printcafe until the completion of a change of control and determined the amount of the retention bonus for each officer based on the level it believed would provide that incentive in light of the risk to our company and the potential loss of value to our stockholders if members of management were to leave our employment before completion of the transaction. If the merger is completed, Marc Olin, our chairman, chief executive officer and president, will receive a retention bonus of \$200,000 and Joseph Whang, our chief financial officer and chief operating officer, will receive a retention bonus of \$150,000.

Accelerated Vesting of Stock Options. Our executive officers have provisions in their employment agreements that accelerate the vesting of their stock options upon a change of control. In January 2002, we granted options to purchase 170,340 shares of our common stock to Mr. Olin, 137,975 shares of our common stock to Mr. Whang and 45,991 shares of our common stock to Ronald Hyland, our senior vice president and chief technology officer, each with an exercise price of \$4.21 per share. These options generally vest ratably over a 48-month period. If the merger is completed, the vesting of these options will accelerate by six months.

Indemnification and Insurance. The merger agreement provides that, upon completion of the merger, EFI will indemnify and hold harmless, and provide advancement of expenses to, all of our past and present directors, officers and employees in all of their capacities, for acts or omissions occurring at or before the completion of the merger to the same extent they were indemnified or had the right to advancement of expenses as of February 26, 2003, which is the date of the merger agreement, pursuant to our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and indemnification agreements with any of our, or our subsidiaries , directors, officers and employees. The merger agreement also provides that, upon completion of the merger, EFI will provide director and officer liability insurance policies with the current coverage of our policies of directors and officers liability insurance to be effective for six years following the completion of the merger or until the premium cost exceeds \$1.2 million, whichever occurs earlier.

#### THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following discussion describes the merger agreement. This summary may not contain all of the information that is important to you. You are urged to carefully read the entire merger agreement, which is an exhibit to the registration statement to which this document relates and is incorporated by reference into this document.

#### General

The Merger. Subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, a wholly owned subsidiary of EFI will merge with and into Printcafe. After the merger, we will continue as the surviving corporation. EFI s subsidiary will no longer be a separate corporation and we will, as a result of the merger, become a wholly-owned subsidiary of EFI.

Effective Time. We, EFI and its subsidiary will complete the merger by filing a certificate of merger with the Delaware Secretary of State. The certificate of merger will be filed upon the closing of the merger, which is scheduled to occur on the first business day practicable after the satisfaction or waiver of the various conditions to the merger which are set forth in the merger agreement and described below. The effective time of the merger will be the date and time the certificate of merger is filed with the Delaware Secretary of State, or a later time as specified in the certificate of merger.

#### Effect on Capital Stock, Options, Warrants and Purchase Rights

Merger Consideration. In connection with the merger, you have the right to elect, with respect to each share of our common stock that you own, whether to receive:

\$2.60 in cash, without interest and net of any required tax withholding; or

a number of shares of EFI common stock equal to \$2.60 divided by the average closing price of EFI s common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on and including the fifth trading day before the date of our special meeting of stockholders.

In order to make an election, you must comply with the procedures described under Exchange of Certificates in the Merger. If you do not make an election, you will receive \$2.60 in cash, without interest and net of any required tax withholding, for each share of our common stock that you own.

If EFI issues any stock dividends, recapitalizes, engages in a stock split or a similar transaction which affects the outstanding shares of EFI common stock between the date of the merger agreement and the effective time of the merger, the number of shares of EFI common stock to be issued in exchange for our common stock will be adjusted appropriately.

No interest is payable on any merger consideration, whether in the form of EFI common stock or cash.

After the merger is effective, our common stock will automatically cease to exist and, unless you have properly perfected your appraisal rights, you will only have the right to receive the merger consideration, consisting of EFI common stock or cash, as described above and in the merger agreement.

Outstanding Stock Options. Each outstanding option to purchase shares of our common stock will be converted into an option to purchase shares of EFI common stock. The number of shares subject to, and the exercise price of, each converted option will be adjusted on the basis of the exchange ratio applicable to the shares of our common stock exchanged for shares of EFI common stock in the merger.

Outstanding Warrants. Each outstanding warrant to purchase shares of our common stock will be converted into the right to receive, upon exercise of the warrant, \$2.60 in cash for each underlying share of our common stock, unless the warrant expressly provides that stock consideration must be issued.

Outstanding Purchase Rights. We have an employee stock purchase plan under which some of our employees have the right to purchase shares of our common stock. All of the purchase rights that are

outstanding prior to the merger will have been exercised in accordance with the provisions of that plan immediately prior to the merger. The shares of our common stock which are purchased by employees under our employee stock purchase plan will be exchanged in the merger on the same terms as all other shares of our common stock.

#### **Exchange of Certificates in the Merger**

Exchange Agent and Exchange Fund. EFI has designated American Stock Transfer & Trust Company to serve as its exchange agent in connection with the merger. On or before the closing date of the merger, EFI will deposit with the exchange agent (a) certificates representing all of the shares of EFI common stock to be issued in exchange for our common stock pursuant to the merger, together with cash representing amounts payable in lieu of issuing fractional shares of EFI common stock for our stockholders that elect to receive the merger consideration and stock, and (b) funds representing the aggregate merger consideration for our stockholders that elect to receive the merger consideration in cash or do not make an effective election before the date of our special meeting of stockholders.

*Election Procedures.* We are mailing an election form to you separately. If you wish to receive cash consideration for all of your shares of our common stock, you do not need to return the election form. Copies of the election form are available from MacKenzie Partners.

If you wish to receive stock consideration for some or all of your shares of our common stock, you must:

Return your properly completed election form so that it is received not later than the close of business on the day before our special meeting of stockholders; and

return your stock certificates representing your shares of our common stock or a guarantee of delivery of your shares with your properly completed election form.

A guarantee of delivery is a document signed by a broker-dealer, bank or trust company promising to EFI that it will deliver, to EFI s exchange agent, within three trading days, certificates representing the number of shares for which you are making an election. If the broker-dealer, bank or trust company does not deliver certificates representing a sufficient number of shares to EFI s exchange agent within three trading days, then your election will be invalid. Copies of the guarantee of delivery are available from MacKenzie Partners.

You may change your election, at any time before the close of business on the day before our special meeting of stockholders, by submitting a later dated properly completed election form. You may also revoke your election by submitting a written revocation to EFI s exchange agent before the close of business on the day before the special meeting of our stockholders. All determinations with respect to the validity of elections will be made by EFI and EFI will have no liability to any of our stockholders for determinations made in good faith.

Exchange Procedures. As soon as reasonably practicable after the completion of the merger, EFI s exchange agent will mail to each stockholder of record of our common stock that did not make a valid election a letter of transmittal containing instructions for the surrender of certificates representing our common stock in exchange for cash merger consideration.

*No Fractional Shares*. If you elect to receive any portion of your merger consideration in shares of EFI common stock, no fractional shares will be issued. Instead of issuing fractional shares of EFI common stock, the exchange agent will pay cash, without interest, payable by check, in lieu of any fractional share, based on the average closing sales price of EFI s common stock on the Nasdaq National Market for the 10 trading day period ending on the fifth trading day prior to the special meeting of our stockholders.

Dividends and Distributions. If you elect to receive your merger consideration in shares of EFI common stock, no dividends or other distributions that are made after the effective time of the merger with respect to shares of EFI common stock will be paid to any holder of a certificate representing shares of our common stock until that certificate is surrendered for cancellation. However, if you elect to receive

your merger consideration in shares of EFI common stock, you will be paid, without interest, upon surrender of your certificate, any dividends or distributions with a record date after the effective time of the merger but a payment date between the effective time of the merger and the time of surrender.

No Further Ownership Rights. No transfers or registrations of shares of our common stock will be made after the effective time of the merger. If, after the effective time of the merger, certificates representing shares of our common stock are presented to us or our transfer agent for any reason, those certificates will be cancelled and exchanged for the merger consideration as provided in the merger agreement.

Termination of Exchange Fund. If, six months following the effective time of the merger, you have not surrendered your certificates representing shares of our common stock to the exchange agent, you may thereafter look only to EFI to receive the merger consideration. None of EFI, Printcafe or the exchange agent will have any liability to any holder of a certificate formerly representing shares of our common stock, for the merger consideration, for cash in lieu of fractional shares, or for any unpaid dividends or distributions which are delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property or similar law.

#### **Representations and Warranties**

Our Representations and Warranties. We made a number of representations and warranties in the merger agreement that relate to Printcafe, our business, affairs, financial condition and other matters. In some instances, those representations and warranties also apply to our subsidiaries. Our representations and warranties are generally subject to exceptions, which are set forth in a disclosure letter and to other qualifications, and include representations and warranties regarding:

Organization, good standing, capitalization and similar corporate matters;

corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform the merger agreement, and to complete the merger and related transactions;

the absence of default or violation or consents required under our organizational documents or laws, and the lack of conflicts with applicable laws, our organizational documents, the contracts to which we are bound and applicable laws;

title to our assets and ownership of our subsidiaries;

the timely filing of documents, compliance with laws and regulations and the accuracy of information contained in the documents filed with the SEC:

the absence of changes or events relating to our business since September 30, 2002, and the absence of undisclosed liabilities;

the accuracy of information supplied by us in connection with this document and the registration statement to which it relates;

compliance with applicable laws and possession of material permits;

intellectual property matters, including patents, trademarks and various matters related to software;

employment matters and matters related to employee benefit plans;

the existence, validity and status of material contracts;

the absence of undisclosed pending or threatened material litigation;

the timely filing of tax returns and other tax-related matters;

the absence of any state anti-takeover law or provision of our stockholders rights agreement that would restrain completion of the merger;

the absence of questionable payments or insider interests in our business; and

matters concerning UBS Warburg LLC s fairness opinion and the terms of our agreement with them.

*EFI* s Representations and Warranties. EFI made a number of representations and warranties in the merger agreement that relate to it, its business, affairs, financial condition and other matters. In some instances, those representations and warranties also apply to its subsidiaries. EFI s representations and warranties are generally subject to exceptions, which are set forth in a disclosure letter and to other qualifications, and include representations and warranties regarding:

Organization, good standing, capitalization and similar corporate matters;

corporate power and authority to execute, deliver and perform the merger agreement, and to complete the merger and related transactions;

the absence of default or violation or consents required under EFI s organizational documents or laws, and the lack of conflicts with applicable laws, EFI s organizational documents, the contracts to which its is bound and applicable laws;

the timely filing of documents, compliance with laws and regulations and the accuracy of information contained in the documents filed with the SEC:

the absence of changes or events relating to its business since September 30, 2002, and the absence of undisclosed liabilities;

the accuracy of information supplied by EFI in connection with this document and the registration statement to which it relates;

the absence of questionable payments or insider interests in EFI s business; and

the operations of EFI s subsidiary that will effect the merger.

#### Restrictions on Our Solicitation of Takeover Proposals

We agreed that we will not, among other things, solicit any takeover proposal, participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding any takeover proposal, or enter into any merger agreement, acquisition agreement, option or similar agreement with a third party. Our board of directors is not precluded from participating in discussions or negotiations with a suitor regarding a proposal if the value offered per share of our common stock is greater than \$2.60 and if our board of directors, or the special committee, determines that the failure to participate in discussions or negotiations with the suitor would likely result in a breach of its fiduciary duties to our stockholders under applicable law.

Our board of directors agreed not to:

Withdraw, modify or supplement its recommendation of the merger agreement in a manner adverse to EFI;

approve or recommend a takeover proposal from a party other than EFI; or

approve or recommend any acquisition agreement; but

on the fifth business day after we have notified EFI that our board of directors is prepared to recommend a superior proposal, we may terminate the merger agreement and we may enter into an acquisition agreement for a superior proposal. A superior proposal includes any proposal made by a third party to acquire Printcafe for consideration consisting of cash and/or securities that our board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with a financial advisor of national reputation, to be superior, from a financial point of view, to the merger and for which financing, to the extent required, is then committed or which, in the good faith judgment of our board of directors, is reasonably capable of being obtained by the third party.

We agreed to keep EFI informed of any takeover proposals we receive and any developments with respect to those proposals. Our board retained the right to make any disclosures that, in its good faith

judgment, after consultation with outside counsel, the failure to so disclose would constitute a breach of its obligations under applicable law.

#### **Covenants**

We and EFI made a number of agreements with each other in the merger agreement, including:

We agreed to conduct our business in the ordinary course consistent with past practices and to use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact our business to the end that our goodwill and ongoing business will not be impaired in any material respect as of the completion of the merger;

we and EFI agreed to provide notice to the other party if we or EFI have knowledge of any breach of any representation or warranty in the merger agreement, any failure to comply in a material respect with obligations under the agreement or any change or event that causes, or is reasonably likely to cause, the conditions to the closing of the merger not to be satisfied;

we and EFI agreed to cooperate in the preparation of this document and the registration statement to which it relates;

we agreed to duly call, give notice of, convene and hold our special meeting of stockholders and except as described under Restrictions on Our Solicitation of Takeover Proposals, to have our board of directors recommend that you vote to adopt the merger agreement;

we agreed to have our independent auditors prepare comfort letters for EFI;

we agreed to provide EFI with access to our facilities, employees and agents and to give EFI copies of reports and other information that it may reasonably request from us;

we and EFI each agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to complete the merger, but EFI will not be required to divest or hold separate any of its assets in order to complete the merger;

EFI agreed to give our employees credit for service with us, and our predecessor companies, and to treat our employees the same as similarly situated EFI employees when our employees become eligible to receive benefits under EFI s employee benefit plans;

EFI agreed to honor our existing director and officer indemnification obligations for a period of six years following the completion of the merger and to expend up to \$1.2 million to provide insurance covering our directors and officers;

we and EFI agreed to consult with each other concerning any public announcements with respect to the merger;

we agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to have our affiliates sign agreements with EFI acknowledging their obligations under the Securities Act and we agreed to place an appropriate legend on the shares of our common stock that are subject to the restrictions in the stockholders agreements;

EFI agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to have the shares of its common stock issuable in connection with the merger listed on the Nasdaq National Market;

we agreed to provide EFI with the opportunity to participate in any litigation related to the merger agreement or the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; and

EFI agreed to vote all shares of our common stock that it owns as of the record date for the special meeting of our stockholders in favor of adoption of the merger agreement and to cause its subsidiary that will effect the merger to comply with its obligations under the merger agreement.

### **Conditions to Completion of the Merger**

The merger will be completed only if the conditions set forth in the merger agreement are satisfied or waived at or before the closing. These conditions include the following:

The approval of the merger agreement by our stockholders;

no legal restraint will be in effect which prevents the completion of the merger, prohibits or limits our or EFI s ability to conduct our respective businesses, requires us or EFI to divest any of our respective assets or which otherwise would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on us or EFI;

the registration statement to which this document relates must have been declared effective by the SEC;

the shares of EFI common stock to be issued in connection with the merger must be approved for listing on the Nasdaq National Market;

the accuracy of EFI s and our representations and warranties, and our and EFI s compliance with the parties respective agreements in the merger agreement;

no occurrence of events or conditions that have, or could reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on us or EFI; and

EFI must have received comfort letters from our independent auditors.

Material adverse effect means any change, effect, event, occurrence, condition or development or state of facts that:

Is or would reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the business, assets or results of operations or condition (financial or other) of a party and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or

prevents or materially delays the consummation of the merger or any other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, in each case, other than any change, effect, event, occurrence, condition or development or state of facts:

Relating to the U.S. economy in general,

relating to the industry in which the applicable party operates in general (and not having a materially disproportionate effect on the applicable party relative to most other industry participants),

resulting from the announcement or pendency of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or

in respect of decreases in a party s stock price,

but any effect described in the first three bullets above must be direct and that the party claiming the effect will have the burden of proving the direct effect; but:

In our case, none of (1) the acceleration of the maturity date of any of our existing indebtedness, (2) the delisting of our common stock from the Nasdaq National Market or (3) the inclusion of a going concern or similar qualification in the audit opinion delivered by our auditors in connection with their report on our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 will be a material adverse effect.

#### Termination

The parties can terminate the merger agreement under the following circumstances:

We and EFI can mutually agree to terminate the merger agreement;

either party can terminate the merger agreement if the closing has not occurred by October 31, 2003, our stockholders do not adopt this agreement at the special meeting of our stockholders or if there is a legal restraint that prohibits completion of the merger;

either party can generally terminate the merger agreement if there is a breach of a representation, warranty or agreement in the merger agreement by the other party which would result in any condition to its obligations becoming impossible to be satisfied and, if the breach may be remedied, 30 calendar days must have elapsed since the non-breaching party gave notice of the breach to the breaching party;

EFI can terminate the merger agreement if we breach our agreements with respect to not soliciting takeover proposals and that breach leads to a superior proposal or our board of directors fails to recommend approval of the merger agreement to our stockholders, withdraws or changes its recommendation; if EFI so terminates the merger agreement we must pay EFI \$828,000;

we may terminate the merger agreement in order to enter into an agreement to enter into a business combination or sell our stock or assets on terms which our board of directors determines are superior to the terms of the merger; if we so terminate the merger agreement we must pay EFI \$828,000; and

we could have terminated the merger agreement within five business days after the record date if EFI had not exercised the stock option in full before the record date.

If our stockholders do not adopt the merger agreement and we enter into an agreement for a takeover proposal for consideration of greater than or equal to \$2.60 within twelve months of termination, we must pay EFI \$828,000.

#### THE SPECIAL MEETING

#### General Information; Purpose of the Special Meeting

The special meeting will be held at our principal executive offices, Forty 24th Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222, on October 21, 2003, beginning at 9:00 a.m., local time, to consider and to vote upon the adoption of the merger agreement. Our board of directors is soliciting your proxy to be voted at that special meeting.

#### **Record Date: Shares Entitled to Vote**

Only our stockholders of record at the close of business on September 5, 2003, the record date for the special meeting, will be entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting. On the record date, there were 12,873,708 shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting. Each holder of shares of our common stock outstanding on the record date is entitled to one vote for each share held, exercisable in person or by properly executed and delivered proxy, at the special meeting. The presence of the holders of at least one-third of the shares of our common stock outstanding on the record date, whether present in person or by properly executed and delivered proxy, will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the special meeting.

#### **Vote Required**

The affirmative vote of the holders of record of at least a majority of the shares of our common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting is necessary to adopt the merger agreement. Pursuant to the stockholders agreements entered into concurrently with the execution and delivery of the merger agreement, stockholders that beneficially own approximately 15.0% of our outstanding common stock, executed the stockholders agreements, which, among other things, require them to vote all shares of our common stock which they are entitled to vote, directly or indirectly, in favor of adoption of the merger agreement.

Abstentions cast in person at the special meeting will be tallied as votes having been made and will not be treated as affirmative votes. Brokers who hold shares for customers that have not given the broker instructions as to how to vote at the special meeting will not vote those shares at the special meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes have the effect of a vote against the proposal to adopt the merger agreement but will be counted for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present at the special meeting.

### **Voting and Revocation of Proxies**

You are requested to complete and sign the accompanying form of proxy and return it promptly to us in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. When the accompanying form of proxy is returned properly executed, the shares of our common stock represented by it will be voted at the special meeting in accordance with the instructions contained in the proxy. If a proxy is executed and returned without an indication as to how the shares of our common stock represented are to be voted, the shares of our common stock it represents will be voted for adoption of the merger agreement. Unless you check the box on your proxy withholding discretionary authority, the proxy holders may use their discretion to vote on other matters relating to the special meeting, like adjourning for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. If you vote against the proposal to adopt the merger agreement but do not check the box withholding discretionary authority, the proxies could vote your shares for an adjournment or postponement which is intended to allow additional votes to be solicited for adoption of the merger agreement.

You have the power to revoke any proxy you have given at any time before it is voted at the special meeting. A later-dated proxy or written notice of revocation given to our corporate secretary before the vote at the special meeting will serve to revoke a proxy. Also, a stockholder who attends the special meeting in person may vote by ballot at the special meeting, thereby canceling any proxy previously given. Mere presence at the special meeting will not revoke any proxy previously given.

#### Other Matters to be Considered

Our board of directors is unaware of any other matter that will be brought before the special meeting. If, however, other matters are presented that relate to the merger, proxies will be voted in accordance with the discretion of the holders of the proxies. If you wish to withhold this discretionary authority from the proxy holders, you must check the applicable box on the proxy card. Pursuant to our bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law, only business within the purposes described in the notice of special meeting in this document may be conducted at the special meeting.

#### **Solicitation of Proxies**

We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies from holders of our common stock. We have retained MacKenzie Partners, Inc. to assist us in the solicitation of proxies. We have agreed to pay MacKenzie Partners up to \$50,000 and to reimburse its expenses and to indemnify it from liabilities under federal securities laws. In addition to the use of the mails, persons regularly employed by us, EFI and MacKenzie Partners may solicit proxies by personal interview, telephone and other telecommunication devices. Persons soliciting proxies will receive no additional compensation for their services, but we will reimburse them for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in connection with their services. Arrangements may also be made with custodians, nominees and fiduciaries for the forwarding of solicitation materials to the beneficial owners of shares of our common stock held of record by custodians, nominees or fiduciaries, and we may reimburse custodians, nominees or fiduciaries for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in forwarding proxies.

#### INFORMATION ABOUT PRINTCAFE

#### **Business**

#### Overview

We provide software solutions designed specifically for the printing industry supply chain. Our enterprise resource planning and collaborative supply chain software solutions enable printers and print buyers to lower costs and improve productivity. Our procurement applications, which are designed for print buyers, facilitate collaboration between printers and print buyers over the Web. Our software solutions have been installed by more than 4,000 customers in over 8,000 facilities worldwide, including 24 of the 25 largest printing companies in North America and over 50 businesses in the Fortune 1000.

### **Industry Background**

Based on U.S. Department of Commerce data and other industry sources, we estimate that the printing industry supply chain is at least a \$240 billion market in the United States. We use the term printing industry supply chain to describe the supply chain consisting of printers, print buyers, who buy products and services offered by printers, and print industry raw material suppliers, who supply the raw materials used by printers in the printing process.

Based on industry sources, we believe that there are an estimated 50,000 printing facilities in the United States. Printers can be divided into three principal market segments—commercial printers, publication printers, and retail printers—based on the type of their equipment, the size and complexity of their print jobs, and the nature of their customers. Commercial printing includes the printing of brochures, direct mail materials, posters, promotional materials, business forms, customized packaging and labels. Publication printing involves the printing of larger quantities of more complex materials, such as newspapers, catalogs, magazines, books, and retail inserts. Retail printers offer customers many of the same products as a small commercial printer offers its customers but typically also offer—walk up—service where a customer may have a job produced on demand.

Print buyers in nearly all markets require a wide variety of printed materials and typically place customized orders with short lead times and frequently request last minute changes. As a result, printers face unpredictable demand, making it difficult to sustain high equipment utilization. The unforeseen customer requirements placed on printers by customers also make it difficult for print industry raw material suppliers to respond to printers needs. These characteristics of the printing industry lead to production inefficiencies throughout the printing industry supply chain.

The competitive environment in the printing industry requires printers and print industry raw material suppliers to differentiate themselves by offering superior quality, price, and customer service. Printers and print industry raw material suppliers need solutions that increase revenues, reduce operating costs, improve productivity, and increase customer satisfaction and loyalty. Print buyers also seek to interact efficiently with printers in order to reduce printing costs, improve productivity, and shorten production times.

# The traditional print production process

The production of printed material is complex and requires collaboration among multiple parties throughout the process to ensure that the final product accurately reflects the print buyer s design and meets its quality, cost, and delivery expectations. Printing jobs are often highly customized, requiring numerous interactions among print buyers, printers, and print industry raw material suppliers. The production process itself can be divided into three separate stages: design and specification; purchasing; and manufacturing and distribution.

Design and specification. A print buyer designs printed material through a collaborative process involving a print buyer s in-house and external design, purchasing, sales, marketing, and creative personnel. The print buyer must then communicate the print job specifications to the printer, using industry-specific terminology, so that the printer can evaluate the specifications. Typically, the print buyer specifies the print

job manually and communicates it by telephone, facsimile, or e-mail. The traditional design and specification process is inherently inefficient. These inefficiencies result from the manual process of data communication, input, and retrieval, the lack of appropriate error-checking mechanisms, and the need for print buyers to understand the intricacies of the print process and its industry-specific terminology in order to submit an accurate request for a quote.

Purchasing. Purchasing a print job begins with the transmission of the specifications to one or more printers to obtain and evaluate quotes that estimate the cost, timing, and other elements of the project. A printer cannot estimate the cost of a print job until the print buyer has completed the specification phase, by defining paper, content, configuration, binding, and distribution requirements. After evaluating the specification details, the printer will determine its selling price, either manually or by a computer-based process, and prepare a quote for the job. Once the printer provides a quote, the print buyer then uses this information to modify job designs and specifications and to select a printer. Without a consistent means of specifying a print job, printers may misinterpret and inaccurately reply to quote requests, and print buyers may not adhere to internal corporate policies and spending limits. In addition, depending on a number of factors, such as the equipment available to produce the print job, the cost of producing the same print job can vary significantly from printer to printer. These miscommunications and inefficiencies often lead to higher costs, delays, and customer dissatisfaction.

Manufacturing and distribution. This stage encompasses management of the entire supply chain and production process, from purchasing and inventory of raw materials through order management, preparation, printing, binding, finishing, distribution, invoicing, and payment processing. The manufacturing and distribution process has traditionally required manual preparation of job instructions, which can result in inconsistent and inaccurate print specifications, errors in the production process, delays in project completion, and an inability to track the current status of inventories and jobs, leading to high costs, production errors, delays, and customer dissatisfaction. In addition, the difficulty associated with implementing customer change orders, and a lack of integration between the systems that are used to plan and design print projects, lead to further complications, inefficiencies, and errors in the manufacturing and distribution processes.

#### The impact of new technologies on the printing industry supply chain

The Web and other new technologies provide opportunities for businesses across all industries to improve efficiency by extending their enterprise software applications to include customers, partners, and suppliers. Businesses seek software solutions that incorporate industry best practices, standard processes, industry-specific terminology, and other functionality that has been designed for their particular industry. Most enterprise software applications, however, are not designed for the needs of a particular industry. We believe that industry-specific software solutions can be easier to implement and facilitate deeper collaboration among supply chain participants. These software solutions are particularly in demand in industries, such as printing, with a complex production process and rapidly changing job specifications.

The printing process involves a high degree of customization to meet the needs of participants in the printing industry supply chain, causing them to utilize industry-specific enterprise resource planning systems to maximize process efficiency. Some businesses have turned to in-house solutions to address these needs. More recently, vendors have developed a variety of software applications designed for use in many industries, including procurement and enterprise resource planning systems. We believe that these applications, which are often designed for a standard assembly process, utilizing catalog-derived parts, do not meet the complex needs of the printing industry with its job-specific custom requirements. The complexities and inefficiencies inherent in the traditional print process create an opportunity for an integrated software solution specific to the printing industry supply chain that eliminates redundant and manual processes and enhances communication and collaboration.

#### The Printcafe Solution

We believe that we offer the only integrated software solutions that enable printers and print buyers to increase efficiency in each stage of the printing process from specification and purchasing to manufacturing and distribution by providing enterprise resource planning systems, purchasing systems, and collaborative supply chain planning and execution systems. Since our inception in 1987, we have continually developed our software, targeted to the specific needs of the printing industry supply chain, by drawing on our years of experience in the printing industry and leveraging our relationships with our strategic partners and customers.

Benefits to printers. Our software solutions enable printers to maximize productivity, increase revenues, improve production management, and increase customer satisfaction and loyalty. Printers use our software solutions to:

Increase responsiveness by automating the quotation process, quoting accurate prices, and receiving and fulfilling orders electronically for almost any type of print project;

automate the manufacturing process and control print production equipment, including scheduling the execution of print jobs and collecting data on print jobs in process;

manage inventory, resource planning, purchasing, accounting, and invoicing;

communicate and collaborate with multiple parties throughout the printing process; and

leverage their technology leadership to increase revenues by increasing business with existing customers and generating new customer opportunities.

*Benefits to print buyers.* Our software solutions enable print buyers to increase productivity and reduce costs in the printing industry supply chain. By automating the print specification and purchasing processes, our products allow print buyers to replace inefficient manual processes with online collaboration capabilities. Print buyers use our software solutions to:

Centrally manage and enforce company-wide print purchasing policies;

specify, estimate the cost of, order, and track changes to, virtually any type of print project by collaborating with printers of their choice;

purchase print more effectively by allowing the print buyer to select the most suitable printer for each print job;

reduce print job production time by communicating and collaborating with multiple parties throughout the printing process; and

track the current status of a project from specification through delivery and reconcile invoices to orders and change orders.

#### **Products**

Our software solutions automate the print production process; facilitate collaboration, order fulfillment, data collection and analysis, and inventory management; and provide financial accounting functions for printers. Our products, developed specifically for the printing industry supply chain, are designed to reduce costs, increase customer satisfaction, and overcome inefficiencies in the traditional print production process. Our products can be deployed together as an integrated solution or purchased separately and used on a stand-alone basis.

We offer four categories of products:

Enterprise resource planning and supply chain planning products, which facilitate efficient and accurate fulfillment of each print production job by automating purchasing, operations, and financial functions;

collaboration and procurement products, which enable print buyers to communicate with printers at every stage of the print production process, thereby reducing errors, production time, and costs;

self-service applications, which enable printers to establish a Web storefront and provide other online services to their customers, facilitating interaction with their customers and potential customers by improving collaboration and project management; and

manufacturing and supply chain execution products, which enable commercial and publication printers to plan and adjust their production capacity by analyzing data collected from the production floor.

Product Type	Product Name	Target Segment	Description
Enterprise Resource Planning and Supply Chain Planning	Prograph Hagen Logic PSI PrintSmith	Publication printers Large commercial printers Mid-market commercial printers Small commercial printers Retail printers	Software that automates the print production process from planning and quoting to inventory management and financial reporting.
Collaboration and Procurement	EnterpriseSite Impresse Site Proteus	Fortune 1000 print buyers Fortune 1000 print buyers Publishers	Web-based purchasing software that expedites print purchases for print buyers through collaboration with printers and efficient project management tools.  Software tool for magazines,
			catalogs, books, and directories that automates internal processes, including layout, cost estimating, optimization, and ordering.
Self-Service Applications	PrinterSite Printchannel PrintSmith Site	Commercial printers Commercial printers Retail printers	Web-based software that facilitates the print production process by providing an integrated storefront for online collaboration, file sharing, project management, and other print functions.
Manufacturing and Supply Chain Execution	Auto-Count	Commercial and publication printers	Production floor data collection software with a direct machine interface for tracking count, waste, and performance statistics from press and bindery equipment.
	PrintFlow	Commercial and publication printers	Software tool that automates and optimizes job scheduling of an individual printing facility or group of facilities.

#### Customers

Our software solutions for the printing industry supply chain have been installed by more than 4,000 printer customers in over 8,000 facilities worldwide, including 24 of the 25 largest publication and commercial printers in North America and more than 50 businesses in the Fortune 1000. During 2002 and the first quarter of 2003, no single customer accounted for ten percent or more of our revenue.

#### Sales and Marketing

We sell our products and services through:

Our 35 person sales force, which currently generates most of our new sales;

sales representatives of Creo, one of our strategic partners, which currently generates less than 2% of our total sales;

57

co-marketing agreements with Accenture, AT Kearney and SMARTworks; and

the sales forces of some of our printer customers, who recommend our products to their print buyer customers.

Our marketing programs are designed to promote our brand, educate our existing and potential customers about the features and benefits of our software, and generate sales leads. Our marketing activities include participation in industry trade shows and seminars, hosting an annual user conference attended by over 700 participants, hosting regional user meetings, direct mailings, trade journal advertising, and public relations activities.

#### Professional Services and Customer Support

Our customer service professionals configure and implement our software solutions and provide technical support, consulting, and training to our customers. Our customer service professionals are available by telephone, over the Web, or by e-mail to assist with customer support requests 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

In addition to professional services, we offer product maintenance to our customers. Maintenance contracts are typically subject to an annual, renewable fee and are typically priced as a percentage of product license fees. Customers under maintenance service contracts receive technical product support and product upgrades as they are released throughout the life of the maintenance contracts.

#### Technology and Product Architecture

We design software solutions for participants in the global printing industry supply chain. Our products are designed to be easily adaptable, secure, and scalable for global businesses, as well as capable of handling multiple data sources and a large number of transactions. Our products are implemented through two technology platforms: client/server software applications and hosted Web-based products. With our modular, object-oriented development approach, we have developed client/server-based enterprise resource planning systems and supply chain planning and execution software that work with a variety of databases and operating systems. Our Web-based products are developed using readily-available Web development tools and are deployed on an Oracle database. If we are unable to maintain our licenses with Oracle, we could be required to obtain substitute technology of lower quality or performance standards, or at additional cost, and our business could be harmed. We continually refine our client/server software applications and our Web-based products in order to improve their interoperability and to extend the reach of our products throughout the printing industry supply chain.

Our product architecture is designed to support today s rapidly changing technology standards by providing the following features:

Layered architecture. Our client/server software applications are written using an object-oriented architecture, which enables our developers to construct and modify discrete applications efficiently and cost-effectively. Our hosted Web-based software applications are developed using multi-tier architecture, which provides for ease of deployment, application management, support, and scalability.

Flexible, open systems architecture. Our open architecture benefits both our internal software development process and the customers who use our solutions. Our developers are able to pre-configure software to address in separate solutions the specialized needs of the different types of participants in the printing industry supply chain, which simplifies and accelerates the software development process. We are able to offer products which are appropriate for customers ranging from small, single-facility print shops to large, enterprise-wide implementations. In addition, our architecture supports a number of different operating systems, such as Windows, Macintosh, AS/400, and UNIX.

Scalability. We use a distributed application framework, which leverages separate applications working together, rather than a single, complex system, to minimize product complexity and facilitate product updates and maintenance. We ensure optimal scalability in our Web-based products by managing

application replication software on multiple servers, coupled with load management software and hardware, which provides redundancy and additional peak use capacity. Our multi-tier architecture allows for rapid response to demands for increased capacity resulting in an environment that is highly scalable.

Security. Our Web-based products are protected from intrusion and compromise through multiple industry-standard security measures. Our multi-tier architecture isolates the major components of the system from one another—the publicly-accessible tiers include user interface components and business logic modules, while the data layer resides in a separate, secure, private tier. By segregating data from the interface and business logic, we protect the data repository from infiltration over the public Web. We also rely upon industry-standard security protocols, such as secure socket layer connections, digital signatures, and encryption, to protect essential customer data from exposure and corruption.

#### Intellectual Property

We rely primarily on a combination of copyright, trademark, trade secret, and patent laws and contractual restrictions to protect the proprietary aspects of our technology. These legal protections afford only limited protection for our technology. We seek to protect the source code for our software, documentation, and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws. We license our software pursuant to license agreements, which impose restrictions on the licensee s ability to utilize the software. We also require employees and consultants with access to our proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements. We have obtained eight patents in the United States on aspects of our technology and business processes. Four of these patents are scheduled to expire within the next two years and the remaining four patents expire at different times between 2005 and 2017. We do not view the expiration of these patents to be material. We have also filed applications for additional patents. We expect that, if granted, the duration of these patents will be 20 years from the date of filing the application. We own various trademarks that are used in connection with our business, some of which have been registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. The duration of those trademarks is unlimited, subject to continuous use.

We license several patents for our Web-based solutions from the owners of the respective patents. The license agreements grant us a non-exclusive license to use in our products the process covered by U.S. Patent No. 4,839,829, No. 6,353,483, No. 6,362,895, and No. 6,429,947. The licenses remain in effect until the expiration of the respective patents. We also license technology owned by Creo Inc. for use in the Web-based solutions which we offer to printers. Creo can terminate this license agreement if a third party purchases more than fifty percent of our outstanding stock or our strategic alliance agreement with Creo is terminated.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. In addition, the laws of many countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Our failure to adequately protect our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

#### Competition

Traditionally, both printers and print buyers would internally create their own methodologies to manage their printing industry supply chain needs, often using manual processes. In the absence of commercially-available printing industry supply chain software, some companies developed software for their own internal use. The market for software focused specifically on the printing industry supply chain is relatively new and is evolving rapidly.

In this market, we encounter competition from software application vendors that specifically target the printing industry, which are typically small, privately-owned companies, and from larger vendors who currently offer or are seeking to develop printer-focused enterprise resource planning products, such as Heidelberg and SAP. We are unaware of any competing integrated suite of software products focused

specifically on the print industry supply chain similar to our comprehensive software solutions. In the future, we could potentially face competition from other software vendors with related functionality in enterprise resource planning, supply chain management, and procurement who decide to target the printing industry, including Ariba, i2, Manugistics, Microsoft, Oracle, and PeopleSoft, and other software vendors focused on specific aspects of supply chain planning and execution, such as Manhattan Associates, Retek, and Vastera. We believe that the principal competitive factors affecting our market include adoption by a significant number of print buyers and printers, product quality and performance, customer service, core technology, product features, price, and the value of services.

#### **Employees**

As of August 20, 2003, we had 324 full-time employees. Of these employees, 44 were in sales and marketing, 107 were in research and development, 132 were in customer support, and 41 were in general and administrative services and operations. Our employees are not represented by a labor union, and we consider our employee relations to be good.

#### **Facilities**

Our headquarters are located in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, where we lease approximately 25,000 square feet of office space. The lease expires in November 2003, unless we elect to extend the term for up to an additional two years. These facilities are used for executive office space, including sales and marketing, finance and administration, research and design, Web hosting, and customer support. In addition, we have offices in Arizona, California, Illinois, Minnesota, and New Hampshire in the United States, and New Windsor in the United Kingdom.

#### Legal Proceedings

On February 19, 2003, Creo commenced an action in The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County captioned *Creo, Inc. v. Printcafe Software, Inc., Electronics For Imaging, Inc., Marc D. Olin, Charles J. Billerbeck, Victor A. Cohn and Thomas J. Gill.* Creo requested a temporary restraining order with respect to (a) triggering, exercising or otherwise giving effect to the stockholders rights plan we adopted, (b) enforcing any action taken or to be taken by us with the intent or effect of impeding the operation of market forces in an open bidding contest for Printcafe, (c) taking any steps or actions to enforce the fee provided for in the letter agreement we entered into with EFI, (d) taking any steps or any actions to enforce the option we granted to EFI, (e) taking any steps or actions to enforce the no solicitation provisions of the standby credit letter that we entered into with EFI, (f) engaging in any conduct intended to cause or having the effect of causing Printcafe to forgo the opportunity to explore and enter into economically more favorable transactions and (g) entering into, or purporting to enter into, a merger agreement between EFI and us before the court finally rules on the action. On February 21, 2003 the court denied Creo s request for a temporary restraining order. The matter is still pending in the Delaware Chancery Court with respect to the other relief sought by Creo. We intend to vigorously defend ourselves in this matter. If this lawsuit is resolved unfavorably to us, our business and financial condition could be adversely affected and we may not be able to complete the merger.

On June 25, 2003 a securities class action complaint was filed against us and two executive officers in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania. The complaint alleges that we and the other defendants violated Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 because we and they allegedly made false and misleading statements in connection with our initial public offering and subsequent press releases. We and the individual defendants believe that the claims asserted against us are completely without merit, and we and they intend to vigorously defend the litigation.

From time to time, we may be involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business, including claims from third parties alleging that our products infringe their proprietary rights. These claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming and costly, divert management s attention, cause product shipment delays, require us to develop non-infringing technology, or

enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Based on our investigation to date, we do not believe that the ultimate outcome of any of these claims would have a material adverse effect on our business. However, if any of these disputes are resolved unfavorably to us, our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

61

#### **Selected Consolidated Financial Data**

The selected consolidated financial and operating data set forth below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, the related notes, and the other information contained in this document. The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the selected consolidated statement of operations data for the three years ended December 31, 2002 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this document. The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 and the selected consolidated statement of operations data for the two years ended December 31, 1999 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this document. The financial data as of June 30, 2003 and for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 are derived from our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this document. In the opinion of our management, all normal and recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation have been included in our unaudited consolidated financial statements. The six month results are not necessarily indicative of our full year results.

	For the Six Months Ended June 30,			Year Ended December 31,			
	2003	2002	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998
	(	124-37	(in thousa	nds, except per sl	hare data)		
Results of Operations	(unaud	ntea)					
Revenue:							
License and subscription	4,955	11,284	\$ 21,119	\$ 18,103	\$ 8,880	\$ 1,298	\$2,228
Maintenance	11,319	10,763	21,701	20,601	15,239	1,090	907
Professional services and	11,015	10,700	21,701	20,001	10,203	1,000	, , ,
other	2,194	1,874	3,701	3,164	1,215	2,023	2,107
o uner							2,107
Total revenue	18,468	23,921	46,521	41,868	25,334	4,411	5,242
Cost of revenue:	10,400	23,921	40,321	41,000	23,334	4,411	3,242
License and subscription	1,084	1,926	3,650	3,936	2,684	129	267
Maintenance	2,469	2,605	5,091	6,088	7,337	320	160
Professional services and	2,40)	2,003	3,071	0,000	1,551	320	100
other	855	873	1,636	1,572	637	966	675
other			1,030	1,372			
T-4-1 4 - 6	4.400	5 404	10,377	11,596	10.659	1 415	1 100
Total cost of revenue	4,408	5,404	10,377	11,390	10,658	1,415	1,102
Gross profit	14,060	18,517	36,144	30,272	14,676	2,996	4,140
Operating expenses:							
Sales and marketing	8,630	8,521	16,989	19,114	20,542	848	397
Research and development	6,003	6,126	12,003	12,180	11,307	1,900	1,601
General and administrative	5,630	3,234	6,193	7,645	24,525	2,704	1,651
Depreciation	879	1,470	2,922	3,821	2,060	232	199
Amortization of goodwill							
and other intangibles(1)	5,133	14,780	29,511	49,052	39,481	774	
Stock-based compensation	400			4.400			~~.
and warrants	483	537	1,386	1,103	5,144	7,274	254
Restructuring charge			525	2,098	1,185		
Total operating expenses	26,758	34,668	69,529	95,013	104,244	13,732	4,102
(Loss) income from operations	(12,698)	(16,151)	(33,385)	(64,741)	(89,568)	(10,736)	38
Other expense, net	(2,211)	(4,862)	(7,412)	(5,262)	(6,150)	(183)	(22)
•							
Net (loss) income	(14,909)	(21,013)	\$(40,797)	\$(70,003)	\$ (95,718)	\$(10,919)	\$ 16
Accretion of redeemable preferred	(11,707)	(21,013)	Ψ(10,171)	Ψ(10,003)	Ψ (>3,710)	Ψ(10,717)	Ψ 10
stock		(6,200)	(6,201)	(5,635)	(4,858)		
		(-,= -,-	(-,=-/		( ', )		

Net (loss) income attributable to common stock	(14,909)	(27,213)	\$(46,998)	\$(75,638)	\$(100,576)	\$(10,919)	\$ 16
Net loss per share basic and diluted	(1.37)	(31.68)	\$ (8.11)	\$(468.67)	\$ (687.66)	\$ (96.36)	\$
Weighted average shares basic and diluted	10,896	859	5,797	161	146	113	_
			62				

(1) For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998, goodwill amortization was \$0, \$19,576, \$16,653, \$774 and \$0, respectively, or \$0.00, \$121.30, \$113.86, \$6.83, and \$0.00 per diluted common share, respectively. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and other Intangible Assets. SFAS 142 requires among other things, the discontinuance of goodwill amortization and provisions for the reclassification of certain existing recognized intangibles as goodwill. Upon the adoption of SFAS 142, we ceased amortizing goodwill.

	As of		As	of December 31,		
	June 30, 2003	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998
	(unaudited)		(	in thousands)		
Financial Position:				,		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 6,982	\$ 8,775	\$ 8,648	\$ 15,206	\$	\$ 56
Working capital	(10,640)	4,063	(985)	(4,209)	(4,109)	(566)
Total assets	43,506	53,673	79,503	135,958	11,840	2,025
Long-term obligations, less current						
portion	1,050	12,743	33,365	36,114	953	68
Obligations under capital leases, less						
current portion			34	102	93	
Redeemable preferred stock			132,676	104,230		
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	13,143	21,959	(105,373)	(32,792)	4,858	(661)

#### Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The information in this discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performances, or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as may, might, will, should, could, would, plan, expect, intend, believe, anticipate, predict, potential, or the negative of these terms, and similar expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also, these forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this document. You should read this document completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we currently expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, the Risk Factors included in our prospectus dated June 18, 2002 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### Overview

General. We have focused on developing software solutions designed specifically for the printing industry supply chain since our inception in 1987. In February 2000, Prograph Systems, our predecessor company, changed its name to printCafe, Inc., and we launched our Web-based products to complement our enterprise resource planning software. From February through April 2000, we acquired five complementary businesses for an aggregate purchase price of \$137.3 million. We have also committed significant resources to develop, integrate, and market our products, expand our management team, and hire additional personnel. On June 18, 2002, we completed our initial public offering by issuing 3,750,000 shares of our common stock at a price of \$10.00 per share. We incurred a net loss of \$95.7 million, \$70.0 million and \$40.8 million in 2000, 2001 and 2002 respectively, and of \$27.2 and \$14.9 in the six months ended June 30, 2002 and 2003 respectively, and had an accumulated deficit of \$249.6 million as of June 30, 2003.

The acquisitions we completed in early 2000 generated goodwill of \$57.7 million, of which \$22.5 million remained unamortized as of June 30, 2003, and other intangible assets of \$86.4 million, none of which remained unamortized as of June 30, 2003. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we have performed the required impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2002, and have determined that no impairment loss is required to be recognized. The other intangible assets are being amortized over a three-year period, Any future write-off of goodwill or other intangible assets as a non-cash charge could be significant and would likely harm our operating results. In addition, any future impairment loss recognition may adversely affect our ability to comply with the financial covenants in our installment note with National City Bank. As of June 30, 2003, we were not in compliance with the debt service coverage covenant of the installment note. We have received a waiver with respect to this default from National City Bank, which expires on January 1, 2004. As of June 30, 2003, the outstanding principal balance of this note was \$0.2 million.

Sources of Revenue. Our revenue is derived principally from licenses and subscriptions of our products, maintenance contracts, and professional and other services, including implementation, consulting, and training. Our products are typically purchased under either a perpetual license or a time-based or usage-based subscription. We offer our enterprise resource planning and other client/server software to printers and print buyers under license agreements. We offer our Web-based products to printers and print buyers under subscription agreements, which typically have a term of three years. Our print buyer customers pay a subscription fee for our Web-based products based on the number of users of the website. Our printer customers can purchase either an unlimited subscription or a limited subscription for our Web-based products. The fee for the limited subscription is based on the value of print orders processed through the customer s website. Maintenance contracts are sold to customers, usually at the time of sale of a software license, under annual agreements that provide for automatic renewal, unless the customer cancels. We also provide professional services, which are offered at an hourly rate.

We have derived most of our revenue from licenses of our software and the sale of related maintenance to printers. In the first quarter of 2001, we began to recognize revenue from the sale of our Web-based products to printers and began to market our Web-based solutions for print buyers.

For the six months ended June 30, 2003, revenues from foreign customers approximated 15% of our total revenues. For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, revenues from foreign customers approximated 5%, 11% and 15% respectively, of our total revenues.

#### Critical Accounting Policies and Assumptions

Our discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Our actual results may differ from those estimates.

The following critical accounting policies affect the significant judgments and estimates we use in preparing our consolidated financial statements.

Accounts Receivable. We record an allowance against gross accounts receivable to provide for doubtful accounts. The allowance is estimated based on the age of the receivable, specific circumstances surrounding the collection of an invoice, and historical data on allowances as a percentage of aged accounts receivable balances. Actual collection on accounts may differ from the allowance we have estimated.

Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue on our software products in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, which provides for recognition of revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of the product has occurred, no significant obligations remain on our part with regard to implementation, the fee is fixed and determinable, and

collectibility is probable. SOP 97-2 generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements to be allocated to each element based on the relative fair value of each element. Revenue recognized from multiple-element arrangements is allocated to undelivered elements of the arrangement, such as maintenance and professional services, based on the relative fair value of each element. Our determination of fair value of each element in multi-element arrangements is based on vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE). We limit our assessment of VSOE for each element to either the price charged when the same element is sold separately or the price established by management for an element not yet sold separately. We have VSOE for maintenance services and professional services.

If evidence of fair value of all undelivered elements exists but evidence does not exist for one or more delivered elements, then revenue is recognized using the residual method. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the total fee is recognized as revenue. We generally recognize license revenue under the residual method upon delivery of our software to the customer, provided collection is probable. Revenue allocated to maintenance is recognized ratably over the maintenance term and revenue allocated to training and other service elements is recognized as the services are performed. Revenue from Web-based products is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription for unlimited subscriptions and is recognized based on usage, subject to a fixed term, for limited subscriptions. Many of our agreements include warranty provisions. Historically, these provisions have not had a significant impact on our revenue recognition. In those instances where customer acceptance may be in question, all revenue relating to that arrangement is deferred until the warranty period has expired.

Contingencies. We are involved in disputes and litigation in the normal course of business. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required, if any, for these contingencies are made after careful analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in insurance coverage or our approach, such as a change in settlement strategy.

Stock Based Compensation. We have elected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations for our employee stock options because the alternative fair value accounting provided under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation (SFAS 123), requires use of valuation models that were not developed for use in valuing employee stock options.

In the first quarter of 2002, we granted options to purchase 766,520 shares of common stock, with an exercise price of \$4.21 per share, to employees and directors. As a result, we recorded approximately \$4.4 million of deferred compensation. This amount represents the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of our common stock on the date we granted these stock options. We will record stock-based compensation expense of approximately \$1.1 million annually over the vesting period of these options, which is generally four years. As described in The Merger Interests of Our Directors and Executive Officers in the Merger if the merger is completed, the vesting of these options will be accelerated by six months.

In April 2002, we granted options to purchase 381,603 shares of common stock, with an exercise price of \$15.54 per share, to employees. We did not record any stock-based compensation expense related to these options as the exercise price was above the then current fair market value. We also granted options to purchase 92,910 shares of common stock to employees in June 2002, with an exercise price of \$2.00 per share. As a result, we will record approximately \$0.2 million of stock-based compensation expense annually over the vesting period of these options, which is three years.

For the six months ended June 30, 2003 we recorded \$0.5 million of stock-based compensation expense. For the year ended 2000, 2001 and 2002, we recorded \$5.1 million, \$1.1 million and \$1.4 million, respectively, of stock-based compensation expense.

Warrants. We account for equity instruments issued to nonemployees and pursuant to strategic alliance agreements in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123, Emerging Issues Task Force No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services, and Emerging Issues Task Force No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor s Product. Warrant expense represents charges associated with the issuance of warrants to purchase our common stock. To the extent that we derive revenue from agreements entered into in connection with the issuance of warrants, we offset this revenue by the expense associated with these warrants. Any amount of expense that exceeds revenue is recorded in sales and marketing, general and administrative, or interest expense, based upon the nature of the agreement. The amount of expense is equal to the fair value of vested warrants determined using Black-Scholes pricing models. The following table sets forth the amount of expense and reduction to revenue associated with the issuance of these warrants for the year ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively (in thousands):

	2000	2001	2002
Reduction in revenue	\$	\$ 47	\$
Increase in sales and marketing	3,841	1,054	26
Increase in general and administrative	437		
Increase in interest expense	1,943	1,161	

As of June 30, 2003, we had unvested warrants to purchase 43,899 shares of common stock, which have exercise prices ranging from \$266.40 to \$592.07 and vest upon attainment of performance criteria. Upon the vesting of warrants to purchase 13,119 of these shares of common stock, we will record warrant expense based upon fair value for each warrant, and upon the vesting of warrants to purchase 30,780 of these shares of common stock, we will reduce revenue generated from the warrant holder during the period when vesting occurs. We cannot predict the timing or amount of this reduction in revenue and increase in expense because the amount is calculated using the fair market value at the time of vesting.

Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are recognized for all temporary differences between tax and financial bases of our assets and liabilities, using the tax laws and statutory rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. As of June 30, 2003, we had significant net operating loss carryforwards available to offset future taxable income. The net operating loss carryforwards will expire beginning 2015 through 2021. Federal and state tax rules impose substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in situations where changes occur in the stock ownership of a company. Utilization of our carryforwards is limited because of past ownership changes. In the event that we have a future change in ownership, utilization of these carryforwards could be further limited.

We have established a 100% valuation allowance against deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty that future tax benefits can be realized from our net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets.

Identified Intangible Assets, Purchased Technology and Goodwill. Our identified intangible assets, purchased technology and goodwill are related mainly to our business acquisitions. We amortize identified intangible assets and purchased technology on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (generally three years) of the remaining assets. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net intangible and identifiable intangible assets of acquired businesses. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Before we adopted SFAS No. 142, we amortized goodwill over its estimated useful life of three years. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, we performed an initial impairment analysis. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized to expense, but is instead subjected to a periodic impairment test at least annually. The impairment test is a two-step process, which analyzes whether or not goodwill has been impaired. Step one requires that the fair value be compared to book value. If the fair value is higher than the book value, no impairment is indicated and there is no need to perform the second step of the process.

If the fair value is lower than the book value, step two must be evaluated. Step two requires the fair value to be allocated to assets and liabilities in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation in order to determine the implied fair value of the goodwill. This implied fair value is then compared with the carrying amount, and if it were less, we would then recognize an impairment loss. We test goodwill for impairment annually in the fourth quarter.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS No. 144 supersedes or amends existing accounting literature related to the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets.

Whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, we review our long-lived assets for impairment by first comparing the carrying value of the assets to the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the assets. If the carrying value exceeds the sum of the assets undiscounted cash flows, we estimate an impairment loss by taking the difference between the carrying value and fair value of the assets. No impairment charge has been recorded in any of the periods presented.

#### Recent accounting pronouncements

Debt extinguishment costs. In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 62, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections. SFAS No. 145, which becomes effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002 and requires gains and losses on extinguishment of debt to be classified as income or loss from continuing operations rather than as extraordinary items as previously required under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. As of December 31, 2002, we early adopted SFAS No. 145 and reclassified an extraordinary loss of \$1.1 million recognized in the second quarter of 2002 to other expense.

Exit and disposal activities. In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146, which became effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized at fair value when the liability is incurred, rather than at the date of an entity s commitment to an exit plan. We do not believe that SFAS No. 146 will have a material impact on its financial position and results of operations.

Stock-based compensation. In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure. SFAS No. 148 amends Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the prior disclosure guidance and requires prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. For entities that voluntarily change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation, the transition provisions are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. For all other companies, the disclosure provisions are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2002.

Guarantees. In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 clarifies and expands on existing disclosure requirements for guarantees, including loan guarantees. It also would require that, at the inception of a guarantee, we may need to recognize a liability for the fair value, of the obligation under that guarantee. The initial fair value recognition and measurement provisions will be applied on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The

disclosure provisions are effective for financial statements of periods ending after December 15, 2002. The adoption of FIN 45 did not impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Variable interest entities. In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. This Interpretation applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that is acquired before February 1, 2003. We do not believe the provisions of this Interpretation Standard have an impact on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

Financial instruments. In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity. The Statement improves the accounting for certain financial instruments that, under previous guidance issuers could account for as equity. The new Statement requires those instruments be classified as liabilities in statements of financial position. SFAS No. 150 also requires disclosures about alternative ways of settling financial instruments and the capital structure of entities whose shares are mandatorily redeemable. Most of the guidance in SFAS No. 150 is effective for all financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. We do not believe the provisions of this Statement will have an impact on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

#### Restructuring

In September 2000, we initiated a restructuring plan that was designed to reduce our cost structure and eliminate redundant job tasks that existed as a result of the acquisitions made in early 2000. As part of this plan, we reduced our workforce by 78 employees through the elimination of some positions and the consolidation of other redundant job tasks. The restructuring resulted in a charge for the year ended December 31, 2000 of \$1.2 million, which consisted primarily of severance and other benefits related to the discharged employees. Our cash flow from operations was adversely impacted by those costs during the fourth quarter of 2000 and the first six months of 2001.

In May 2001, we announced a restructuring that primarily related to the consolidation of client support operations into existing facilities, resulting in a restructuring charge of \$2.1 million. The plan included terminations of 45 employees and the reduction of leased office space. Substantially all remaining cash expenditures relating to these lease obligations were made during the first six months of 2003.

In August 2002, we announced a restructuring effecting an organizational realignment of the product management and customer service and support operations. This resulted in a restructuring charge of \$0.5 million in the quarter ended September 30, 2002. This charge consisted primarily of severance and benefits including involuntary termination and COBRA benefits, outplacement costs, and payroll taxes for the approximately 40 employees impacted by this restructuring. During the six months ended June 30, 2003, we paid all remaining expenditures relating to this restructuring.

These restructuring plans focused on reducing our cost structure and improving the efficiency of our operations to respond to changing market conditions and to realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions made in early 2000. We believe that these actions will not adversely impact our operations in the future because we have undertaken initiatives to manage and monitor our client and employee relations during the execution of these plans and subsequent to their completion.

### Results of Operations

The following table presents selected financial data for the periods indicated as a percentage of our total revenue:

	Six Mo Ended J		Years Ended December 31,		
	2003	2002	2002	2001	2000
	(unaud	dited)			
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data					
Revenue:					
License and subscription	27%	47%	45%	43%	35%
Maintenance	61	45	47	49	60
Professional services and other	12	8	8	8	5
Total revenue	100	100	100	100	100
Cost of revenue:					
License and subscription	6	8	8	9	11
Maintenance	13	11	11	15	29
Professional services and other	5	4	3	4	2
Total cost of revenue	24	23	22	28	42
Gross profit	76	77	78	72	58
Operating expenses:		<del></del>			
Sales and marketing	47	36	37	46	81
Research and development	32	26	26	29	45
General and administrative	30	13	13	18	97
Depreciation	5	6	6	9	8
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles	28	62	63	117	156
Stock-based compensation and warrants	3	2	3	3	20
Restructuring charge			1	5	5
Total operating expenses	145	145	149	227	412
Loss from operations	(69)%	(68)%	(71)	(155)	(354)
Other expense, net	(12)	(20)	(16)	(12)	(24)
Net loss	(81)	(88)	(87)	(167)	(378)
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock		(26)	(13)	(13)	(19)
Net loss attributable to common stock	(81)%	(114)%	(100)%	(180)%	(397)%

Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002

### Revenue

*License and subscription.* License and subscription revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$5.0 million, a 56% decrease from license and subscription revenue of \$11.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. The decrease in license and subscription revenue was

primarily due to a reduction in the number of software licenses and subscriptions sold during 2003 as compared to 2002. The decrease primarily resulted from uncertainty surrounding the pending acquisition that was announced early in the first quarter as well as overall economic conditions.

*Maintenance*. Maintenance revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$11.3 million, a 5% increase from maintenance revenue of \$10.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. The increase

69

in maintenance revenue was primarily due to the increased number of license sales of our enterprise resource planning products in 2002 that, in turn, resulted in an increase in the number of our customers paying maintenance fees.

*Professional services and other.* Professional services and other revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$2.2 million, a 17% increase from professional services and other revenue of \$1.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. This increase in professional services and other revenue was primarily due to training and implementation services provided to customers who purchased licenses for our enterprise resource planning products during the latter part of 2002 and first half of 2003.

#### Total cost of revenue

Cost of revenue includes direct labor and other direct costs relating to the delivery of our products and services. The cost of license and subscription revenue is primarily related to third party licenses that we resell with licenses and subscriptions of our products, as well as any hosting and communication costs. Cost of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$4.4 million, an 18% decrease from cost of revenue of \$5.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. This decrease is due primarily to the decrease in license and subscription revenues.

Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue increased from 23% for the six months ended June 30, 2002, to 24% for the six months ended June 30, 2003. This increase is mainly attributable to the shift in the product mix as a higher percentage of revenue was provided by professional services in 2003 as compared to 2002. These services have a higher cost of goods sold as compared to licenses and subscriptions.

#### Operating expenses

We classify our operating expenses into six general categories, based on the nature of the expenditure: sales and marketing, research and development, general and administrative, depreciation, amortization, and stock-based compensation and warrants. We allocate our total costs for overhead and facilities to each of the functional areas of our business that use these services based upon estimated usage. These allocated charges include general overhead items such as administrative salaries, professional fees, building rent, equipment leasing costs, and telecommunication charges.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of costs related to sales and marketing, employee compensation, travel, public relations, trade shows, and advertising. Sales and marketing expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2003 were \$8.6 million, a 1% increase from sales and marketing expenses of \$8.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. The increase was mainly a result of salary increases for employees. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue increased from 36% for the six months ended June 30, 2002 to 47% for the six months ended June 30, 2003, primarily due to a decrease in revenues.

Research and development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of expenses related to the development and upgrade of our existing proprietary software and expenses related to research and development for new product offerings. These expenses primarily consist of employee compensation for research and development. Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2003 were \$6.0 million, a 2% decrease from research and development expenses of \$6.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. These decreases were mainly the result of small reductions in personnel offset by increased salary costs. Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenue increased from 26% for the six months ended June 30, 2002 to 32% for the six months ended June 30, 2003, resulting primarily from a decrease in revenue.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for executive and administrative personnel, travel expenses, professional advisory fees, and general overhead expenses, including costs associated with being a public entity, that are not allocated to cost of revenue, research and development, or sales and marketing. General and administrative expenses for the six months

ended June 30, 2003 were \$5.6 million, an increase of 74% from general and administrative expenses of \$3.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to merger related fees of approximately \$1.8 million in the first half of 2003 that include investment banking, legal and accounting fees, expenses associated with being a public company that were not incurred during the first half of 2002 and additional bad debt expense recognized during the second quarter mainly resulting from uncertainty surrounding the merger with EFI. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue increased from 13% for the six months ended June 30, 2002 to 30% for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The increase as a percentage of revenue resulted from these additional costs combined with the decrease in revenue.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense consists primarily of the depreciation of equipment, furniture, fixtures, and leasehold improvements. Depreciation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$0.9 million, a decrease of 40% from depreciation expense of \$1.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. These decreases are primarily attributable to certain computer equipment becoming fully depreciated and new equipment being purchased at a slower rate compared to prior periods.

Amortization. Amortization expense consists of the amortization of intangible assets such as purchased technology, customer lists, and patents. Amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$5.1 million, a decrease of 65% from amortization expense of \$14.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. This decrease is primarily attributable to intangible assets relating to the acquisitions made during 2000 becoming fully amortized during the first six months of 2003.

Stock-based compensation and warrants. Stock-based compensation and warrant expense relates to grants of employee stock options and issuance of stock with exercise prices lower than the fair value of the underlying shares at the time of grant or issuance, issuance of stock to employees as compensation and the issuance of options and warrants to third parties for services rendered. Stock-based compensation and warrants expense for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$0.5 million, flat with stock-based compensation of \$0.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002.

Other income (expense) Other income (expense) consists primarily of interest expense related to our borrowings and amortization of debt origination fees. Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2003 was \$0.5 million, a decrease of \$2.6 million from the six months ended June 30, 2002. This decrease is primarily due to the repayment of \$17.8 million of indebtedness upon completion of our initial public offering and repayment of \$1.1 million of related-party debt during the first six months of 2003. Amortization of debt origination fees for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 of \$1.7 million and \$1.6 million, respectively, was recorded as a result of the restructuring of debt during the second quarter of 2002.

*Income taxes* During the six months ended June 30, 2003, we incurred net losses for federal and state tax purposes and have not recognized any tax provision or benefits. At June 30, 2003, we had significant accumulated net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state tax purposes. The federal tax carryforwards expire in various years beginning in 2011 through 2022. Utilization of certain net operating loss carryforwards is subject to certain limitations. Events which cause limitations on the amount of net operating losses that we may use in any one year include, but are not limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period.

#### Comparison of years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002

Total revenue. Total revenue increased from \$41.9 million in 2001 to \$46.5 million in 2002, an increase of 11%. The increase in license and subscription revenue was primarily due to increased sales of licenses of our enterprise resource planning products, which represented 32% of our total revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, resulting from an increase in sales and marketing initiatives focusing on these products. These sales and marketing initiatives also led to additional maintenance contracts associated with these new license sales and additional training and consulting services. An increase in subscription and transaction fees generated by our Web-based products resulting from contract renewals and an increase in transactional volume processed through these products also contributed to the increase in revenue.

Total cost of revenue. Cost of revenue includes direct labor and other direct costs relating to the delivery of our products and services. The cost of license and subscription revenue is primarily related to third party licenses that we resell with licenses and subscriptions of our products, as well as any hosting and communication costs. Cost of revenue decreased from \$11.6 million in 2001 to \$10.4 million in 2002, a decrease of 11%. This decrease was the result of lower third party license costs and a reduction in the number of employees in our client and professional services area resulting from the restructuring of operations in the second quarter of 2001 and the third quarter of 2002. Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue decreased from 28% in 2001 to 22% in 2002, resulting from the increase in revenue and the reduction in costs.

#### Operating expenses

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased from \$19.1 million in 2001 to \$17.0 million in 2002, a decrease of 11%. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 46% in 2001 to 37% in 2002. The decrease in absolute dollars was primarily due to a reduction in the number of sales and marketing employees resulting from the restructuring of operations in the second quarter of 2001 and reductions in travel, advertising, promotion, public relations, and general marketing expenses related to initiatives that were focused on reducing expenses.

Research and development. These expenses include employee compensation for research and development expenses and third-party contract development costs. Research and development expenses decreased from \$12.2 million in 2001 to \$12.0 million in 2002, a decrease of 2%. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in outside consulting expenses. Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 29% in 2001 to 26% in 2002.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased from \$7.6 million in 2001 to \$6.2 million in 2002, a decrease of 19%. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 18% in 2001 to 13% in 2002. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in general and administrative employees.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense decreased from \$3.8 million in 2001 to \$2.9 million in 2002, a decrease of 24%. The decrease is primarily attributable to computer equipment becoming fully depreciated and new equipment being purchased at a slower rate compared to prior periods.

Amortization. Amortization expense decreased from \$49.1 in 2001 to \$29.5 million in 2002, a decrease of 40%. The decrease was primarily the result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142, effective January 1, 2002. We have performed the required impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002 and December 31, 2002, and determined that no impairment loss was required to be recognized.

#### Stock-based compensation and warrants

Stock-based compensation and warrants expense increased from \$1.1 million in 2001 to \$1.4 million in 2002. The increase was primarily the result of stock-based compensation expense related to options to purchase 766,520 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$4.21 that were issued during the first quarter of 2002 to employees and directors.

#### Other income (expense)

Interest expense decreased from \$5.3 million in 2001 to \$3.6 million in 2002, a decrease of 31%. The decrease is primarily due to the repayment of \$17.8 million of indebtedness upon the completion of our initial public offering, offset by a higher weighted average interest rate on outstanding indebtedness during the first two quarters of 2002 as compared to the same periods of 2001. During 2002, amortization of debt origination fees of \$3.3 million was recorded as a result of the restructuring of debt during the second quarter and the write-off of \$1.1 million of debt origination fees associated with a warrant issued to a lender. Amortization expense related to debt origination fees will be approximately \$0.9 million per quarter through December 31, 2003. Other income (expense) for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002

also includes a fair value adjustment to reflect a decline in the value of the collateral for notes receivable from our stockholders.

#### Income taxes

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, we incurred net losses for federal and state tax purposes and have not recognized any tax provision or benefits.

#### Comparison of years ended December 31, 2000 and December 31, 2001

The inclusion for the year 2001 of the results of the companies we acquired in early 2000 had an incremental effect on our results of operations. The more significant reasons for the changes year over year are described below.

Total revenue. Total revenue increased from \$25.3 million in 2000 to \$41.9 million in 2001, an increase of 65%. The increase in license and subscription revenue was primarily due to increased sales of licenses of our enterprise resource planning products, which represented 32% of our total revenue in 2001, resulting from an increase in sales and marketing initiatives focusing on these products. These sales and marketing initiatives also led to additional maintenance contracts associated with these new license sales and additional training and consulting services. To a lesser extent, revenue also increased because we began to recognize revenue from subscriptions for our Web-based products for printers in the first quarter of 2001.

*Total cost of revenue.* Cost of revenue increased from \$10.7 million in 2000 to \$11.6 million in 2001, an increase of 9%. Cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue decreased from 42% in 2000 to 28% in 2001. The decrease as a percentage of revenue primarily resulted from an increase in revenue and a decrease in the number of customer and professional service employees as a result of the restructurings of operations in the third quarter of 2000 and the second quarter of 2001.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses decreased from \$20.5 million in 2000 to \$19.1 million in 2001, a decrease of 7%. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 81% in 2000 to 46% in 2001. The decrease in absolute dollars was primarily due to a reduction in the number of sales and marketing employees resulting from restructurings of operations in the third quarter of 2000 and the second quarter of 2001 and reductions in travel, advertising, promotion, public relations, and general marketing expenses related to initiatives that were focused on reducing expenses.

*Research and development.* Research and development expenses increased from \$11.3 million in 2000 to \$12.2 million in 2001, an increase of 8%. The increase was primarily due to continued investment in the development of our software and Web-based products. Research and development expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 45% in 2000 to 29% in 2001.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased from \$24.5 million in 2000 to \$7.6 million in 2001, a decrease of 69%. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased from 97% in 2000 to 18% in 2001. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in general and administrative employees and the consolidation of facilities as a result of restructurings of operations in the third quarter of 2000 and the second quarter of 2001. Also contributing to the decrease were expense reductions in travel and professional fees as a result of initiatives that were focused on reducing expenses.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense increased from \$2.1 million in 2000 to \$3.8 million in 2001. The increase is primarily due to the purchase of additional computer equipment and software related to the development of our Web-based products.

*Amortization.* Amortization expense increased from \$39.5 million in 2000 to \$49.1 million in 2001, an increase of 24%, reflecting a full year of amortization in 2001.

Stock-based compensation and warrants. Stock-based compensation and warrants expense was \$5.1 million in 2000 and \$1.1 million in 2001. This decrease is the result of a decrease in warrant expense and, to a lesser extent, a reduction in the number of stock options being granted in 2001 at exercise prices below their deemed fair value.

Other expense net. Other expense decreased from \$6.2 million in 2000 to \$5.3 million in 2001, a decrease of 14%. The decrease is the result of a reduction in outstanding indebtedness as well as a decrease in interest rates.

Income taxes. During 2001, we incurred net losses for federal and state tax purposes and have not recognized any tax provisions or benefits.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2003, we had \$6.9 million in cash and cash equivalents, a decrease of approximately \$1.8 million from December 31, 2002. This decrease was primarily attributable to cash used by operations during the period including expenses related to the proposed merger of the Company with EFI, debt repayments of \$1.1 million and repayment of the line of credit of \$2.0 million, offset by the proceeds received from the exercise of a stock option by EFI of \$5.5 million.

Net cash used by operating activities totaled \$4.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. Net cash used by operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2003 is primarily attributable to the net loss for the period (less non-cash expenses) in addition to an increase in other assets related to certain annual prepaid contracts offset by a reduction in accounts receivable resulting from the decrease in revenue. We have experienced some slowdown in collections due to the general economic condition of the printing industry; however, we are not aware of any material collectibility or billing issues with our customers. Net cash used by operating activities totaled \$10.6 million for 2002, compared to \$17.9 million of net cash used by operating activities for 2001. Net cash used in operating activities for 2002 is primarily attributable to the net loss for the period (less non-cash expenses) in addition to an increase in accounts receivable as well as decreases in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and the restructuring reserve. The increase in accounts receivable during 2002 is principally due to increased sales levels of software licenses and subscriptions. Our normal and customary payment terms provide for collection of the fee over fixed time periods, generally between one and six months. During 2001, we received a prepayment of approximately \$0.9 million from a customer for revenue that was recognized during 2002. Also, during 2002, we changed from a monthly billing cycle to a quarterly billing cycle for certain maintenance contracts and therefore record a larger amount into accounts receivable at the end of each quarter. We have also experienced some slowdown in collections due to the general economic condition of the printing industry. However, we are not aware of any material collectibility or billing issues with our customers.

Net cash used by investing activities totaled \$0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003, compared to \$0.6 million of net cash used by investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2002. Cash used by investing activities during the first six months of 2003 and 2002 was primarily the result of the purchase of miscellaneous computer equipment. Net cash used by investing activities totaled \$1.0 million for 2002, compared to \$2.0 million of net cash used by investing activities for 2001. Cash used by investing activities during 2002 was primarily the result of the purchase of computer equipment and software licenses associated with the implementation of a new customer relationship management system and the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and intellectual property of printChannel, Inc. Cash used by investing activities in 2001 included payment for the license of a patent acquired in 2000, purchase of computer equipment and software, and the acquisition of technology-related assets of another business.

Net cash provided by financing activities was \$2.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003, compared to \$12.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2002. Cash provided by financing activities during the first six months of 2003 was primarily attributable to the exercise of the EFI stock option offset by debt repayments of \$1.1 million and repayment of the line of credit of \$2.0 million. Cash from financing activities in 2002 was primarily attributable to our initial public offering. The line of credit was subsequently closed after the repayment. Cash from financing activities in the first quarter of 2002 was

primarily attributable to the issuance of shares of our redeemable preferred stock, offset, in part, by debt origination costs. Net cash provided by financing activities was \$11.8 million for 2002, compared to \$13.3 million of net cash provided by financing activities for 2001. Cash from financing activities during 2002 was primarily attributable to our receipt of \$33.0 million in net proceeds from our initial public offering in June 2002 offset, in part, by debt repayments of \$17.8 million and principal prepayment fees of \$3.7 million. Cash from financing activities in 2001 was primarily attributable to the issuance of shares of our preferred stock, offset, in part, by the repayment of indebtedness.

We also have entered into a \$0.9 million commercial installment note with National City Bank, which is payable monthly and matures on July 1, 2004. Borrowings under the installment note bear interest, which is payable monthly, at the annual rate of 7.62%. As of June 30, 2003, the outstanding principal balance of this note was \$0.2 million. The installment note contains restrictive covenants, including a limitation on our ability to incur additional indebtedness or grant security interests in our assets, as well as requirements that we satisfy various financial conditions, including minimum tangible net worth and debt service coverage. As of June 30, 2003, we were not in compliance with the debt service coverage covenant of the installment note. We have received a waiver with respect to this default from National City Bank, which expires January 1, 2004. If we violate any of these financial covenants and are unable to obtain a waiver from National City Bank, then National City Bank could declare all amounts outstanding, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. Obligations under the installment note and line of credit are secured by all of our tangible and intangible personal property.

On February 13, 2003, we entered into an agreement with EFI for a standby credit facility in the amount of \$11.0 million plus a working capital facility, which will provide up to an additional \$3.0 million under certain circumstances. Under the terms of the standby credit facility, EFI is obligated to disburse up to \$11.0 million to us if amounts under our existing credit facilities become due and payable as a result of any action we take in order to facilitate the proposed business combination with EFI or other criteria. All loans made under this facility bear interest at the rate of 8% per annum payable on January 2, 2004. With certain exceptions, the maturity date would be accelerated if a business combination with EFI is not consummated on or before October 31, 2003 or upon the termination of the agreement. Subject to certain conditions, the credit facility also provides us with a working capital facility up to an aggregate amount of \$3.0 million to be disbursed in the event that, among other things, our cash balance as of the close of business on the date we give notice to EFI is less than \$1.0 million. We are obligated to use the proceeds of any exercise by EFI of the option agreement entered into on February 13, 2003 to pay down outstanding amounts under the standby credit facility. All loans under the working capital facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the prime rate as published, from time to time, by Citibank, plus two percent payable on the maturity date of the loans.

On May 31, 2002 and June 10, 2002, we executed agreements with a number of our debt holders to modify the terms of related-party debt, effective upon the completion of our initial public offering. An amendment to the promissory note issued to the former shareholders of M Data, Inc. dated as of May 31, 2002, provided for an increase in the principal amount of the note to \$4.2 million from \$4.0 million in return for a reduction in the annual interest rate to 8.0% from 12.0%. Principal payments are due in 24 equal monthly installments commencing January 2003. Interest is payable monthly and commenced in June 2002. Obligations under the note are secured by all of the intellectual property of our subsidiary, M Data, Inc.

An amendment to the credit agreement with Iris Graphics, dated as of June 10, 2002: (i) reduced the annual interest rate to a fixed rate of 4.0%; (ii) provided for the payment of a total of \$11.8 million of the outstanding principal balance of \$23.6 million at March 31, 2002 and all accrued and deferred interest upon the completion of our initial public offering; and (iii) eliminated the financial covenants. In return, we paid a \$3.7 million restructuring fee upon completion of the initial public offering. The \$11.8 million remaining principal balance is due in one installment on January 2, 2004. Interest is payable quarterly and commenced in June 2002. The agreement includes restrictive covenants customary for agreements of this type. If we fail to comply with these restrictive covenants, then the lender could declare all outstanding

amounts, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. Obligations under this agreement are secured by substantially all of our assets.

Under an amendment to the loan agreement with the former shareholders of Hagen Systems, dated as of June 10, 2002, we were not required to prepay \$2.0 million of the \$8.0 million otherwise due upon an initial public offering and the annual interest rate was reduced to 8.0%, in return for an increase of \$0.4 million to the remaining principal balance of the loan. The remaining principal amount due under the restructured agreement is \$2.4 million, which is due on January 2, 2004. Interest at an annual rate of 8.0% is payable monthly and commenced in June 2002. The agreement includes restrictive covenants customary for agreements of this type. If we fail to comply with these restrictive covenants, then the lender could declare all outstanding amounts, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. Obligations under this agreement are secured by substantially all of our assets.

We also have a license agreement with Creo which permits us to use some software owned by Creo in Web-based solutions we offer to printers. If the proposed merger with EFI is completed, Creo could terminate this license agreement. Creo must provide us with notice of its intention to terminate the license within 30 days after the consummation of the merger. The license would then terminate after the expiration of a 180-day transition period. During this 180-day transition period, the license fee we pay to Creo would increase from 10% to 25% of the revenue we generate from the sale of products using Creo s technology. During the six months ended June 30, 2003, we paid license fees to Creo of less than \$0.1 million. We believe the 180-day transition period will be sufficient for us or EFI to develop software which provides substantially similar functionality to the technology we license from Creo. Accordingly, we do not believe that Creo s termination of the license agreement or the increased license fee percentage would have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity in future periods.

We believe that, based on current levels of operations and anticipated growth, our cash from operations, together with cash currently available, will suffice to fund our operations through January 1, 2004. Poor financial results, unanticipated expenses or unanticipated opportunities that require financial commitments could give rise to additional financing requirements sooner than we expect. If we do not raise additional funds when we need them, we might have to delay, scale back or eliminate expenditures for expansion of our product plans and other strategic initiatives. If we do not complete the merger with EFI or complete a similar transaction with a third party, we do not expect to have sufficient cash to repay the \$14.2 million of our outstanding debt which becomes due and payable in January 2004 without securing additional debt or equity financing; we do not expect that additional debt or equity financing would be available to us. If we are unable to pay these amounts when due, the lenders could proceed against the collateral.

### Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

For each of the six months ended June 30, 2003 and the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, revenue from foreign customers approximated 15% of our total revenue. We have not had any material exposure to factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates in foreign markets. However, in future periods, we expect to increase sales in foreign markets, including Canada and Europe. As our sales are made in U.S. dollars, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar could cause our products to be less attractive in foreign markets. Most of our cash equivalents, short-term investments, and capital lease obligations are at fixed interest rates. Therefore, the fair value of these investments is affected by changes in the market interest rates. However, because our investment portfolio is primarily composed of investments in money market funds and high-grade commercial paper with short maturities, we do not believe an immediate 10% change in market interest rates would have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio. Therefore, we would not expect our operating results or cash flows to be affected to any significant degree by the effect of a sudden change in market interest rates on our investment portfolio.

### **Principal Stockholders**

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of September 3, 2003 by:

Each of our directors and executive officers;

all directors and executive officers as a group; and

each person who is known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock.

We have determined beneficial ownership in the table in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. To our knowledge, except as set forth in the footnotes below, each stockholder identified in the table possesses sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by such stockholder.

Percentage ownership calculations are based upon 12,873,708 shares of our common stock outstanding on September 3, 2003. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, we have deemed shares of common stock subject to options or warrants held by that person that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003 to be outstanding, but we have not deemed these shares to be outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

Except as otherwise noted, the address of each person listed in the table is c/o Printcafe Software, Inc., Forty 24th Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222.

	Beneficial Ownership		
Name	Number of Shares	Percentage of Class	
5% Stockholders			
Creo Inc.(1)	4,717,547	36.6%	
3700 Gilmore Way			
Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada			
V5G 4M1			
Mellon Ventures II, L.P.(2)	1,616,789	12.5	
c/o Mellon Ventures, Inc.			
One Mellon Center, Suite 5210			
Pittsburgh, PA 15228			
Electronics For Imaging, Inc.(3)	4,183,980	32.5	
303 Velocity Way			
Foster City, CA 94404			
J. & W. Seligman & Co. Incorporated(4)	714,300	5.5	
100 Park Avenue			
New York, NY 10004			
Directors and Executive Officers			
Marc D. Olin(5)	170,425	1.3	
Joseph J. Whang(6)	134,039	1.0	
Ronald F. Hyland, Sr.(7)	36,153	*	
Charles J. Billerbeck(8)	1,616,789	12.5	
Victor A. Cohn(9)	3,660	*	
Thomas J. Gill(10)	5,161	*	
Judi Hess(11)			
Amos Michelson(11)			
All directors and executive officers as a group (8 persons)(12)	1,966,227	15.0	

- (1) Includes 2,815,495 shares held of record by Creo SRL, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Creo Inc., and 18,588 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants issued to Creo SRL which are exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003. This share information is derived from a Schedule 13D/ A filed with the SEC on February 25, 2003.
- (2) Mellon Ventures II, L.P. is a majority-owned subsidiary of Mellon Financial Corp. The general partner of Mellon Ventures II, L.P. is MVMA II L.P., and the general partner of MVMA II L.P. is MVMA Inc. According to information provided by the stockholder, MVMA Inc. has delegated its dispositive powers with respect to the shares to Mellon Ventures, Inc. Includes 22,341 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003. The share information is derived from a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on June 28, 2002. Mellon Ventures II, L.P. has entered into a stockholder agreement with EFI pursuant to which Mellon has agreed to, among other things, vote in favor of (a) the adoption of the merger agreement, (b) the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and (c) approval of the merger. Additionally, Mellon granted EFI an irrevocable proxy with respect to matters addressed by the stockholder agreement.
- (3) Includes 1,957,406 shares with respect to which EFI has voting power in the merger pursuant to the terms of stockholder agreements with Mellon Ventures II, L.P. and three of our executive officers. Under the terms of the agreements, each stockholder agreed to, among other things, vote in favor of (a) the adoption of the merger agreement, (b) the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and (c) approval of the merger. Additionally, each stockholder granted EFI an irrevocable proxy with respect to matters addressed by the stockholder agreement.
- (4) J. & W. Seligman & Co. Incorporated is the investment advisor of Seligman New Technologies Fund II, Inc. The share information is derived from a Schedule 13G/A filed by J. & W. Seligman on November 12, 2002.
- (5) Includes 83,601 shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003. Mr. Olin has entered into a stockholders agreement with EFI pursuant to which Mr. Olin has agreed to, among other things, vote in favor of (a) the adoption of the merger agreement, (b) the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and (c) approval of the merger. Additionally, Mr. Olin granted EFI an irrevocable proxy with respect to matters addressed by the stockholders agreement.
- (6) Includes 66,288 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003. Mr. Whang has entered into a stockholders agreement with EFI pursuant to which Mr. Whang has agreed to, among other things, vote in favor of (a) the adoption of the merger agreement, (b) the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and (c) approval of the merger. Additionally, Mr. Whang granted EFI an irrevocable proxy with respect to matters addressed by the stockholders agreement.
- (7) Includes 24,008 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003. Mr. Hyland has entered into a stockholders agreement with EFI pursuant to which Mr. Hyland has agreed to, among other things, vote in favor of (a) the adoption of the merger agreement, (b) the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and (c) approval of the merger. Additionally, Mr. Hyland granted EFI an irrevocable proxy with respect to matters addressed by the stockholders agreement.
- (8) Consists of the 1,616,789 shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Mellon Ventures II, L.P. Mr. Billerbeck disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest in Mellon Ventures II, L.P. Mr. Billerbeck is a senior managing director of Mellon Ventures, Inc.
- (9) Consists of 3,660 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003.
- (10) Consists of 5,161 shares of our common stock issuable upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003.

- (11) Does not include 4,717,547 shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Creo Inc. Mr. Michelson is chief executive officer and a director of Creo, and Ms. Hess is an executive officer of Creo. Mr. Michelson and Ms. Hess disclaim beneficial ownership of these shares.
- (12) Includes 205,059 shares of our common stock issuable upon the exercise of options and warrants exercisable within 60 days of September 3, 2003.

#### **Price Range of Our Common Stock**

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol PCAF. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for each quarter since our initial public offering on June 18, 2002.

Year and Quarter	High	Low
2002:		
Second quarter (from June 18, 2002)	\$10.00	\$4.70
Third quarter	5.42	1.18
Fourth quarter	2.00	0.91
2003:		
First quarter	\$ 3.39	\$1.01
Second quarter	\$ 3.08	\$2.45
Third quarter (through September 3, 2003)	\$ 2.52	\$2.58

We have not paid and do not currently intend to pay any dividends on our common stock.

#### COMPARATIVE RIGHTS OF EFI STOCKHOLDERS AND OUR STOCKHOLDERS

We and EFI are both organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. Any differences in the rights of holders of our capital stock and holders of EFI capital stock arise primarily from differences between the companies—restated certificates of incorporation and bylaws. Upon completion of the merger, holders of our common stock that elect to receive their merger consideration in stock will become holders of EFI common stock and their rights will be governed by Delaware law, EFI s certificate of incorporation and EFI s bylaws.

This section does not include a complete description of all differences between the rights of these stockholders, nor does it include a complete description of the specific rights of these stockholders. In addition, the identification of some of the differences in the rights of these stockholders as material is not intended to indicate that other differences that are equally important do not exist. You are urged to read carefully the relevant provisions of Delaware law, as well as our and EFI s certificates of incorporation and bylaws. Copies of the forms of our and EFI s certificate of incorporation and bylaws are on file with the SEC. Copies of those documents will be sent to you upon request. See Where You Can Find More Information. The following table summarizes the differences between our and EFI s organizational documents.

Rights	EFI	Printcafe
Capitalization	150,000,000 shares of common stock. 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock.	100,000,000 shares of common stock. 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock.
Voting rights	One vote per common share. No cumulative voting. Preferred stock as determined by the board.	One vote per common share. No cumulative voting. Preferred stock as determined by the board.
	79	

Rights	EFI	Printcafe
	No preferred stock currently outstanding.	No preferred stock currently outstanding.
Number and election of directors	Seven members not divided into classes.	Seven members divided into three equal classes.
	Board of directors has the power to change	Board of directors has the power to change
	the size of the board.	the size of the board.
Vacancies on the board of directors	Vacancies filled by a majority of remaining	Vacancies filled by a majority of remaining
	directors.	directors.
	Removal by a majority vote.	Removal only for cause.
Power to call special meetings	May be called by a majority of the stockholders.	Denied to stockholders.
Action by written consent of stockholders	Stockholders may act by written consent.	Stockholders may not act by written consent.
Amendment of organizational documents	No supermajority provisions.	No supermajority provisions.
Stockholders rights plan	No.	Yes.
State anti-takeover statute	Governed by Section 203 of Delaware law.	Governed by Section 203 of Delaware law.
Advance notice of stockholder proposals	None.	120 day advance notice requirement for stockholder proposals.
Limitation on director liability	Directors liability limited to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.	Directors liability limited to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.
Indemnification of directors and officers	Indemnification of directors and officers provided to the fullest extent of Delaware law.	Indemnification of directors and officers provided to the fullest extent of Delaware law.

### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements of Printcafe Software, Inc. at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, included in this proxy statement-prospectus and in the related registration statement have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their report appearing elsewhere herein, and are included in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements of EFI incorporated in this proxy statement-prospectus by reference to EFI s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2002 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

#### LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of EFI common stock that may be issued pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement will be passed upon for EFI by Richards Layton & Finger P.A., Wilmington, Delaware.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements included in or incorporated by reference into this document may be forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words like anticipates, expects, intends, plans, believes, seeks, estimates or variation words and similar expressions are meant to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements,

including statements concerning EFI s or our expectations, strategic objectives, business prospects, anticipated economic performance, financial condition and other similar matters, including without limitation the matters discussed under the heading Risk Factors Relating to the Merger and in EFI s documents which are incorporated by reference under the heading Factors That Could Adversely Affect Performance are subject to risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of the documents in which they are made. We and EFI each disclaim any obligation or undertaking to provide any update or revision to any forward-looking statement made by it to reflect any change in our or EFI s expectations or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which the forward-looking statement is based. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.

#### SUBMISSION OF STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

We held our annual stockholders meeting in May 2003. In order to have a stockholder proposal considered for inclusion in the proxy statement for the 2003 annual meeting, we must have received the proposal no later than November 23, 2002. In addition, the proxy solicited by our board of directors for our 2003 annual meeting of stockholders conferred discretionary authority to vote on any stockholder proposal presented at that meeting, unless we received notice of the proposal no later than November 23, 2002. All stockholder proposals must be submitted in writing and must conform to SEC regulations and our bylaws. Stockholders submitting proposals were required to direct them to our corporate secretary at Forty 24th Street, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222, using certified mail-return receipt requested. We did not timely receive any stockholder proposals for our 2003 annual meeting.

#### WHERE TO FIND MORE INFORMATION

EFI has filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4 to register the shares of EFI s common stock to be offered and sold in connection with the merger. This document is a part of that registration statement. As permitted by the SEC this document is EFI s prospectus with respect to the offer and sale of shares of its common stock and our proxy statement with respect to the solicitation by our board of directors to be used at a special meeting of our stockholders to consider adoption of the merger agreement. As also permitted by the SEC, this document does not contain all of the information that is included in the registration statement or its exhibits.

We and EFI both file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information filed by either company, including EFI s registration statement related to the shares of common stock to be issued in connection with the merger, at the SEC s public reference room at 450 Fifth Street N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can obtain information about the SEC public reference room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. You can obtain more information about EFI and the shares of its common stock to be issued in connection with the merger by reviewing the registration statement, along with exhibits and schedules. Statements in this document regarding the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily complete and you should refer to the copies of those contracts or documents filed as exhibits to the registration statement. All statements in this document are qualified in all respects by reference to the complete text of those contracts and documents.

All information concerning EFI contained or incorporated by reference in this document has been furnished by EFI and we have furnished all information concerning Printcafe contained in this document.

Neither we nor EFI has authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different from what is contained in this document. You should not assume that the information contained in this document is accurate as of any date other than the date of this document, and neither the mailing of this document to stockholders nor the issuance of shares of EFI common stock in connection with the merger will create any other implication.

#### SOME DOCUMENTS ARE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows EFI to incorporate by reference information into this document. This means that EFI may disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this document, except for any information modified or superseded by information in or incorporated by reference in this document. This document incorporates by reference the documents listed below that EFI previously filed with the SEC. The documents contain important information about EFI and its financial affairs.

EFI s Filings with the SEC	Period/Date
Annual Report on Form 10-K/ A (File No. 0-18805)	Year ended December 31, 2002
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 0-18805)	Quarter ended March 31, 2003
Registration Statement on Form 8-A (File No. 0-18805)	Quarter ended June 30, 2003

EFI incorporates by reference into this document additional documents that it may file with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15 of the Securities Exchange Act between the date of this document and the date of the special meeting. These documents include periodic reports, like annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, as well as proxy statements.

You can obtain copies of the documents incorporated by reference from EFI or from the SEC or its web site as described above. Documents incorporated by reference are available from EFI without charge, excluding all exhibits unless an exhibit has been specifically incorporated by reference into this document. You may obtain documents incorporated by reference in this document by requesting them in writing or by telephone from EFI at the following address:

Electronics for Imaging, Inc.

303 Velocity Way Foster City, California 94044 Attention: Investor Relations (650) 357-3828

If you would like to request documents from EFI, please do so by October 7, 2003 to receive them before the special meeting.

82

## INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Printcafe Software, Inc.	
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2003	
(unaudited)	F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and six months ended	
June 30, 2002 and 2003 (unaudited)	F-3
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30,	
2002 and 2003 (unaudited)	F-4
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-5
Report of Independent Auditors	F-12
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001	F-13
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December	
2002, 2001 and 2000	F-14
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders (Deficit) Equity for	
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000	F-15
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31,	
2002, 2001 and 2000	F-18
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-19
Electronics For Imaging, Inc.	
Introductory Note to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined	
Financial Statements	F-45
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet as of June 30,	
2003	F-46
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations for	
the year ended December 31, 2002 and for the six months ended June 30,	
2003	F-47
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements	F-49

### PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

## CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	December 31, 2002	June 30, 2003	
		(Unaudited)	
ASSETS	(In thou	isands)	
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 8,775	\$ 6,982	
Accounts receivable, net	12,896	10,115	
Other current assets	1,361	1,576	
Since Carrein assets		1,5 / 0	
Total current assets	23,032	18,673	
Property and equipment, net	2,706	1,988	
Purchased technology, net	2,806	1,700	
Customer lists, net	2,487	272	
Goodwill	22,480	22,480	
Other intangibles, net	162	93	
Total assets	\$ 53,673	\$ 43,506	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOL	DERS EQUITY		
Current liabilities:			
Line of credit	\$ 2,000	\$	
Accounts payable	2,099	2,245	
Accrued compensation and related liabilities	1,470	2,054	
Accrued and other liabilities	1,221	1,350	
Deferred revenue	9,653	8,904	
Restructuring reserve	67	36	
Current portion of long term debt- related party, (net of Debt			
origination costs of \$1,764 at June 30, 2003)	2,100	14,486	
Current portion of long-term debt	326	228	
Current portion of capital lease obligations	33	10	
Total current liabilities	18,969	29,313	
Long-term debt- related party, (net of debt origination costs of			
\$3,507 at December 31, 2002)	12,745	1,050	
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)			
Stockholders equity:			
Common stock	1	1	
Additional paid-in capital	253,823	258,611	
Warrants	8,677	8,677	
Deferred compensation	(3,836)	(2,494)	
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:	(16)	(0.0)	
Foreign translation adjustment	(46)	(83)	
Retained deficit	(234,690)	(249,599)	
Treasury stock Notes receivable from stockholders	(1,930)	(1,930)	
inotes receivable from stockholders	(40)	(40)	
Total stockholders equity	21,959	13,143	

Total liabilities and stockholders equity

\$ 53,673

\$ 43,506

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-2

### PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

				onths Ended une 30,	
	2002	2003	2002	2003	
		(Una (In thousands, ex			
Revenue:					
License and subscription	\$ 5,671	\$ 2,391	\$ 11,284	\$ 4,955	
Maintenance	5,386	5,576	10,763	11,319	
Professional services and other	1,149	1,098	1,874	2,194	
Total revenue	12,206	9,065	23,921	18,468	
Cost of revenue:					
License and subscription	928	496	1,926	1,084	
Maintenance	1,296	1,215	2,605	2,469	
Professional services and other	499	421	873	855	
Total cost of revenue	2,723	2,132	5,404	4,408	
Gross profit	9,483	6,933	18,517	14,060	
Operating expenses:					
Sales and marketing	4,574	4,421	8,521	8,630	
Research and development	3,092	2,979	6,126	6,003	
General and administrative(1)	1,451	2,653	3,234	5,630	
Depreciation	707	286	1,470	879	
Amortization	7,392	43	14,780	5,133	
Stock-based compensation and warrants	334	102	537	483	
Total operating expenses	17,550	10,484	34,668	26,758	
Loss from operations	(8,067)	(3,551)	(16,151)	(12,698)	
Amortization of debt origination fees and other expense	(1,520)	(833)	(1,759)	(1,684)	
Interest expense, related party	(1,546)	(263)	(3,103)	(527)	
Net loss	(11,133)	(4,647)	(21,013)	(14,909)	
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock	(2,860)		(6,200)		
Net loss attributable to common stock	\$(13,993)	\$ (4,647)	\$(27,213)	\$(14,909)	
N. (1	Φ (0.00)	Φ (0.42)	ф. (21.60)	ф. (1.27°)	
Net loss per share, basic and diluted	\$ (9.00)	\$ (0.42)	\$ (31.68)	\$ (1.37)	
Weighted average shares used to compute basic and diluted loss per share	1,555	11,153	859	10,896	

(1)	Amounts	exclude	stock-based	compensation	as follows
` /				1	

General and administrative	334	102	537	483

# PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Six Months Ended June 30,

	June	30,
	2002	2003
	(Unaudited, in	n thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:	Ф (21 012)	Φ (1.4.000)
Net loss	\$ (21,013)	\$(14,909)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	16,251	6.012
Provision for doubtful accounts	6	642
Write-down of stockholder note principal	197	042
Stock-based compensation	537	483
Interest on note receivable from stockholders	(13)	103
Interest accretion on related party debt discount	1,572	1,743
Changes in assets and liabilities:	1,572	1,7 13
Accounts receivable	(4,453)	2,139
Other assets	(86)	(297)
Accounts payable	(419)	146
Accrued liabilities	(1,073)	713
Restructuring reserve	(262)	(31)
Deferred revenue	412	(749)
Beteffed feveride		
Net cash used in operating activities	(8,344)	(4,108)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:		
Purchases of property, plant and equipment	(640)	(161)
Net cash used in investing activities	(640)	(161)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:	,	
Principal payments on debt related party	(17,800)	(1,050)
Principal payments on debt	(66)	(98)
Repayment on line of credit	, ,	(2,000)
Principal payments on capital lease obligations	(42)	(23)
Net proceeds from initial public offering	32,950	, ,
Issuance of redeemable preferred stock	755	
Proceeds from note receivable repayment by stockholder	56	
Debt origination costs	(188)	
Payment of debt restructuring fee to related party	(3,700)	
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	, , ,	5,532
Proceeds from issuance of stock under employee stock purchase plan		115
Net cash provided by financing activities	11,965	2,476
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	2,981	(1,793)
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period	8,648	8,775
Cash and cash equivalents end of period	11,629	6,982
NON CARLINIVECTING AND FINANGING ACTIVITIES		
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:	\$ 5.176	\$
Deferred compensation Accretion of preferred stock	,	φ
Accretion of preferred stock	6,201	

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock upon initial public offering

139,529

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-4

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### (UNAUDITED)

#### 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Printcafe Software, Inc. is a leading provider of software solutions designed specifically for the printing industry supply chain. Our enterprise resource planning and collaborative supply chain software solutions enable printers and print buyers to lower costs and improve productivity. Our procurement applications, which are designed for print buyers, facilitate collaboration between printers and print buyers over the Web. Our software solutions have been installed by more than 4,000 customers in over 8,000 facilities worldwide, including 24 of the 25 largest printing companies in North America and over 50 businesses in the Fortune 1000.

On February 26, 2003, we entered into a merger agreement with Electronics for Imaging, Inc., or EFI. If the merger is completed, Printcafe would become a wholly-owned subsidiary of EFI. Under the terms of the merger agreement, each share of our common stock will be converted into \$2.60 of consideration which will be paid, at the election of each of our stockholders, in shares of EFI s common stock or cash. EFI s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol EFII. Our board of directors has approved the merger with EFI and has called a special meeting of our stockholders to vote on the merger. The merger will be adopted if the holders of a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock vote for the proposed merger with EFI.

#### Liquidity

The Company believes that, based on current levels of operations and anticipated growth, cash from operations, together with cash currently available, will suffice to fund our operations through January 1, 2004. Poor financial results, unanticipated expenses or unanticipated opportunities that require financial commitments could give rise to additional financing requirements sooner than the Company expected. If the Company does not raise additional funds when needed, expenditures for expansion of product plans and other strategic initiatives might have to be delayed, scaled back or eliminated. If the Company does not complete the merger with EFI or complete a similar transaction with a third party, the Company does not expect to have sufficient cash to repay the \$14,200 outstanding debt which becomes due and payable in January 2, 2004 without securing additional debt or equity financing. It is not expected that additional debt or equity financing would be available. If the Company is unable to pay these amounts when due, the lenders could proceed against the collateral. Should the merger with EFI not be successful, there is uncertainty as to the Company sability to continue as a going concern through the year ending December 31, 2004.

The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of assets or the amount and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The Company s continued existence is dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient cash flows from equity financing and successfully concluding additional license agreements.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

## Interim Basis of Presentation

The Company s financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries after the elimination of all significant intercompany balances and transactions. Amounts within

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

the financial statements and footnote disclosures have been recorded in thousands except for the share and per share data.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2003, and for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively, are unaudited. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the annual consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal, recurring accruals necessary to state fairly the Company s financial position as of June 30, 2003, and the results of operations and cash flows for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively. These consolidated financial statements and notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the Company s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in its Form 10K, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 21, 2003. The results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the expected results for any other interim period or the year ending December 31, 2003. The amounts included in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002 were derived from our audited financial statements.

#### Revenue Recognition

The Company s revenue recognition policy is governed by Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). The Company derives its revenues from licenses and subscriptions for its products as well as from the provision of related services, including installation and training, consulting, customer support, and maintenance contracts. Revenues are recognized only if persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, delivery has occurred, all significant vendor obligations are satisfied, the fee is fixed, determinable, and collectible and there is vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) to support the allocation of the total fee to a multi-element arrangement. The Company does not have VSOE for the license component or the fixed price installation component and these have historically been sold bundled together with post-contract support. Therefore, the Company follows the residual method as outlined in SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions, under which revenue is allocated to the undelivered elements and the residual amounts of revenue are allocated to the delivered elements. Many of the Company s agreements include warranty provisions. Historically, these provisions have not had a significant impact on the Company s revenue recognition. In those instances where customer acceptance may be in question, all revenue relating to that arrangement is deferred until the warranty period has expired. Additional revenue recognition criteria by revenue type are listed below.

## License and Subscription Revenue

License and subscription revenue includes fees for perpetual licenses and periodic subscriptions. The Company recognizes revenues on license fees after a license agreement has been signed, the product has been delivered, the fee is fixed, determinable and collectible, and there is VSOE to support the allocation of the total fee to a multielement arrangement (if applicable). If VSOE cannot be obtained for certain elements of the contract, the Company recognizes revenue using the residual method under which revenue is allocated to the undelivered elements and the residual amounts of revenue are allocated to the delivered elements. The Company recognizes revenues on periodic subscriptions over the subscription term for unlimited subscriptions and based on the value of orders processed for its customers through the system for limited subscriptions. Revenue is recognized for subscription orders processed through resellers over the subscription term of the underlying agreement, beginning upon installation.

#### Maintenance Revenue

Maintenance revenue is derived from the sale of maintenance and support contracts, which provide customers with the right to receive maintenance releases of the licensed products and access to customer support staff. Maintenance revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract, which

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

is typically one year. Payments for maintenance revenue are normally received in advance and are nonrefundable.

#### Professional Services and Other Revenue

Professional services and other revenue are derived from variable fees for installation, training, and consulting. Revenue for professional services such as installation and training, system integration projects, and consulting is primarily recognized as the services are performed. If these services are part of a multielement contract under which VSOE cannot be obtained for certain elements, they may be deferred either until acceptance of any related software or over the license period.

#### Fair Value of Financial Instruments

For certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities, recorded amounts approximate fair value due to the relative short maturity period. On May 31, 2002 and June 10, 2002, the Company entered into new agreements for its related party debt. As a result, the carrying amount of this debt approximates market value as of June 30, 2003. The carrying amount of the line of credit approximates market value because it has an interest rate that varies with market interest rates. The fair values of the obligations under capital leases are estimated based on current interest rates available to the Company for debt instruments with similar terms, degrees of risk, and remaining maturities. The carrying values of these obligations approximate their respective fair values. The estimated fair values may not be representative of the actual values of these financial instruments that could have been realized as of the period end or that will be realized in the future.

#### Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants

Effective December 2002, the Company adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure (SFAS No. 148), which is consistent with the Company s utilization of the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123). The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to non-employees and pursuant to strategic alliance arrangements in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor s Product.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and loss per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to employee stock-based awards:

	Three Mon June		Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2002	2003	2002	2003		
	(In	thousands, exc	ept per share dat	a)		
Reported net loss attributable to common stock	\$13,993	\$4,647	\$27,213	\$14,909		
Eliminate: Stock-based compensation expense						
included in reported net loss	334	102	537	483		
Apply: Total stock-based compensation income (expense) determined under fair value method for all						
awards	(1,698)	760	(2,920)	16		
Pro Forma net loss	15,357	3,785	29,596	14,410		
Basic and diluted loss per share:						
Basic and diluted, as reported	(9.00)	(0.42)	(31.68)	(1.37)		
Basic and diluted, pro forma	(9.88)	(0.34)	(34.45)	(1.32)		
Basic and diluted, as reported	` /	` ′	` /			

The stock-based compensation income is a result of forfeitures upon termination of nonvested options.

#### Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Variable Interest Entities

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. This Interpretation applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that is acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company does not believe the provisions of this Interpretation Standard will have an impact on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

#### Financial Instruments

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (SFAS No. 150). The Statement improves the accounting for certain financial instruments that, under previous guidance, issuers could account for as equity. The new Statement requires those instruments be classified as liabilities in statements of financial position. SFAS No. 150 also requires disclosures about alternative ways of settling financial instruments and the capital structure of entities whose shares are mandatorily redeemable. Most of the guidance in SFAS No. 150 is effective for all financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company does not believe the provisions of this Statement will have an impact on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

#### 2. Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share have been computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Potential common shares issuable upon conversion of convertible preferred stock and exercise of stock options and warrants are excluded from historical diluted net loss per share because they would be antidilutive. At June 30, 2002 and 2003, 1,596,855 and 1,426,254 potential common shares, respectively, are excluded from the determination of diluted net loss per share, as the effect of such shares is antidilutive.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

	Three Mon June			ths Ended e 30,
	2002	2003	2002	2003
		(In thousands, ex	cept per share data	a)
Numerator:				
Net loss	\$(11,133)	\$ (4,647)	\$(21,013)	\$(14,909)
Preferred stock accretion	(2,860)		(6,200)	
Net loss attributable to common stock	(13,993)	(4,647)	(27,213)	(14,909)
Denominator:				
Weighted average shares	1,555	11,153	859	10,896
Basic and diluted net loss per share	\$ (9.00)	\$ (0.42)	\$ (31.68)	\$ (1.37)

#### 3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Intangible assets and purchased technology are related mainly to the business acquisitions consummated in early 2000. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (generally three years) of the remaining assets and consists of the following at December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2003:

	December 31, 2002	June 30, 2003
Customer list	\$ 42,713	\$ 42,713
Purchased technology	44,023	44,023
Patent	2,065	2,107
Goodwill	58,730	58,730
	147,531	147,573
Less: accumulated amortization	(119,596)	(124,728)
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net	\$ 27,935	\$ 22,845

The Company previously adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which prohibits companies from amortizing goodwill and instead requires annual impairment testing of the goodwill. As a result, beginning January 1, 2002, the Company no longer amortizes goodwill. As of the adoption date, December 31, 2002 and June 30, 2003, the unamortized balance of goodwill was \$22,480. Goodwill is subject to annual impairment testing.

The Company previously adopted SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, which requires the Company to review its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be recoverable. No impairment charge has been recorded in any periods presented.

#### 4. Initial Public Offering

In June 2002, the Company issued 3,750,000 shares of its common stock at a price of \$10.00 per share in its initial public offering. The Company received approximately \$33,000 in proceeds, net of underwriting discounts, commissions, and offering expenses. Simultaneously with the closing of the initial public offering, each outstanding share of preferred stock was automatically converted into common stock based on the applicable conversion ratio. In connection with the offering, the Company repaid approximately \$17,800 of related party debt.

## 5. Commitments and Contingencies

On February 19, 2003, Creo Inc. commenced an action in The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County captioned Creo, Inc. v. Printcafe Software, Inc., Electronics For Imaging, Inc. (EFI), Marc D. Olin, Charles J. Billerbeck, Victor A. Cohn and Thomas J. Gill. Creo requested a temporary restraining order with respect to (a) triggering, exercising or otherwise giving effect to

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

the stockholders rights plan adopted by the Company, (b) enforcing any action taken or to be taken by the Company with the intent or effect of impeding the operation of market forces in an open bidding contest for Printcafe, (c) taking any steps or actions to enforce the fee provided for in a letter agreement the Company entered into with EFI, (d) taking any steps or any actions to enforce an option the Company granted to EFI, (e) taking any steps or actions to enforce the no solicitation provisions of the standby credit letter that the Company entered into with EFI, (f) engaging in any conduct intended to cause or having the effect of causing Printcafe to forgo the opportunity to explore and enter into economically more favorable transactions and (g) entering into, or purporting to enter into, a merger agreement between EFI and the Company before the court finally rules on the action. On February 21, 2003 the court denied Creo s request for a temporary restraining order. The matter is still pending in the Delaware Chancery Court with respect to the other relief sought by Creo. The Company believes that the lawsuit is completely without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself. If this lawsuit is resolved unfavorably to the Company, its business and financial condition could be adversely affected and it may not be able to complete the merger.

On June 25,2003 a securities class action complaint was filed against the Company, Marc Olin, President and Chief Executive Officer, and Joseph Whang, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer, in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania. The complaint alleges that the defendants violated Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 due to allegedly false and misleading statements in connection with the Company s initial public offering and subsequent press releases. The Company believes that the lawsuit is completely without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself. To date, the Company has not been required to file a response to the complaint and has not done so. In light of the early stage of this proceeding, the Company cannot predict with certainty the likely outcome of the action or the likely value of any of the related claims.

The Company is involved in disputes and litigation in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition, or results of operations. The Company has accrued for estimated losses in the accompanying financial statements for those matters where it believes that the likelihood that a loss has occurred is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable. Although management currently believes the outcome of other outstanding legal proceedings, claims, and litigation involving the Company will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, or results of operations, litigation is inherently uncertain and there can be no assurance that existing or future litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition, or results of operations.

#### 6. Comprehensive Loss

The components of the Company s comprehensive loss for each period presented are as follows:

	Three Mon June		Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2002	2003	2002	2003		
Net loss	\$(11,133)	\$(4,647)	\$(21,013)	\$(14,909)		
Foreign currency translation adjustments	<del></del>	(61)	6	(37)		
Comprehensive loss	\$(11,126)	\$(4,708)	\$(21,007)	\$(14,946)		

#### 7. Line of Credit and Long-Term Debt

On February 13, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with EFI for a standby credit facility in the amount of \$11,000 plus a working capital facility which will provide up to an additional \$3,000 under certain circumstances. Under the terms of the standby credit facility, EFI is obligated to disburse up to \$11,000 to the Company in the event that certain amounts under the Company s existing credit facilities become due and payable as a result of any action taken by the Company in order to facilitate the proposed business combination with EFI or certain other criteria. All loans made under this facility bear interest at the rate of 8% per annum payable on January 2, 2004. With certain exceptions, the maturity date would be

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

accelerated if a business combination with EFI is not consummated on or before October 31, 2003 or upon the termination of the agreement. Subject to certain conditions, the credit facility also provides the Company with a working capital facility up to an aggregate amount of \$3,000 to be disbursed in the event that, among other things, the Company s cash balance as of the close of business on the date notice is given by the Company is less than \$1,000. The Company is obligated to use the proceeds of any exercise by EFI of the option agreement entered into on February 13, 2003 to pay down outstanding amounts under the standby credit facility. All loans under the working capital facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the prime rate as published, from time to time, by Citibank, plus two percent payable on the maturity date of the loans.

In June 2003, the Company repaid the entire amount outstanding of \$2,000 on its line of credit with National City Bank. After repayment, this facility was closed by the Company and National City Bank.

As of June 30, 2003, the Company had a total of \$1,764 of unamortized deferred interest and debt discount fees, which are reflected within the short-term debt related-party section of the Company s balance sheet.

### 8. Non-Cash Deferred Stock-Based Compensation

In February 2002, the Company s board of directors adopted the 2002 Key Executive Stock Incentive Plan. The Company reserved 766,520 shares of common stock for grants under the plan. During fiscal year 2002, the Company granted options to purchase 766,520 shares of common stock with an exercise price of \$4.21 per share. In March 2002, the Company s board of directors adopted the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan. The Company has reserved 765,765 shares of common stock for grants under the plan. In April 2002, the Company granted options to purchase 381,603 shares of common stock, with an exercise price of \$15.54 per share, to certain employees. In June 2002, the Company granted an additional 92,910 options to purchase common stock at an exercise price of \$2.00 per share. These option grants, adjusted for any terminations and forfeitures during the period, resulted in \$102 and \$483 in non-cash stock compensation for the three and six months ended June 30, 2003, respectively.

## 9. Stock Option

On February 13, 2003, the Company entered into a stock option agreement with EFI granting them an option to purchase up to 2,126,574 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price equal to \$2.60 per share. Subject to certain conditions, the option shares must be repurchased by the Company, at the request of EFI, at a price equal to the aggregate purchase price paid for such shares by EFI. In addition, subject to certain conditions, the Company may repurchase from EFI the option shares at a price equal to the price paid by EFI for those shares. In June 2003, EFI exercised this option and the Company received \$5,529 in exchange for 2,126,574 shares of its common stock.

#### REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

Printcafe Software, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Printcafe Software, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2002 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Printcafe Software, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 and 2002 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania March 10, 2003

F-12

# PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

		Dece	ember 31	,
		2001		2002
		(In tl	nousand	s)
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of \$570 at December 31, 2001, and \$470 at	\$	8,648	\$	8,775
December 31, 2002		7,146		12,896
Other current assets		1,897		1,361
Other current assets	_	1,077		1,501
Total current assets	_	17,691		23,032
Property and equipment, net		4,699		2,706
Purchased technology, net		17,078		2,806
Customer lists, net		16,725		2,487
Goodwill, net		22,480		22,480
Other intangibles, net		830		162
other intangioles, net		050		102
Total assets	\$	79,503	\$	5 53,673
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS (DEFICIT) EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Line of credit	\$	2,000	\$	2,000
Accounts payable		2,492		2,099
Accrued compensation and related taxes		1,047		1,470
Accrued and other liabilities		3,292		1,221
Deferred revenue		9,109		9,653
Restructuring reserve		487		67
Current portion of long-term debt-related party				2,100
Current portion of long-term debt		184		326
Current portion of capital lease obligations		65		33
	_			
Total current liabilities	_	18,676		18,969
Long-term debt-related party, net of debt origination costs of \$2,561 at December 31, 2001, and \$3,507 at December 31,				
2002)		33,039		12,743
Long-term debt		326		
Obligations under capital leases		34		
Stock purchase plan		125		2
Redeemable preferred stock		132,676		
Stockholders (deficit) equity:				
Series A convertible preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value; 2,455,798 shares authorized at December 31, 2001 and no shares authorized at December 31, 2002; 2,455,798 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and no shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002				
Series A-1 convertible preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value;		1		

10,090,707 shares authorized at December 31, 2001 and

no shares authorized at December 31, 2002; 9,815,249 shares issued at December 31, 2001 and no shares issued at December 31, 2002; 9,609,558 shares outstanding at December 31, 2001 and no shares outstanding at

December 31, 2002		
Class A common stock, \$.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002; 162,970 and 10,643,608 shares issued at		
December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002, respectively;		
156,548, and 10,632,877 shares outstanding at		
December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002, respectively		1
Additional paid-in capital	76,095	253,823
Warrants	8,651	8,677
Deferred compensation	(100)	(3,836)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:		
Foreign translation adjustment	(50)	(46)
Retained deficit	(187,692)	(234,690)
Treasury stock, 6,422 and 10,731 shares of common stock		
at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002,		
respectively, 205,691 and no shares of Series A-1		
convertible preferred stock at December 31, 2001 and		
December 31, 2002, respectively	(1,808)	(1,930)
Notes receivable from stockholders	(470)	(40)
Total stockholders (deficit) equity	(105,373)	21,959
Total stockholders (deficit) equity	(100,070)	
	¢ 70.502	e 52.672
Total liabilities and stockholders (deficit) equity	\$ 79,503	\$ 53,673

See accompanying notes.

# PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

# Years Ended December 31,

			- ,
	2000	2001	2002
	(In th	ousands except per sh	are data)
Revenue:			
License and subscription	\$ 8,880	\$ 18,103	\$ 21,119
Maintenance	15,239	20,601	21,701
Professional services and other	1,215	3,164	3,701
Total revenue	25,334	41,868	46,521
Cost of revenue:			
License and subscription	2,684	3,936	3,650
Maintenance	7,337	6,088	5,091
Professional services and other	637	1,572	1,636
Total cost of revenue	10,658	11,596	10,377
Gross profit	14,676	30,272	36,144
Operating expenses: Sales and marketing (exclusive of warrant expense of \$3,841, \$1,054 and \$26 for the years ended December 31,			
2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively)	20,542	19.114	16,989
Research and development	11,307	12,180	12,003
General and administrative (exclusive of stock-based compensation expense of \$866, \$49 and \$1,360 for the years			
ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively)	24,525	7,645	6,193
Depreciation	2,060	3,821	2,922
Amortization	39,481	49,052	29,511
Stock-based compensation and warrants	5,144	1,103	1,386
Restructuring charge	1,185	2,098	525
Total operating expenses	104,244	95,013	69,529
Loss from operations	(89,568)	(64,741)	(33,385)
Other income (expense):			
Amortization of debt origination fees related party			(3,300)
Interest income (expense), net	336	127	(55)
Interest expense related party	(6,253)	(5,434)	(3,588)
Other	(233)	45	(469)
Total other expense	(6,150)	(5,262)	(7,412)
Net loss	(95,718)	(70,003)	(40,797)
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock	(4,858)	(5,635)	(6,201)
Received of redecinable preferred stock	(4,030)	(3,033)	(0,201)
let loss attributable to common stock	\$(100,576)	\$ (75,638)	\$ (46,998)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted	\$ (687.66)	\$ (468.67)	\$ (8.11)
	146,258	161,390	5,796,658

Weighted average shares used to compute basic and diluted loss per share

See accompanying notes.

F-14

# PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS (DEFICIT) EQUITY

	Series Prefer		Series Prefei		Com	mon ck	Class A Common Stock	Class C Common Stock	<sup>1</sup> Additiona - Paid-in		cumula Other	ted ns <b>Re</b> tained		Notes Receivable from		
	Shares	moui	nShares	mou	<b>S</b> har <b>é</b>	smout	Sharesmou	SiharAsmo				_	Deficit		ockholders	Total
									(In the	usands)						
Balance at December 31,									(III tillo	usunus)						
1999 Reclassification	2,456	\$	9,725	\$1	58	\$	\$	\$	\$18,055	\$	\$	\$	\$ (11,478)	\$	\$(1,721) \$	4,857
of common stock					(58)		58									
Repurchase of 190,948 shares of Series A-1					(50)		30									
preferred stock Issuance of														(1,107)		(1,107)
common stock for acquisitions							79		43,571							43,571
Issuance of common stock							4	17	11,928							11,928
Issuance of common stock							·	-,	11,520							11,520
for services Exercise of							5		1,174							1,174
stock options			31						40							40
Sale of stock to 401(k) plan			53						306							306
Accretion of 401(k) plan									(229)	)						(229)
Repurchase of 14,653 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock																
from 401(k) plan														(59)		(59)
Stock-based compensation									1,015		(1,015)					
Amortization of stock-based											866					966
compensation Issuance of warrants										6,220	800					6,220
Interest on note										0,220					(06)	
receivable Repayment of note receivable,															(86)	(86)
net of interest															335	335
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock													(4,858)			(4,858)
Net loss													(95,718)			(95,718)
Foreign currency translation												(22)				(22)
adjustment												(33)				(33)
Total comprehensive loss																(95,751)

Balance at December 31, 2000	2,456	9,809	1	146	17	75,860	6,220	(149)	(33)	(112,054)	(1,166)	(1,472)	(32,793)
					F-	15							

# PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS (DEFICIT) EQUITY (Continued)

	Series A	Series A-1		Class A	Class C			Acc	umula	ted		Notes	
	Preferred	Preferred	Common Stock	Common Stock	Common Stock	Additiona	ıl		Other		R	eceivable	
	Sharesamou	nSharesAmou	SiltarAemouri	iltarænourfihares moursharæsmour						s <b>Re</b> tained Deficit		from ockholders	Total
						(In thou	isands)						
Reclassification of common stock	\$	\$	\$	17 \$	(17) \$		\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ \$	
Issuance of common stock as legal settlement	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	Ι, ψ	(17)	15	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	Ψ	15
Exercise of warrants for redeemable preferred stock							(2,283)						(2,283)
Repurchase of 6,422 shares of common stock											(642)		(642)
Interest on notes receivable												(110)	(110)
Exercise of stock options		7				11							11
Accretion of 401(k) plan						209							209
Amortization of stock-based compensation								49					49
Issuance of warrants							4,714						4,714
Repayment (issuance) of note receivable							,					1,112	1,112
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock										(5,635)			(5,635)
Net loss Foreign currency translation										(70,003)			(70,003)
adjustment									(17)				(17)
Total comprehensive loss													(70,020)
Balance at December 31, 2001	2,456	9,816 1		163		76,095	8,651	(100)	(50)	(187,692)	(1,808)	(470)	(105,373)
		•			F	-16	•		, ,	,			,
					•	-							

# PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS (DEFICIT) EQUITY (Continued)

	Series A	Series A	1		Class A		Class C			Ac	cumula	ted	Notes		
	Preferre	d Preferr		mmon tock	Commo	on (	Common Stock	n Additional	I		Other		R	eceivable	
	SharesAn	oun&haresAı						Paid-in ntCapital	Warrand			ns <b>Re</b> tained Deficit		from ockholder	sTotal
								(In thous	ands)						
Interest on note receivable		\$	\$	\$		\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	¢ (10) ¢	(10)
Valuation		Þ	Ф	Ф		Ф	Ф	Ф	Þ	Þ	Ф	Ф	Ф	\$ (18) \$	(18)
adjustment to shareholder															
notes receivable Stock-based														393	393
compensation, net of forfeitures								5,096		(5,096)					
Amortization of								-,		(=,::=)					
stock-based compensation,															
net of forfeitures										1,360					1,360
Repayment of note receivable														55	55
Accretion of															
redeemable preferred stock												(6,201)			(6,201)
Repurchase of												(0,201)			(0,201)
1,222 shares of common stock															
from															
401(k) plan								122					(122)		
Issuance of warrants									26						26
Conversion of															
preferred stock into common															
stock at IPO	(2,456)	(9,816)	(1)		6,692	1		139,530							139,530
Issuance of															
common stock for IPO					3,750			32,935							32,935
Issuance of															
shares in employee stock															
purchase plan					38			45							45
Net loss Foreign												(40,797)			(40,797)
currency															
translation											4				4
adjustment											4				4
Total															
comprehensive															(40.500)
loss						_									(40,793)
Balance at															
December 31,		ф	Φ.		10.615		_	0.050.00	A 0 = .		<b></b>	A (22 : 525	A (4 2 2 2 2 )	<b>6</b> / <b>4 2</b> · ·	24.650
2002		\$	\$ <b>—</b>	\$	10,643	\$1	\$	\$253,823	\$8,677	\$ (3,836)	\$(46)	\$(234,690)	\$(1,930)	\$ (40) \$	21,959

# PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Voore	Fnded	December	31

	rears Ended December 31,		
	2000	2001	2002
		(In thousands)	
Cash flows from operating activities:		· /	
Net loss	\$(95,718)	\$(70,003)	\$(40,797)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in			
operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	41,541	52,873	32,433
Provision for doubtful accounts	935	576	592
Valuation adjustment to stockholder note receivable			393
Common stock issued for services	1,174	15	
Issuance of warrants	6,220	2,431	26
Stock-based compensation	866	49	1,360
Interest expense on note receivable from stockholders	(86)	(110)	(18)
Interest accretion on related party debt discount	,	` ′	3,300
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from			- ,
acquisition of business:			
Accounts receivable	520	(1,642)	(6,353)
Receivables from related parties	335	(-,)	(0,000)
Other assets	138	(237)	536
Accounts payable	665	(3,114)	(393)
Accrued liabilities	1,796	(115)	(1,645)
Restructuring reserve	638	(151)	(420)
Deferred revenue	1,256	1,565	337
Beteffed to vehice	1,230	1,505	331
AT	(20.720)	(15.0(2)	(10.640)
Net cash used in operating activities	(39,720)	(17,863)	(10,649)
Cash flows from investing activities:	(22.505)		(207)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired	(23,705)	(640)	(307)
Issuance of note receivable to management		(642)	
Proceeds from notes receivable repayment by stockholder		1,112	55
Intellectual property acquisition costs	(1,200)	(950)	
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment	(5,100)	(1,539)	(734)
Net cash used in investing activities	(30,005)	(2,019)	(986)
Cash flows from financing activities:	(==,===)	(=,00)	(,,,,,
Proceeds from debt related party		23,600	
Principal payments on debt related party	(3,920)	(30,099)	(17,800)
Principal payments on debt	(891)	(170)	(184)
Net proceeds from line of credit	1,500	(170)	(10.)
Principal payments on capital lease obligations	(238)	(268)	(66)
Repurchase of employee stock under 401(k) plan	(200)	(200)	(122)
Proceeds from issuance of shares under employee stock			(122)
purchase plan			45
Repurchase of common and preferred stock	(1,166)		
Issuance of common stock	12,234		32,935
Net proceeds from bridge loans	15,000		,
Issuance of redeemable preferred stock	62,372	20,527	654
Debt origination costs related party	,- · -	(277)	(3,700)
Exercise of stock options	40	11	(5,700)
Nat each provided by financing activities	QA 021	13 224	11 760
Net cash provided by financing activities	84,931	13,324	11,762

15,206	(6,558)	127
	15,206	8,648
\$ 15,206	\$ 8,648	\$ 8,775
\$ 4,571	\$ 4,713	\$ 3,500
411		
43,571		
	2,283	
4,858	5,635	6,201
229	(209)	
	642	
	\$ 15,206 \$ 4,571 411 43,571 4,858	\$ 15,206 \$ 15,206 \$ 8,648 \$ 4,571 \$ 4,713 411 43,571 2,283 4,858 5,635 229 (209)

See accompanying notes.

F-18

#### PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1. Business and Significant Accounting Policies

#### Nature of business

Printcafe Software, Inc. (the Company) provides software solutions designed specifically for the printing industry supply chain. The Company s procurement applications, which are designed for print buyers, integrate with its software solutions designed for printers, and facilitate collaboration between printers and print buyers over the Web. The Company s enterprise resource planning and collaborative supply chain software solutions are designed to enable printers and print buyers to lower costs and improve productivity.

#### Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries after the elimination of all significant intercompany balances and transactions. Amounts within the financial statements and footnote disclosures have been recorded in thousands except for the share and per share data.

#### Revenue recognition

The Company s revenue recognition policy is governed by Statement of Position (SOP) 97-2, *Software Revenue Recognition*, issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). The Company derives its revenues from licenses and subscriptions for its products as well as from the provision of related services, including installation and training, consulting, customer support, and maintenance contracts. Revenues are recognized only if persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, delivery has occurred, all significant vendor obligations are satisfied, the fee is fixed, determinable, and collectible and there is vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) to support the allocation of the total fee to a multi-element arrangement. The Company does not have VSOE for the license component or the fixed price installation component and these have historically been sold bundled together with post-contract support. Therefore, the Company follows the residual method as outlined in SOP 98-9, *Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions*, under which revenue is allocated to the undelivered elements and the residual amounts of revenue are allocated to the delivered elements. Many of the Company s agreements include warranty provisions. Historically, these provisions have not had a significant impact on the Company s revenue recognition. In those instances where customer acceptance may be in question, all revenue relating to that arrangement is deferred until the warranty period has expired. Additional revenue recognition criteria by revenue type are listed below.

#### License and subscription revenue

License and subscription revenue includes fees for perpetual licenses and periodic subscriptions. The Company recognizes revenues on license fees after a license agreement has been signed, the product has been delivered, the fee is fixed, determinable and collectible, and there is VSOE to support the allocation of the total fee to a multielement arrangement (if applicable). If VSOE cannot be obtained for certain elements of the contract, the Company recognizes revenue using the residual method under which revenue is allocated to the undelivered elements and the residual amounts of revenue are allocated to the delivered elements. The Company recognizes revenues on periodic subscriptions over the subscription term for unlimited subscriptions and based on the value of orders processed for its customers through the system for limited subscriptions. Revenue is recognized for subscription orders processed through resellers over the subscription term of the underlying agreement, beginning upon installation.

#### Maintenance revenue

Maintenance revenue is derived from the sale of maintenance and support contracts, which provide customers with the right to receive maintenance releases of the licensed products and access to customer

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

support staff. Maintenance revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract, which is typically one year. Payments for maintenance revenue are normally received in advance and are nonrefundable.

#### Professional services and other revenue

Professional services and other revenue is derived from variable fees for installation, training, and consulting. Revenue for professional services such as installation and training, system integration projects, and consulting is primarily recognized as the services are performed. If these services are part of a multielement contract under which VSOE cannot be obtained for certain elements, they may be deferred either until acceptance of any related software or over the license period.

#### Shipping and handling costs

Shipping and handling costs are expensed as incurred and are included in license and subscription cost of revenue.

#### Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and interest-bearing money market deposits with financial institutions having original maturities of 90 days or less. The balance at December 31, 2001 included approximately \$7,200 of cash received on January 2, 2002 in connection with the issuance of Series F preferred stock (Note 12). Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value. The amounts held by major financial institutions may exceed the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. These deposits may generally be redeemed upon demand and, therefore, are subject to minimal risk.

#### Fair value of financial instruments

For certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities, recorded amounts approximate fair value due to the relative short maturity period. On May 31, 2002 and June 10, 2002, the Company entered into new agreements for its related party debt (Note 9). As a result, the carrying amount of this debt approximates market value as of fiscal year end 2002. The carrying amount of the line of credit approximates market value because it has an interest rate that varies with market interest rates. The fair values of the obligations under capital leases are estimated based on current interest rates available to the Company for debt instruments with similar terms, degrees of risk, and remaining maturities. The carrying values of these obligations approximate their respective fair values. The estimated fair values may not be representative of the actual values of these financial instruments that could have been realized as of the period end or that will be realized in the future.

#### Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line and accelerated methods over the estimated useful lives of the related assets (generally three to five years). Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their useful lives or the remaining term of the lease. Amortization of assets recorded under capital leases is included in depreciation expense. Upon disposal, assets and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the Company s accounts and the resulting gains or losses are reflected in the statement of operations.

#### Identified Intangible Assets, Purchased Technology and Goodwill

Identified intangible assets, purchased technology and goodwill are related mainly to the business acquisitions discussed in Note 3. Amortization of identified intangible assets and purchased technology is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (generally three years) of the remaining assets. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net intangible and identifiable intangible assets of

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

acquired businesses. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets* (SFAS No. 142). Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company amortized goodwill over its estimated useful life of three years. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company performed an initial impairment analysis. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized to expense, but is instead subjected to a periodic impairment test at least annually. The impairment test is a two-step process, which analyzes whether or not goodwill has been impaired. Step one requires that the fair value be compared to book value. If the fair value is higher than the book value, no impairment is indicated and there is no need to perform the second step of the process. If the fair value is lower than the book value, step two must be evaluated. Step two requires the fair value to be allocated to its assets and liabilities in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation in order to determine the implied fair value of the goodwill. This implied fair value is then compared with the carrying amount, and if it were less, the Company would then recognize an impairment loss. Annually, the goodwill is tested for impairment in the fourth quarter.

#### Impairment of long-lived assets

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, *Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets* (SFAS No. 144). This Statement supercedes or amends existing accounting literature related to the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, the Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment by first comparing the carrying value of the assets to the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the assets. If the carrying value exceeds the sum of the assets undiscounted cash flows, the Company estimates an impairment loss by taking the difference between the carrying value and fair value of the assets. No impairment charge has been recorded in any of the periods presented.

#### Stock-based compensation and warrants

The Company has adopted SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure (SFAS No. 148) and the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123). SFAS No. 123 permits the Company to continue accounting for stock-based compensation as set forth in APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, provided the Company discloses the pro forma effect on net income and earnings per share of adopting the full provisions of SFAS No. 123. Accordingly, the Company continues to account for stock-based compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and has provided the required pro forma disclosures. The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to nonemployees and pursuant to strategic alliance arrangements in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods or Services, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor s Product.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and loss per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to employee stock-based awards (Note 13).

	December 31,		
	2000	2001	2002
Reported net loss attributable to common stock	\$100,576	\$75,638	\$46,998
Eliminate: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net loss	(866)	(49)	(1,360)
Apply: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method for all awards	3,067	4,557	5,766
Pro Forma net loss	\$ 102,777	\$80,146	\$51,404
PIO FOIIIIA HEL IOSS	\$102,777	\$80,140	\$31,404
Basic and diluted loss per share:			
Basic and diluted, as reported	\$ 687.66	\$468.67	\$ 8.11
Basic and diluted, pro forma	\$ 702.71	\$496.60	\$ 8.87

#### Software development costs

Costs for the development of new software products and substantial enhancements to existing software products are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at which time any additional costs would be capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86, Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed. Because the Company believes its current process for developing software is essentially completed concurrently with the establishment of technological feasibility, no costs have been capitalized to date, with the exception of the technology acquired from acquisitions (Note 3). The value of the purchased technology was capitalized and is being amortized on a straight-line basis over three years (its estimated useful life).

#### Income taxes

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes pursuant to SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes.

Under SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company provides for a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to their estimated realizable value.

#### Concentration of credit risk

For the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, revenues from foreign customers approximated 5%, 11%, and 15%, respectively, of the Company s total revenues.

The Company does not require collateral from its customers. Credit losses related to such customers historically have been minimal and within management s expectations.

#### Advertising

Advertising and promotion costs are expensed as incurred and totaled approximately \$1,829, \$1,437, and \$1,146 for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively.

#### Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. The Company translates all assets and liabilities to U.S. dollars at the current exchange rates as of the applicable balance

F-22

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the average of the beginning and ending exchange rate prevailing during the period. Gains and losses resulting from the translation of the foreign subsidiaries—financial statements are reported as a separate component of total other comprehensive loss in stockholder—s equity. Net gains and losses resulting from foreign exchange transactions, which are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations, were not significant during any of the periods presented.

#### Comprehensive loss

The Company reports comprehensive income or loss in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 130, *Reporting Comprehensive Income*. Comprehensive income or loss, as defined, includes all changes in equity (net assets) during a period from nonowner sources. Tax effects of other comprehensive income or loss are not considered material for any period.

#### Recent accounting pronouncements

Debt extinguishment costs

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 62, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections (SFAS No. 145). SFAS No. 145, which becomes effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002 and requires gains and losses on extinguishments of debt to be classified as income or loss from continuing operations rather than as extraordinary items as previously required under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. As of December 31, 2002, the Company early adopted SFAS No. 145 and reclassified an extraordinary loss of \$1,143 recognized in the second quarter of 2002 to other expense.

#### Exit and disposal activities

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, *Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities* (SFAS No. 146), which becomes effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS No. 146 addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized at fair value when the liability is incurred, rather than at the date of an entity s commitment to an exit plan. The Company does not believe that SFAS No. 146 will have a material impact on its financial position and results of operations.

#### Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure* (SFAS No. 148). SFAS No. 148 amends FASB Statement No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the prior disclosure guidance and requires prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. For entities that voluntarily change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation, the transition provisions are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. For all other companies, the disclosure provisions are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2002. The Company has complied with the disclosure provisions of this standard in the consolidated financial statements.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### Guarantees

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, *Guarantor s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others* (FIN No. 45). FIN No. 45 clarifies and expands on existing disclosure requirements for guarantees, including loan guarantees. It also would require that, at the inception of a guarantee, the Company may need to recognize a liability for the fair value, of its obligation under that guarantee. The initial fair value recognition and measurement provisions will be applied on a prospective basis to certain guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure provisions are effective for financial statements of periods ending after December 15, 2002. The adoption of FIN No. 45 did not have a material impact on the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

#### Loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per share have been computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Potential common shares from conversion of convertible preferred stock and exercise of stock options and warrants are excluded from historical diluted net loss per share because they would be antidilutive. The total number of shares excluded from diluted net loss per share relating to these securities was 5,037,288, 6,892,403, and 2,125,833 shares for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively.

#### Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### 2. Initial Public Offering

In June 2002, the Company issued 3,750,000 shares of its common stock at a price of \$10.00 per share in its initial public offering. The company received approximately \$32,950 in proceeds, net of underwriting discounts, commissions, and offering expenses. Simultaneously with the closing of the initial public offering, each outstanding share of preferred stock was automatically converted into common stock based upon the applicable conversion ratio (see Note 12). In connection with the offering, the Company repaid approximately \$17,800 of related party debt (see Note 9)

#### 3. Acquisitions

The number of shares of common stock and the valuations thereof, included in the acquisition information presented below, has been adjusted to reflect the one-for-thirty reverse split and the 1-for-2.22 reverse split that occurred in January 2002 and May 2002, respectively, and certain share calculations have been rounded.

Programmed Solutions, Inc.

On February 9, 2000, the Company acquired the outstanding common stock of Programmed Solutions, Inc. (PSI), a provider of software for the printing industry. The aggregate purchase price of \$25,130 (including transaction costs of \$130) consisted of 25,887 shares of common stock valued at \$386.28 per share and \$15,000 in cash. This transaction was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with APB 16. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of \$6,309 is classified as goodwill.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of PSI are as follows:

	Amount
Current assets (including cash of \$398)	\$ 2,517
Property and equipment	649
Purchased technology	9,569
Customer list	7,947
Goodwill	6,309
Other long-term assets	81
Current liabilities	(1,942)
	\$25,130

#### A.H.P. Systems, Inc.

On March 8, 2000, the Company acquired the outstanding common stock of A.H.P. Systems, Inc. (AHP), a provider of software for the printing industry. The aggregate purchase price of \$4,446 (including transaction costs of \$144) consisted of 5,954 shares of common stock valued at \$588.08 per share and \$800 in cash. This transaction was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with APB 16. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of \$4,429 is classified as goodwill.

The estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of AHP are as follows:

	Amount
Current assets (including cash of \$27)	\$ 412
Property and equipment	23
Purchased technology	632
Customer list	307
Goodwill	4,429
Other long-term assets	3
Current liabilities	(1,360)
	<del></del>
	\$ 4,446

#### Hagen Systems, Inc.

On March 9, 2000, the Company acquired the outstanding common stock of Hagen Systems, Inc. (Hagen), a provider of software for the printing industry. The aggregate purchase price of \$40,561 (including transaction costs of \$161) consisted of 34,689 shares of common stock valued at \$588.08 per share, notes payable of \$12,000 and \$8,000 in cash. This transaction was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with APB 16. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of \$15,406 is classified as goodwill.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Hagen are as follows:

	Amount
C	Φ 2.660
Current assets (including cash of \$1,401)	\$ 2,660
Property and equipment	440
Purchased technology	13,163
Customer list	11,857
Goodwill	15,406
Current liabilities	(2,965)
	\$40,561

M Data, Inc. d/b/a PrintSmith

On March 10, 2000, the Company acquired the outstanding common stock of M Data, Inc. (M Data), a provider of software for the printing industry. The aggregate purchase price of \$11,174 (including transaction costs of \$124) consisted of 2,555 shares of common stock valued at \$782.55 per share, \$7,000 in notes payable and \$2,050 in cash. This transaction was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with APB 16. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of \$2,669 is classified as goodwill.

The estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of M Data are as follows:

	Amount
a (1.1) 1.0055	- 10 <b>2</b>
Current assets (including cash of \$57)	\$ 492
Property and equipment	108
Purchased technology	4,088
Customer list	4,491
Goodwill	2,669
Current liabilities	(674)
	\$11,174

Logic Associates, Inc.

On April 7, 2000, the Company acquired the outstanding common stock of Logic Associates, Inc. (Logic), a provider of software for the printing industry. The aggregate purchase price of \$55,991 (including transaction costs of \$223) consisted of 9,800 shares of common stock valued at \$782.55 per share and \$48,099 in notes payable. This transaction was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with APB 16. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of \$19,824 is classified as goodwill.

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of Logic are as follows:

	Amount
C	¢ 2 000
Current assets (including cash of \$1,045)	\$ 3,000
Property and equipment	2,445
Purchased technology	16,155
Customer list	17,816
Goodwill	19,824
Other long-term assets	4
Current liabilities	(2,281)
Long-term debt	(972)
	\$55,991

Had these acquisitions taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2000 the unaudited pro forma results of operations would have been as follows for the year ended December 31, 2000.

	Year Ended December 31, 2000
Revenue	\$ 32,727
Operating loss	(81,750)
Net loss	(89,139)
Net loss attributable to common stock	(93,997)
Pro forma loss per share, basic and diluted	(579.55)
Weighted average shares, basic and diluted	162,191

The unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations, which would have been reported had the acquisitions occurred prior to the beginning of the periods presented, and they are not intended to be indicative of future results.

## 4. Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:

	Balance
Balance, December 31, 1999	\$ 250
Net charge to expense	935
Amounts written off	(500)
Balance, December 31, 2000	\$ 685
Net charge to expense	576
Amounts written off	(691)
Balance, December 31, 2001	570
Net charge to expense	592
Amounts written off	(692)

Balance, December 31, 2002	\$ 470

F-27

# NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

# 5. Receivables

Receivables consist of the following:

	Decen	December 31,	
	2001	2002	
Billed receivables	\$6,087	\$11,948	
Unbilled receivables	1,629	1,418	
	7,716	13,366	
Allowance for doubtful accounts	(570)	(470)	
	\$7,146	\$12,896	

Unbilled receivables represent recorded revenue that is billable by the Company at future dates based on contractual payment terms.

## 6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following:

	December 31,	
	2001	2002
Buildings and leasehold improvements	\$ 1,734	\$ 1,739
Equipment and fixtures	12,602	13,545
	14,336	15,284
Less accumulated depreciation	(9,637)	(12,578)
	\$ 4,699	\$ 2,706

## 7. Identified Intangible Assets, Purchased Technology and Goodwill

Identified intangible assets, purchased technology and goodwill relate mainly to the business acquisitions consummated in early 2000. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (generally three years) of the remaining assets and consists of the following as of December 31, 2001 and 2002:

	Decem	December 31,	
	2001	2002	
Customer list	\$ 42,713	\$ 42,713	
Purchased technology	43,708	44,023	

Patent	2,047	2,065
Goodwill	58,730	58,730
	147,198	147,531
Less accumulated depreciation	(90,085)	(119,596)
	\$ 57,113	\$ 27,935

Effective July 1, 2001 and January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 141, *Business Combinations* (SFAS No. 141), and SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets* (SFAS No. 142), respectively. SFAS No. 141 requires business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. It also specifies the types of acquired intangible assets that are required to be recognized and reported separate from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

certain intangibles no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. There was no impairment of goodwill upon adoption of SFAS No. 142 in 2002.

As required by SFAS 142, prior year results have not been restated. A reconciliation of the previously reported net loss and loss per common share for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, as if SFAS No. 142 had been adopted as of January 1, 2000, is as follows:

	December 31,		
	2000	2001	2002
Net loss:			
Reported net loss attributable to common stock	\$100,576	\$75,638	\$46,998
Goodwill amortization	16,653	19,576	
Adjusted net loss	\$ 83,923	\$56,062	\$46,998
Basic and diluted loss per share:			
Reported net loss per share	\$ 687.66	\$468.67	\$ 8.11
Goodwill amortization	113.86	121.30	
Adjusted basic and diluted net loss per share	\$ 573.80	\$347.37	\$ 8.11

## 8. Line of Credit

The Company s line of credit agreement has a maximum borrowing capacity of \$2,000. The line of credit accrues interest at prime (4.25% at December 31, 2002). Interest is due monthly and the principal balance is due on demand. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the Company s assets. As of December 31, 2001 and 2002, the entire \$2,000 was outstanding.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

## 9. Debt and Related Party Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

	December 31,	
	2001	2002
Debt:		
Note payable to bank, payable in monthly installments of \$18 through July 2004 including interest at 7.62%, collateralized by		
substantially all of the Company s assets	\$ 510	\$ 326
Less current portion	184	326
	\$ 326	\$
Related Party Debt:		
Notes payable to stockholders in connection with the acquisition of		
Hagen Systems, Inc.	\$ 8,000	\$
Notes payable to stockholders in connection with the acquisition of		
M Data, Inc.	4,000	
Notes payable to stockholders in connection with Certain debt		
refinancings which occurred in December 2001	23,600	
Notes payable to stockholders in connection with the acquisition of M Data, Inc., due in twenty-four successive monthly installments of		
\$175 commencing January 1, 2003, plus interest at 8%		4,200
Notes payable to stockholders in connection with the acquisition of		4,200
Hagen Systems, Inc. due in January 2004. Current interest is due		
and payable at 8% and is payable in monthly installments		
Collateralized by substantially all of the Company s assets		2,350
Note payable to stockholder due in January 2004. Current interest is		
due and payable at 4% and is payable in quarterly installments		
commencing September 2002. Collateralized by substantially all of		
the Company s assets		11,800
I	35,600	18,350
Less current portion Less debt origination costs	2,561	2,100
Less deut origination costs	2,301	3,507
	\$33,039	\$12,743
	Φ 3 3 ,0 3 γ	Ψ12,743

The note payable to the bank includes various restrictive covenants, which among other things require the Company to maintain a certain debt service coverage ratio. At December 31, 2001 and 2002, the Company was not in compliance with this covenant. The bank waived compliance with this covenant through January 1, 2004.

During 2001, the Company received bridge loans in the amount of \$4,500 from certain Series B, C, D, and E-1 preferred stockholders. The bridge loans bore interest at 12% and converted into \$2,250 of long-term stockholder debt and 562,500 shares of Series F preferred stock at \$4.00 per share on December 31, 2001. The Company issued warrants to purchase 9,382 shares of common stock and 75,000 shares of Series E-1 preferred stock shares in conjunction with these bridge loans which were valued at \$1,161, using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: volatility of 1.0; no expected dividend yield; risk-free interest rate of 5.09%; and an estimated life of ten years (Note 14). The estimated fair value of these warrants was recorded as interest expense in 2001.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

At the close of business on December 31, 2001, the Company entered into new agreements for its related-party debt. Notes payable to stockholders issued in connection with the acquisition of Logic totaling \$23,604 were repaid along with \$4,000 of the outstanding notes payable to stockholders issued in connection with the acquisition of Hagen. In addition, new agreements were entered into with the former stockholders of Hagen and M Data. Accordingly, new payment periods and interest rates related to the remaining \$8,000 of debt for Hagen and \$4,000 of debt for M Data were established as disclosed above. Funds used for the repayments were obtained from a \$23,600 note payable issued to Iris Graphics, a subsidiary of one of the Company s stockholders, and the issuance of 3,722,096 shares of Series F preferred stock at \$4 per share (Note 12). The financial statements reflect these transactions as of December 31, 2001, in accordance with the terms of the agreements described above. The related cash transfers occurred on January 2, 2002. The Iris Graphics note included financial covenants based on cash flows and revenues. At December 31, 2001, the Company was not in compliance with the quarterly cash flow covenant, which would have resulted in an additional 3% of interest until the default was cured. Iris Graphics waived compliance with this covenant through March 31, 2002. In conjunction with incurrence of the debt, Iris Graphics was also issued a warrant to purchase 570,874 shares of Series F preferred stock at an exercise price of \$.01 per share. The estimated fair value of this warrant of \$2,283 will be recorded to interest expense over the term of the related debt (Note 14).

On May 31, 2002 and June 10, 2002, the Company executed agreements with certain of its debt holders to modify the terms of certain related-party debt, effective upon the completion of the Company's initial public offering. An amendment to the promissory note issued to the former shareholders of M Data, dated as of May 31, 2002, provided for an increase in the principal amount of the note to \$4,200 from \$4,000 in return for a reduction in the annual interest rate to 8.0% from 12.0%. Principal payments are due in 24 equal installments commencing January 2003. Interest is payable monthly beginning June 2002. The \$200 increase in principal was accounted for as deferred interest and will be amortized as interest expense in addition to the 8.0% stated rate over the remaining term of the loan (resulting in an effective annual interest rate of approximately 11.1%).

An amendment to the credit agreement with Iris Graphics, dated as of June 10, 2002: (i) reduced the annual interest rate to a fixed rate of 4.0%; (ii) provided for the payment of a total of \$11,800 of the outstanding principal balance of \$23,600 at December 31, 2001 and all accrued and deferred interest upon the completion of the Company s initial public offering; and (iii) eliminated the financial condition covenants associated with the original loan. In return, the Company agreed to pay a \$3,700 restructuring fee upon completion of the Company s initial public offering. The restructuring fee was accounted for as deferred interest and will be amortized as interest expense in addition to the stated 4.0% rate over the remaining term of the loan (resulting in an effective annual interest rate of approximately 23.8%). The \$11,800 remaining principal balance is due in one installment on January 2, 2004. Interest is payable quarterly beginning in June 2002. The covenants under the amended agreement provide certain limitations on the Company s product development and capital expenditures, future investments and certain other financial criteria.

In connection with this amendment and subsequent repayment, the Company wrote off approximately \$1,143 of debt origination fees associated with the fair value of the Iris Graphic warrant. This write-off has been included in other expense.

Additionally, under an amendment to the loan agreement with the former shareholders of Hagen Systems, dated as of June 10, 2002, the Company was not required to prepay \$2,000 of the \$8,000 otherwise due upon an initial public offering and the annual interest rate was reduced to 8.0%, in return for an increase of \$350 to the remaining principal balance of the loan. The remaining principal amount due under the restructured agreement, after the prepayment of \$6,000, is \$2,350, which is due on January 2, 2004. Interest at an annual rate of 8.0% is payable monthly beginning in June 2002. The \$350 increase in principal was accounted for as deferred interest and will be amortized as interest expense in addition to the stated 8.0% rate over the remaining term of the loan (resulting in an effective annual interest rate of approximately 17.4%).

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Future minimum debt payments at December 31, 2002 are as follows: 2003 \$2,299 and 2004 \$16,377.

## 10. Commitments and Contingencies

#### Lease obligations

The Company leases office equipment, vehicles, and office facilities in various locations. Rental expense under these operating leases was \$1,373, \$1,670, and \$1,388 for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively. At December 31, 2002, future commitments under all noncancelable operating leases are as follows:

	Third Party	Related Party
2003	\$ 920	\$ 469
2004	468	443
2005	474	444
2006	448	364
Thereafter	145	27
	\$2,455	\$1,747

The Company leases equipment under various capital leases. These capital leases expire in various years through 2003 and may be renewed for periods ranging from one to five years. Amortization of leased assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense.

Future minimum payments under capital leases with initial terms of one year or more consisted of the following at December 31, 2002:

	Capital Leases
2003	\$ 34
Total minimum lease payments	34
Amounts representing interest	(1)
Present value of net minimum lease payments	\$ 33

#### Legal proceedings

The Company is involved in disputes and litigation in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition, or results of operations. The Company has accrued for estimated losses in the accompanying financial statements for those matters where it believes that the likelihood that a loss has occurred is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable. Although management currently believes the outcome of other outstanding legal proceedings, claims, and litigation involving the Company will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, or results of operations, litigation is inherently uncertain and there can be no assurance that existing or future litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the Company s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### 11. Income Taxes

The reconciliation of the effective income tax rate is as follows:

	December 31,		
	2000	2001	2002
Federal income tax statutory rate Increases (decreases):	34.0%	34.0%	34.0%
Nondeductible items, including goodwill amortization	(8.0)	(12.0)	(3.3)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit	6.0	6.0	6.0
Change in valuation allowance	(32.0)	(28.0)	(36.7)
Total income tax expense	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%

Significant components of the Company s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

	December 31,	
	2001	2002
Deferred tax assets:		
Net operating loss carryforwards	\$29,363	\$30,565
Deferred revenue	1,581	1,471
Bad debt expense	228	186
Depreciation/amortization	842	1,048
Accrued expenses	2,994	2,836
Stock-based compensation		531
Other	3	6
Total deferred tax assets	35,011	36,643
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Identified intangibles	13,481	1,998
Tax accounting change	104	27
Total deferred tax liabilities	13,585	2,025
Valuation allowance	21,426	34,618
	<del></del>	
Net deferred tax asset	\$	\$

A valuation allowance has been recorded on the amount of the net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2001 and 2002, based on management s determination that the recognition criteria for realization of the net deferred tax assets has not been met.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had accumulated net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of approximately \$76,413, which will expire beginning in 2011 through 2022. Utilization of certain net operating loss carryforwards is subject to limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Additionally, certain state tax restrictions will apply to the utilization amount and timing of the net operating loss carryforwards.

## 12. Stockholders Equity

At December 31, 2002, the number of authorized shares of common stock and preferred stock was 100,000,000 shares and 1,000,000 shares, respectively, of which 10,632,877 and 0, respectively were

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

outstanding, 10,731 and 0, respectively, were held in treasury and 2,125,833 and 0, respectively, were reserved for future issuance.

On January 2, 2002, the Company effected a one-for-thirty reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding common stock. On May 31, 2002, the Company affected a 1-for-2.22 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding common stock. All common stock prices and amounts impacted by the splits have been retroactively adjusted. Certain share calculations resulting in fractional amounts have been rounded to the nearest whole number.

#### Preferred stock

At December 31, 2001 the following Redeemable preferred stock was authorized and outstanding:

	Number of Shares Authorized	Number of Shares Outstanding
Redeemable preferred stock:		
Series B	31,186,312	31,186,312
Series C	1,915,080	1,915,080
Series D	283,125	283,125
Series E-1.	20,333,333	17,375,000
Series F	4,525,602	4,292,970

On February 9, 2000, the Company issued 31,186,312 shares of Series B preferred stock for consideration of \$25,011.

On February 15, 2000, the Company issued 1,915,080 shares of Series C preferred stock for consideration of \$11,107.

On March 8, 2000, 190,948 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock were repurchased by the Company for consideration of \$1,107.

On March 8, 2000, the Company issued 283,125 shares of Series D preferred stock for consideration of \$2,500.

On October 30, 2000 and March 1, 2001, the Company issued 15,625,000 shares and 1,750,000 shares, respectively, of Series E-1 preferred stock for consideration of \$62,500 and \$7,000, respectively.

On December 31, 2001, the Company issued 3,722,096 shares of Series F preferred stock for consideration of \$14,888. Additionally on December 31, 2001, warrants to purchase 570,874 shares of Series F preferred stock were exercised for \$6.

On January 31, 2002, the Company issued 188,736 shares of Series F preferred stock for consideration of \$755.

The Company paid \$2,807 in transaction costs in conjunction with the issuance of Series B, C, D, E-1, and F preferred stock.

#### Liquidation and redemption

Prior to the conversion of all preferred stock to common stock in connection with the Company s initial public offering (Note 2), Series B, C, D, E-1, and F preferred stock had the right to request the Company to redeem all shares. The redemption price for all series of preferred stock would have been the higher of (i) the liquidation preference of a share of such series of preferred stock plus unpaid declared dividends, and (ii) the fair market value of a share of preferred stock as determined by an independent appraiser plus all dividends declared that remain unpaid. During 2000, 2001 and 2002, approximately \$4,858, \$5,635 and \$6,201,

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

respectively, were accreted as dividends utilizing the interest method so that, at the redemption date, the accreted amount would equal the redemption amount.

#### Conversion

In connection with the Company s initial public offering (see Note 2), 67,512,270 shares of preferred stock converted into 6,691,652 shares of common stock. The outstanding shares of preferred stock were multiplied by the following conversion ratio:

Series A	.015
Series A-1	.015
Series B	.015
Series C	.016
Series D	.017
Series E-1	.271
Series F	.291

#### Common stock

On February 7, 2000, the Company issued 3,822 shares of common stock for \$585 of software services.

On March 9, 2000, the Company issued 1,000 shares of common stock for \$589 of advertising services.

On March 10, 2000, the Company issued 20,396 shares of common stock for consideration of \$11,928.

In connection with its initial public offering (see Note 2), on June 18, 2002, the Company issued 3,750,000 shares of common stock for consideration of approximately \$32,950, net of underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses.

#### 13. Stock Option Plans

#### 1999 Stock Option Plan

During 1999, the Company adopted a stock option plan (the 1999 Plan), which provides for the issuance of stock options for officers, directors, employees, and consultants. A total of 9,831 options to purchase the Company s common stock have been granted pursuant to the 1999 Plan at an exercise price equal to the estimated grant date fair value, as determined by the board of directors. Options under the 1999 Plan will generally expire ten years from the date of grant. Options granted under the plan vested immediately in March 2000 upon the Company s filing of a registration statement on Form S-1. A new measurement date did not occur since the accelerated vesting was included in the original grant agreement. As of December 31, 2002, the weighted average remaining contractual life on the 1999 Plan options outstanding was 6.73 years.

#### Stock Incentive Plans

Effective February 10, 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 stock incentive plan (the 2000 Plan), which provides for the issuance of stock options for officers, directors, employees, and consultants. A total of 112,526 shares of common stock may be issued pursuant to the 2000 Plan. Options generally vest over a four-year period in equal annual amounts, or over such other period as the board of directors determines, and may be accelerated in the event of certain transactions such as a merger or a sale of the Company. These options generally expire ten years after the date of grant. As of December 31, 2002, no additional shares have been granted pursuant to this Plan. The weighted average remaining contractual life on the 2000 Plan options outstanding at December 31, 2002 was 7.84 years.

During 2000, the Company granted stock options to certain employees below fair value and to nonemployees for professional services, which resulted in the recognition of \$1,016 of deferred stock-based

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

compensation. The deferred stock-based compensation is being amortized over the remaining vesting period. The employee grants were determined utilizing the intrinsic value method under APB Opinion No. 25. The nonemployee grants were for professional services at exercise prices that approximated fair value at the date of grant. The average fair value of these options was estimated at \$6.66 per share on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: volatility of 1.00, dividend yield of 0.0%, risk-free interest rate of 6.0%, and an expected life of four years. During 2000, 2001 and 2002, the Company recognized compensation expense of approximately \$866, \$49 and \$32, respectively, related to these grants.

Effective February 5, 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 key executive stock incentive plan (the 2002 Executive Plan) under which 766,520 shares of common stock were reserved for grants to senior management, officers, and directors. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had granted options to purchase 766,520 shares of common stock, with an exercise price of \$4.21 per share. Options to purchase 10,307 and 756,213 shares vest over one- and four-year periods, respectively. As these options were granted below fair market value, \$4,433 of deferred stock-based compensation was recorded. For the year ended December 31, 2002, \$1,148 of stock-based compensation expense was recognized with respect to these options. As of December 31, 2002, the weighted average remaining contractual life on the 2002 Executive Plan options outstanding was 9.1 years.

Effective March 5, 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2002 Plan), which provides for the issuance of stock options for officers, directors, employees, and consultants. The Company has reserved 765,765 shares of common stock for grants under the plan. The options generally vest over a four-year period in equal annual amounts, or over such other period as the board of directors determines, and may be accelerated in the event of certain transactions such as a merger or a sale of the Company. These options generally expire ten years after the date of grant. During 2002, the Company granted 92,910 options to employees below fair value at the date of grant. The transaction resulted in \$743 and \$179 of deferred stock-based compensation and compensation expense, respectively. The deferred stock-based compensation is being amortized over the remaining vesting period. As of December 31, 2002, the weighted average remaining contractual life on the 2002 Plan options outstanding was 9.34 years.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table summarizes option activity for options to purchase common stock for the 1999 Plan, the 2000 Plan, the 2002 Executive Plan and the 2002 Plan for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002:

	Common Stock Options Outstanding	Option Price Range Per Share	Weighted Average Exercise Price
Options outstanding, December 31, 1999	7,850	\$79.92	\$ 79.92
Options granted	5,719	\$76.59	\$ 76.59
Options granted	46,635	\$199.80-\$266.40	\$265.07
Options granted	19,015	\$386.28-\$782.55	\$510.16
Options exercised	498	\$76.59-\$79.92	\$ 79.67
Options forfeited	1,867	\$76.59-\$782.55	\$273.78
Options outstanding, December 31, 2000	76,854	\$76.59-\$782.55	\$206.96
Options granted	72,114	\$99.90-\$266.40	\$103.23
Options exercised	144	\$76.59-\$79.92	\$ 79.56
Options forfeited	22,047	\$79.92-\$266.40	\$159.58
Options outstanding, December 31, 2001	126,777	\$76.59-\$782.55	\$203.13
Options granted	1,241,033	\$2.00-\$15.54	\$ 7.53
Options exercised			
Options forfeited	79,382	\$2.00-\$782.55	\$ 33.09
Options outstanding, December 31, 2002	1,288,428	\$2.00-\$782.55	\$ 23.90

The options to purchase common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2002 have been segregated into ranges for additional disclosure as follows:

	Common Stock Options Outstanding		Common Stock Options Exercisable		
Range of Exercise Prices	Options Outstanding as of December 31, 2002	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Exercisable as of December 31, 2002	Weighted Average Exercise Price
\$ 2.00-\$ 15.54	1,175,950	9.18	\$ 7.21	819,599	\$ 4.77
\$ 76.59-\$ 99.90	66,978	7.92	\$ 97.02	36,104	\$ 94.80
\$199.80-\$266.40	31,108	7.70	\$264.47	18,762	\$264.21
\$386.28-\$782.55	14,392	7.17	\$526.67	10,096	\$523.06
	1,288,428	9.06	\$ 23.90	884,561	\$ 19.86

The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*, and related interpretations in accounting for its stock option plans. Had compensation cost for the Company s stock option plans been determined based upon the fair value at the grant date for awards under these plans consistent with the methodology prescribed under SFAS No. 123, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation*, the Company s net loss and net loss per share would have been increased by approximately \$2,201, \$4,508, and \$4,406 or \$15.05, \$27.93 and \$.76 per share, in 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively. The following weighted average assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes pricing model:

volatility of 1.58, 1.0 and 1.17, dividend yield of 0.0%, an expected life of three and four years, and average risk-free interest rates of 6.50%, 4.05% and 3.63% for 2000, 2001, and 2002, respectively. The effects of applying SFAS No. 123 in this pro forma disclosure are not likely to be representative of the effects on reported net income for future years.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Effective March 5, 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which became effective upon the Company s initial public offering. The Company has reserved 337,837 shares of common stock for issuance under the plan. Under the Plan, employees participating in the Plan may purchase shares of common stock at the lower of (i) 85% of the price of a share of common stock at the beginning of an offering period and (ii) 85% of the price of a share of common stock on the purchase date. An offering period is defined as a two-year period consisting of four (4) purchase dates, April 30 and October 31 of each year. Employees are eligible to join the plan and begin their offering period on May 1 and November 1 of each calendar year. On October 31, 2002, employees purchased 38,986 shares for \$.99 (85% of \$1.16 on October 31, 2002) resulting in cash proceeds of approximately \$38.

#### 14. Warrants

#### Strategic

In early 2000, the Company entered into two agreements pursuant to which the Company develops private label Web sites. The Company is permitted to disclose these agreements in sales and marketing publications. The Company generates no revenues under these agreements. In return for certain marketing related services during 2000, the Company issued warrants to purchase 29,603 shares of common stock with exercise prices ranging from \$386.28 to \$592.07. Warrants to purchase 6,723 shares of common stock vested immediately and the remaining warrants vest dependent upon various installation and usage milestones, which vary by agreement. During 2000 and 2001, the Company recorded \$2,903 and \$324, respectively, as warrant expense related to the warrants that vested. The remaining warrants to purchase 22,880 shares, which vest dependent upon installation and usage milestones, will be recorded as warrant expense at the fair value on the dates the milestones are achieved in accordance with EITF No. 96-18.

#### Customers and resellers

During March 2000, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 1,501 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$386.28 per share to a customer. This warrant was immediately exercisable and expires four years from the date of grant. It is exercisable for a period of four years. The fair value of this warrant of \$437 has been recorded as warrant expense in 2000 in accordance with EITF No. 96-18, because no revenue was generated from the related customer. In March 2000, the Company also granted a warrant to purchase 3,753 shares of common stock to a potential customer at an exercise price of \$999. The warrant is exercisable upon entering into a private label site agreement. The warrant is not currently exercisable.

In January 2001, the Company granted a warrant to purchase 37,537 shares of common stock to a reseller of the Company s products. This warrant is exercisable until the earlier of 12 months after termination of the agreement with the reseller or the closing date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into any other entity. The warrant was exercisable for 3,753 shares as of the date of grant. The Company has recorded \$647 as warrant expense related to this warrant. The remaining 33,784 shares of common stock are to vest based on performance targets. As of December 31, 2001, warrants to purchase 3,002 of the remaining shares had vested, resulting in a \$47 reduction in revenue and \$83 of warrant expense. To the extent the Company generates revenue under the agreement with this reseller, the fair value of the warrant as it vests will continue to be recorded as a reduction of revenue. These warrants will be recorded at fair value on the date the performance targets are

#### Debt

In conjunction with certain bridge loans issued in July and August of 2000, the Company issued warrants to purchase 11,257 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$266.40 per share. The fair value of these warrants of \$1,942 was initially recorded as a debt discount and then amortized as interest expense upon the conversion of the notes to equity in October 2000.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In conjunction with the bridge loans issued in September and November of 2001 (Note 6), the Company issued warrants to purchase 9,382 shares of common stock and 75,000 shares of Series E-1 preferred stock at exercise prices of \$39.96 per share and \$4.00 per share, respectively. The fair value of these warrants of \$1,161 was initially recorded as a debt discount and then amortized as interest expense upon the conversion of the notes to equity in December 2001.

On December 31, 2001, the Company issued warrants to purchase 570,874 shares of Series F preferred stock to Iris Graphics in connection with a note payable (Note 8). The fair value of these warrants of \$2,283 has been recorded as a debt discount and will be amortized as interest expense over the repayment term using the interest method.

#### Other

In March 2000, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,250 shares and 1,501 shares of common stock to an advertising agency and a law firm, respectively, for services. These warrants vested immediately at exercise prices of \$999 and \$386.28, respectively. They are exercisable for a period of four years. In accordance with EITF No. 96-18, the fair values of these warrants of \$501 and \$437 were recorded to sales and marketing expense and general and administrative expense, respectively, in 2000.

In April 2000, the Company also issued warrants to purchase 375 shares of common stock to an equipment manufacturer in return for equipment discounts and a comarketing agreement. These warrants became exercisable upon the initial public offering (Note 2) of the Company s stock at the initial public offering price per share. The Company recognized \$1 of sales and marketing expense associated with this transaction.

In March 2001, the Company granted warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of Series E-1 preferred stock to a broker in connection with the issuance of Series E-1 preferred stock. The fair value of these warrants of \$168 has been recorded as stock issuance cost.

On February 5, 2002, the Company granted a warrant to purchase 3,378 shares of common stock to a software provider. The warrant became exercisable upon the initial public offering of the Company s common stock at the initial public offering price per share. The Company recognized \$25 of sales and marketing expense associated with this transaction.

#### Fair value

The fair values of all the warrants described above were estimated using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: volatility of 1.0, no expected dividend yield, risk-free interest rates of 3.22% to 5.09%, and an estimated life of three to ten years.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table summarizes common stock warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002:

	Warrants Outstanding	Warrant Price Range Per Share
Balance, December 31, 1999		
Warrants granted	37,481	\$266.40-\$386.28
Warrants granted	11,759	\$ 592.07-999.00
Balance, December 31, 2000	49,240	\$266.40-\$999.00
Warrants granted	33,817	\$ 6.66
Warrants granted	9,382	\$ 39.96
Warrants granted	37,537	\$ 266.40
Balance, December 31, 2001	129,976	\$ 39.96-\$999.00
Warrants granted	3,378	\$ 10.00
Balance, December 31, 2002	133,354	\$ 6.66-\$999.00

During 2001, the Company also granted warrants to purchase 125,000 shares and 570,874 shares of Series E-1 and Series F preferred stock, respectively, at exercise prices of \$4.00 and \$.01 per share, respectively. All Series F preferred stock warrants were exercised during 2001. In association with the initial public offering (Note 2), the 125,000 Series E-1 warrants were converted into 33,817 common shares.

#### 15. Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a 401(k) Retirement Plan (the Plan) which covers substantially all eligible employees. The Plan is a defined contribution profit sharing plan in which all eligible participants may elect to have a percentage of their compensation contributed to the Plan, subject to certain guidelines issued by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company may contribute to the Plan at the discretion of the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2000 and 2001, the Plan held 83,385 shares and 83,294 shares, respectively, of the Company s Series A-1 preferred stock. The holder of the stock under the Plan had an option to put the stock to the Company at the then current fair value during August and February of each year. However, the Company reserves the right not to purchase any shares of Series A-1 preferred stock if the purchase, in the reasonable discretion of the Company, could have an adverse affect on the Company s financial position. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had recorded a stock purchase plan liability of \$125, equal to the fair value of the stock held by the Plan. In association with the initial public offering (Note 2), the outstanding shares of Series A-1 preferred stock were converted into common stock. During 2002, the Company purchased 1,222 shares for a total purchase price of \$122. As of December 31, 2002, the Plan held 29 shares of the Company s common stock. As of December 31, 2002, the remaining liability related to shares in the Plan is immaterial. To date, the Company has not made any cash contributions to the Plan.

#### 16. Restructuring Charge

In September 2000, the Company announced a strategic restructuring to consolidate certain redundant tasks related to the acquisitions completed during 2000. The plan of restructuring approved by the board of directors resulted in a restructuring charge of \$1,185. This restructuring charge consisted primarily of severance benefits and costs related to the termination of 78 employees during the period from September through December 2000.

In May 2001, the Company announced a restructuring that primarily related to the consolidation of certain client support operations into existing facilities, resulting in a restructuring charge of \$2,098. The plan included terminations of 45 employees and the reduction of leased office space.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In August 2002, the Company announced a restructuring effecting an organizational realignment of its product management customer service and support operations. This resulted in a restructuring charge of \$525 in the quarter ended September 30, 2002. This charge consisted primarily of severance and benefits, including involuntary termination and COBRA benefits, outplacement costs, and payroll taxes for the approximately 40 employees impacted by this restructuring.

Activity in the restructuring reserve is as follows (in thousands):

	Employee Severance and Benefits	Lease Obligations	Total
Balance, December 31, 1999.	\$	\$	\$
Restructuring charge	1,185		1,185
Amounts paid against the reserve	(547)		(547)
Balance, December 31, 2000.	638		638
Restructuring charge	1,468	630	2,098
Amounts paid against the reserve	(2,106)	(143)	(2,249)
	<del></del>		
Balance, December 31, 2001.		487	487
Restructuring charge	525		525
Amounts paid against the reserve	(511)	(434)	(945)
Balance, December 31, 2002.	\$ 14	\$ 53	\$ 67

The remaining restructuring reserve of approximately \$67 is expected to be paid during 2003.

#### 17. Related Party Transactions

On November 8, 1999 and December 22, 1999, promissory notes in the amount of \$1,714 were received by the Company in conjunction with the sale of 58,678 shares of common stock. The notes bear interest at the annual rate of 6% and are due on November 7, 2004. In the event the value of the stock is insufficient to pay the full amount due under the notes, the Company may seek reimbursement from the borrower for any deficiency up to 30% of the original balance of the note plus accrued interest. The notes receivable are included in stockholders—equity on the accompanying balance sheet. During 2000, \$335 (including interest of \$86) was repaid in exchange for cash of \$61 and a note payable of \$274. During 2001, \$1,112 (including interest of \$63) was repaid by a Company executive utilizing proceeds he received from the sale of his common stock to certain preferred stockholders. Additionally, during 2000, 2001 and 2002, approximately \$86, \$90 and 18, respectively, was recorded as interest income. As of December 31, 2002, the Company recorded a valuation adjustment of approximately \$393 to adjust the fair value of the non-recourse portion of the notes receivable balance.

On April 26, 2001, the Company entered into a secured promissory note with a Company executive for \$642 plus interest at the annual rate of 4.58%. The note matured October 5, 2001 and was secured by 6,422 shares of common stock owned by the executive. During 2001, the Company took possession of these shares in satisfaction of this note. The fair value of the shares on the date that the loan was provided and the date that the loan matured was approximately \$642. In addition, the Company repaid an unsecured promissory note issued to the same executive in April 2001 in the original principal amount of \$99.

The Company has also issued notes to related parties (Note 9) and entered into various leases with related parties (Note 10).

In February 2000, the Company entered into a strategic alliance agreement, which was restated in December 2001, with Creo, Inc (Creo), a stockholder. As part of the alliance, the Company signed a

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

comprehensive services agreement. During 2001 and 2002, \$61 and \$1, respectively, were paid as commissions under the agreement.

#### 18. Subsequent Events

On January 21, 2003, the Company received notification from Creo, one of its stockholders, that Creo had entered into private, binding agreements to acquire an additional 2.6 million shares of the Company's outstanding common stock (Common Stock) for \$1.30 per share increasing its ownership from approximately 30% to approximately 55% of the outstanding Common Stock. In connection with these transactions, Creo presented the Company an unsolicited offer to purchase all of the remaining outstanding shares of Common Stock for \$1.30 per share.

On January 22, 2003, the Company received an unsolicited offer from Electronics for Imaging, Inc. ( EFI ), an unrelated party, to purchase all of the outstanding shares of Common Stock for \$2.60 per share.

Also, on January 22, 2003, the Company s Board of Directors (Board) appointed a Special Committee (Special Committee) of the Board to consider its strategic alternatives, including the two outstanding offers for the acquisition of the Company. On January 31, 2003, the Special Committee announced it had selected a financial advisor to assist in their review of the various alternatives.

On February 13, 2003, the Special Committee adopted a Stockholders Rights Agreement (the Rights Agreement) pursuant to which dividend distribution of one Right on each outstanding share of Common Stock was declared. The Rights become exercisable if a person or group of affiliated or associated persons acquires beneficial ownership of 30% or more of the outstanding shares of Common Stock and other voting securities (the Voting Securities ) of the Company or announces a tender offer or exchange offer for 15 percent or more of the outstanding Voting Securities. The Board of Directors is entitled to redeem the Rights at \$.001 per Right at any time before any such person or affiliated group thereafter acquires beneficial ownership of 30% or more of the outstanding Voting Securities. If a person or affiliated group hereafter acquires beneficial ownership of 30% or more of the outstanding Voting Securities of the Company (an Acquiring Person ), each Right will entitle its holder, except any such Acquiring Person whose Rights shall become null and void, to purchase, at an exercise price of \$6.80 per share (subject to adjustment in certain events), a number of shares of Common Stock having a market value at that time of twice the Right s exercise price. Subject to certain exceptions, existing stockholders that would otherwise become Acquiring Persons upon adoption of the Rights Agreement are considered Grandfathered Stockholders and are not Acquiring Persons, unless after such date they acquire beneficial ownership of additional Voting Securities or exercise a contractual right to acquire Voting Securities or enter into a new agreement to acquire or vote Voting Securities beneficially owned by them. Before any such Acquiring Person shall become the beneficial owner of 75% or more of the total voting power of the aggregate of all shares of Voting Securities then outstanding, the Board may exchange each Right (other than Rights that previously have become void as described above) in whole or in part, at an exchange ratio of one share of Common Stock per Right (subject to adjustment in certain events). If the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction after a Person or group of affiliated or associated Persons acquires beneficial ownership of 30% or more of the Company s outstanding Voting Securities, each Right (except Rights that previously have been voided as described above) will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right s then-current exercise price, a number of shares of the common stock or other equity interest of the ultimate parent of such acquiring entity having a market value at that time of twice the Right s exercise price.

The dividend distribution is payable to stockholders of record on February 14, 2003. The Rights will expire in ten years.

On February 13, 2003, the Company entered into the following three agreements with EFI: a letter agreement that places certain restrictions on the Company s ability to take actions in order to facilitate a business combination with an entity other than EFI; a stock option agreement granting EFI an option to purchase up to 2,126,574 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price equal to \$2.60 per share; and a standby

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

credit facility in the amount of \$11,000 plus a working capital facility which will provide up to an additional \$3,000 under certain circumstances.

Printcafe entered into the EFI letter agreement and the option agreement in order to induce EFI to provide Printcafe with the standby credit facility. Subject to certain conditions, the Company has agreed under the terms of the EFI agreement not to, among other things, solicit any takeover proposal, participate in any discussions or negotiate regarding any takeover proposal, or enter into any merger agreement, acquisition agreement, option or similar agreement with a third party. The agreement specifies that the Company cannot solicit other offers but may respond to a bona fide written offer that is superior to the EFI proposal.

The Company has also granted to EFI an option to purchase up to 2,126,574 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price equal to \$2.60 per share. Provided that EFI is not in breach of its obligations under the standby credit agreement, EFI may exercise the option at any time, in whole or in part. The option will terminate on December 31, 2007. Subject to certain conditions, the option shares must be repurchased by the Company, at the request of EFI, at a price equal to the aggregate purchase price paid for such shares by EFI. In addition, subject to certain conditions, the Company may repurchase from EFI the option shares at a price equal to the price paid by EFI for those shares.

Under the terms of the standby credit facility, EFI is obligated to disburse up to \$11,000 to the Company in the event that certain amounts under the Company s existing credit facilities become due and payable as a result of any action taken by the Company in order to facilitate the proposed business combination with EFI or certain other criteria. All loans made under this facility bear interest at the rate of 8% per annum payable on January 2, 2004. With a certain exception, the maturity date would be accelerated if a business combination with EFI is not consummated on or before June 30, 2003 or upon the termination of the agreement. Subject to certain conditions, the credit facility also provides the Company with a working capital facility up to an aggregate amount of \$3,000 to be disbursed in the event that, among other things, the Company s cash balance as of the close of business on the date notice is given by the Company is less than \$1,000. The Company is obligated to use the proceeds of any exercise of the option agreement to pay down outstanding amounts under the standby credit facility. All loans under the working capital facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the prime rate as published, from time to time, by Citibank, plus two percent payable on the maturity date of the loans.

On February 19, 2003 Creo initiated legal action in the State of Delaware against the Special Committee and certain members of the Company s Board of Directors. Creo initially sought a temporary restraining order with respect to the Rights Agreement and the three Agreements with EFI. On February 21, 2003, the temporary restraining order was denied by the Delaware court. This litigation is still pending and the Company cannot predict the eventual outcome at this time.

On February 26, 2003 the Company and EFI entered into a merger agreement providing for EFI s acquisition of the Company for \$2.60 per share for each outstanding share of the Company s stock. The merger is subject to regulatory review and stockholder approval by the Company s stockholders.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

## 19. Supplementary Quarterly Data (unaudited)

A summary of the Company s quarterly financial results for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002 follows (in thousands):

#### For the Quarter Ended

	March 31, 2001	June 30, 2001	September 30, 2001	December 31, 2001
Revenue	\$ 9,561	\$ 10,315	\$ 10,734	\$ 11,258
Loss from operations	(18,625)	(19,221)	(13,885)	(13,009)
Net loss	(19,542)	(20,345)	(15,685)	(14,431)
Net loss attributable to				
common stock	(23,147)	(24,425)	(19,929)	(8,137)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted	\$(142.15)	\$(149.98)	\$(122.31)	\$ (50.42)

#### For the Quarter Ended

	March 31, 2002	June 30, 2002	September 30, 2002	December 31, 2002
Revenue	\$ 11,715	\$ 12,206	\$ 11,281	\$11,319
Loss from operations	(8,084)	(8,067)	(8,960)	(8,274)
Net loss	(9,880)	(11,133)	(10,285)	(9,499)
Net loss attributable to				
common stock	(13,221)	(13,993)	(10,285)	(9,499)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted	\$ (81.12)	\$ (9.00)	\$ (0.97)	\$ (0.89)

The quarters ended June 30, 2001 and September 30, 2002 include a restructuring charge of \$2,098 and \$575, respectively (Note 15). Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. As a result, the Company does not amortize goodwill after December 31, 2001. Goodwill amortization was approximately \$4,900 in each quarter of 2001.

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

#### ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING, INC.

#### INTRODUCTORY NOTE TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED

#### COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are presented to illustrate the effects of the merger on the historical financial position and operating results of EFI. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet gives effect to the merger as if it was completed on June 30, 2003. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 and the six months ended June 30, 2003 gives effect to the merger as if it was completed on January 1, 2002.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements were derived from (a) EFI s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002, which are incorporated by reference into this document; (b) Printcafe s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 which are included in this document; (c) EFI s unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2003, which are incorporated by reference in this document; and (d) Printcafe s unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2003, which are included in this document.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are not necessarily indicative of EFI s financial position or results of operations if the merger had been completed as of the dates indicated. Additionally, the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are not necessarily indicative of EFI s future financial condition or operating results.

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are based on estimates and assumptions set forth in the notes to these statements. EFI prepared the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements using the purchase method of accounting with EFI as the acquirer. Accordingly, EFI s cost to acquire Printcafe will be allocated to the assets and the liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition. The allocation is dependent upon certain valuations that have not progressed to a stage where there is sufficient information to make a definitive allocation. As such, the pro forma purchase price allocation adjustments are preliminary and have been made solely for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. The preliminary valuation of the intangible assets was based upon EFI s evaluation of Printcafe s technology, the knowledge of the technology embedded in Printcafe s products, as well as EFI s extensive knowledge of the industry and the marketplace. From this evaluation, the developed technology was considered to have an estimated useful life of 5 years. Trademarks and tradenames and patents were considered to have estimated 7 year average useful lives. Customer lists were considered to have an estimated useful life of 3 years. The final allocation may be materially different than the amounts shown in the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. If the final valuation, which is expected to be completed during the fourth quarter of 2003, ascribes a higher value to the identifiable intangible assets, the resulting amortization expense would increase, causing pro forma net income to decrease. If the final valuation allocates either a higher or lower value to the purchased in-process research and development, the net acquired intangible assets would change correspondingly.

## UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 2003 (in thousands)

	EFI Historical	Printcafe Historical	Pro Forma Adjustments	EFI Pro Forma
	ASSET	<u></u>		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 206,448	\$ 6,982	\$ (34,833)(a)	\$ 178,597
Short-term investments	412,718	Ψ 0,> 0 <u>-</u>	φ (ε 1,6εε)(u)	412,718
Accounts receivable, net	33,094	10,115		43,209
Inventories	6,226			6,226
Other current assets	27,037	1,576	(5,529)(f)	23,084
Total current assets	685,523	18,673	(40,362)	663,834
Restricted marketable securities	69,320	,	, ,	69,320
Property and equipment, net	51,629	1,988		53,617
Restricted investments	43,080	,		43,080
Goodwill	49,628	22,480	3,267(b)	75,375
Intangible assets, net	20,329	365	25,336(b)	46,030
Other assets	12,865			12,865
Total assets	\$ 932,374	\$ 43,506	\$ (11,759)	\$ 964,121
	TIES AND STOCK	CHOLDERS EQUIT	Y	
Accounts payable	\$ 13,337	\$ 2,245		\$ 15,582
Accrued and other liabilities	43,754	3,404		47,158
Deferred revenue		8,904	(2,226)(d)	6,678
Restructuring reserve		36		36
Current portion, long-term obligations, related party		16,250	(16,250)(c)	
Current portion, long-term debt		228	(228)(c)	
Debt discount		(1,764)	1,764(c)	
Current portion of capital lease obligations		10		10
Income taxes payable	34,843			34,843
Total current liabilities	91,934	29,313	(16,940)	104,307
Long-term obligations, related party		1,050	(1,050)(c)	
Long-term debt	240,249			240,249
Other long-term liabilities			10,280(e)	10,280
Common stock	598	1	6(f)(g)	605
Treasury stock	(158,150)	(1,930)	1,930(f)	(158,150)
Additional paid-in capital	283,423	258,611	(243,099)(f)(g)	298,935
Warrants	·	8,677	(8,677)(f)	
Deferred compensation		(2,494)	2,494(f)	
Other comprehensive income	1,978	(83)	83(f)	1,978
Notes receivable from stockholders		(40)	40(f)	
Retained earnings (deficit)	472,342	(249,599)	243,174(f)	465,917
Total stockholders equity	600,191	13,143	(4,049)	609,285
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 932,374	\$ 43,506	\$ (11,759)	\$ 964,121

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements.

## UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

# Year Ended December 31, 2002 (in thousands except per share data)

	EFI Historical	Printcafe Historical	Pro Forma Adjustments	EFI Pro Forma
Revenue	\$350,185	\$ 46,521	\$	\$396,706
Cost of revenue	167,685	10,377	749(h)	178,811
Gross profit	182,500	36,144	(749)	217,895
Research and development	89,973	12,003	976(h)	102,952
Sales and marketing	50,624	16,989	814(h)	68,427
General and administrative	21,778	6,193	383(h)	28,354
Amortization of identified intangibles and other				
acquisition related charges	4,391	29,511	(24,417)(i)	9,485
Depreciation		2,922	(2,922)(h)	
Stock-based compensation and warrants		1,386		1,386
Restructuring charge		525		525
Total operating expenses	166,766	69,529	(25,166)	211,129
Income (loss) from operations	15,734	(33,385)	24,417	6,766
Other income (expense), net	7,077	(524)	(977)(j)	5,576
Debt discount		(3,300)	3,300(k)	
Interest expense, related party		(3,588)	3,588(1)	
•				
Income (loss) before income taxes	22,811	(40,797)	30,328	12,342
Provision for income taxes	(6,843)		3,498(m)	(3,345)
Net income (loss)	15,968	(40,797)	33,826	8,997
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock		(6,201)		(6,201)
•				<u> </u>
Net income (loss) attributable to common stock	\$ 15,968	\$(46,998)	\$ 33,826	\$ 2,796
Shares used in basic per share calculation	54,256	5,797	663(n)	54,919
Net income (loss) per basic common share	\$ 0.29	\$ (8.11)		\$ 0.05
Shares used in diluted per share calculation	54,852	5,797	663(n)	55,515
Net income (loss) per diluted common share	\$ 0.29	\$ (8.11)	2 22 ()	\$ 0.05

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

## UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

# Six Months Ended June 30, 2003 (in thousands except per share data)

	EFI Historical	Printcafe Historical	Pro Forma Adjustments	EFI Pro Forma
Revenue	\$174,404	\$ 18,468	\$	\$192,872
Cost of revenue	71,487	4,408	228(o)	76,123
Gross profit	102,917	14,060	(228)	116,749
Research and development	46,082	6,003	291(o)	52,376
Sales and marketing	29,913	8,630	246(o)	38,789
General and administrative	9,992	5,630	114(o)	15,736
Amortization of identified intangibles and other				
acquisition related charges	3,878	5,133	(2,586)(p)	6,425
Depreciation		879	(879)(o)	
Stock-based compensation and warrants		483		483
Total operating expenses	89,865	26,758	(2,814)	113,809
Income (loss) from operations	13,052	(12,698)	2,586	2,940
Other income (expense), net	5,240	59	(435)(q)	4,864
Debt discount		(1,743)	1,743(r)	
Interest expense, related party		(527)	527(s)	
Income (loss) before income taxes	18,292	(14,909)	4,421	7,804
Provision for income taxes	(4,939)		3,292(t)	(1,647)
Net income (loss)	\$ 13,353	\$(14,909)	\$ 7,713	\$ 6,157
		10.005		77.006
Shares used in basic per share calculation	54,367	10,896	663(n)	55,030
Net income (loss) per basic common share	\$ 0.25	\$ (1.37)		\$ 0.11
Shares used in diluted per share calculation	55,054	10,896	663(n)	55,717
Net income (loss) per diluted common share	\$ 0.24	\$ (1.37)		\$ 0.11

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

#### NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

## FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in thousands, except per share data)

#### NOTE 1 DESCRIPTION OF TRANSACTION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

On February 26, 2003, EFI and Printcafe signed the merger agreement providing for the acquisition of Printcafe for \$2.60 for each outstanding Printcafe share of common stock. The merger agreement provides each Printcafe stockholder with the right to elect whether to receive the merger consideration in cash or shares of EFI s common stock. Following completion of the merger, EFI currently plans to buy back approximately the same number of shares of its common stock issued in connection with the merger. The merger agreement contains customary conditions to closing and may be terminated by each party under certain conditions, including a superior proposal for Printcafe. The transaction must be approved by Printcafe s stockholders and is expected to close in the fourth calendar quarter of 2003.

#### NOTE 2 PURCHASE PRICE

Printcafe s stockholders may elect to receive cash or shares of EFI common stock in the merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared assuming that holders of approximately 50% of Printcafe s outstanding shares will elect to receive shares of EFI common stock in connection with the merger. The earnings per share amounts in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared using an exchange ratio of 0.1250 shares of EFI common stock for each share of Printcafe common stock. The exchange ratio was derived as follows:

(A)	Consideration per share of Printcafe common stock	\$ 2.6000
(B)	The average closing price of EFI s common stock for the ten consecutive	
	trading days ending on and including September 3, 2003	\$20.8000
(C)	Assumed exchange ratio $(A \div B)$	0.1250
	Approximate valuation of Stock Merger Consideration	
	5,300 Printcafe shares of common stock outstanding as of June 30, 2003 multiplied by the assumed exchange ratio of 0.1250 multiplied by EFI	
	stock price of \$20.8000	\$ 13,780

The actual exchange ratio will be the average closing price of EFI s common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on and including the fifth trading day before the special meeting of Printcafe s stockholders to vote on a proposal to adopt the merger agreement. The actual exchange ratio may be different based on changes in the market price of EFI common stock. Using the 52 week high and low of EFI common stock as of September 3, 2003, for the basis of the exchange ratio calculation, the exchange ratio would be as follows:

52 W	eek High	
(A)	Merger consideration per share of Printcafe common stock	\$ 2.6000
(B)	52 week high price of EFI common stock as of September 3, 2003	\$24.1600
(C)	Assumed exchange ratio $(A \div B)$	0.1076
52 W	eek Low	
(A)	Merger consideration per share of Printcafe common stock	\$ 2.6000
(B)	52 week low price of EFI common stock as of September 3, 2003	\$13.2200
(C)	Assumed exchange ratio $(A \div B)$	0.1967

The actual percentage of Printcafe s stockholders receiving shares of EFI common stock in connection with the merger will be determined based on the number of valid elections received by EFI before the election deadline, which is the day immediately before the date of the special meeting of Printcafe s stockholders.

#### NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) (in thousands, except per share data)

If 100% of Printcafe s common stockholders (other than EFI) elect to take cash consideration for their Printcafe common stock, the total cash consideration would increase to approximately \$27,560 from the \$13,780 amount used in the preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. If 100% of Printcafe s common stockholders (other than EFI) elect to take EFI common stock as consideration for their Printcafe common stock, the total EFI shares issued in conjunction with the merger would increase to approximately 1,325 from the approximately 663 amount used in the preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. EFI intends to initiate a stock repurchase program to offset any dilution associated with the merger.

The preliminary allocation of the purchase price was made as follows:

Purchase Price		
Fair value of the shares of EFI common stock issued in the merger		\$13,780
Cash consideration paid in connection with the merger		\$13,780
Pre-merger acquisition of Printcafe stock by EFI		\$ 5,529
Estimated acquisition costs comprised of approximately \$1,000 in in	nvestment	
banking fees, \$425 in employee retention bonuses, \$1,500 in legal f	ees and \$600 in	
accounting and administrative fees		\$ 3,525
Fair value of stock options and warrants is approximated by using B	Black-Scholes	
valuation with the following assumptions: stock price at grant of \$2		
volatility of 68%; risk free interest rate of 2.5%; no dividend yield;	and the	
contractual remaining term of the option or warrant		\$ 1,739
Total purchase price		\$38,353
Net Assets Acquired		
Excess of Printcafe liabilities over its tangible assets		\$ 9,240
In-process research and development		\$ 6,425
Developed technology	10,923	
Trademarks, tradenames and patents	10,589	
Customer lists	4,189	
Identifiable intangibles		\$25,701
Goodwill		\$25,747
Adjustments to Recorded Balances		
Increase in deferred tax liability related to intangibles		\$10,280
Elimination of debt discount		\$ 1,764
Reduction in deferred revenue		\$ (2,226)
Elimination of EFI s investment in Printcafe		\$ (5,529)

#### NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) (in thousands, except per share data)

If the percentage of Printcafe common stock (excluding shares owned by EFI) exchanged for either cash or EFI common stock differs materially from EFI s assumptions used in the preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, the pro forma results could be impacted as follows:

% of Electing Cash/ % of Electing Stock	Operating Income	Other Income	Net Income	EPS per Basic Share	EPS per Diluted Share	Basic Shares	Diluted Shares
For the six months ended June 30, 2003							
0% Cash/100% Stock	\$2,940	\$5,036	\$6,293	\$0.11	\$0.11	55,692	56,379
50% Cash/50% Stock*	\$2,940	\$4,864	\$6,157	\$0.11	\$0.11	55,030	55,717
100% Cash/0% Stock	\$2,940	\$4,691	\$6,021	\$0.11	\$0.11	54,367	55,054
For the year ended December 31, 2002							
0% Cash/100% Stock	\$6,766	\$5,921	\$3,048	\$0.05	\$0.05	55,581	56,177
50% Cash/50% Stock*	\$6,766	\$5,576	\$2,796	\$0.05	\$0.05	54,919	55,515
100% Cash/0% Stock	\$6,766	\$5,232	\$2,546	\$0.05	\$0.05	54,256	54,852

<sup>\*</sup> This is the ratio used for the preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

#### NOTE 3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT CLASSIFICATION

Upon completion of the merger, EFI and Printcafe will review their accounting policies and financial statement classifications. As a result of that review, it may become necessary to make certain reclassifications to the combined company s financial statements to conform to those accounting policies and classifications.

#### NOTE 4 PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS

Effective January 1, 2002, both EFI and Printcafe adopted SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, at which time they each ceased amortizing goodwill.

(a) To record the cash portion of the purchase price, acquisition costs and retirement of Printcafe debt that becomes due upon completion of the merger.

Cash portion of purchase price	\$(13,780)
Acquisition costs	(3,525)
Retirement of Printcafe s outstanding debt balances at June 30,	
2003	(17,528)
	\$(34,833)

<sup>(</sup>b) To record the elimination of Printcafe intangibles as of June 30, 2003, and record the EFI intangible assets recognized as a result of the merger.

Elimination of Printcafe goodwill	\$(22,480)
Recognition of goodwill as a result of the EFI/Printcafe merger	25,747
	\$ 3,267
Elimination of Printcafe other intangibles	\$ (365)
Recognition of other intangibles as a result of the EFI/ Printcafe	
merger	25,701
	\$ 25,336

## ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING, INC.

## NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) (in thousands, except per share data)

(c) To record the payment by EFI of Printcafe s outstanding debt balances as of June 30, 2003.

Current portion, long-term obligations, related party	(16,250)
Current portion, long-term debt	(228)
Long-term obligations, related party	(1,050)
Subtotal	(17,528)
Debt discount	1,764
	\$(15,764)

(d) To reduce deferred revenue by 25%, which represents EFI s estimate of the fair value of the deferred revenue balance as of June 30, 2003.

Deferred revenue	\$(2,226)
(e) To establish deferred tax liability related to identifiable intangibles.	

Deferred tax liability \$10,280

(f) Elimination of Printcafe equity balance at June 30, 2003, the write-off of EFI acquisition-related in-process research and development, and the elimination of EFI s investment in Printcafe.

Investment in Printcafe	\$ 5,529	
Common stock	(1)	
Treasury stock	1,930	
Additional paid-in capital	(258,611)	
Warrants	(8,677)	
Deferred compensation	2,494	
Other comprehensive income	83	
Notes receivable from stockholder	40	
Retained deficit (Printcafe June 30, 2003 balance of \$249,599 adjusted for EFI		
acquisition-related in-process research and development expense of \$(6,425))	\$ 243,174	
	\$ (14,039)	

(g) Increase common stock and paid-in capital for equity related activity.

Shares of EFI common stock issued as merger consideration	\$ 7
Additional paid-in capital on common stock issued	\$13,773
Assumed Printcafe stock options and warrants	1,739
	\$15,512

(h) Reclassification of Printcafe depreciation expense for the year ended December 31,2002 to conform with EFI  $\,$ s financial statement presentation.

Elimination of depreciation expense presented as a separate line item	\$(2,922)	
Reclassification of depreciation expense to cost of revenue	749	
Reclassification of depreciation expense to research and development		
expense	976	
Reclassification of depreciation expense to sales and marketing		
expense	814	
Reclassification of depreciation expense to general and		
administrative expense	383	
	\$ 0	

## ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING, INC.

#### NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) (in thousands, except per share data)

(i) To eliminate Printcafe s amortization of identifiable intangible assets offset by EFI s amortization of acquired identifiable intangible assets of \$25,701, including core/developed technology, trademarks and trade names, patents and customer lists. The preliminary value of these identifiable intangible assets was based upon EFI s evaluation of Printcafe s technology, the knowledge of the technology embedded in Printcafe s products, as well as EFI s extensive knowledge of the industry and the marketplace. From this evaluation, the developed technology was considered to have an estimated useful life of 5 years, with the trademarks and tradenames and patents considered to have estimated average useful lives of 7 years. The customer lists were considered to have estimated useful lives of 3 years.

094
417)
,-

(j) To reduce interest income related to reduction in cash balances expended upon completion of acquisition (cash consideration and payoff of Printcafe s debt) and to eliminate interest related to the forgiveness of a shareholder loan.

Reduction of interest income earned on cash balance through December 31, 2002	\$(977)
(k) To eliminate debt origination fees related to Printcafe debt.	
Elimination of debt origination fees	\$3,300
(l) To eliminate interest expense associated with Printcafe s related party outstanding debt.	
Elimination of interest expense	\$3,588
(m) Reduction of income tax liability related to the incorporation of Printcafe losses.	
Reduction in provision for income taxes	\$3,498
	\$3,498

(n) Increase of 663 EFI common shares outstanding (\$13,780 consideration ÷ the average price of EFI common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on and including September 3, 2003, or \$20.8000). This assumes holders of 50% of Printcafe s outstanding common stock elect to receive shares of EFI common stock.

(o) Reclassification of Printcafe depreciation expense for the 6 months ended June 30, 2003 to conform with EFI s financial statement presentation.

Elimination of depreciation expense presented as a separate line item	\$(879)
Reclassification of depreciation expense to cost of revenue	228
Reclassification of depreciation expense to research and development	
expense	291
Reclassification of depreciation expense to sales and marketing expense	246
Reclassification of depreciation expense to general and administrative	
expense	114
	\$ 0
	Ψ 0

(p) To eliminate Printcafe s amortization of identifiable intangible assets offset by EFI s amortization of acquired identifiable intangible assets of \$25,701, including core/developed technology, trademarks and tradenames, patents and customer lists. The preliminary value of these identifiable intangible assets was based upon EFI s evaluation of Printcafe s technology, the knowledge of the technology embedded in Printcafe s

## ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING, INC.

#### NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) (in thousands, except per share data)

products, as well as EFI s extensive knowledge of the industry and the marketplace. From this evaluation, the developed technology was considered to have an estimated useful life of 5 years, with the trademarks and tradenames and patents considered to have estimated average useful lives of 7 years. The customer lists were considered to have estimated useful lives of 3 years.

Eliminate Printcafe amortization of identifiable intangible assets recorded during the six months ended June 30, 2003	\$(5,133)
Recognize EFI amortization of acquired identifiable intangible assets for the six months ended June 30, 2003	2,547
	\$(2,586)

(q) To reduce interest income related to reduction in cash balances expended upon completion of acquisition (cash consideration and payoff of Printcafe s debt), and to eliminate interest related to the forgiveness of a stockholder note.

Reduction of interest income earned on cash balance through June 30, 2003	\$(435)
igination fees related to Printcafe debt.	
Elimination of debt origination fees	\$1,743
t expense associated with Printcafe s related party outstanding debt.	
Elimination of interest expense	\$527
e tax liability related to the incorporation of Printcafe losses.	
Reduction in provision for income taxes	\$3,292
	igination fees related to Printcafe debt.  Elimination of debt origination fees  expense associated with Printcafe s related party outstanding debt.  Elimination of interest expense  tax liability related to the incorporation of Printcafe losses.

#### NOTE 5 COMMITMENTS

On February 13, 2003, EFI and Printcafe entered into the following three agreements:

(a) A standby credit facility in the amount of \$11,000 plus a working capital facility which will provide up to an additional \$3,000 under certain circumstances. EFI is obligated under the standby credit facility to disburse to Printcafe up to \$11,000 in the event that certain amounts

under Printcafe s existing credit facilities become due and payable as a result of any action taken by Printcafe in order to facilitate the proposed business combination with EFI. All loans made under this facility bear interest at the rate of 8% per annum payable on January 2, 2004 or sooner upon the termination of this agreement. With a certain exception, the maturity date would be accelerated if a business combination with EFI is not consummated on or before October 31, 2003. Subject to certain conditions, the credit facility also provides Printcafe with a working capital facility up to an aggregate amount of \$3,000 to be disbursed to Printcafe in the event that, among other things, Printcafe s cash balance (as of the close of business on the date notice is given by Printcafe) is less than \$1,000. Printcafe is obligated to use the proceeds of any exercise of the option agreement to pay down outstanding amounts under the standby credit facility. All loans under the working capital facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the prime rate as published, from time to time, by Citibank, plus two percent payable and due on January 2, 2004 or sooner upon the termination of the credit agreement. There are currently no borrowings under this credit agreement.

F-54

## ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING, INC.

#### NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) (in thousands, except per share data)

- (b) Printcafe granted to EFI an option to purchase up to approximately 2,127 shares of Printcafe common stock at a purchase price equal to \$2.60 per share. EFI exercised the option on June 11, 2003.
- (c) A letter agreement that places certain restrictions on Printcafe s ability to take actions in order to facilitate a business combination with a party other than EFI. The letter agreement was superceded by the merger agreement.

The agreements were entered into in connection with EFI s proposal to acquire all of the outstanding shares of common stock of Printcafe at a purchase price equal to \$2.60 per share, payable in cash or EFI stock.

F-55

## AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER,

dated as of February 26, 2003,

by and among

## **ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING, INC.,**

## STRATEGIC VALUE ENGINEERING, INC.

and

## PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE 1 THE N	MERGER	A-1
SECTION 1.1	The Merger	A-1
SECTION 1.2	The Closing	A-1
SECTION 1.3	Effective Time	A-1
SECTION 1.4	Effects of the Merger	A-2
SECTION 1.5	Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws	A-2
SECTION 1.6	Board of Directors and Officers	A-2
ARTICLE 2 EFFEC	CT OF THE MERGER ON THE CAPITAL STOCK OF THE CONSTITUENT	
CORPORATIONS;	EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES	A-2
SECTION 2.1	Effect on Capital Stock	A-2
SECTION 2.2	Election Procedures	A-3
SECTION 2.3	Exchange of Certificates	A-4
SECTION 2.4	Dissenting Shares	A-6
SECTION 2.5	Company Stock Options; Restricted Shares; ESPP	A-6
SECTION 2.6	Certain Adjustments	A-8
ARTICLE 3 REPRI	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	A-8
SECTION 3.1	Organization, Standing and Corporate Power	A-8
SECTION 3.2	Title to Assets; Subsidiaries	A-9
SECTION 3.3	Capital Structure	A-9
SECTION 3.4	Authority; Noncontravention	A-10
SECTION 3.5	SEC Documents; Undisclosed Liabilities	A-11
SECTION 3.6	Intellectual Property	A-12
SECTION 3.7	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	A-13
SECTION 3.8	Litigation	A-14
SECTION 3.9	Certain Contracts	A-14
SECTION 3.10	Customers	A-15
SECTION 3.11	Compliance with Applicable Laws	A-15
SECTION 3.12	Benefit Plans	A-15
SECTION 3.13	Taxes	A-17
SECTION 3.14	Information Supplied	A-18
SECTION 3.15	Voting Requirements	A-19
SECTION 3.16	State Takeover Statutes	A-19
SECTION 3.17	Brokers	A-19
SECTION 3.18	Opinion of Financial Advisor	A-19
SECTION 3.19	Absence of Questionable Payments	A-19
SECTION 3.20	Insider Interests	A-19
SECTION 3.21	Rights Agreement	A-19

A-i

		Page
ARTICLE 4 REPRE	SENTATIONS OF THE PARENT AND MERGER SUB	A-20
SECTION 4.1	Organization, Standing and Corporate Power	A-20
SECTION 4.2	Capital Structure	A-20
SECTION 4.3	Authority; Noncontravention	A-20
SECTION 4.4	SEC Documents; Undisclosed Liabilities	A-21
SECTION 4.5	Information Supplied	A-21
SECTION 4.6	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	A-22
SECTION 4.7	Voting Requirements	A-22
SECTION 4.8	Operations of Merger Sub	A-22
SECTION 4.9	Litigation	A-22
SECTION 4.10	Brokers	A-22
SECTION 4.11	Absence of Questionable Payments	A-22
SECTION 4.12	Insider Interests	A-22
ARTICLE 5 COVEN	NANTS	A-22
SECTION 5.1	Conduct of the Company s Business	A-22
SECTION 5.2	Advice of Changes	A-24
SECTION 5.3	No Solicitation by the Company	A-24
SECTION 5.4	The Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement; the Stockholders Meeting	A-26
SECTION 5.5	Letters of the Company s Accountants	A-27
SECTION 5.6	Access to Information; Confidentiality	A-27
SECTION 5.7	Reasonable Efforts	A-27
SECTION 5.8	Employee Matters	A-28
SECTION 5.9	Indemnification, Exculpation and Insurance	A-29
SECTION 5.10	Fees and Expenses	A-29
SECTION 5.11	Public Announcements	A-30
SECTION 5.12	Affiliates	A-30
SECTION 5.13	Listing	A-30
SECTION 5.14	Litigation	A-30
SECTION 5.15	Rights Agreement	A-30
SECTION 5.16	Obligations of Merger Sub; Voting of Shares	A-30
SECTION 5.17	Stockholders Agreement Legend	A-31
ARTICLE 6 CONDI	TIONS PRECEDENT	A-31
SECTION 6.1	Conditions to Each Party s Obligation To Effect the Merger	A-31
SECTION 6.2	Conditions to Obligations of the Parent and Merger Sub	A-31
SECTION 6.3	Conditions to Obligations of the Company	A-32
ARTICLE 7 TERMI	NATION	A-32
SECTION 7.1	Termination	A-32
SECTION 7.2	Effect of Termination	A-33
SECTION 7.3	Procedure for Termination	A-33

A-ii

		Page
ARTICLE 8 GENEI	RAL PROVISIONS	A-33
SECTION 8.1	Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties	A-33
SECTION 8.2	Amendment	A-33
SECTION 8.3	Extension; Waiver	A-33
SECTION 8.4	Notices	A-34
SECTION 8.5	Definitions	A-34
SECTION 8.6	Construction and Interpretation	A-35
SECTION 8.7	Counterparts	A-35
SECTION 8.8	Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries	A-36
SECTION 8.9	Governing Law	A-36
SECTION 8.10	Assignment	A-36
SECTION 8.11	Enforcement	A-36
SECTION 8.12	Severability	A-36
	A-iii	

#### AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of February 26, 2003 (this Agreement ), by and among Electronics for Imaging, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Parent ), Strategic Value Engineering, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned Subsidiary of the Parent (Merger Sub), and Printcafe Software, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company).

#### RECITALS

The respective boards of directors of each of the Parent, Merger Sub and the Company (and, in the case of the Company, upon recommendation of a special committee of its board of directors) have approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company (the Merger), upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, whereby each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, of the Company (the Company Common Stock), other than shares owned by the Parent, Merger Sub or the Company and Dissenting Shares, will be converted into the right to receive Merger Consideration.

Simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and as a condition and inducement to the willingness of the Parent and Merger Sub to enter into this Agreement, the Parent and certain stockholders of the Company (collectively, the Stockholders) are entering into an agreement (the Stockholders Agreement), substantially in the form of Exhibit A, pursuant to which the Stockholders will agree to vote to adopt this Agreement and to take other actions in furtherance of the Merger upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Stockholders Agreement.

#### **AGREEMENT**

In consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements in this Agreement, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

#### ARTICLE 1

#### THE MERGER

SECTION 1.1 *The Merger.* Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the DGCL), Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company at the Effective Time. Following the Effective Time, the Company shall be the surviving corporation (the Surviving Corporation) and shall succeed to and assume all the rights and obligations of the Company in accordance with the DGCL.

SECTION 1.2 *The Closing*. The closing of the Merger (the Closing ) will take place at 9:00 a.m. on a date to be specified by the parties (the Closing Date ), which shall be no later than the second Business Day after satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Article 6 (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions), unless another time or date is agreed to by the parties. The Closing will be held at the offices of Morgan Lewis & Bockius LLP, One Oxford Centre, 32nd Floor, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15219-6401, or such other place as is agreed to by the parties.

SECTION 1.3 Effective Time. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, as soon as practicable on the Closing Date, the parties shall file a certificate of merger or other appropriate documents (in any such case, the Certificate of Merger) executed in accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL and shall make all other filings or recordings required under the DGCL. The Merger shall become effective at such time as the Certificate of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, or at such subsequent date or time as the Parent and the Company shall agree and specify in the Certificate of Merger (the date and time the Merger becomes effective being hereinafter referred to as the Effective Time).

- SECTION 1.4 Effects of the Merger. The Merger shall have the effects set forth in Section 259 of the DGCL.
- SECTION 1.5 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws.
- (a) The certificate of incorporation of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be amended as of the Effective Time so that such certificate of incorporation is identical to the certificate of incorporation of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time, except that the Company s name shall be the name of the Surviving Corporation, and, as so amended, such certificate of incorporation shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable law.
- (b) The bylaws of the Company, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, shall be amended as of the Effective Time so that such bylaws are identical to the bylaws of Merger Sub, as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, except that the Company s name shall be the name of the Surviving Corporation, and, as so amended, such bylaws shall be the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable law.
  - SECTION 1.6 Board of Directors and Officers.
- (a) The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation until the earlier of their death, disability, resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.
- (b) The officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation, until the earlier of their death, disability, resignation or removal or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.

#### ARTICLE 2

#### EFFECT OF THE MERGER ON THE CAPITAL STOCK

#### OF THE CONSTITUENT CORPORATIONS; EXCHANGE OF CERTIFICATES

- SECTION 2.1 *Effect on Capital Stock*. As of the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder of any shares of Company Common Stock or any shares of capital stock of Merger Sub:
- (a) Each share of capital stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one fully paid and nonassessable share of Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, of the Surviving Corporation.
- (b) Each share of Company Common Stock that is owned by the Company, Merger Sub or the Parent shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered or deliverable in exchange therefor.
- (c) Subject to the provisions of this Article 2, each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than shares to be canceled pursuant to Section 2.1(b) and Dissenting Shares) shall be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration. Each holder of a share of Company Common Stock shall have the right to elect, in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.2 and subject to Sections 2.2 and 2.3, to receive the following as Merger Consideration:
  - (i) for each share of Company Common Stock with respect to which an election to receive cash has been effectively made and not revoked or lost pursuant to Section 2.2 (a Cash Election), the right to receive in cash the Transaction Value (the Cash Consideration);
  - (ii) for each share of Company Common Stock with respect to which an election to receive shares of common stock, par value \$.01 per share, of the Parent (the Parent Common Stock ), has been

A-2.

effectively made and not revoked or lost pursuant to Section 2.2 (a Stock Election), the right to receive the Exchange Ratio of a share of Parent Common Stock (the Stock Consideration); and

- (iii) for each share of Company Common Stock with respect to which no Election has been effectively made or with respect to which an Election has been revoked or lost pursuant to Section 2.2 (collectively, Non-Election Shares), the right to receive the Cash Consideration. (d) The following terms shall have the following meanings:
- (i) Closing Parent Share Value means the average of the closing sales prices of Parent Common Stock quoted on the Nasdaq National Market for the ten consecutive trading days immediately preceding, and including, the fifth trading day before the date of the Company Stockholders Meeting, rounded to four decimal places.
  - (ii) Exchange Ratio means the Transaction Value divided by the Closing Parent Share Value, rounded to four decimal places.
  - (iii) Transaction Value means \$2.60.
- (iv) The Cash Consideration and the Stock Consideration are sometimes referred to collectively (and on a per share basis) as the Merger Consideration.
- (e) As of the Effective Time, all shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and, subject to Section 2.4, each holder of a Certificate shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive Merger Consideration and any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued or paid in consideration therefor upon surrender of such Certificate in accordance with Section 2.3, without interest.
- SECTION 2.2 *Election Procedures.* Each holder of record of shares (other than Dissenting Shares) of Company Common Stock (Holder) shall have the right, subject to the limitations set forth in this Article 2, to submit an election in accordance with the following procedures:
- (a) Each Holder may specify in a request made in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.2 (an Election ) (i) the number of shares of Company Common Stock owned by such Holder with respect to which such Holder desires to make a Stock Election and (ii) the number of shares of Company Common Stock owned by such Holder with respect to which such Holder desires to make a Cash Election.
- (b) The Parent shall prepare a form reasonably acceptable to the Company (the Form of Election ) which shall be mailed to the Company s stockholders entitled to vote at the Company Stockholders Meeting so as to permit the Company s stockholders to exercise their right to make an Election prior to the Election Deadline.
- (c) The Parent shall make the Form of Election initially available at the time that the Proxy Statement is made available to the stockholders of the Company, to such stockholders, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to make available as promptly as possible a Form of Election to any stockholder of the Company who requests such Form of Election following the initial mailing of the Forms of Election and prior to the Election Deadline. In no event shall the Form of Election initially be made available less than twenty days prior to the Election Deadline.
- (d) Any Election shall have been made properly only if the bank or trust company designated by the Parent (the Exchange Agent ), shall have received, by 5:00 p.m. local time in the city in which the principal office of such Exchange Agent is located, on the day before the Company Stockholders Meeting (the Election Deadline ), a Form of Election properly completed and signed and accompanied by certificates representing the shares of Company Common Stock (the Certificates ) to which such Form of Election relates or by a customary guarantee of delivery of such Certificates, as set forth in such Form of Election, from a member of any registered national securities exchange or a commercial bank or trust company in the United States; *provided*, that such Certificates are in fact delivered to the Exchange Agent by the time required in such guarantee of delivery. Failure to deliver shares of Company Common Stock covered by a guarantee of

delivery within the time set forth in such guarantee shall be deemed to invalidate any otherwise properly made Election, unless otherwise determined by the Parent, in its sole discretion. The Company and the Parent shall cooperate to issue a press release reasonably satisfactory to each of them announcing the date of the Election Deadline not more than fifteen Business Days before, and at least five Business Days before, the Election Deadline.

- (e) Any Holder may, at any time prior to the Election Deadline, change his, her or its Election by written notice received by the Exchange Agent prior to the Election Deadline accompanied by a properly completed and signed, revised Form of Election. If the Parent shall determine in its reasonable discretion that any Election is not properly made with respect to any shares of Company Common Stock, such Election shall be deemed to be not in effect, and the shares of Company Common Stock covered by such Election shall be deemed to be Non-Election Shares, unless a proper Election is thereafter timely made.
- (f) Any Holder may, at any time prior to the Election Deadline, revoke his, her or its Election by written notice received by the Exchange Agent prior to the Election Deadline or by withdrawal prior to the Election Deadline of his, her or its Certificate, or of the guarantee of delivery of such Certificates, previously deposited with the Exchange Agent. All Elections shall be revoked automatically if the Exchange Agent is notified in writing by the Parent or the Company that this Agreement has been terminated in accordance with Article 7.
- (g) The Parent shall have the right to make all determinations, not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, governing the validity of the Forms of Election and compliance by any Holder with the Election procedures in this Article 2. Neither the Parent nor the Exchange Agent shall have any obligation to inform the Holder of any such determination.

#### SECTION 2.3 Exchange of Certificates.

- (a) The Parent shall enter into an agreement with the Exchange Agent which shall provide that the Parent shall deposit with the Exchange Agent at the Effective Time, for the benefit of the holders of shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, for exchange in accordance with this Article 2, certificates representing the shares of Parent Common Stock and the Cash Consideration (such shares of Parent Common Stock, together with any dividends or distributions with respect thereto with a record date after the Effective Time, the Cash Consideration and any cash payable in lieu of any fractional shares of Parent Common Stock being hereinafter referred to as the Exchange Fund ) issuable or payable pursuant to Section 2.1 in exchange for outstanding shares of Company Common Stock.
- (b) As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, the Exchange Agent shall mail to each Holder whose shares were converted into the right to receive Merger Consideration pursuant to Section 2.1 and who did not properly complete a Form of Election, (i) a letter of transmittal (which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon delivery of the Certificates to the Exchange Agent and shall be in such form and have such other provisions as the Parent and the Company may reasonably specify) and (ii) instructions for use in surrendering the Certificates in exchange for Merger Consideration. Upon surrender of a Certificate for cancellation to the Exchange Agent, together with either (x) an Election by Holders making an effective Election or (y) letter of transmittal by Holders not making an effective Election, in each case duly executed, and such other documents as may reasonably be required by the Exchange Agent, the holder of such Certificate shall receive in exchange therefor either (A) (1) a certificate representing that number of whole shares of Parent Common Stock which such holder has the right to receive pursuant to the provisions of this Article 2, (2) dividends or other distributions, if any, in accordance with Section 2.3(c), and (3) cash in lieu of any fractional share of Parent Common Stock in accordance with Section 2.3(e) or (B) a check representing that portion of the Cash Consideration issuable in respect of the shares of Company Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificate, and, in either case, the Certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be canceled. If a transfer of ownership of shares of Company Common Stock has not then been registered in the transfer records of the Company, the Merger Consideration issuable in respect of the shares of Company Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificate may be issued to a Person other than the Person in whose name the Certificate so surrendered is registered if such Certificate shall be properly endorsed or otherwise be in proper form for transfer, and the Person requesting such issuance shall pay any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of

the issuance of shares of Parent Common Stock to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or establish to the reasonable satisfaction of the Parent that such Tax has been paid or is not applicable.

- (c) No dividends or other distributions with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered Certificate with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock represented thereby, and no cash payment in lieu of fractional shares shall be paid to any such holder pursuant to Section 2.3(e), and all such dividends, other distributions and cash in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be paid by the Parent to the Exchange Agent and shall be included in the Exchange Fund, in each case until the surrender of such Certificate in accordance with this Article 2. Subject to the effect of applicable escheat or similar laws, following surrender of any such Certificate there shall be paid to the holder of the certificate representing whole shares of Parent Common Stock issued in exchange therefor, without interest, (i) at the time of such surrender, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time theretofore paid with respect to such whole shares of Parent Common Stock, and the amount of any cash payable in lieu of a fractional share of Parent Common Stock to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 2.3(e) and (ii) at the appropriate payment date, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to such surrender and with a payment date subsequent to such surrender payable with respect to such whole shares of Parent Common Stock.
- (d) All shares of Parent Common Stock issued and any cash paid pursuant to this Article 2 upon the surrender for exchange of Certificates in accordance with the terms of this Article 2 shall be deemed to have been issued (and paid) in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the shares of Company Common Stock theretofore represented by such Certificates, subject, however, to the Surviving Corporation s obligation to pay any dividends or make any other distributions with a record date prior to the Effective Time that may have been declared or made by the Company on such shares of Company Common Stock that remain unpaid at the Effective Time, and there shall be no further registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Surviving Corporation of the shares of Company Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates are presented to the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange Agent for any reason, they shall be canceled and exchanged as provided in this Article 2, except as otherwise provided by law.
- (e) No certificates or scrip representing fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be issued upon the surrender for exchange of Certificates, no dividend or distribution of the Parent shall relate to such fractional share interests and such fractional share interests will not entitle the owner thereof to vote or to any rights of a stockholder of the Parent. The Parent shall pay each former holder of shares of Company Common Stock an amount in cash equal to (i) the fractional share interest to which such former holder (after taking into account all shares of Company Common Stock held at the Effective Time by such holder) would otherwise be entitled multiplied by (ii) the Closing Parent Share Value.
- (f) Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains undistributed to the holders of the Certificates for six months after the Effective Time shall be delivered to the Parent, upon demand, and any holders of the Certificates who have not theretofore complied with this Article 2 shall thereafter look only to the Parent for payment of their claim for Merger Consideration, any dividends or distributions with respect to the Parent Common Stock and any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock.
- (g) None of the Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or the Exchange Agent shall be liable to any Person in respect of any shares of Parent Common Stock, any dividends or distributions with respect thereto, any cash in lieu of fractional shares of Parent Common Stock or any cash from the Exchange Fund, in each case delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar law. If any Certificate shall not have been surrendered immediately prior to the date on which any amounts payable pursuant to this Article 2 would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Entity, any such amounts shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, become the property of the Surviving Corporation, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

- (h) The Exchange Agent shall invest any cash included in the Exchange Fund, as directed by the Parent, on a daily basis. Any interest and other income resulting from such investments shall be paid to the Parent. Any losses resulting from such investments shall not reduce the right of any holder of a Certificate to receive the amounts otherwise payable pursuant to this Article 2.
- (i) If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Parent, the posting by such Person of a bond in such reasonable amount as the Parent may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent shall issue in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate the Merger Consideration with respect thereto and, if applicable, any unpaid dividends and distributions on shares of Parent Common Stock deliverable in respect thereof and any cash in lieu of fractional shares, in each case pursuant to this Agreement.
- (j) The Parent, the Surviving Corporation and the Exchange Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the amounts otherwise payable to a holder of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to this Article 2 such amounts as any of them reasonably determine to be required to be deducted and withheld under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) or provisions of other Tax law. To the extent that such amounts are so withheld, such withheld amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the former holder of shares of Company Common Stock in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made by the Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange Agent.

#### SECTION 2.4 Dissenting Shares.

- (a) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, any shares of Company Common Stock as to which the holder thereof has demanded and properly perfected appraisal in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL and has neither effectively withdrawn nor lost the right to such appraisal ( Dissenting Shares ) shall not be converted into or represent a right to receive Merger Consideration, but the holder thereof shall be entitled to only such rights as are granted by the DGCL.
- (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2.4(a), if any holder of shares of Company Common Stock who demands appraisal of shares of Company Common Stock under the DGCL effectively withdraws or loses (through failure to perfect or otherwise) the right to appraisal, then as of the Effective Time or the occurrence of such event, whichever later occurs, such holder s shares of Company Common Stock shall automatically be converted into and represent only the right to receive Merger Consideration as provided in Sections 2.1 and 2.2, without interest, upon surrender of the Certificates representing such shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.3.
- (c) The Company shall give the Parent (i) prompt notice of any written demands for appraisal or payment of the fair value of any shares of Company Common Stock, withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments related to Dissenting Shares received by the Company or any of its directors or officers and (ii) the opportunity to direct all negotiations and proceedings with respect to demands for appraisal under the DGCL. Except with the prior written consent of the Parent, the Company shall not voluntarily make any payment, admissions or statements against interest with respect to any demands for appraisal, or settle or offer to settle any such demands.

#### SECTION 2.5 Company Stock Options; Restricted Shares; ESPP.

- (a) At the Effective Time, the Parent shall assume each Adjusted Option, subject to the provisions of this Section 2.5. As soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the board of directors of the Company (or, if appropriate, any committee thereof administering the Company Stock Plans) shall adopt such resolutions or take such other actions as may be required to effect the following as of the Effective Time:
  - (i) adjust the terms of all outstanding Company Stock Options granted under the Company Stock Plans, whether vested or unvested, as necessary to provide that, at the Effective Time, each Company Stock Option outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be amended and converted into an option to acquire on the same terms and conditions as were applicable under such Company Stock Option, the number of shares of Parent Common Stock (rounded down to the nearest whole share) equal

to (A) the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by the Exchange Ratio, plus (B) the product of ((x) the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by (y) the Cash Consideration divided by (z) the Closing Parent Share Value (each, as so adjusted, an Adjusted Option);

- (ii) provide that an Adjusted Option may not be assigned, except to the extent that its predecessor Company Stock Option could be assigned under the terms of the applicable Company Stock Plan; and
- (iii) make such other changes to the Company Stock Plans as the Company and the Parent may agree are appropriate to give effect to the Merger.

No cash Merger Consideration will be paid with respect to any Adjusted Option. The exercise price per share of Parent Common Stock issuable upon exercise of an Adjusted Option shall be equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the aggregate exercise price payable for shares of Company Common Stock subject to the Company Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time by (y) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to the Adjusted Option immediately after the assumption and rounding up to the next whole cent. For purposes of adjusting Company Stock Options pursuant to this Section 2.5(a), each Company Stock Option shall be adjusted separately and shall not be aggregated with any other Company Stock Option held by the same holder.

- (b) After the Effective Time, the Parent shall deliver to the holders of Company Stock Options notices setting forth such holders—rights pursuant to the respective Company Stock Plans and the agreements evidencing the grants of such Company Stock Options and that such Company Stock Options and agreements have been assumed by the Parent and shall continue in effect on the same terms and conditions (subject to the adjustments required by this Section 2.5 after giving effect to the Merger). The Parent shall reserve for issuance from its authorized but unissued shares of Parent Common Stock a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the number of shares subject to the Adjusted Options.
- (c) The parties intend that the assumption of Company Stock Options pursuant to this Section 2.5 shall satisfy the provisions of Section 424(a) of the Code and that each Adjusted Option shall qualify, to the maximum permissible extent, as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Code to the extent its predecessor Company Stock Option qualified as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code immediately prior to the Effective Time.
- (d) A holder of an Adjusted Option may exercise such Adjusted Option in whole or in part in accordance with its terms by following procedures to be communicated by the Parent in the notice contemplated by Section 2.5(b), together with the consideration therefor and the federal withholding Tax information, if any, required in accordance with the related the Company Stock Plan.
- (e) Except as otherwise contemplated by this Section 2.5 and except to the extent described in Section 3.3 of the Company Disclosure Letter, all restrictions or limitations on transfer and vesting with respect to the Company Stock Options awarded under the Company Stock Plans or any other plan, program or arrangement of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, to the extent that such restrictions or limitations shall not have already lapsed, shall remain in full force and effect with respect to such Company Stock Options after giving effect to the Merger and the assumption by the Parent as set forth above.
- (f) As soon as practicable following the Effective Time and in any event within five Business Days following the Effective Time, the Parent shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-8 (or another appropriate form) registering a number of shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the number of shares subject to the Adjusted Options. Such registration statement shall be kept effective (and the current status of the prospectus or prospectuses required thereby shall be maintained) at least for so long as the Adjusted Options remain outstanding. The Company shall cooperate with, and assist the Parent in the preparation of, such registration statement. The Parent shall not be required to register any shares of Parent Common Stock that are subject to an Adjusted Option that may not be registered on Form S-8.

- (g) If any shares of Company Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time are unvested or are otherwise subject to a repurchase option, risk of forfeiture or other condition under any Company Stock Option Plan or any applicable Contract, then (except to the extent those shares vest by virtue of the Merger pursuant to the express terms of the documents governing those shares) the shares of Parent Common Stock issued in exchange for such unvested shares of Company Common Stock will also be unvested and subject to the same repurchase option, risk of forfeiture or other condition, and the certificates representing such shares of Parent Common Stock may accordingly bear any appropriate legends. In addition, any portion of the Cash Consideration payable with respect to those outstanding unvested shares shall be held by the Parent and shall be paid out if, as and when those shares vest in accordance with the vesting schedule in effect for such shares immediately prior to the Effective Time. Any cash held with respect to unvested shares repurchased by the Parent shall revert to the Parent. The Company shall take all action that may be necessary to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, the Parent is entitled to exercise any such repurchase option or other right set forth in any such restricted stock purchase agreement or other agreement. Section 2.6(g) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true, correct and complete list as of the date hereof of all holders of shares of Company Common Stock that are subject to such repurchase options, forfeiture provisions or other restrictions and the nature of those options, provisions or restrictions.
- (h) Outstanding purchase rights under the Company s 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Company ESPP) shall be exercised immediately prior to the Effective Time, and each participant in the Company ESPP will accordingly be issued shares of Company Common Stock at that time which shall be converted into Merger Consideration pursuant to Sections 2.1 and 2.2. The Company s board of directors (or the committee thereof administering the Company ESPP) shall take whatever action may be required to amend the Company ESPP to provide for such exercise date and to terminate the Company ESPP with that exercise date so that no further purchase rights shall be subsequently granted or exercised under the Company ESPP.
- (i) All warrants to purchase shares of Company Common Stock (the Company Warrants ) that are outstanding and unexercised at the Effective Time, shall, unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of such Company Warrant, (i) remain subject to any vesting requirements applicable to such Company Warrant, and (ii) be exercisable for the Cash Consideration applicable to the number of shares of Company Common Stock that may be acquired upon exercise of such Company Warrant.
- SECTION 2.6 *Certain Adjustments.* If the Parent changes (or establishes a record date for changing) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock issued and outstanding prior to the Effective Time as a result of a stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, subdivision, reclassification, combination, exchange of shares or similar transaction with respect to the outstanding Parent Common Stock and the record date therefor shall be prior to the Effective Time, the Stock Consideration shall be proportionately adjusted to reflect such stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, subdivision, reclassification, combination, exchange of shares or similar transaction.

### ARTICLE 3

## REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as disclosed in the disclosure letter delivered by the Company to the Parent concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the Company Disclosure Letter ) and making reference to the particular Section of this Agreement to which exception is being taken, including by cross-reference to any other section of the Company Disclosure Letter to which such disclosure relates, the Company represents and warrants to the Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

SECTION 3.1 Organization, Standing and Corporate Power. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries is a corporation or other legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (with respect to jurisdictions which recognize such concept) under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is organized and has the requisite corporate or other power, as the case may be, and authority to carry on its business as now being conducted, except for those jurisdictions where the failure to be so organized, existing or in good standing,

individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing (with respect to jurisdictions which recognize such concept) in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership, leasing, licensing, or operation of its assets makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for those jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or licensed or to be in good standing, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company. The Company has provided to the Parent prior to the execution of this Agreement complete and correct copies of its certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as amended to the date of this Agreement.

#### SECTION 3.2 Title to Assets; Subsidiaries.

- (a) The Company and its Subsidiaries have good and marketable title to, or the right to use, the assets and properties owned by them or used in their respective businesses, free and clear of all pledges, claims, liens, charges, encumbrances, mortgages and security interests of any kind or nature whatsoever (collectively, Liens), except for (i) Liens securing indebtedness disclosed in Section 3.5(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter, (ii) purchase money security interests arising by operation of law with respect to assets acquired in the ordinary course of business subsequent to December 31, 2002, (iii) any (A) mechanics, carriers, workers and other similar Liens arising in the ordinary course of business which are not delinquent and which in the aggregate are not material in amount, and do not interfere with the present use of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to which they apply; (B) Liens for current Taxes not yet due and payable; (C) Liens that have arisen in the ordinary course of business and that do not (individually or in the aggregate) materially detract from the value of the assets subject thereto or materially impair the operations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; and (iv) with respect to any asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which consists of a leasehold or other possessory interest in real property, all Liens, covenants, imperfections in title, easements, restrictions and other title matters (whether or not the same are recorded) not known to the Company or such Subsidiaries (the Liens referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) are collectively, Permitted Liens).
- (b) Section 3.2 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of each of the Company s Subsidiaries. All the outstanding shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in (other than shares held by directors or officers of the Company or its Subsidiaries for regulatory reasons), each Subsidiary of the Company have been validly issued, are fully paid and nonassessable and are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of all Liens and free of any restriction on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such capital stock or other ownership interests, except restrictions arising under applicable securities laws.

#### SECTION 3.3 Capital Structure.

(a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 100,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, of the Company (the Company Authorized Preferred Stock). At the close of business on February 20, 2003, (i) 10,632,877 shares of Company Common Stock were issued and outstanding; (ii) 10,732 shares of Company Common Stock were held by the Company in its treasury; (iii) no shares of Company Authorized Preferred Stock were issued or outstanding; (iv) 1,942,895 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to the Prograph Systems, Inc. 1999 Stock Option/ Stock Incentive Plan, the Company ESPP, the Company s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, the Company s 2002 Key Executive Stock Incentive Plan and the Company s 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (such plans, collectively, the Company Stock Plans) (of which 1,287,097 shares are subject to outstanding Company Stock Options and 298,851 shares are reserved for issuance under the Company ESPP); (v) 133,354 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance upon exercise of outstanding Company Warrants; and (vi) 7,341,975 shares of Company Common Stock were reserved for issuance in connection with the rights (the Rights) to purchase shares of Company Common Stock issued pursuant to the Rights Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2003, by and between the Company and Mellon Investor Services LLC (the Rights Agreement). Except as set forth above, at the close of business on

February 20, 2003, no shares of capital stock or other voting securities of the Company were issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. Other than Company Stock Options, there are no outstanding stock appreciation rights, phantom shares or other rights to receive shares of Company Common Stock on a deferred basis or other rights linked to the value of shares of Company Common Stock granted under the Company Stock Plans or otherwise. No bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Company having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which stockholders of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may vote are issued or outstanding or subject to issuance.

(b) Concurrently with the delivery of this Agreement, the Company is delivering to the Parent a complete and correct list, as of February 20, 2003, of each holder of outstanding stock options or other rights to purchase or receive Company Common Stock (collectively, the Company Stock Options) and each holder of Company Warrants, the number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company Stock Option or Company Warrant, the name of the Company Stock Plan pursuant to which such Company Stock Option was granted, the exercise price of such Company Stock Option or Company Warrant, the vesting schedule of such Company Stock Option or Company Warrant, the extent to which such Company Stock Option or Company Warrant is vested, the Tax status under Section 422 of the Code of such Company Stock Option, the term of such Company Stock Option or Company Warrant and the events (including the Transactions or termination of service following the Merger) which could accelerate the vesting of such Company Stock Option or Company Warrant.

(c) All outstanding shares of Company Common Stock are, and all shares which may be issued by the Company before the Effective Time will be, when issued, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and will be delivered free and clear of all Liens (other than Liens created by or imposed upon the holders thereof) and not subject to preemptive rights. Except as set forth in this Section 3.3 (including pursuant to the conversion or exercise of the securities referred to above) and except pursuant to Company Stock Options issued as expressly permitted by the terms of Section 5.1(b), (i) there are not issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding (A) any shares of capital stock or other voting securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than shares of capital stock or other voting securities of such Subsidiaries that are directly or indirectly owned by the Company free and clear of Liens), (B) any securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of capital stock or other voting securities of, or other ownership interests in, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (C) any warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and no obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, any capital stock or other voting securities of, or other ownership interests in, or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any capital stock or other voting securities of, or other ownership interests in, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) there are no outstanding obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any such securities or to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any such securities. The Company is not a party to any voting agreement with respect to the voting of any such securities. Other than the capital stock of, or other equity interests in, its Subsidiaries, the Company does not directly or indirectly beneficially own any securities or other beneficial ownership interests in any other entity. The terms of the Company Stock Plans and the provisions of the agreements evidencing such Company Stock Options expressly permit the assumption by the Parent of the outstanding Company Stock Options as provided in Section 2.5, without the consent or approval of the holders of such securities, the Company s stockholders or otherwise.

#### SECTION 3.4 Authority; Noncontravention.

(a) The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and, subject to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the Transactions). The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, subject, in the case of the Merger, to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Parent and Merger Sub, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms.

- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement does not, and the consummation of the Transactions and compliance with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with, or result in any violation of, or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of amendment, termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or to the loss of a benefit under or increase of obligation under, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets owned by, licensed to, or leased by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under, (i) the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the Company or the comparable organizational documents of any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any Contract, commitment, arrangement, understanding, instrument, permit, concession, franchise or similar authorization applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective assets or (iii) subject to the governmental filings and other matters referred to in Section 3.4(c), (A) any judgment, order or decree or (B) any statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation, in each case applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective properties or assets, other than, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii), any such conflicts, violations, defaults, rights, losses or Liens that individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to (x) have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, (y) impair the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement or (z) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Transactions.
- (c) No consent, approval, order or authorization of, action by or in respect of, or registration, recordation, declaration or filing with, any federal, state, local or foreign government, any court, administrative, regulatory or other governmental agency, commission or authority or any non-governmental self-regulatory agency, commission or authority (each a Governmental Entity ) is required by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company or the consummation by the Company of the Transactions, except for (i) the filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC ) of (A) a proxy statement relating to the Company Stockholders Meeting (such proxy statement, as amended or supplemented from time to time, the Proxy Statement ) and (B) such reports under Section 13(a), 13(d), 15(d) or 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act ) as may be required in connection with this Agreement, the Stockholders Agreement and the Transactions; (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which the Company is qualified to do business and such filings with Governmental Entities to satisfy the applicable requirements of state securities or blue sky laws; and (iii) such other consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings the failure of which to be made or obtained individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to (x) have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, (y) impair the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement or (z) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Transactions.

### SECTION 3.5 SEC Documents; Undisclosed Liabilities.

- (a) The Company has filed all required reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents (including exhibits and all other information incorporated therein) with the SEC since June 18, 2002 the ( Company SEC Documents ). As of their respective dates, the Company SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 (the Securities Act ) or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and none of the Company SEC Documents when filed (unless amended or superseded in a Company Filed SEC Document, then on the date of such later filing) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Except to the extent that information contained in a Company SEC Document has been revised or superseded in a Company Filed SEC Document, none of the Company SEC Documents contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (b) The financial statements of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents comply as to form, as of their respective dates of filing with the SEC, in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto (the Accounting

Rules ), have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ( GAAP ) (except, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal recurring non-material year-end audit adjustments).

- (c) Section 3.5(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2002 and such financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the year then ended (except for the omission of the notes thereto and subject to non-material year-end audit adjustments).
- (d) Except (i) as reflected in the most recent financial statements included in the Company Filed SEC Documents or in the notes thereto or (ii) for liabilities incurred in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise) which, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.

#### SECTION 3.6 Intellectual Property.

- (a) The Company and its Subsidiaries have such ownership of or such rights by license or otherwise in all patents and patent applications, mask works, trademarks and service marks, trademark and service mark registrations and applications, trade names, logos, brands, titles, copyrights, subsidiary rights, copyright registrations and applications, trade secrets, names and likenesses, know-how, proprietary processes, compositions of matter, formulae, designs, computer software programs, domain names and other proprietary rights as are necessary to conduct and permit the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted and currently proposed to be conducted (collectively, the Intellectual Property Rights ), except where the failure to have such ownership or right by license or otherwise, individually and in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.
- (b) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted and currently proposed to be conducted does not infringe upon the intellectual property rights of any third party or violate the privacy rights of any third party or defame any third party. There are no present or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened infringements or violations of or factual basis on which a claim for infringement or violation could reasonably be asserted with respect to the Intellectual Property Rights by any third party, except, in either case, for such infringements or violations which, individually and in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.
- (c) Except as set forth in Section 3.6 (c) of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any Contract (i) that contains any non-competition covenant or exclusivity commitment that restricts, in any material respect, the manner in which, medium in which, or the localities in which, all or a material portion of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, is conducted, (ii) pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has assigned, transferred, licensed or granted to a third party any Intellectual Property Right on an exclusive basis or (iii) that contains any most favored nation pricing provision.
- (d) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has taken all commercially reasonable steps to protect the Company s and its Subsidiaries rights in the Company s or its Subsidiaries confidential information and trade secrets that it wishes to protect or any trade secrets or confidential information of third parties provided to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and, without limiting the foregoing, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has and enforces a policy requiring each employee and contractor to execute a proprietary information/ confidentiality agreement substantially in the form provided to the Parent and all current and former employees and contractors of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries have executed such an

agreement and the Company or its Subsidiaries has secured valid written assignments from all consultants and employees who contributed to the creation or development of any Intellectual Property Rights of the rights to such contributions that the Company or its Subsidiaries does not already own by operation of law. The Company has entered into written agreements with all third parties whose confidential information the Company or its Subsidiaries have used or to whom rights to access have been to the Company s or its Subsidiaries confidential information. To the Company s Knowledge, all use, disclosure or appropriation of the Company or its Subsidiaries confidential information by, or to, a third party has been pursuant to the terms of a written agreement between the Company or its Subsidiaries and such third party. To the Company s Knowledge, all use, disclosure or appropriation of confidential information of a third party by the Company, its Representatives or its Subsidiaries has been pursuant to the terms of a written agreement between the Company or its Subsidiaries and such third party, or is otherwise lawful.

- (e) Except as set forth in Section 3.6(e) of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any opinion of counsel regarding any third party patents.
- (f) Except as set forth in Section 3.6(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has disclosed or delivered, or permitted the disclosure or delivery, to any escrow holder or other third party, all or any part of the source code (including any algorithm or documentation contained in, or relating to, any source code) of the Intellectual Property Rights.
- (g) Except as set forth in Section 3.6(g) of the Company Disclosure Letter and except for non-exclusive license agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business, there are no Contracts of any kind related to the Intellectual Property Rights, nor is the Company or any Subsidiary bound by, or a party to, any Contracts with respect to the Intellectual Property Rights.

SECTION 3.7 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except as contemplated by this Agreement (including those actions not prohibited under Section 5.1) or the Transactions and except for changes disclosed in the Company SEC Documents filed and publicly available prior to the date of this Agreement (as amended to the date of this Agreement, the Company Filed SEC Documents ), since December 31, 2002, the Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted their business only in the ordinary course, and since such date there has not been (a) any Material Adverse Change in the Company, (b) any declaration, setting aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property) with respect to any of the Company s capital stock (other than as expressly permitted by the terms of Section 5.1(a)), (c) any purchase, redemption or other acquisition of any shares of capital stock or any other securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any options, warrants, calls or rights to acquire such shares or other securities; (d) any split, combination or reclassification of any of the Company's capital stock or any issuance or the authorization of any issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of the Company s capital stock, (e)(i) any granting by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any current or former director, executive officer or other employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries of any increase in compensation, bonus or other benefits, except for normal increases in cash compensation to non-executive employees in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or as was required under any employment agreements in effect as of the date of the most recent financial statements included in the Company Filed SEC Documents and other than as expressly permitted by the terms of Section 5.1(k), (ii) any granting by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any such current or former director, executive officer or employee of any increase in severance or termination pay, except to non-executive employees in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iii) any entry by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries into, or any amendments of, any Benefit Plan with any current or former director, executive officer or employee, except with non-key employees in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iv) any amendment to, or modification of, any Company Stock Option, (v) except insofar as may have been required by a change in GAAP, any change in accounting methods, principles or practices by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries materially affecting their respective assets, liabilities, results of operations or businesses, (vi) any Tax election that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to adversely affect in any material respect the Tax liability or Tax attributes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (vii) any settlement or compromise of any material income Tax liability, (viii) any acquisition, sale or transfer of any material asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary

course of business consistent with past practice, (ix) any entering into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any material contract or agreement, or material amendment or termination of any material contract or agreement (other than in the ordinary course of business) or default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under, any material Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which it is bound (or to the Knowledge of the Company, by any other party thereto), (x) any revaluation by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any of their respective material assets or (xi) except as would not individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, any lapse, reversion, termination or expiration of any Intellectual Property Rights.

SECTION 3.8 Litigation. There is no suit, arbitration, action, proceeding or written claim (Litigation) pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against or affecting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company nor is there any judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any Governmental Entity or arbitrator outstanding against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries having, or which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Company. Section 3.8 of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth as of the date of this Agreement of a complete list of all suits, arbitrations, actions or proceedings to which the Company, or its Subsidiaries or any of their assets are, or could reasonably be expected to be, a party or bound.

#### SECTION 3.9 Certain Contracts.

- (a) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is bound by, or a party to, any non-competition or similar restriction relating to any business, product or service anywhere in the world.
- (b) No purchase Contracts of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries continue for a period of more than twelve months or are in excess of the normal, ordinary and usual requirements of its or their business or at any excessive price.
- (c) There is no outstanding sales Contract of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which continue for a period of more than twelve months.
- (d) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any outstanding Contracts with officers, employees, agents, consultants, advisors, salesmen, sales representatives, distributors or dealers that are not cancelable by it on notice of not longer than thirty days and without liability, penalty or premium or any agreement or arrangement providing for the payment of any bonus or commission based on sales or earnings.
- (e) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in default, nor to its Knowledge is there any basis for any valid claim of default, under any Contract made or obligation owed by any of them.
- (f) Neither Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into any Contract to indemnify any other party against any charge of infringement of any intellectual property, other than indemnification provisions contained in license agreements or purchase orders arising in the ordinary course of business (other than guarantees by the Company or one of its wholly owned Subsidiaries on behalf of the Company or one of its wholly owned Subsidiaries).
- (g) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any debt obligation for borrowed money, including guarantees (other than guarantees by the Company or one of its wholly owned Subsidiaries) of or agreements to acquire any such debt obligation of others.
- (h) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any outstanding loan to any Person, other than to the Company or a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company.
- (i) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any power of attorney outstanding or any obligations or liabilities (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise), as guarantor, surety, co-signer, endorser, co-maker, indemnitor or otherwise in respect of the obligation of any Person, corporation,

partnership, joint venture, association, organization or other entity (other than guarantees by the Company or one of its wholly owned Subsidiaries on behalf of the Company or one of its wholly owned Subsidiaries).

SECTION 3.10 *Customers*. There has not been any Material Adverse Change in the business relationship of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with any customer who accounted for more than five percent of the Company s and its Subsidiaries sales (on a consolidated basis) during the twelve months preceding the date of this Agreement.

#### SECTION 3.11 Compliance with Applicable Laws.

- (a) The Company and its Subsidiaries hold all material permits, licenses, variances, exemptions, orders, registrations and approvals of all Governmental Entities (the Company Permits) that are required for them to own, lease or operate their assets and to carry on their businesses, except where the failure to have any such Company Permits, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms of the Company Permits and all applicable statutes, laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, except where the failure so to comply, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.
- (b) No action, demand, requirement or investigation by any Governmental Entity and no suit, action or proceeding by any Person, in each case with respect to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries, any of their respective assets or any Benefit Plan, is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, other than, in each case, those which, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to (i) have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, (ii) impair the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement or (iii) prevent or materially delay the consummation of any of the Transactions.
- (c) To the Company s Knowledge and except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, (i) there have been no Releases of any Hazardous Materials at, on or under any facility or property currently or formerly owned, leased, or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is the subject of any pending or threatened investigation or proceeding under Environmental Law relating in any manner to the off-site treatment, storage or disposal of any Hazardous Materials generated at any facility or property currently or formerly owned, leased or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has assumed or otherwise agreed to be responsible for any liabilities arising under Environmental Law. The term Environmental Law means any and all applicable laws or regulations or other requirements of any Governmental Entity concerning the protection of human health or the environment. The term Hazardous Materials means all explosive or regulated radioactive materials, hazardous or toxic substances, wastes or chemicals, petroleum (including crude oil or any fraction thereof) or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, and all other materials or chemicals regulated under any Environmental Law. The term Release means any spill, emission, leaking, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching, emanation or migration in, into, onto, or through the environment.

### SECTION 3.12 Benefit Plans.

- (a) Section 3.12(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter lists (i) each individual employment, termination, or severance agreement with employees or former employees of the Company whose annual compensation is at a base rate equal to or exceeding \$100,000, (ii) all employee benefit plans as that term is defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement and Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) and (iii) all other plans or compensation arrangements, maintained or contributed to by the Company for the benefit of its employees (or former employees) and/or their beneficiaries (Benefit Plans). An arrangement will not fail to be a Benefit Plan simply because it only covers one individual.
- (b) The Company has delivered or made available to the Parent a true and complete copy of the following documents (to the extent that they are applicable): (i) each Benefit Plan and any related funding agreements, including all amendments (and Section 3.12(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter includes a description of any such amendment that is not in writing), and (ii) the two most recent Form 5500s

(including all applicable schedules and the opinions of the independent accountants) that were filed on behalf of any Benefit Plan.

- (c) To the Knowledge of the Company, each Benefit Plan at all times has been operated in accordance with its terms, and complies currently, and has complied in the past, both in form and in operation, with all applicable laws, including ERISA and the Code.
- (d) The Company does not maintain any Benefit Plan that provides (or will provide) medical, death, or other fringe benefits to former employees or independent contractors (including retirees), other than benefits that are required to be provided pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code or state law continuation coverage or conversion rights.
- (e) Except as provided in Section 3.12(e) of the Company Disclosure Letter, none of the Benefit Plans provide any benefits that would result in excess parachute payments (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code), either (i) solely as a result of the consummation of the Transactions or (ii) as a result of the consummation of the Transactions and any actions taken after the Closing. Furthermore, the consummation of the Transactions will not require the funding, whether formal or informal, of the benefits under any Benefit Plan (e.g., contributions to a Rabbi Trust).
  - (f) No Benefit Plan is subject to Title IV of ERISA.
- (g) Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company, none of the Persons performing services for the Company have been improperly classified as being independent contractors, leased employees or as being exempt from the payment of wages for overtime.
- (h) Other than routine claims for benefits under the Benefit Plan and those relating to qualified domestic relations orders, there are no (i) pending or (ii) to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened lawsuits or other claims against or involving any Benefit Plan, or any Fiduciary (within the meaning of Section 3(21)(A) of ERISA) of such Benefit Plan brought on behalf of any participant, beneficiary, or Fiduciary thereunder, nor is there any reasonable basis for any such claim.
- (i) The Company has no intention or commitment, whether legally binding or not, to create any additional Benefit Plan, or to modify any existing Benefit Plan so as to increase benefits to participants or the cost of maintaining the Benefit Plan. The benefits under all Benefit Plans are as represented, and have not been, and will not be, increased subsequent to the date of this Agreement. No statement, either oral or written, has been made by the Company (or any agent of the Company) to any Person regarding any Benefit Plan that is not in accordance with such Benefit Plan that could have adverse economic consequences to the Parent or the Surviving Corporation.
- (j) To the Knowledge of the Company, all costs of administering and contributions required to be made to each Benefit Plan under the terms of that Benefit Plan, ERISA, the Code, or any other applicable law have been timely made, and are fully deductible in the year for which they were paid, and all other amounts that should be accrued to date as liabilities of the Company under or with respect to each Benefit Plan (including administrative expenses and incurred but not reported claims) for the current plan year of the Benefit Plan have been recorded on the books of the Company.
- (k) For purposes of this Section 3.12(k) Company International Plans means each compensation and benefit plan required to be maintained or contributed to by the law or applicable custom or rule of the relevant jurisdiction outside of the United States. As regards each such Company International Plan, unless disclosed in Section 3.12(k) of the Company Disclosure Letter, to the Knowledge of the Company, (i) each of the Company International Plans is in compliance with the provisions of the laws of each jurisdiction in which each such Company International Plan is maintained, to the extent those laws are applicable to the Company International Plans; (ii) all material contributions to, and material payments from, the Company International Plans that may have been required to be made in accordance with the terms of any such Company International Plan, and, when applicable, the law of the jurisdiction in which such Company International Plan is maintained, have been timely made or shall be made by the Closing Date, and all such contributions to

the Company International Plans, and all payments under the Company International Plans, for any period ending before the Closing Date that are not yet, but will be, required to be made, are reflected as an accrued liability in the most recent financial statements included in the Company Filed SEC Documents; (iii) the Company has materially complied with all applicable reporting and notice requirements, and all of the Company International Plans have obtained from the governmental body having jurisdiction with respect to such plans any required determinations, if any, that such Company International Plans are in compliance with the laws of the relevant jurisdiction if such determinations are required in order to give effect to the Company International Plan; (iv) each of the Company International Plans has been administered in all material respects at all times in accordance with its terms and applicable law and regulations; (v) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no pending investigations by any governmental body involving the Company International Plans, and no pending claims (except for claims for benefits payable in the normal operation of the Company International Plans), suits or proceedings against any Company International Plan or asserting any rights or claims to benefits under any Company International Plan; and (vi) the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not by itself create or otherwise result in any liability with respect to any Company International Plan other than the triggering of payment to participants.

- (l) For purposes of this Section 3.12 only, the term the Company shall include any entity that is aggregated with the Company under Section 414(b), (c), (m), or (o) of the Code.
- (m) Section 3.12(m) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete listing of all employees of the Company as of the date of this Agreement.

#### SECTION 3.13 Taxes.

- (a) As used in this Agreement, (i) the terms Tax or Taxes mean (A) all federal, state, local, foreign and other net income, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, ad valorem, alternative minimum, transfer, franchise, profits, license, lease, service, service use, withholding, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, estimated, premium, property, windfall profits, customs, duties or other taxes, fees, assessments or charges of any kind whatsoever imposed by any Governmental Entity (a Taxing Authority) responsible for the imposition, collection or administration of any such taxes, fees, assessments or charges, together with any interest and any penalties, additions to tax or additional amounts with respect thereto, and (B) any liability for any Tax described in the immediately preceding clause (A) as a result of being a transferee or successor, by contract or otherwise, or as a result of being or having been a member of an affiliated, consolidated or combined group, including under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 or similar state, local or foreign law or (C) any liability for any amount described in the immediately preceding clauses (A) or (B) pursuant to a tax indemnity, tax sharing or similar agreement, arrangement or understanding; and (ii) the term Returns means all returns, declarations, reports, statements and other documents (including any related or supporting information, schedules or exhibits) required to be filed in respect of Taxes, including any amendment with respect thereto.
- (b) There have been properly completed and filed on a timely basis (taking into account all properly obtained extensions) and in correct form all material Returns required to be filed by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. The foregoing Returns were correct and complete in all material respects and the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has paid or there has been paid on its behalf all Taxes due whether or not shown (or required to be shown) on a Return. An extension of time within which to file any Return that has not been filed has not been requested or granted.
- (c) As of the date of this Agreement, there are no current or pending or proposed audits or examinations of any Return relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by any Taxing Authority in connection with any of the Returns. No waivers of statutes of limitation with respect to the Returns or the assessment of Taxes have been given by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or with respect to any Return which a Taxing Authority has asserted should have been filed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) which waivers are still in effect. All deficiencies asserted or assessments made as a result of any examinations have been fully paid, or are being contested in good faith and an adequate reserve therefor has been established in accordance with GAAP and is fully reflected in the financial statements included in the Company Filed SEC Documents or the financial statements included in Section 3.5(c) of the Company Disclosure Letter.

- (d) The accruals and reserves for unpaid Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (excluding any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) set forth or included in the most recent financial statements included in the Company Filed SEC Documents are adequate in accordance with GAAP to cover all Taxes accrued or accruable through the date thereof. The Company has no liability for unpaid Taxes incurred after the date of the most recent financial statements included in the Company Filed SEC Documents, other than Taxes incurred by it in the ordinary course of business.
- (e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has been a member of an affiliated group filing consolidated, combined or similar Returns other than the group of which the Company is the common parent. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is or at any time has been a party to or bound by (nor will the Company or any of its Subsidiaries become a party to or bound by) any tax indemnity, tax sharing, tax allocation or similar agreement that includes a party other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (f) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has constituted either a distributing corporation or a controlled corporation in a distribution of stock qualifying for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code (i) in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement or (ii) in a distribution which could otherwise constitute part of a plan or series of related transactions (within the meaning of Section 355(e) of the Code) in conjunction with the Merger.
- (g) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has complied in all material respects with the provisions of the Code (and similar provisions under any other laws) relating to the withholding and payment of Taxes and has, within the time and in the manner prescribed by Law, withheld from employee wages and paid over to the proper Governmental Entities all material amounts required to be withheld and paid over. The Benefit Plans and the other Company employee compensation arrangements in effect as of the date of this Agreement have been designed so that the disallowance of a material deduction under Section 162(m) of the Code for employee remuneration will not apply to any amounts paid or payable by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any such plan or arrangement and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no fact or circumstance exists that would reasonably be expected to cause such disallowance to apply to any such amounts.
- (h) To the Knowledge of the Company, no claim has ever been made by a Taxing Authority with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in a jurisdiction where such entity does not file Returns that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.
- (i) The Company is not, and has not been, a United States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code.
- (j) Except for liens for real and personal property Taxes that are not yet due and payable, there are no liens for any material Tax upon any of the assets or properties of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (k) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries owns an interest in an entity that would be treated as a partnership for federal income Tax purposes.
- (l) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has been required to make, nor has there been proposed, any adjustment pursuant to Section 481 of the Code.
- (m) The Company is not a collapsible corporation under Section 341 of the Code and has not filed an election as a consenting corporation under Section 341(f) of the Code.
- SECTION 3.14 *Information Supplied.* None of the information supplied or to be supplied by the Company specifically for inclusion or incorporation by reference in (a) the registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed with the SEC by the Parent in connection with the offer and sale of shares of Parent Common Stock in connection with the Merger (the Form S-4) will, at the time the Form S-4 becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (b) the Proxy Statement will, at the date it is first mailed to the Company s stockholders or at the time of the Company Stockholders Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact

required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act. No representation or warranty is made by the Company with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied by the Parent specifically for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement.

SECTION 3.15 *Voting Requirements.* The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all outstanding shares of Company Common Stock, as of the record date for the Company Stockholders Meeting, adopting this Agreement (the Company Stockholder Approval ) is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of the Company s capital stock necessary to approve and adopt this Agreement or any of the Transactions.

SECTION 3.16 State Takeover Statutes. The board of directors of the Company, either directly or through action of a duly authorized committee thereof has taken all necessary action to ensure that the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL do not apply to the Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the Stockholders Agreement, the Merger and the other Transactions. No other state takeover statute or regulation is applicable to the Merger or the other Transactions.

SECTION 3.17 *Brokers.* No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person, other than UBS Warburg, the fees and expenses of which will be paid by the Company, is entitled to any broker s, finder s, financial advisor s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company. The Company has furnished to the Parent true and complete copies of all agreements under which any such fees or expenses are payable and all indemnification and other agreements related to the engagement of the Persons to whom such fees are payable.

SECTION 3.18 *Opinion of Financial Advisor*. The Company has received the written opinion of UBS Warburg, dated February 25, 2003, to the effect that, as of such date, the Merger Consideration is fair, from a financial point of view, to the stockholders of the Company, a signed copy of which opinion has been or promptly will be delivered to the Parent.

SECTION 3.19 Absence of Questionable Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any director, officer, agent, employee or other Person acting on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has used any corporate or other funds for unlawful contributions, payments, gifts, or entertainment, or made any unlawful expenditures relating to political activity to government officials or others or established or maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds in violation of Section 30A of the Exchange Act. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any current director, officer, agent, employee or other Person acting on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has accepted or received any unlawful contributions, payments, gifts or expenditures. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries that is required to file reports pursuant to Section 12 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act is in compliance with the provisions of Section 13(b) of the Exchange Act.

SECTION 3.20 *Insider Interests*. To the Knowledge of the Company, no officer or director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has any material interest in any property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, including inventions, patents, trademarks or trade names, used in or pertaining to the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

SECTION 3.21 *Rights Agreement*. The Company has taken all actions necessary to ensure that the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions will not cause the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to be deemed an Acquiring Person (as defined in the Rights Agreement). Neither the Distribution Date nor the Stock Acquisition Date (each as defined in the Rights Agreement) has occurred or will occur as a result of this Agreement or any of the Transactions.

#### ARTICLE 4

#### REPRESENTATIONS OF THE PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Except as disclosed in the disclosure letter delivered by the Parent to the Company concurrently with the execution of this Agreement (the Parent Disclosure Letter ) and making reference to the particular Section of this Agreement to which exception is being taken (which disclosures shall also constitute representations and warranties hereunder), the Parent and Merger Sub represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

SECTION 4.1 Organization, Standing and Corporate Power. Each of the Parent and Merger Sub is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated and has the requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its business as now being conducted. Each of the Parent and Merger Sub is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing (with respect to jurisdictions which recognize such concept) in each jurisdiction in which the nature of its business or the ownership, leasing, licensing or operation of its assets makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except for those jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or licensed or to be in good standing, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Parent. The Parent has made available to the Company prior to the execution of this Agreement complete and correct copies of its certificate of incorporation and bylaws and the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Merger Sub, in each case as amended to the date of this Agreement.

SECTION 4.2 *Capital Structure*. The authorized capital stock of the Parent consists of 150,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$.001 per share, of the Parent (the Parent Authorized Preferred Stock). As of February 18, 2003, (a) 54,782,061 shares of Parent Common Stock were issued and outstanding, (b) no shares of Parent Authorized Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding, and (c) 32,097,186 shares of Parent Common Stock are reserved for issuance under the Parent s 1989 Stock Plan, the Parent s 1990 Stock Plan, the Parent s 1990 Equity Incentive Plan, the Parent s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the Management Graphics, Inc. 1985 Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, and the Splash Technology Holdings, Inc. 1996 Stock Option Plan (of which there were 11,763,408 outstanding options or rights as of February 20, 2003 to acquire shares of Parent Common Stock). No bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of the Parent having the right to vote (or convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which stockholders of the Parent may vote are issued or outstanding. All outstanding shares of capital stock of the Parent are, and all shares which may be issued in connection with the Transactions will be, when issued, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, not subject to preemptive rights and free and clear of any Liens (other than Liens created by the holders thereof and restrictions on transfer arising under applicable securities laws).

#### SECTION 4.3 Authority; Noncontravention.

- (a) Each of the Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by the Parent and Merger Sub of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Parent and Merger Sub, as applicable. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by each of the other parties hereto, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of them in accordance with its terms.
- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement does not, and the consummation of the Transactions and compliance with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with, or result in any violation of, or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of amendment, termination, cancellation or acceleration of any obligation or loss of a benefit under or increase of any obligation under, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of the Parent or Merger Sub under, (i) the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the Parent or Merger Sub, (ii) any loan or credit agreement, note, bond, mortgage, indenture, lease or other contract, agreement, obligation, commitment, arrangement, understanding, instrument, permit, concession, franchise, license or similar authorization applicable to the Parent or Merger Sub or their respective properties or assets or (iii) subject to the

governmental filings and other matters referred to in Section 4.3(c), (A) any judgment, order or decree or (B) any statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation, in each case, applicable to the Parent or Merger Sub or their respective properties or assets, other than, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii), any such conflicts, violations, defaults, rights, losses or Liens that individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to (x) have a Material Adverse Effect on the Parent, (y) impair the ability of the Parent or Merger Sub to perform its obligations under this Agreement or (z) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Transactions.

(c) No consent, approval, order or authorization of, action by, or in respect of, or registration, recordation, declaration or filing with, any Governmental Entity is required by or with respect to the Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Parent and Merger Sub, the consummation by the Parent and Merger Sub of the Transactions, except for (i) the filing with the SEC of (A) the Proxy Statement, (B) the Form S-4 and (B) such reports under Section 13(a), 13(d), 15(d) or 16(a) of the Exchange Act as may be required in connection with this Agreement, the Stockholders Agreement and the Transactions; (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and such filings with Governmental Entities to satisfy the applicable requirements of state securities or blue sky laws; (iii) such filings with and approvals of the NASDAQ National Market to permit the shares of Parent Common Stock that are to be issued in connection with the Merger to be listed on The NASDAQ National Market; and (iv) such other consents, approvals, orders, authorizations, registrations, declarations and filings the failure of which to be made or obtained individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to (x) have a Material Adverse Effect on the Parent, (y) impair the ability of the Parent or Merger Sub to perform its obligations under this Agreement or (z) prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Transactions.

#### SECTION 4.4 SEC Documents; Undisclosed Liabilities.

- (a) The Parent has filed all required reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents (including exhibits and all other information incorporated therein) with the SEC since December 31, 2001 (the Parent SEC Documents). As of their respective dates, the Parent SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and none of the Parent SEC Documents when filed (and if amended or superseded in a Parent Filed SEC Document, then on the date of such filing) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Except to the extent that information contained in a Parent SEC Document has been revised or superseded in a Parent Filed SEC Document, none of the Parent SEC Documents contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (b) The financial statements of Parent included in the Parent SEC Documents comply as to form, as of their respective dates of filing with the SEC, in all material respects with the Accounting Rules, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP (except, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal non-material recurring year-end audit adjustments).
- (c) Except (i) as reflected in the financial statements included in the Parent SEC Documents or in the notes thereto or (ii) for liabilities incurred in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions, neither the Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise) which, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Parent.

SECTION 4.5 *Information Supplied*. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by the Parent specifically for inclusion or incorporation by reference in (a) the Form S-4 will, at the time the Form S-4

٨	_	1
А	- /	

becomes effective under the Securities Act, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (b) the Proxy Statement will, at the date it is first mailed to the Company s stockholders or at the time of the Company Stockholders Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. The Form S-4 will comply as to form in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act. No representation or warranty is made by the Parent with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference therein based on information supplied by the Company specifically for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Form S-4.

SECTION 4.6 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except for liabilities incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Stockholders Agreement or the Transactions and except as disclosed in the Parent SEC Documents filed and publicly available prior to the date of this Agreement (the Parent Filed SEC Documents), since December 31, 2001, the Parent and its Subsidiaries have conducted their business only in the ordinary course, and since such date there has not been any Material Adverse Change in the Parent.

SECTION 4.7 *Voting Requirements*. No vote of any class or series of capital stock of the Parent is necessary to approve and adopt this Agreement and the Transactions.

SECTION 4.8 Operations of Merger Sub. Merger Sub has engaged in no business activities and has conducted its operations only as contemplated hereby.

SECTION 4.9 *Litigation*. There is no Litigation pending, or to the Knowledge of the Parent, threatened against or affecting the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries nor is there any judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any Governmental Entity or arbitrator outstanding against the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries having, or which would reasonably be expected to (a) have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Parent, (b) impair the ability of the Parent or Merger Sub to perform its obligations under this Agreement or (c) prevent or materially delay the consummation of any of the Transactions.

SECTION 4.10 *Brokers*. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is entitled to any broker s, finder s, financial advisor s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Parent.

SECTION 4.11 Absence of Questionable Payments. Neither the Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any director, officer, agent, employee or other Person acting on behalf of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, has used any corporate or other funds for unlawful contributions, payments, gifts, or entertainment, or made any unlawful expenditures relating to political activity to government officials or others or established or maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds in violation of Section 30A of the Exchange Act. Neither the Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any current director, officer, agent, employee or other Person acting on behalf of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, has accepted or received any unlawful contributions, payments, gifts or expenditures. The Parent and each of its Subsidiaries which is required to file reports pursuant to Section 12 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act is in compliance with the provisions of Section 13(b) of the Exchange Act.

SECTION 4.12 *Insider Interests*. No officer or director of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has any material interest in any property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, including inventions, patents, trademarks or trade names, used in or pertaining to the business of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

#### ARTICLE 5

## COVENANTS

SECTION 5.1 *Conduct of the Company s Business*. Except as set forth in Section 5.1 of the Company Disclosure Letter, as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement or as consented to in writing by the Parent, during the period from the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, carry on their respective businesses in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact their business to the end that their goodwill

and ongoing businesses shall not be impaired in any material respect at the Effective Time. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing (but subject to the above exceptions), during the period from the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time, the Company shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to:

- (a) other than dividends and distributions (including liquidating distributions) by a direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary of the Company to its parent, (i) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock, property or otherwise) in respect of, any of its capital stock, (ii) split, combine or reclassify any of its capital stock or issue or authorize the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, or (iii) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any other securities thereof or any rights, warrants or options to acquire any such shares or other securities, (other than pursuant to the exercise of existing stock repurchase rights listed in Section 3.3 of the Company Disclosure Letter);
- (b) issue, deliver, sell, pledge or otherwise encumber or subject to any Lien any shares of its capital stock, any other voting securities or any securities convertible into, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares, voting securities or convertible securities, other than (i) the issuance of Company Stock Options granted consistent with past practice to new employees (other than executive officers) of the Company; *provided* that each such Company Stock Option shall have an exercise price per share equal to the closing price per share of Company Common Stock on the grant date, shall have standard vesting provisions in conformity with customary practice and shall not have any provisions which accelerate in whole or in part the vesting or exercisability of such option in connection with the Transactions or any termination of service at or at any time following the Merger, (ii) the issuance of Company Common Stock upon the exercise of (A) the Company Stock Options, and (B) the Company Warrants, in each case outstanding as of the date hereof in accordance with their present terms, or upon the exercise of the Company Stock Options referred to in clause (i) in accordance with their terms, or (iii) the issuance of shares of Company Common Stock pursuant to the ESPP in accordance with its present terms and not in violation of this Agreement;
  - (c) amend its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other comparable organizational documents;
- (d) acquire or agree to acquire by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing all or substantially all of assets of, or by any other manner, any business or any Person;
- (e) sell, lease, license, sell and leaseback, mortgage or otherwise encumber or subject to any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets (including securitizations), other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (f) (i) purchase, prepay or incur any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantee any such indebtedness of another Person, issue or sell any debt securities or warrants or other rights to acquire any debt securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, guarantee any debt securities of another Person, enter into any keep well or other Contract to maintain any financial statement condition of another Person or enter into any Contract having the economic effect of any of the foregoing, except for intercompany indebtedness between the Company and any of its wholly-owned Subsidiaries or between such Subsidiaries, or (ii) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person, except for employee advances made in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (g) make or agree to make any new capital expenditures which, individually, are in excess of \$25,000 or, in the aggregate, are in excess of \$100,000 or enter into any commitment for the purchase, lease or use of any real property;
- (h) make any Tax election that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to adversely affect in any material respect the Tax liability or Tax attributes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or settle or compromise any material income Tax liability;
- (i) (A) pay, discharge, settle or satisfy any material claims, liabilities or obligations (absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent or otherwise), or Litigation (whether or not commenced prior to the date of this Agreement) other than (1) the payment of an aggregate of \$250,000 in connection with Litigation or

- (2) the payment, discharge, settlement or satisfaction, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or in accordance with their terms, of liabilities recognized or disclosed in the most recent financial statements included in the Company Filed SEC Documents or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices since the date of such financial statements, or (B) waive the benefits of, agree to modify in any manner, terminate, release any Person from or fail to enforce any confidentiality, standstill or similar Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or of which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a beneficiary;
- (j) except as required by law or contemplated hereby, enter into, adopt or amend or terminate any Benefit Plan or any other Contract, plan or policy involving the Company or its Subsidiaries, and one or more of its directors, officers or employees, or change the manner in which contributions to any Benefit Plan are made or the basis on which such contributions are determined;
- (k) except for normal increases relating to non-executive employees in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or as required by the terms of any employment agreement (the existence of which does not constitute a violation of this Agreement), increase the compensation of any director, officer or other employee or pay any benefit or amount not required by a Benefit Plan as in effect on the date of this Agreement to any such Person;
- (l) increase the aggregate number of employees of the Company to more than ten employees/ consultants from the number of employees set forth in Section 3.12(m) of the Company Disclosure Letter;
- (m) enter into any operating lease or incur (other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice) any liability or obligation not required by GAAP to be recorded on the Company s consolidated balance sheet at the time of incurrence;
- (n) manage its cash, cash equivalents and working capital except in accordance with past practices (which practices include applying commercially reasonable efforts to collect receivables and not paying liabilities or other obligations until they become due and payable);
- (o) transfer or license to any Person or entity or otherwise extend, amend or modify any rights to the Intellectual Property Rights of the Company or its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices; *provided* that in no event shall the Company or any of its Subsidiaries license on an exclusive basis or sell any Intellectual Property Rights;
- (p) enter into or amend any Contract pursuant to which any Person is granted exclusive marketing, manufacturing or other rights with respect to any product, service, process or technology of the Company or its Subsidiaries;
- (q) enter into any Contract which, if it were in existence on the date of this Agreement, would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Section 3.9; or
  - (r) authorize, commit or agree to take any of the foregoing actions.

SECTION 5.2 Advice of Changes. The Company and the Parent shall promptly advise the other party orally and in writing to the extent it has Knowledge of (a) any representation or warranty made by it (and, in the case of the Parent, made by Merger Sub) contained in this Agreement becoming untrue or inaccurate such that the condition set forth in Section 6.2(a) or Section 6.3(a), respectively, would not be satisfied, (b) the failure by it (and, in the case of the Parent, by Merger Sub) to comply with or satisfy in any material respect any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it under this Agreement or (c) any change or event causing, or which is reasonably likely to cause, any of the conditions set forth in Article 6 not to be satisfied; *provided, however*, that no such notification shall affect the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements of the parties (or remedies with respect thereto) or the conditions to the obligations of the parties under this Agreement.

SECTION 5.3 No Solicitation by the Company.

(a) The Company shall not, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to, nor shall it authorize or permit any of its directors, officers or employees or any investment banker, financial advisor, attorney, accountant or

other representative retained by it or any of its Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly through another Person, (i) solicit, initiate, resume or encourage (including by way of furnishing or disclosing non-public information) any Takeover Proposal, (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding any Takeover Proposal, or (iii) enter into any Acquisition Agreement; provided, however, that if, at any time prior to the date of the Company Stockholders Meeting (the Applicable Period ), the board of directors of the Company (or the special committee thereof) determines in its good faith judgment, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that the failure to furnish such information or participate in such negotiations or discussions would likely result in a breach of its fiduciary duties to the Company s stockholders under applicable law, the Company and its representatives may, in response to a Takeover Proposal with a price greater than the Transaction Value that is otherwise reasonably likely to lead to a Superior Proposal which was not solicited by it in violation of this Section 5.3(a), and subject to providing prior written notice of its decision to take such action to the Parent and compliance with Section 5.3(c), (x) furnish information with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries to any Person making a Takeover Proposal with a price greater than the Transaction Value that is otherwise reasonably likely to lead to a Superior Proposal pursuant to a customary confidentiality agreement on terms at least as restrictive as the Confidentiality Agreement that permits the disclosures to the Parent required by this Agreement and (y) participate in discussions or negotiations regarding such Takeover Proposal. For purposes of this Agreement, Takeover Proposal means any inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person or group (as such term is defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) relating to any direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of 15% or more of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or 15% or more of any class or series of equity securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, any tender offer or exchange offer that if consummated would result in any Person or group (as such term is defined in Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) beneficially owning 15% or more of any class or series of equity securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction or the sale or other transfer of all or substantially all of its assets involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than the Transactions.

(b) Neither the board of directors of the Company nor any committee thereof shall (i) withdraw, modify or supplement, or propose publicly to withdraw modify or supplement, in a manner adverse to the Parent, the approval or recommendation by such board of directors or such committee of this Agreement, (ii) approve or recommend, or propose publicly to approve or recommend, any Takeover Proposal, or (iii) approve or recommend, or propose to approve or recommend, or execute or enter into, any letter of intent, agreement in principle, merger agreement, acquisition agreement, option agreement or other similar agreement or propose publicly or agree to do any of the foregoing (each, an Acquisition Agreement ) related to any Takeover Proposal, other than any such agreement entered into concurrently with a termination pursuant to the next sentence in order to facilitate such action. Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the Applicable Period, in response to a Superior Proposal which did not arise out of or was not related to a breach of Section 5.3(a), the board of directors of the Company (or the independent committee thereof) may (subject to this and the following sentence) terminate this Agreement and recommend such Superior Proposal (and concurrently with or after such termination, if it so chooses, cause the Company to enter into any Acquisition Agreement with respect to any Superior Proposal), but only at a time that is during the Applicable Period and is after the fifth Business Day following the Parent s receipt of written notice advising the Parent that the board of directors of the Company (or the independent committee thereof) is prepared to accept a Superior Proposal, specifying the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal and identifying the Person making such Superior Proposal. For purposes of this Agreement, a Superior Proposal means any proposal made by a third party to acquire, directly or indirectly, including pursuant to a tender offer, exchange offer, merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction, for consideration consisting of cash and/or securities, more than 50% of the combined voting power of the shares of Company Common Stock then outstanding or all or substantially all the assets of the Company and otherwise on terms which the board of directors of the Company determines in its good faith judgment (after consultation with a financial advisor of nationally recognized reputation), after considering all terms and conditions of such proposal, including the likelihood and timing of its consummation, that such proposal would result in a transaction delivering to the Company s stockholders superior value, from a financial point of view,

to the Merger and for which financing, to the extent required, is then committed or which, in the good faith judgment of the board of directors of the Company (or the independent committee thereof), is reasonably capable of being obtained by such third party.

- (c) In addition to the obligations of the Company set forth in Sections 5.3(a) and 5.3(b), the Company shall promptly (and no later than 24 hours after receipt) advise the Parent orally and in writing of any request for information or of any inquiry with respect to a Takeover Proposal, the material terms and conditions of such request, inquiry or Takeover Proposal and the identity of the Person making such request, inquiry or Takeover Proposal. The Company will promptly keep the Parent informed of the status and details (including amendments or changes or proposed amendments or changes) of any such request, inquiry or Takeover Proposal.
- (d) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall prohibit the Company from taking and disclosing to its stockholders a position contemplated by Rule 14e-2(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act or from making any disclosure to the Company s stockholders if, in the good faith judgment of the board of directors of the Company (after consultation with outside legal counsel), failure so to disclose would constitute a breach of its obligations under applicable law.

SECTION 5.4 The Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement; the Stockholders Meeting.

(a) As soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the Parent and the Company shall prepare, and the Parent shall file with the SEC, the Form S-4, in which the Proxy Statement will be included as a prospectus. Each of the Company and the Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts (including the preparation of amendments to such documents and the provision of supplemental information in response to SEC comments) to have the Form S-4 declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as practicable after such filing. The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Proxy Statement to be mailed to its stockholders as promptly as practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective under the Securities Act. The Parent shall also take any action (other than qualifying to do business in any jurisdiction in which it is not now so qualified or to file a general consent to service of process) required to be taken under any applicable state securities laws in connection with the issuance of Parent Common Stock in connection with the Merger and the Company shall furnish all information concerning the Company and the holders of capital stock of the Company as may be reasonably requested in connection with any such action. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any information relating to the Company or the Parent, or any of their respective affiliates, officers or directors, should be discovered by the Company or the Parent which should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to either the Form S-4 or the Proxy Statement, so that (i) the Form S-4 would not include any misstatement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading or (ii) the Proxy Statement would not include any misstatement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as applicable, the party which discovers such information shall promptly notify the other parties hereto and an appropriate amendment or supplement describing such information shall be promptly filed with the SEC and, to the extent required by law, disseminated to the stockholders of the Company. No filing of, or amendment or supplement to, or correspondence to the SEC or its staff with respect to, the Form S-4 or the Proxy Statement (including documents incorporated therein by reference) will be made by either the Parent or the Company without providing the other party a reasonable opportunity to review and comment thereon. The Parent will advise the Company, promptly after it receives notice thereof, of the time when the Form S-4 has become effective or any supplement or amendment has been filed, the issuance of any stop order, the suspension of the qualification of the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in connection with the Merger for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or any request by the SEC for amendment of the Form S-4 or the Proxy Statement or comments thereon and responses thereto or requests by the SEC for additional information. The Company will advise the Parent, promptly after it receives notice thereof, of any request by the SEC for the amendment of the Proxy Statement or comments thereon and responses thereto or requests by the SEC for additional information.

(b) The Company shall, as soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement, establish a record date (which will be as soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement) for, duly call, give notice of, convene and hold the a meeting of its stockholders (the Company Stockholders Meeting) solely for the purpose of obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval. The Company shall engage a proxy solicitation firm to assist it in attempting to obtain the requisite vote of its stockholders. Subject to Section 5.3(d), the Company shall, through its board of directors, recommend to its stockholders the adoption of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing but subject to its right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 5.3(b), the Company agrees that its obligations pursuant to the first sentence of this Section 5.4(b) shall not be affected by the commencement, public proposal, public disclosure or communication to the Company of any Takeover Proposal.

SECTION 5.5 Letters of the Company s Accountants. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be delivered to the Parent two letters from the Company s independent public accountants, one dated a date within two Business Days before the date on which the Form S-4 shall become effective and one dated a date within two Business Days before the Closing Date, each addressed to the Parent, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Parent and customary in scope and substance for comfort letters delivered by independent public accountants in connection with registration statements similar to the Form S-4. The Company shall provide all reasonable cooperation to the Company s independent public accountants to enable them to issue the letters referred to in this Section 5.5 and shall use all reasonable efforts to cause them to do so.

SECTION 5.6 Access to Information; Confidentiality. Upon reasonable notice and subject to the Confidentiality Agreement, dated February 6, 2003, between the Parent and the Company (the Confidentiality Agreement), the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, afford to the Parent and to its officers, employees, accountants, counsel, financial advisors and other representatives, reasonable access during normal business hours during the period prior to the Effective Time to all its properties, books, contracts, commitments, personnel and records and, during such period, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, furnish promptly to the Parent (a) a copy of each report, schedule, registration statement and other document filed by it during such period pursuant to the requirements of federal or state securities laws and (b) all other information concerning its business, properties and personnel as the Parent may reasonably request (including the Company s outside accountants work papers and the Company s monthly financial statements). The Company shall not be required to provide access to or disclose information where such access or disclosure would contravene any law, rule, regulation, order or decree. No review pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall limit the Parent s or Merger Sub s reliance on or the enforceability of any representation or warranty made by the Company herein. The Parent will hold, and will cause its officers, employees, accountants, counsel, financial advisors and other representatives and affiliates to hold, any nonpublic information in accordance with the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement.

#### SECTION 5.7 Reasonable Efforts.

(a) Prior to the Closing, upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, each of the parties agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable (subject to any applicable laws) to consummate the Merger and make effective the Merger and the other Transactions as promptly as practicable including, (i) the preparation and filing of all forms, registrations and notices required to be filed to consummate the Merger and the other Transactions and the taking of such actions as are necessary to obtain any requisite approvals, consents, orders, exemptions or waivers by any third party or Governmental Entity, and (ii) the satisfaction of the other parties conditions to Closing. In addition, no party hereto shall take any action after the date of this Agreement to materially delay the obtaining of, or result in not obtaining, any permission, approval or consent from any Governmental Entity necessary to be obtained prior to Closing. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be entitled to (nor shall Parent or any of its Subsidiaries be required to) divest or hold separate or otherwise take or commit to take any action that limits the Parent s or the Surviving Corporation s freedom of action with respect to, or ability to retain, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, without the Parent s

prior written consent (which may be withheld in the Parent s sole and absolute discretion). Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Parent to commence Litigation to remove any Restraint issued under any antitrust law.

- (b) Prior to the Closing, each party shall promptly consult with the other parties to this Agreement with respect to, provide any necessary information with respect to, and provide the other parties (or their respective counsel) with copies of, all filings made by such party with any Governmental Entity or any other information supplied by such party to a Governmental Entity in connection with this Agreement, the Merger and the other Transactions. Each party hereto shall promptly inform the other of any communication from any Governmental Entity regarding any of the Transactions. If any party hereto or Affiliate thereof receives a request for additional information or documentary material from any such Governmental Entity with respect to any of the Transactions, then such party shall endeavor in good faith to make, or cause to be made, as soon as reasonably practicable and after consultation with the other parties, an appropriate response in compliance with such request. To the extent that transfers, amendments or modifications of any Company Permits are required as a result of the execution of this Agreement or consummation of any of the Transactions, the Company shall, and shall cause the Company Subsidiaries to, use commercially reasonable efforts to effect such transfers, amendments or modifications.
- (c) In connection with and without limiting the foregoing, the Parent, the Company and their respective boards of directors shall (i) take all action necessary to ensure that no takeover statute or similar statute or regulation is or becomes applicable to this Agreement or any of the Transactions and (ii) if any takeover statute or similar statute becomes applicable to this Agreement or any of the Transactions, take all action necessary to ensure the Transactions are completed as soon as practicable.
- (d) Unless the statute of limitations will bar the bringing of such claim after the termination of this Agreement, no party shall, directly or indirectly, bring or initiate (including by counterclaim or impleader) any litigation or other action before a Governmental Entity or arbitration against another party or involving or affecting their assets.

#### SECTION 5.8 Employee Matters.

- (a) As soon as practicable after the Closing Date (the Benefits Date ), the Parent shall provide, or cause to be provided, employee benefit plans, programs and arrangements to employees of the Company that are the same as those made generally available to similarly situated non-represented employees of the Parent who are hired by the Parent after January 1, 2003. From the Effective Time to the Benefits Date (which the parties acknowledge may occur on different dates with respect to different plans, programs or arrangements of the Parent), the Parent shall provide, or cause to be provided, the employee benefit plans, programs and arrangements of the Company (other than equity-based plans, programs and arrangements) provided to employees of the Company as of the date hereof.
- (b) With respect to each benefit plan, program, practice, policy or arrangement maintained by the Parent (the Parent Plans) in which employees of the Company participate on the Benefit Date, (i) service with the Company and its Subsidiaries (or their respective predecessors) prior to the Effective Time shall be credited against all service and waiting period requirements under the Parent Plans (*provided* that such recognition shall not be for the purpose of determining (A) retirement benefits under the Parent s defined contribution plans (unless otherwise required by law), (B) any Parent subsidy under the Parent s retiree health plans) and (C) Parent s sabbatical benefit, (ii) the Parent Plans shall not provide any pre-existing condition exclusions and (iii) the deductibles, copayments and out-of-pocket maximums in effect under the Parent Plans shall be reduced by any deductibles, copayments and out-of-pocket maximums paid by such individuals under the Company Benefit Plans for the plan year in which the Effective Time occurs. Unless Parent consents otherwise in writing, the Company shall take all action necessary to terminate, or cause to terminate, before the Effective Time, any Benefit Plan that is a 401(k) plan or other defined contribution retirement plan.
- (c) Within a reasonable period of time after the last business day of each month after the date hereof and on the Closing Date, the Company shall, as and to the extent necessary, deliver to Parent any additional

information which Company reasonably believes would affect the determination of each person who the Company reasonably believes is a disqualified individual (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code).

(d) Employees of the Company who transfer to the employment of the Parent or the Surviving Corporation after the Effective Time and meet the eligibility requirements for participation in the Parent Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Parent ESPP) shall be eligible to begin payroll deductions under that plan as of the next entry date thereunder beginning after the Effective Time.

SECTION 5.9 Indemnification, Exculpation and Insurance.

- (a) The Parent and Merger Sub agree that all rights to indemnification and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time now existing in favor of the current or former directors or officers of the Company and its Subsidiaries as provided in their respective certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or comparable organizational documents) and any indemnification agreements of the Company (as each is in effect on the date hereof), the existence of which has been disclosed in the Company Disclosure Letter, shall be assumed by the Parent and the Surviving Corporation, without further action, as of the Effective Time and shall survive the Merger and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms, and the Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to honor all such rights.
- (b) If the Surviving Corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, or otherwise dissolves the Surviving Corporation, then, and in each such case, the Parent shall cause proper provision to be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation assume the obligations set forth in this Section 5.9.
- (c) The Parent shall for a period of not less than six years after the Effective Time, either (i) maintain the Company's current directors and officers liability insurance covering acts or omissions occurring prior to the Effective Time (D&O Insurance) with respect to those Persons who are currently covered by the Company's directors and officers liability insurance policy on terms with respect to such coverage and amount no less favorable than those of such policy in effect on the date hereof or (ii) cause to be provided by a reputable insurance company coverage no less favorable, including with respect to coverage and amount, to such directors or officers, as the case may be, than the D&O Insurance, so long as the aggregate premium therefor would not be in excess of \$1.2 million (such amount the Maximum Premium). If the existing or substituted directors and officers liability insurance expires, is terminated or canceled during such six-year period, the Parent will obtain as much D&O Insurance as can be obtained for the remainder of such period for an aggregate premium not in excess of the Maximum Premium.
- (d) The provisions of this Section 5.9 (i) are intended to be for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each indemnified party, his or her heirs and his or her representatives and (ii) are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other rights to indemnification or contribution that any such Person may have by contract or otherwise.

#### SECTION 5.10 Fees and Expenses.

- (a) All fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger, this Agreement, the Stockholders Agreement and the Transactions shall be paid by the party incurring such fees or expenses, whether or not the Merger is consummated, except that each of the Parent and the Company shall in any event bear and pay one-half of the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the filing, printing and mailing of the Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement (including SEC filing fees).
  - (b) If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to:
  - (i) Section 7.1(b)(ii) if the Company or any of its Subsidiaries enters into an Acquisition Agreement or consummates any Takeover Proposal, for consideration per share of Company Common Stock equal to or great than the Transaction Value, within twelve months of such termination of (changing the 15% amounts referred to in the definitions thereof in Section 5.3(a) to 40% for purposes of

this Section 5.10(b)), the Company shall, within two Business Days, pay to the Parent \$828,000 (the Termination Fee ) by wire transfer of immediately available funds;

- (ii) Section 7.1(d), the Company shall, within two Business Days of such termination, pay to the Parent the Termination Fee by wire transfer of immediately available funds;
- (iii) Section 7.1(f), the Company shall, prior to such termination, pay to the Parent the Termination Fee by wire transfer of immediately available funds.

The Company acknowledges that the agreements contained in this Section 5.10(b) are an integral part of the Transactions, and that without these agreements the Parent would not enter into this Agreement; accordingly, if the Company fails promptly to pay the amount due pursuant to this Section 5.10(b), and, in order to obtain such payment, the Parent commences a suit which results in a judgment against the Company for the fee set forth in this Section 5.10(b), the Company shall pay to the Parent its costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees and expenses) in connection with such suit, together with interest on the amount of the fee at the prime rate of Citibank, N.A. in effect on the date such payment was required to be made.

- SECTION 5.11 *Public Announcements.* The Parent and the Company will consult with each other before issuing, and provide each other the opportunity to review, comment upon and concur with, any press release or other public statements with respect to the Transactions, the Merger and the Stockholders Agreement. The parties agree that the initial press release to be issued with respect to the Transactions shall be in the form heretofore agreed to by the parties.
- SECTION 5.12 *Affiliates.* The Company shall deliver to the Parent at least thirty days prior to the Closing Date, a letter identifying all Persons who are, at the time of such letter, affiliates of the Company for purposes of Rule 145 under the Securities Act. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each such Person to deliver to the Parent at least twenty days prior to the Closing Date, a written agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit B.
- SECTION 5.13 *Listing*. The Parent shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Parent Common Stock issuable as part of the Merger Consideration to be approved for listing on the NASDAQ National Market, subject to official notice of issuance, as promptly as practicable after the date hereof, and in any event prior to the Closing Date.
- SECTION 5.14 *Litigation.* The Company shall give the Parent the opportunity to participate in the defense of any litigation against the Company and/or its directors relating to the Transactions, this Agreement or the Stockholders Agreement.
- SECTION 5.15 *Rights Agreement*. The Company s board of directors shall not after the date of this Agreement, without the prior written consent of the Parent, (a) waive or amend any provision of the Rights Agreement or (b) take any action with respect to, or make any determination under, the Rights Agreement, including redeeming the rights or take any action to facilitate a Takeover Proposal; *provided however*, that at any time during the Applicable Period if the board of directors of the Company (or the special committee thereof) determines in its good faith judgment, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that the failure to take such action or make such determination under, waive or amend the Rights Agreement would likely result in a breach of its fiduciary duties to the Company s stockholders under applicable law, the Company s board of directors may take such action or make such determination under, waive or amend the Rights Agreement.

SECTION 5.16 Obligations of Merger Sub; Voting of Shares.

- (a) The Parent shall cause Merger Sub to perform all of its obligations under this Agreement and in connection with the Transactions.
- (b) The Parent shall vote, or cause to be voted, in favor of adoption of this Agreement, all shares of Company Common Stock owned by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries as of the record date (the Record Date ) for the Company Stockholders Meeting.

SECTION 5.17 Stockholders Agreement Legend. The Company will inscribe upon any certificate representing Subject Shares (as defined in the Stockholders Agreement) tendered by a Stockholder (as defined in the Stockholders Agreement) in connection with any proposed transfer of any Subject Shares by a Stockholder in accordance with the terms of the Stockholders Agreement the following legend:

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO A STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 26, 2003, AND ARE SUBJECT TO THE TERMS THEREOF. COPIES OF SUCH AGREEMENT MAY BE OBTAINED AT THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICES OF THE COMPANY  $\,$ ;

and the Company will return such certificate containing such inscription to the Stockholder within three Business Days following the Company s receipt thereof.

#### ARTICLE 6

#### CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

SECTION 6.1 *Conditions to Each Party s Obligation To Effect the Merger.* The respective obligation of each party to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver on or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions:

- (a) The Company Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained.
- (b) No judgment, order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation, entered, enacted, promulgated, enforced or issued by any court or other Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition (collectively, Restraints) shall be in effect, and there shall not be pending or threatened any suit, action or proceeding by any Governmental Entity (i) preventing the consummation of the Merger, (ii) prohibiting or limiting the ownership or operation by the Company or the Parent and their respective Subsidiaries of any material portion of the business or assets of the Company or the Parent and their respective Subsidiaries to dispose of or hold separate any material portion of the business or assets of the Company or the Parent and their respective Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as a result of the Merger or any of the other Transactions or the Stockholders Agreement or (iii) which otherwise would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or the Parent, as applicable; *provided*, *however*, that each of the parties shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the entry of any such Restraints and to appeal as promptly as possible any such Restraints that may be entered.
- (c) The Form S-4 shall have become effective under the Securities Act and shall not be the subject of any stop order or proceedings seeking a stop order.
- (d) The shares of Parent Common Stock issuable to the Company s stockholders as contemplated by this Agreement shall have been approved for listing on The NASDAQ National Market, subject to official notice of issuance.
- SECTION 6.2 *Conditions to Obligations of the Parent and Merger Sub.* The obligation of the Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger is further subject to satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:
- (a) The representations and warranties of the Company set forth herein shall be true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the Effective Time, with the same effect as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect set forth therein) does not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Company. The Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by the chief executive officer of the Company to such effect.

- (b) The Company shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date. The Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by the chief executive officer of the Company to such effect.
- (c) There shall have been no Material Adverse Change in the Company since the date of this Agreement that shall not have been cured by the Closing Date, and the Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the Company to such effect.
  - (d) The Parent shall have received the letters described in Section 5.5 from the Company s independent public accountants.
- SECTION 6.3 *Conditions to Obligations of the Company.* The obligation of the Company to effect the Merger is further subject to satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions:
- (a) The representations and warranties of the Parent and Merger Sub set forth herein shall be true and correct as of the date hereof and as of the Effective Time, with the same effect as if made at and as of such time (except to the extent expressly made as of an earlier date, in which case as of such date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to materiality or Material Adverse Effect set forth therein) does not have, and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Parent. The Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Parent by an authorized signatory of the Parent to such effect.
- (b) The Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by them under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date. The Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Parent by an authorized signatory of the Parent to such effect.
- (c) There shall have been no Material Adverse Change in the Parent since the date of this Agreement that shall not have been cured by the Closing Date, and the Company shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of the Company by an authorized signatory of the Parent to such effect.

#### ARTICLE 7

#### **TERMINATION**

- SECTION 7.1 *Termination.* This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after the Company Stockholder Approval:
  - (a) by mutual written consent of the Parent, Merger Sub and the Company;
  - (b) by either the Parent or the Company:
  - (i) if the Merger shall not have been consummated by June 30, 2003, but the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(b)(i) shall not be available to any party whose failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement results in the failure of the Merger to be consummated by such time;
  - (ii) if the Company Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained at the Company Stockholders Meeting duly convened therefor (including at any adjournment or postponement thereof);
  - (iii) if any Restraint having any of the effects set forth in Section 6.1(b) shall be in effect and shall have become final and nonappealable, but the party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(b)(iii) shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the entry of and to remove such Restraint;
- (c) by the Parent, if the Company shall have breached or failed to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.2(a) or 6.2(b), and

- (ii) is incapable of being or has not been cured by the Company within 30 calendar days following its receipt of written notice from the Parent of such breach or failure to perform;
- (d) by the Parent, if (i) there shall be a breach of Section 5.3 that results in a Superior Proposal being made or (ii) the Company s board of directors (or any committee thereof) shall have (whether or not permitted by this Agreement) modified, withdrawn or supplemented their recommendation of this Agreement and the Transactions in a manner adverse to the Parent;
- (e) by the Company, if the Parent shall have breached or failed to perform in any material respect any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (i) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.3(a) or 6.3(b), and (ii) is incapable of being or has not been cured by the Parent within 30 calendar days following its receipt of written notice from the Company of such breach or failure to perform;
- (f) by the Company in accordance with Section 5.3(b); *provided* that, in order for the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(f) to be deemed effective, the Company shall have complied with all provisions of Section 5.3, including the notice provisions therein, and with applicable requirements of Section 5.10, including the payment of the Termination Fee; or
- (g) by the Company, within five Business Days following the Record Date, if on or before the Record Date, the Parent has not exercised the option in full to purchase shares of Company Common Stock granted under the Stock Option Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2003, by and between the Company and the Parent.
- SECTION 7.2 Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated by either the Company or the Parent as provided in Section 7.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no effect, without any liability or obligation on the part of the Parent or the Company, except to the extent that such termination results from the willful and material breach by a party of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements in this Agreement. The Confidentiality Agreement, the final sentence of Section 5.6, Section 5.10, this Section 7.2 and Article 8 shall survive any termination of this Agreement.
- SECTION 7.3 *Procedure for Termination.* If a party has a right to terminate this Agreement under Section 7.1, it may only exercise that right by delivering notice to the other parties of such termination, stating the subsection of Section 7.1 providing the basis for such termination and paying any required fees.

#### ARTICLE 8

#### **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- SECTION 8.1 *Nonsurvival of Representations and Warranties.* None of the representations and warranties in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the Effective Time. This Section 8.1 shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the parties which by its terms contemplates performance after the Effective Time.
- SECTION 8.2 *Amendment.* This Agreement may be amended by the parties at any time prior to the Effective Time; *provided* that after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, there shall not be made any amendment that by law requires further approval by the stockholders of the Company without the further approval of such stockholders. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed on behalf of each of the parties.
- SECTION 8.3 Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, a party may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other parties contained in this Agreement or in any document delivered pursuant to this Agreement or (c) waive compliance by the other party with any of the agreements or conditions contained in this Agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party. The failure of

any party to this Agreement to assert any of its rights under this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.

SECTION 8.4 *Notices*. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally, telecopied (which is confirmed) or sent by internationally recognized overnight courier (providing proof of delivery) to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice):

(a) If to the Parent or Merger Sub, to:

Electronics for Imaging, Inc. 303 Velocity Way Foster City, California 94404 Telecopy No.: 650.357.3776

Attention: General Counsel

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Richards Layton & Finger P.A.

One Rodney Square Wilmington, Delaware 19899-0551 Telecopy No.: 302.784.7035 Attention: Gregory V. Varrallo; and

(b) If to the Company, to:

Printcafe Software, Inc. Forty 24th Street Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222 Telecopy No.: 412.456.1151 Attention: Chief Executive Officer

diention: Chief Executive Officer

With copies (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Potter Anderson & Corroon LLP 1513 North Market Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Telecopy No.: 302.778.6029 Attention: Michael B. Tumas; and

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius LLP

One Oxford Centre, Thirty Second Floor Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15219 Telecopy No.: 412.560.3399 Attention: Kimberly A. Taylor

SECTION 8.5 *Definitions*. For purposes of this Agreement:

- (a) an Affiliate of any Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first Person, where Control means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, as trustee or executor, or otherwise.
- (b) Business Day means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which banks are legally permitted to be closed in New York.
- (c) Contract means any written, oral, electronic or other contract, lease, license, arrangement, commitment, undertaking or understanding (whether or not defenses exist to enforceability)

- (d) Knowledge of any Person that is not an individual means the actual knowledge of such Person s executive officers after reasonable inquiry.
- (e) Material Adverse Change or Material Adverse Effect means, when used in connection with the Company or the Parent, any change, effect, event, occurrence, condition or development or state of facts that (i) is or would reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the business, assets or results of operations or condition (financial or other) of such party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (ii) prevents or materially delays the consummation of the Merger or any other Transactions, in each case, other than any change, effect, event, occurrence, condition or development or state of facts (A) relating to the U.S. economy in general, (B) relating to the industry in which such party operates in general (and not having a materially disproportionate effect on such party relative to most other industry participants), (C) resulting from the announcement or pendency of the Transactions or (D) in respect of decreases in such party s stock price (*provided* that any effect described in clauses (A), (B) or (C) is direct and that the party claiming such effect shall have the burden of proving such direct effect); *provided however*, in the case of the Company, none of (x) the acceleration of the maturity date of any of the Company s existing indebtedness, (y) the delisting of the Company Common Stock from the Nasdaq National Market or (z) the inclusion of a going concern or similar qualification in the audit opinion delivered by the Company s auditors in connection with their report on the Company s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 shall constitute a Material Adverse Effect or a Material Adverse Change.
- (f) Person means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization or other entity.
- (g) a Subsidiary of any Person means another Person, an amount of the voting securities, other voting ownership or voting partnership interests of which is sufficient to elect at least a majority of its board of directors or other governing body (or, if there are no such voting interests, 50% or more of the equity interests of which) is owned directly or indirectly by such first Person.

SECTION 8.6 Construction and Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to a section or article, such reference shall be to a section or article of this Agreement unless otherwise clearly indicated to the contrary. Whenever the word include, includes or including is used in this Agreement they shall be deemed to be followed by the words without limitation. The words hereof, herein and herewith and wor of similar import shall, unless otherwise stated, be construed to refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, and article, section, paragraph, exhibit and schedule references are to the articles, sections, paragraphs, exhibits and schedules of this Agreement unless otherwise specified. The plural of any defined term shall have a meaning correlative to such defined term, and words denoting any gender shall include all genders and the neuter. Where a word or phrase is defined herein, each of its other grammatical forms shall have a corresponding meaning. A reference to any party to this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall include such party s successors and permitted assigns. A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation shall include any modification, amendment or re-enactment thereof, any legislative provision substituted therefor and all rules, regulations and statutory instruments issued thereunder or pursuant thereto. If there is an ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement. Each provision of this Agreement shall be given full separate and independent effect. Although the same or similar subject matters may be addressed in different provisions of this Agreement, the parties intend that, except as expressly provided in this Agreement, each such provision be read separately, be given independent significance and not be construed as limiting any other provision in this Agreement (whether or not more general or more specific in scope, substance or context). No prior draft of this Agreement nor any course of performance or course of dealing shall be used in the interpretation or construction this Agreement.

SECTION 8.7 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered (whether delivered by telecopy or otherwise) one and the same agreement and shall

become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties.

SECTION 8.8 Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement (including the documents and instruments referred to herein) (a) constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement (including the Exclusivity Letter dated February 12, 2003) and (b) except for the provisions of Section 5.9, are not intended to confer upon any Person, other than the parties, any rights or remedies.

SECTION 8.9 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York without giving effect to any other choice of law or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of New York or otherwise) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction, other than the State of New York, except to the extent that the DGCL is mandatorily applicable to the Merger; provided, however, that the laws of the State of Delaware shall govern the relative rights, obligations, powers, duties and other internal affairs of each party and its board of directors.

SECTION 8.10 *Assignment.* Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations under this Agreement shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise by any of the parties hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties. Any assignment in violation of the preceding sentence shall be void. Subject to the preceding two sentences, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties and their respective successors and assigns.

SECTION 8.11 Enforcement. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in any court of competent jurisdiction, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. In addition, each of the parties (a) consents to submit itself to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware of and for the County of New Castle if any dispute arises out of this Agreement or any of the Transactions; provided that if there is no equitable subject matter jurisdiction in the Court of Chancery, each party consents to submit itself to the personal jurisdiction of such other federal or state court within the State of Delaware having subject matter jurisdiction over such dispute, (b) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from the Court of Chancery (or such other court) and (c) agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or any of the Transactions in any court other than the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware of and for the County of New Castle; provided, that if the Court of Chancery declines to exercise equitable jurisdiction over any such action (or any part thereof), then each party agrees that it will transfer any such action (or part thereof) only to, or recommence any such action (or part thereof), only in such other federal or state court within the State of Delaware having subject matter jurisdiction over such dispute. EACH OF PARENT, MERGER SUB. AND THE COMPANY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, THE NEGOTIATION OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF OR THE TRANSACTIONS.

SECTION 8.12 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. If the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction or other authority declares that any term or provision hereof is invalid, void or unenforceable, the parties agree that the court making such determination shall have the power to and shall, subject to the discretion of such court, reduce the scope, duration, area or applicability of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to replace any invalid, void or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable term or provision.

Each of the Parent, Merger Sub and the Company has caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.

ELECTRONICS FOR IMAGING, INC.

By: /s/ GUY GECHT

Name: Guy Gecht

Title: Chief Executive Officer

STRATEGIC VALUE ENGINEERING, INC.

By: /s/ JOHN RITCHIE

Name: John Ritchie Title: Vice President

PRINTCAFE SOFTWARE, INC.

By: /s/ MARC OLIN

Name: Marc Olin

Title: Chief Executive Officer

Annex B

February 25, 2003

Special Committee of the Board of Directors

Board of Directors Printcafe Software, Inc. Forty 24th Street Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222

Members of the Special Committee and the Board of Directors:

We understand that Printcafe Software, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company), is considering a transaction (the Transaction) whereby Electronics for Imaging, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Parent), will acquire the Company. Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, to be dated as of February 26, 2003 (the Merger Agreement), by and among the Company, Parent and Strategic Value Engineering, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Merger Sub) and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent, among other things, (i) Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (the Merger), and (ii) in connection with the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share (the Company Common Stock), of the Company (other than Dissenting Shares (as defined in the Merger Agreement) and shares, if any, owned by the Company, Merger Sub or Parent) will be converted into the right to receive either (A) \$2.60 in cash, without interest (the Cash Consideration), or (B) a number of shares of common stock, par value \$.01 per share (the Parent Common Stock), of Parent equal to the quotient obtained by dividing \$2.60 by the Closing Parent Share Value (as defined in the Merger Agreement)(the Stock Consideration). The Cash Consideration and the Stock Consideration are referred to herein as the Merger Consideration. The Merger Agreement provides the holders of Company Common Stock with the ability to elect to receive the Merger Consideration either in the form of the Cash Consideration or the Stock Consideration. The terms and conditions of the Transaction are more fully set forth in the Merger Agreement.

You have requested our opinion as to the fairness from a financial point of view to the holders of Company Common Stock (other than Parent and its affiliates) of the Merger Consideration to be received by such holders in the Merger. Our opinion addresses the aggregate value to be received by holders of the Company Common Stock as a whole, without regard to the individual size of holdings, and we are not opining on the particular situations of specific shareholders, including Creo Inc. and its affiliates and those shareholders distinguished by size of position or other factors.

UBS Warburg LLC has acted as financial advisor to the Special Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company in connection with the Transaction. UBS Warburg LLC will receive a fee from the Company for its services, a significant portion of which is contingent upon the consummation of the Transaction and a portion of which is payable upon delivery of this opinion. In the past, UBS Warburg LLC and its predecessors have provided investment banking services to the Company and received customary compensation for the rendering of such services, including acting as lead manager for the Company s initial public offering in June 2002. In the ordinary course of business, UBS Warburg LLC, its successors and affiliates may trade or have traded securities of the Company, Parent and/or Creo Inc. for their own accounts and the accounts of their customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities.

Our opinion does not address the Company s underlying business decision to effect the Transaction or the Merger or constitute a recommendation to any shareholder of the Company as to how such shareholder should

vote with respect to the Merger Agreement or any other matter. We have not been asked to, nor do we offer any opinion as to the material terms of the Merger Agreement or the form of the Transaction. We express no opinion as what the value of Parent Common Stock will be when issued pursuant to the Merger Agreement or the prices at which it will trade in the future. In addition, we express no opinion as to whether certain holders of significant numbers of shares of Company Common Stock could sell such shares for more consideration per share than the Merger Consideration in privately negotiated transactions. In rendering this opinion, we have assumed, with your consent, that the final executed form of the Merger Agreement does not differ in any material respect from the draft that we have examined, and that the Company, Parent and Merger Sub will comply with all the material terms of the Merger Agreement. At your request, we have contacted third parties to solicit indications of interest in a possible transaction with the Company and held discussions with certain of these parties prior to the date hereof.

In arriving at our opinion, we have, among other things: (i) reviewed certain publicly available business and historical financial information relating to the Company and Parent, (ii) reviewed the reported prices and trading activity for the Company Common Stock and the Parent Common Stock, (iii) reviewed certain internal financial information and other data relating to the business and financial prospects of the Company, including estimates and financial forecasts for fiscal 2003 prepare by management of the Company, that were provided to us by the Company and not publicly available, (iv) reviewed certain publicly available research analysts—estimates of Parent—s future performance, (v) conducted discussions with members of the senior management of the Company concerning the business and financial prospects of the Company, (vi) reviewed publicly available financial and stock market data with respect to certain other companies in lines of business we believe to be generally comparable to those of the Company and Parent, (vii) reviewed publicly available financial data with respect to certain other transactions in lines of business we believe generally comparable to those of the Company, (viii) reviewed drafts of the Merger Agreement, and (ix) conducted such other financial studies, analyses, and investigations, and considered such other information as we deemed necessary or appropriate.

In addition, in connection with our review, with your consent, we have not assumed any responsibility for independent verification of any of the information reviewed by us for the purpose of this opinion and have, at your direction, relied on such information being complete and accurate in all material respects. In addition, at your direction, we have not made any independent evaluation or appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of the Company or Parent, nor have we been furnished with any such evaluation or appraisal. With respect to the financial forecasts and estimates for fiscal 2003 provided to us by the Company and referred to above, we have assumed, at your direction, that they have been reasonably prepared on a basis reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the management of the Company as to future performance of the Company. Our opinion is necessarily based on economic, monetary, market and other conditions as in effect on, and the information made available to us as of, the date hereof.

Based upon and subject to the foregoing, it is our opinion that, as of the date hereof, the Merger Consideration to be received by the holders of Company Common Stock (other than Parent and its affiliates) in the Merger is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

Very truly yours,

**UBS Warburg LLC** 

B-2

Annex C

#### SECTION 262 OF THE DELAWARE GENERAL CORPORATION LAW

#### Section 262. Appraisal Rights.

- (a) Any stockholder of a corporation of this State who holds shares of stock on the date of the making of a demand pursuant to subsection (d) of this section with respect to such shares, who continuously holds such shares through the effective date of the merger or consolidation, who has otherwise complied with subsection (d) of this section and who has neither voted in favor of the merger or consolidation nor consented thereto in writing pursuant to § 228 of this title shall be entitled to an appraisal by the Court of Chancery of the fair value of the stockholder s shares of stock under the circumstances described in subsections (b) and (c) of this section. As used in this section, the word stockholder means a holder of record of stock in a stock corporation and also a member of record of a nonstock corporation; the words stock and share mean and include what is ordinarily meant by those words and also membership or membership interest of a member of a nonstock corporation; and the words depository receipt mean a receipt or other instrument issued by a depository representing an interest in one or more shares, or fractions thereof, solely of stock of a corporation, which stock is deposited with the depository.
- (b) Appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation in a merger or consolidation to be effected pursuant to § 251 (other than a merger effected pursuant to § 251(g) of this title), § 252, § 254, § 257, § 258, § 263 or § 264 of this title:
  - (1) Provided, however, that no appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock, which stock, or depository receipts in respect thereof, at the record date fixed to determine the stockholders entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the meeting of stockholders to act upon the agreement of merger or consolidation, were either (i) listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or (ii) held of record by more than 2,000 holders; and further provided that no appraisal rights shall be available for any shares of stock of the constituent corporation surviving a merger if the merger did not require for its approval the vote of the stockholders of the surviving corporation as provided in subsection (f) of § 251 of this title.
  - (2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation if the holders thereof are required by the terms of an agreement of merger or consolidation pursuant to §§ 251, 252, 254, 257, 258, 263 and 264 of this title to accept for such stock anything except:
    - a. Shares of stock of the corporation surviving or resulting from such merger or consolidation, or depository receipts in respect thereof;
    - b. Shares of stock of any other corporation, or depository receipts in respect thereof, which shares of stock (or depository receipts in respect thereof) or depository receipts at the effective date of the merger or consolidation will be either listed on a national securities exchange or designated as a national market system security on an interdealer quotation system by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or held of record by more than 2,000 holders;
    - c. Cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a. and b. of this paragraph; or
    - d. Any combination of the shares of stock, depository receipts and cash in lieu of fractional shares or fractional depository receipts described in the foregoing subparagraphs a., b. and c. of this paragraph.
  - (3) In the event all of the stock of a subsidiary Delaware corporation party to a merger effected under § 253 of this title is not owned by the parent corporation immediately prior to the merger, appraisal rights shall be available for the shares of the subsidiary Delaware corporation.

C-

(c) Any corporation may provide in its certificate of incorporation that appraisal rights under this section shall be available for the shares of any class or series of its stock as a result of an amendment to its certificate of incorporation, any merger or consolidation in which the corporation is a constituent corporation or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the corporation. If the certificate of incorporation contains such a provision, the procedures of this section, including those set forth in subsections (d) and (e) of this section, shall apply as nearly as is practicable.

#### (d) Appraisal rights shall be perfected as follows:

(1) If a proposed merger or consolidation for which appraisal rights are provided under this section is to be submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, the corporation, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, shall notify each of its stockholders who was such on the record date for such meeting with respect to shares for which appraisal rights are available pursuant to subsection (b) or (c) hereof that appraisal rights are available for any or all of the shares of the constituent corporations, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section. Each stockholder electing to demand the appraisal of such stockholder s shares shall deliver to the corporation, before the taking of the vote on the merger or consolidation, a written demand for appraisal of such stockholder s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such stockholder s shares. A proxy or vote against the merger or consolidation shall not constitute such a demand. A stockholder electing to take such action must do so by a separate written demand as herein provided. Within 10 days after the effective date of such merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation shall notify each stockholder of each constituent corporation who has complied with this subsection and has not voted in favor of or consented to the merger or consolidation of the date that the merger or consolidation has become effective: or

(2) If the merger or consolidation was approved pursuant to § 228 or § 253 of this title, each constituent corporation, either before the effective date of the merger or consolidation or within ten days thereafter, shall notify each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation who are entitled to appraisal rights of the approval of the merger or consolidation and that appraisal rights are available for any or all shares of such class or series of stock of such constituent corporation, and shall include in such notice a copy of this section; provided that, if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, such notice shall be given by the surviving or resulting corporation to all such holders of any class or series of stock of a constituent corporation that are entitled to appraisal rights. Such notice may, and, if given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, shall, also notify such stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation. Any stockholder entitled to appraisal rights may, within 20 days after the date of mailing of such notice, demand in writing from the surviving or resulting corporation the appraisal of such holder s shares. Such demand will be sufficient if it reasonably informs the corporation of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends thereby to demand the appraisal of such holder s shares. If such notice did not notify stockholders of the effective date of the merger or consolidation, either (i) each such constituent corporation shall send a second notice before the effective date of the merger or consolidation notifying each of the holders of any class or series of stock of such constituent corporation that are entitled to appraisal rights of the effective date of the merger or consolidation or (ii) the surviving or resulting corporation shall send such a second notice to all such holders on or within 10 days after such effective date; provided, however, that if such second notice is sent more than 20 days following the sending of the first notice, such second notice need only be sent to each stockholder who is entitled to appraisal rights and who has demanded appraisal of such holder s shares in accordance with this subsection. An affidavit of the secretary or assistant secretary or of the transfer agent of the corporation that is required to give either notice that such notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. For purposes of determining the stockholders entitled to receive either notice, each constituent corporation may fix, in advance, a record date that shall be not more than 10 days prior to the date the notice is given, provided, that if the notice is given on or after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the record date shall be such effective date. If no record date is fixed and the notice is given prior to the effective date, the record date shall be the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the notice is given.

- (e) Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, the surviving or resulting corporation or any stockholder who has complied with subsections (a) and (d) hereof and who is otherwise entitled to appraisal rights, may file a petition in the Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the stock of all such stockholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder shall have the right to withdraw such stockholder s demand for appraisal and to accept the terms offered upon the merger or consolidation. Within 120 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, any stockholder who has complied with the requirements of subsections (a) and (d) hereof, upon written request, shall be entitled to receive from the corporation surviving the merger or resulting from the consolidation a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger or consolidation and with respect to which demands for appraisal have been received and the aggregate number of holders of such shares. Such written statement shall be mailed to the stockholder within 10 days after such stockholder s written request for such a statement is received by the surviving or resulting corporation or within 10 days after expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisal under subsection (d) hereof, whichever is later.
- (f) Upon the filing of any such petition by a stockholder, service of a copy thereof shall be made upon the surviving or resulting corporation, which shall within 20 days after such service file in the office of the Register in Chancery in which the petition was filed a duly verified list containing the names and addresses of all stockholders who have demanded payment for their shares and with whom agreements as to the value of their shares have not been reached by the surviving or resulting corporation. If the petition shall be filed by the surviving or resulting corporation, the petition shall be accompanied by such a duly verified list. The Register in Chancery, if so ordered by the Court, shall give notice of the time and place fixed for the hearing of such petition by registered or certified mail to the surviving or resulting corporation and to the stockholders shown on the list at the addresses therein stated. Such notice shall also be given by 1 or more publications at least 1 week before the day of the hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Wilmington, Delaware or such publication as the Court deems advisable. The forms of the notices by mail and by publication shall be approved by the Court, and the costs thereof shall be borne by the surviving or resulting corporation.
- (g) At the hearing on such petition, the Court shall determine the stockholders who have complied with this section and who have become entitled to appraisal rights. The Court may require the stockholders who have demanded an appraisal for their shares and who hold stock represented by certificates to submit their certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery for notation thereon of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings; and if any stockholder fails to comply with such direction, the Court may dismiss the proceedings as to such stockholder.
- (h) After determining the stockholders entitled to an appraisal, the Court shall appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation, together with a fair rate of interest, if any, to be paid upon the amount determined to be the fair value. In determining such fair value, the Court shall take into account all relevant factors. In determining the fair rate of interest, the Court may consider all relevant factors, including the rate of interest that the surviving or resulting corporation would have had to pay to borrow money during the pendency of the proceeding. Upon application by the surviving or resulting corporation or by any stockholder entitled to participate in the appraisal prior to the final determination of the stockholder entitled to an appraisal. Any stockholder whose name appears on the list filed by the surviving or resulting corporation pursuant to subsection (f) of this section and who has submitted such stockholder s certificates of stock to the Register in Chancery, if such is required, may participate fully in all proceedings until it is finally determined that such stockholder is not entitled to appraisal rights under this section.

C-3

- (i) The Court shall direct the payment of the fair value of the shares, together with interest, if any, by the surviving or resulting corporation to the stockholders entitled thereto. Interest may be simple or compound, as the Court may direct. Payment shall be so made to each such stockholder, in the case of holders of uncertificated stock forthwith, and the case of holders of shares represented by certificates upon the surrender to the corporation of the certificates representing such stock. The Court s decree may be enforced as other decrees in the Court of Chancery may be enforced, whether such surviving or resulting corporation be a corporation of this State or of any state.
- (j) The costs of the proceeding may be determined by the Court and taxed upon the parties as the Court deems equitable in the circumstances. Upon application of a stockholder, the Court may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including, without limitation, reasonable attorney s fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all the shares entitled to an appraisal.
- (k) From and after the effective date of the merger or consolidation, no stockholder who has demanded appraisal rights as provided in subsection (d) of this section shall be entitled to vote such stock for any purpose or to receive payment of dividends or other distributions on the stock (except dividends or other distributions payable to stockholders of record at a date which is prior to the effective date of the merger or consolidation); provided, however, that if no petition for an appraisal shall be filed within the time provided in subsection (e) of this section, or if such stockholder shall deliver to the surviving or resulting corporation a written withdrawal of such stockholder s demand for an appraisal and an acceptance of the merger or consolidation, either within 60 days after the effective date of the merger or consolidation as provided in subsection (e) of this section or thereafter with the written approval of the corporation, then the right of such stockholder to an appraisal shall cease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no appraisal proceeding in the Court of Chancery shall be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the Court, and such approval may be conditioned upon such terms as the Court deems just.
- (l) The shares of the surviving or resulting corporation to which the shares of such objecting stockholders would have been converted had they assented to the merger or consolidation shall have the status of authorized and unissued shares of the surviving or resulting corporation.

C-4